# EPIDEMIOLOGY OF *STREPTOCOCCUS PNEUMONIAE* POST-PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINE INTRODUCTION IN SOUTH AFRICA

Claire Emily von Mollendorf Student number: 9102000D

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Johannesburg, 11 November 2016

Supervisors: Prof Cheryl Cohen and Prof Anne von Gottberg

# DECLARATION

I, Claire Emily von Mollendorf, declare that this thesis is my own work. It is being submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at this or any other university.

lev molendorf

Claire E. von Mollendorf Date: 11 November 2016

# ABSTRACT

#### BACKGROUND

*Streptococcus pneumoniae* is a leading cause of severe invasive bacterial infections globally; estimated to cause over 300,000 deaths in children <5 years in 2015. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) introduction in South Africa has been associated with changes in invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) risk groups and emerging serotypes. Serotype 1 pneumococcal disease is highly invasive, fluctuates annually but tends to have lower mortality and antibiotic-resistance than other serotypes. Paediatric antiretroviral treatment (ART) and HIV prevention of mother-to-child transmission programme improvements in South Africa have resulted in a growing number of HIV-exposed-uninfected (HEU) children who have higher rates of infectious diseases than unexposed children. It is important to identify risk groups changes with new interventions and define IPD burden pre- and post-PCV introduction in developing countries.

### **OBJECTIVES**

In South Africa we aimed to estimate severe pneumococcal disease burden in the pre- (2005-2008) and post-PCV era (2013) amongst HIV-infected (HI) and HIV-uninfected (HU) children <5 years of age; describe the epidemiology of serotype 1 IPD in all age groups from 2003 to 2013; describe the epidemiology of IPD in HEU children <1 year of age from 2009 to 2013 and the risk factors related to IPD in HI and HU children post-PCV introduction (2010 to 2012). All analyses included PCV introduction impact.

#### **METHODS**

A model using national laboratory-based IPD surveillance data as the baseline was used to determine the total burden of severe hospitalised pneumococcal disease and related mortality in South Africa in children aged <5 years. Adjustments were made for specimen-taking practices and care seeking differences. Vaccine probe studies were used to calculate non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia case numbers. Observed case fatality ratios were applied to estimated case numbers to determine pneumococcal death numbers. All patients with laboratory-confirmed IPD were included in the serotype 1 analysis. We calculated incidence rates, determined factors associated with serotype 1 disease and conducted a space-time analysis using SaTScan with a Bernoulli model for comparison. Maps to visualise serotype 1 clusters were generated using ArcGIS.

iii

Surveillance data was used to compare IPD incidence and mortality in HEU, HIVunexposed-uninfected (HUU) and HI infants. Factors associated with HIV status were compared using a multinomial regression model and logistic regression for mortality factors. A matched case-control study nested within the surveillance programme was used to determine risk factors associated with IPD in HU and HI children aged <5 years. Data was analysed using conditional logistic regression.

#### RESULTS

In the pre-vaccine era (2005-2008) in South Africa, roughly 196,100 (148,000-251,000) cases of severe pneumococcal disease were estimated annually in children aged <5 years, an incidence of 3799/100,000; the rate was reduced by 67% in 2013, likely due to PCV and other interventions. In addition 8600 (7000-10220) pneumococcal-related annual deaths were estimated pre-vaccine and 3600 in 2013, a rate difference of 99/100,000 child-years. Over an 11-year period two clusters (2003-2004 and 2008-2012) of serotype 1 infection were detected in all age groups with reductions in incidence noted in 2013. Among children aged <5 years, those with serotype 1 IPD had shorter hospital stays, fewer penicillinnonsusceptible cases (adjusted odds ratio (aOR) 0.02, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.01-0.05), lower HIV prevalence (aOR 0.19, 95% CI 0.12–0.31) and lower in-hospital death rates (aOR 0.38, 95% CI 0.19–0.76) than children with non-serotype 1 IPD. The incidence of IPD was greatest in HI infants (272-654/100,000), then HEU infants (33-88/100,000) and HUU infants (18-28/100,000). Young HEU infants (37% [59/175]) were more likely to die than HUU infants (32% [51/228]; adjusted relative risk ratio, 1.76, 95% CI 1.09–2.85]). On case-control analysis a number of factors were shown to be associated with an increased risk of IPD in the post-PCV period. In HU children these factors included underlying medical conditions (aOR = 1.99, 95% CI 1.22-3.22), attending day care (aOR = 1.58, 95% CI 1.01–2.47) or having been exposed to HIV perinatally (aOR = 1.62, 95% CI 1.10–2.37), while PCV vaccination reduced the odds of IPD (aOR = 0.67, 95% CI 0.46-0.99). Predisposing factors in HI children included malnutrition (aOR = 2.68, 95% CI 1.40– 5.14) and recent tuberculosis (aOR = 5.12, 95% CI 1.69–15.50), while current ART reduced the odds of IPD (aOR = 0.13, 95% CI 0.05-0.38).

### CONCLUSION

Pneumococcal disease represents a major public health burden in young children in South Africa. PCV and other HIV-associated interventions resulted in a significant reduction in

both invasive disease and non-bacteraemic pneumonia. Serotype 1 IPD has distinctive clinical features with temporal decreases noted post-PCV13 introduction. With improvements in interventions to prevent and treat HIV, a resultant growing HEU infant population has been observed with an increased risk of IPD compared with HUU children. Risk factors related to socio-economic conditions and intense exposure to infection continues to be important causes of IPD in children. A full understanding of PCV impact on pneumococcal disease burden is needed to support ongoing national policy decisions on PCV use.

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers:

a) Burden of potentially vaccine-preventable pneumococcal disease in children <5 years of age in South Africa, 2005-2008 and 2013. Claire von Mollendorf, Stefano Tempia, Anne von Gottberg, Susan Meiring, Vanessa Quan, Linda de Gouveia, Charles Feldman, Jeane Cloete, Shabir Madhi, Katherine L. O'Brien, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, Cheryl Cohen Paper with revisions submitted to PLOS One

b) Epidemiology of serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease in all ages in South Africa,
2003-2013. Claire von Mollendorf, Cheryl Cohen, Stefano Tempia, Susan Meiring, Linda de
Gouveia, Vanessa Quan, Sarona Lengana, Alan Karstaedt, Halima Dawood, Sharona
Seetharam, Ruth Lekalakala, Shabir A. Madhi, Keith P. Klugman, Anne von Gottberg, for the
Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa
(GERMS-SA). Emerging Infectious Diseases 2016; 22(2):261-270.

(http://dx.doi.org/10.3201/eid2202.150967)

c) Increased Risk for and Mortality from Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in HIV-Exposed but Uninfected Infants Aged <1 Year in South Africa, 2009–2013

Claire von Mollendorf, Anne von Gottberg, Stefano Tempia, Susan Meiring, Linda de Gouveia, Vanessa Quan, Sarona Lengana, Theunis Avenant, Nicolette du Plessis, Brian Eley, Heather Finlayson, Gary Reubenson, Mamokgethi Moshe, Katherine L. O'Brien, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, and Cheryl Cohen for GERMS-SA. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2015;60(9):1346–56. (doi: 10.1093/cid/civ059)

d) Risk Factors for Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Among Children Less Than 5 Years of Age in a High HIV Prevalence Setting, South Africa, 2010 to 2012
Claire von Mollendorf, Cheryl Cohen, Linda de Gouveia, Nireshni Naidoo, Susan Meiring, Vanessa Quan, Sonwabo Lindani, David P. Moore, Gary Reubenson, Mamokgethi Moshe, Brian Eley, Ute M. Hallbauer, Heather Finlayson, Shabir A. Madhi, Laura Conklin, Elizabeth R. Zell, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, and Anne von Gottberg, for the South African IPD Case-Control Study Group. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal 2015;34(1):27–34. (doi: 10.1097/INF.000000000000484)

The publishers have given permission for reprinting of published papers. My roles in each of the publications are included in Appendix A.

# CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS	vi
PREFACE	viii
ABBREVIATIONS	ix
BACKGROUND	1
INTRODUCTION	1
BURDEN OF PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE	1
PNEUMOCOCCAL SEROTYPES AND VACCINES	3
OUTBREAK PNEUMOCOCCAL SEROTYPES	4
RISK FACTORS OTHER THAN HIV-EXPOSED UNINFECTED CHILDREN	6
HIV-EXPOSED UNINFECTED CHILDREN	8
VACCINE EFFICACY OF PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINES IN CLINICAL TRIALS	11
VACCINE EFFECTIVENESS OF PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINES FROM CASE-CONTROL STUDIES	12
PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINE IMPACT	14
REPLACEMENT PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE	18
JUSTIFICATION AND OBJECTIVES	20
METHODS	22
STUDY SETTING	22
STUDY DESIGN	22
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27
BURDEN OF POTENTIALLY VACCINE-PREVENTABLE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE I CHILDREN	N 27
EPIDEMIOLOGY OF SEROTYPE 1 INVASIVE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE	31
INCREASED INVASIVE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE RISK AND MORTALITY IN HIV- EXPOSED BUT UNINFECTED INFANTS	34
CHANGING RISK FACTORS FOR INVASIVE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE IN YOUNG CHILDREN IN A HIGH HIV PREVALENCE SETTING	37
CONCLUSION	41
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	42
REFERENCES	43
APPENDICES	63

# PREFACE

I was employed as a medical officer at the National Institute for Communicable Disease six years ago to run the invasive pneumococcal disease case-control study.

During this time I completed my Masters in Epidemiology (distance learning) through the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (2011). My thesis explored the reported increase in ceftriaxone resistance in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*.

I identified a theme for a PhD in 2013 and enrolled in the University of the Witwatersrand's School of Public Health PhD programme in April 2014. This programme has helped to grow me as a student and person.

I have been privileged to present my work at numerous local and international meetings and conferences, including the International Symposium on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases, where the forerunners in pneumococcal disease present current research and data. None of this would have been possible without the support and mentorship of my two supervisors, Prof Cheryl Cohen and Prof Anne von Gottberg, who have pushed me to achieve my full potential.

I hope that my work will inspire others to pursue a PhD in their chosen field.

Claire von Mollendorf, 11 November 2016

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

PCV: Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine IPD: invasive pneumococcal disease ART: antiretroviral treatment HIV: human immunodeficiency virus HEU: HIV-exposed-uninfected HI: HIV-infected HU: HIV-uninfected HUU: HIV-unexposed-uninfected CI: confidence interval VT-IPD: vaccine type invasive pneumococcal disease NPNM: non-pneumonia non-meningitis ARTI: acute respiratory tract infections CXR: chest radiograph PPSV23: 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine PCV7: 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine PCV10: 10-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine PCV13: 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine CSF: cerebrospinal fluid Hib: Haemophilus influenzae type b NVT-IPD: non-vaccine type invasive pneumococcal disease PMTCT: prevention of mother-to-child transmission PCV9: 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine VE: vaccine efficacy VT: vaccine type NVT: non-vaccine type EPI-SA: Expanded Programme on Immunisation in South Africa GERMS-SA: Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa DALYs: disability-adjusted life years QALYs: quality-adjusted life years ST1: Serotype 1 GIS: Geographic Information System

#### BACKGROUND

## **INTRODUCTION**

*Streptococcus pneumoniae* has long been recognised as a significant disease-causing pathogen. It was first identified as pathogenic in 1881 when two microbiologists, Louis Pasteur and George Sternberg, each individually injected human saliva into rabbits and isolated this bacterium <sup>1</sup>. As early as 1918 Sir William Osler referred to the pneumococcus as the "captain of the men of death" as it killed young adults in the "prime of their lives" <sup>2</sup>. It was finally given its current name in 1974 <sup>3</sup>.

*S. pneumoniae* is a small gram-positive diplococcus that affects children and adults worldwide. At least 93 different serotypes have been described. The pneumococcus causes severe disease such as bacterial pneumonia, meningitis and sepsis, but is also a common coloniser. Colonising rates can vary between different age groups and settings: 5-10% in adults and 10-50% in children in developing countries, but up to 86% in children in some African countries <sup>4</sup>. Much of the virulence of *S. pneumoniae* originates from its polysaccharide capsule which can prevent phagocytosis <sup>5</sup>. Despite a number of therapeutic strategies, such as antibiotics and vaccines, *S. pneumoniae* continues to kill individuals of all ages till the present day. It has been treated with antibacterial drugs since the late 1930s but widespread overuse of antibiotics in recent years has led to the creation of penicillin-resistant strains of *S. pneumoniae*.

Studies from South Africa have shown an increased risk of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) in HIV-infected (HI) adults and children <sup>6-11</sup>. Following the widespread introduction of antiretrovirals in 2004, a significant reduction in IPD was noted in children <sup>12</sup>, but not in adults <sup>13</sup>.

## **BURDEN OF PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE**

In developing countries pneumonia is a serious disease in both adults and children. Pneumonia accounts for almost one in seven deaths in young children with nearly a million deaths annually, 50% of which are in sub-Saharan Africa according to the World Health Organization <sup>14</sup>. In South Africa the incidence of severe pneumococcal disease in children <5 years of age was estimated as having been approximately 3000 per 100,000 and the death rate as around 100 per 100,000 population in the year 2000 <sup>15</sup>. Annual estimates for pneumonia in children <5 years of age in South Africa in 2010, derived from a Global Action Plan for Pneumonia and Diarrhoea model, were reported as 705,554 cases for all acute respiratory tract infections (ARTI) and 33,436 new episodes of *S. pneumoniae* pneumonia; severe disease was a proportion of this, namely 78,749 cases for all severe ARTI and 10,052 severe new episodes of *S. pneumoniae* pneumonia <sup>16</sup>. This manuscript reported country level estimates of the model. The estimates were modelled based on the prevalence of five main risk factors for childhood pneumonia obtained from country-based demographic health or cluster surveys. A meta-analysis assessed the size of the risk factor effect on pneumonia incidence <sup>16</sup>. The portion of pneumonia deaths attributable to *S. pneumoniae* was derived from the meta–analysis of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) vaccine efficacy against chest radiograph (CXR) confirmed pneumonia <sup>15</sup>; it was assumed that the etiologic fraction of *S. pneumoniae* (33%) among cases was similar to that among the deaths <sup>15</sup>.

Baseline data from a national pneumococcal surveillance programme pre-PCV introduction (2003-2008) demonstrated that IPD rates were 6-fold higher in the <1 year age group compared with children 1–4 years of age, and HI infants had a 21-fold greater risk of disease than HU infants <5 years of age <sup>17</sup>. Even though PCV had lower efficacy amongst HI children <sup>18,19</sup>, these children had a higher burden of IPD than HU children resulting in a projected 18-fold greater reduction in the absolute burden of IPD in HI compared to HU children if PCV were introduced <sup>20,21</sup>.

Bacteraemia is approximately four-fold more common in HI compared to HU children with pneumococcal pneumonia <sup>20</sup>. Disease among HI children is more likely to be caused by vaccine serotypes than among HU children <sup>22</sup> and there is also an increased prevalence of paediatric serotypes in HI adults <sup>6</sup>. Higher single drug <sup>23</sup> and multidrug <sup>22</sup> antibiotic resistance has been reported in children and HI individuals <sup>6,8</sup>. HI individuals with a lower CD4 count tend to have a higher mortality from bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia than individuals with a higher CD4 <sup>24</sup>.

Three methods, some of which have been touched on above, have been proposed to estimate the burden of different pneumococcal syndromes <sup>15</sup>. Firstly, a proportional approach using a mortality or morbidity envelope for the relevant clinical syndrome with allocation of cases or deaths attributable to *S. pneumoniae*; secondly, an incidence-based approach using clinical disease incidence to derive cause specific cases, and then case-fatality ratios to estimate the number of deaths; or lastly "triangulation" which compares the relative occurrence of one syndrome relative to another. All three methods were used to determine

case and death numbers in a pneumococcal global burden paper<sup>15</sup>. To estimate the proportion of pneumonia attributable to S. pneumoniae the vaccine efficacy against a specific pneumonia endpoint was first divided by the overall efficacy against vaccine type invasive pneumococcal disease (VT-IPD) and then by the proportion of VT-IPD in the population where the study was conducted. An adjustment was also made for the effect of Haemophilus influenzae serotype b vaccination in the relevant study population. The estimated proportion of each pneumonia endpoint attributed to S. pneumoniae was based on a meta-analysis 25-27 of vaccine efficacy trial results <sup>20,21,28-32</sup>. Pneumonia deaths numbers were estimated by applying the proportion of pneumonia deaths attributable to S. pneumoniae to overall estimates of pneumonia deaths in children 1-59 months of age. For meningitis, an incidence-based approach was used in countries where S. pneumoniae incidence and case fatality rates were available. Estimates were also combined using meta-analysis results <sup>25-27</sup>. The burden of nonpneumonia non-meningitis (NPNM) invasive disease was based on the ratio of NPNM to meningitis cases multiplied by the estimated number of meningitis cases for each country. The number of deaths caused by NPNM was calculated by multiplying the severe NPNM cases by an appropriate case fatality rate<sup>15</sup>. Global pneumonia death models often split case and death rates by aetiological agent. The Rudan, et. al. paper <sup>16</sup> used previous determined proportionate estimates for S. pneumoniae and accounted for vaccine use.

Although the number of countries in the African region, who have introduced PCV since it first became available in 2000, has increased exponentially, the availability of published pre-vaccine and post-vaccine data is limited to a small number of countries. South Africa was the first African country to introduced PCV into its public National Immunisation Programme in April 2009 and is one of the few African countries to have robust pre-vaccine pneumococcal surveillance data. South African impact data will help to inform vaccine introduction into other low- and middle-income countries in terms of vaccine type, schedule, duration of protection, replacement and risk groups in the post-PCV era.

#### PNEUMOCOCCAL SEROTYPES AND VACCINES

Polysaccharide antigens are large molecules which interact directly with B cells and induce T-independent antigens <sup>33</sup>. Due to the absence of T-cell reactions polysaccharide vaccines fail to induce significant and sustained antibody responses in young children less than 18 months of age. Even in older children and adults, antibody responses are relatively short lived and booster response cannot be produced by repeated exposure. By conjugating

the polysaccharide to a protein carrier, a T-cell response can be induced <sup>33</sup>. T cells stimulate a more vigorous immune response and also promote a more rapid and long-lasting immunologic memory. Conjugate vaccines are immunogenic in very young children, prime for memory responses and also provide "herd immunity" <sup>34</sup>.

In 1983 the 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV23) was released and included serotypes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 8, 9N, 9V, 10A, 11A, 12F, 14, 15B, 17F, 18C, 19F, 19A, 20, 22F, 23F and 33F, covering 90% of serotypes found in pneumococcal bacteraemia. This vaccine should only be used in children older than two years of age due to poor antibody responses in younger children <sup>35</sup>. When healthy adults are vaccinated antibody levels persist for at least 5 years, but may be shorter in adults with underlying illnesses.

In February 2000, the heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7; serotypes 4, 9V, 14, 19F, 23F, 18C, and 6B) was licensed in the US and this vaccine included several serotypes that were resistant to antibiotics. In addition, it was highly effective in children <2 years of age. Higher valency vaccines, such as the 10-valent PCV (PCV10), which includes additional serotypes 1, 5, 7F, and 13-valent PCV (PCV13), which includes additional serotypes 1, 3, 5, 6A, 7F, 19A, later replaced PCV7. The 10 most common pneumococcal serotypes account for about 62% of invasive disease worldwide. The serotypes in PCV7 cause the highest incidence of IPD in the first 2 years of life and then decrease over the next few years of life <sup>36</sup>.

Serotypes differ by age (6B, 9V, 14, 19F, are most common in young children) and by disease syndrome (serogroups 6, 10 and 23 are more frequently isolated from cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) than from blood, while serotypes 1, 4, and 14 are more frequently isolated from blood) <sup>36</sup>. Serotypes 1 and 7F are more likely to be invasive than carried, whereas other types are mainly involved in carriage. Carriage duration varies by age and is generally longer in children <sup>36</sup>.

### **OUTBREAK PNEUMOCOCCAL SEROTYPES**

Most of the historical pneumococcal outbreaks in the early part of the 20th century were caused by serotypes 1, 2, and 5 <sup>37</sup>. A reduction in outbreaks has been noted with very few reported in the present day <sup>38</sup>. Reasons for the reduction in outbreaks may be related to the availability of antibiotics which has changed transmission dynamics and colonisation, improvements in socioeconomic conditions and an increase in vaccine serotypes in recent years <sup>39</sup>. Viral respiratory infections in defined populations have been implicated in a

predisposition to pneumococcal pneumonia outbreaks with the predominant strains carried in that population <sup>40-43</sup>.

Pneumococcal outbreaks usually occur in closed communities. Pre-2006 a systematic review of 42 outbreaks identified serotype 14 as the most common cause <sup>44</sup>, but most studies included patients with underlying medical conditions in hospitals or care facilities and often included asymptomatic carriers <sup>45</sup>. When outbreaks were limited to non-hospitalised poor young adults and a single serotype, three out of the five studies were due to serotype 1. Two serotype 1 outbreaks were in homeless shelters and one in a military training facility <sup>46,47</sup>.

Serotype 1 has been shown to cause outbreaks in Africa <sup>48</sup>. The African meningitis belt is a region of sub-Saharan Africa, extending from Senegal to Ethiopia that is characterised by hyperendemic seasonal peaks of acute bacterial meningitis and sporadic epidemics <sup>49</sup>. It is not clear why pneumococcal meningitis in the meningitis belt is seasonal and usually presents with one predominating serotype. Even though climatic factors increase the incidence of meningitis in the meningitis belt, these factors do not explain the increase in serotype 1 above other pneumococcal serotypes. In addition other socio-economic and underlying conditions predisposing to IPD are similar between other African countries and the meningitis belt.

A study comparing opsonophagocytic activity against pneumococcal disease in Burkina Faso and the United Kingdom (UK) showed that even though functional activity was generally low in both groups, a higher serotype 1 activity was observed during childhood in Burkina Faso, with similar levels during adolescence and adulthood in both populations <sup>50</sup>. Despite this disease incidence in the UK was much lower. The low level of functional antibodies was consistent with infrequent carriage of serotype 1 <sup>51-53</sup> and reduced natural immunity compared with other serotypes. A general defect in humoral immunity amongst the Burkina Faso population was ruled out. Climatic factors have been shown to play a key role in predisposing people in the meningitis belt to meningitis <sup>53-55</sup>. These environmental factors were thought to increase the incidence of serotype 1 in Burkina Faso <sup>50</sup> even though both the UK and Burkina Faso populations had low natural immunity to serotype 1.

# Serotype 1 epidemiology

Serotype 1 is commonly isolated in IPD but rarely causes asymptomatic nasopharyngeal colonization <sup>37,56</sup>. Serotype 1 pneumococci have been isolated from swabs taken from ill patients with pneumonia <sup>57</sup> or close contacts of patients with serotype 1 IPD <sup>58</sup>.

A meta-analysis demonstrated the difference in carriage duration between serotypes; with a shorter duration in serotype 1, which has a high attack rate, compared with other pneumococcal serotypes <sup>59</sup>.

Serotype 1 has been shown to have lower antibiotic resistance than serotypes that are more commonly carried asymptomatically (e.g. 6B and 23F)<sup>60,61</sup>. Prior antibiotic use may clear susceptible serotype 1 pneumococci, making it less likely to be grown on culture <sup>48</sup>. Serotype 1 shows substantial year-to-year variability that is more marked than other serotypes <sup>62</sup>. In terms of the influence of vaccination on serotype 1, although it can't be excluded, there was data that showed that serotype 1 increased prior to PCV introduction in some countries <sup>63,64</sup> and had no correlation in others <sup>61</sup>, likely due to the epidemic nature of serotype 1.

Serotype 1 was found to be an important cause of disease among older children and among HU children in the pre-PCV era in South Africa <sup>17</sup>. Serotype 1 IPD tends to occur in patients who are younger and healthier than IPD caused by other serotypes <sup>65</sup>. Serotype 1 is found across all age groups <sup>36</sup> and the age differences in reported rates may be due to relative differences in other serotypes. Compared to other serotypes, serotype 1 has lower morbidity and mortality <sup>65,66</sup> and frequently causes uncommon presentations of IPD, including empyema <sup>67</sup> and peritonitis <sup>68</sup>.

The serotype 1 capsule contains zwitterionic polysaccharides which have sections of opposing charges, allowing it to elicit a T-cell dependent immune response <sup>48</sup>. This is in contrast to the capsular polysaccharides of other serotypes that function as T-cell independent antigens. The serotype 1 capsule has been shown to be more resistant to opsonisation and complement deposition than other serotypes, except for serotype 5 <sup>69</sup>; as such it is thought that the serotype 1 capsule may function in a different way to other serotypes resulting in a difference in virulence. There were also differences in pneumolysin in some serotype 1 isolates, which also impacts colonisation and virulence <sup>48</sup>. The zwitterionic polysaccharide capsule has been found to be related to abscess formation in animal models and thus cause empyema <sup>48</sup>.

Serotype 1 is contained in both the PCV10 and PCV13 vaccines. This thesis focusses on the effects and impact of PCV13 only as this is the vaccine that replaced PCV7 in the routine national immunisation programme in South Africa.

#### **RISK FACTORS OTHER THAN HIV-EXPOSED UNINFECTED CHILDREN**

It is important to establish risk factors for pneumococcal disease in different settings and following different interventions such as antiretroviral treatment (ART) or PCV, to establish priority groups for public health interventions. Prior to the introduction of PCV there was limited data on risk factors for IPD in South Africa. Local studies showed a significant higher risk of IPD in HIV-infected children (41-fold) with "paediatric" pneumococcal serotypes, than –uninfected children <sup>11</sup>. HIV-infected children in this study had high rates of malnutrition and underlying tuberculosis. Other studies from the US also showed that a higher risk of pneumococcal disease with HIV was in the pre-ART era <sup>70</sup>. In contrast in HIV-uninfected children with IPD in South Africa had underlying infections, like chronic liver and renal disease in the pre-vaccine era <sup>11</sup>. Young children (<2 years of age) and the elderly are most at risk of invasive disease caused by the pneumococcus, as are males <sup>71</sup>. Other risk factors include alcoholism, smoking <sup>72</sup>, day care for children and asplenia <sup>73</sup>.

Also in the pre-vaccine era a case-control study in children <5 years of age in The Gambia showed lack of maternal income, exposure of the child to indoor smoke from cooking or cigarette smoke, poor weight gain and serious illness in the child in the last few months as risk factors associated with pneumococcal disease <sup>74</sup>. Another case-control study conducted in the US prior to the introduction of PCV7 identified a number of risk factors for IPD <sup>75</sup>. Cases of IPD were identified from a laboratory-based surveillance programme and controls from the community. On multivariable analysis recent day care attendance was associated with an increased risk in all age groups. In infants 2-11 months old IPD was associated with a decreased likelihood of current breastfeeding, in 12-23 month olds with recent antibiotic use and in older children (24-59 months) with crowding <sup>75</sup>.

Following the introduction of PCV7 in the US in 2000 another case-control study (2001-2004) assessed the changes in risk factors associated with IPD <sup>76</sup>. In children who had received at least one PCV7 dose, the strongest risk factor for cases with vaccine-type IPD was an underlying medical condition; other factors included male gender, having no health insurance and been less likely to be up-to-date for *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib) vaccination. Unvaccinated cases with VT-IPD had additional risk factors similar to those seen in the pre-PCV period, namely day care attendance and black race which was not seen in vaccinated children. Risk factors for NVT-IPD included children with underlying conditions (in households with smokers), day care attendance among black children, children from low-income households, male gender, history of asthma, low birth weight or grommets. Cases were less likely than controls to be up-to-date with Hib vaccination or to live in households with children younger than 18 years.

In the post-PCV period prior to our study, there was no data exploring the changes in risk groups for pneumococcal disease in South Africa. A case-control study in South Africa in the post-PCV era and published after our risk factor paper, assessed risk factors for presumed bacterial pneumonia hospitalisations in young HIV-uninfected children <sup>77</sup>. This study reported black race, malnutrition with (OR 3.30, 95% CI 2.28-4.79) and without crowding (OR 6.68, 95% CI 4.74-9.42), crowding among well-nourished children (OR 2.29, 95% CI 1.89-2.78), previous pneumonia hospitalisation (OR 2.35, 95%CI 1.65 to 3.35) and smoking by the primary caregiver (OR 5.15, 95%CI 2.94 to 9.03) as risk factors.

Risk factors for antibiotic non-susceptible disease have been shown to include previous hospital admissions due to antibiotic exposure, day care attendance due to crowding and highly likelihood of transmission, HIV infection and malnutrition possibly due to previous admissions and antibiotic therapy <sup>78</sup>. Female sex <sup>79</sup>, probably due to transmission from children and pneumococcal serotypes commonly found in children ('paediatric serotypes'), due to prolonged carriage <sup>80</sup>, are also associated with higher antibiotic resistance.

### HIV-EXPOSED UNINFECTED CHILDREN

Groups of particular interest in South Africa are HI and HEU (HIV-exposeduninfected) children in view of the fact that around a third of all pregnant women test positive for HIV at antenatal clinics nationally in the country <sup>81</sup>. An improvement in treatment to prevent the transmission of HIV from pregnant women to their babies has resulted in an increasing number of exposed but uninfected infants. Prior to our study, HIV exposure was shown to be associated with an increased risk of lower respiratory tract infections and bacterial infections, but had not been described as a specific risk factor for IPD.

A review article by Evans, et. al. highlighted the challenges when reviewing studies including HEU children <sup>82</sup>. The difficulties in reviewing these studies included that earlier studies did not include HIV testing in infants, follow-up testing was often not done for HIV-uninfected mothers and infants, HIV-unexposed groups were often not included for comparison, breast feeding practices differed between groups and HIV and ART exposures were often not described. Despite these limitations mortality in young HI and HEU children <2 years of age has been shown to be higher than that of HIV-unexposed-uninfected (HUU) children. Factors such as maternal CD4 count and health status impact the outcome in the HEU group <sup>83</sup>. A number of factors have been proposed to contribute to the poor health and nutrition among HEU children: lack of parental care, infant feeding practices, immune

abnormalities, exposure to other infections and antiretroviral drugs <sup>84</sup>. HEU children have been shown to have a significantly higher all-cause outpatient consultation rate and LRTIassociated visit rate in infants <6 months of age <sup>85</sup>. In South Africa, HEU infants hospitalised with pneumonia tended to have higher treatment failure rates than HUU infants <sup>86</sup>; HEU infants were prone to higher infectious morbidity <sup>87</sup> and were at higher risk for more severe infections requiring hospitalisation <sup>88</sup>. Data from high-income countries also showed a correlation between the risk of serious bacterial infections among HEU infants and maternal CD4 values during pregnancy <sup>89</sup>.

A small cohort of 27 HEU and 28 HUU infants from South Africa in 2009 showed a non-significant three-fold increase in hospitalisations for infections in HEU compared with HUU children in the first year of life <sup>88</sup>. Most infections were respiratory tract infections. The HEU infants did not have more reported infectious events or higher rates of malnutrition. No comparison could be made with regards to the role of breastfeeding as only one HEU infant was breastfed.

In South Africa a case-control study which assessed risk factors for presumed bacterial pneumonia hospitalisations in HIV-uninfected children <sup>77</sup> identified that maternal HIV infection was a risk factor for pneumonia in infants who were exclusively breastfed (OR 2.33, 95% CI 1.53 to 3.55). These results differed from another study in Kenya which showed a decreased risk of pneumonia in breastfed HEU infants <sup>90</sup>. The authors of the South African study suggested that the inconsistent association between breastfeeding and pneumonia in their study may have been due to unmeasured confounding.

A pooled analysis which included a number of HIV prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) studies demonstrated that risk factors for death among young HEU children included having a mother with a low CD4 count or who died <sup>83</sup>. In Tanzania low birth-weight was also a risk factor for death among HEU infants <sup>91</sup>, while in Zimbabwe, mortality within the first 2 years of life was significantly higher amongst HEU than HUU children <sup>92</sup>. Other studies also showed advanced maternal disease to be a risk factor for mortality <sup>89,93</sup>. Additional risk factors for death among HEU children included low birth weight, male sex, maternal death, malnutrition <sup>92</sup>, severe maternal anaemia, single mother and low household income. Mortality was highest in HEU infants <6 months of age mainly associated with lower respiratory tract infections <sup>92</sup>.

A cohort study from 3 African countries showed differential mortality after 12 months of follow-up amongst HI (42%), HEU (7.2%) and HUU (4.8%) infants. Infants were more likely to die if their mother experienced a severe adverse event or died; and in HI mothers

with low CD4 counts or high viral loads <sup>94</sup>. In Zambia a cohort of 620 HEU infants were followed up to 4 months of age. Overall infant mortality was 4.6% and those whose mothers had low CD4 cell counts ( $\leq$ 350 cells/mL) were almost three times more likely to die or be hospitalised after adjusting for other factors. The most common cause of infant death and hospitalisation was pneumonia and/or sepsis <sup>95</sup>.

# General immunological responses in HIV-exposed-uninfected children

HEU children have been reported to have a number of distinct immunological differences from HUU children <sup>96</sup>. The magnitude of cytotoxic lymphocyte activity, CD4 helper T cell responses and natural killer cells responses in HEU infants have all been found to be associated with whether the infant is infected perinatally with HIV or not <sup>97-99</sup>. Transplacental transfer of specific maternal antibodies, including tetanus and measles antibodies, are reduced in HEU infants compared to HUU infants <sup>100-103</sup>. This reduction may be related to impaired B cell function, less efficient IgG placental transfer and myeloid dendritic cells activity <sup>104</sup>. Absolute CD4 and naive CD8 T cells have been found to be reduced in HEU children and some studies have shown thymic function disruption in HEU infants <sup>105,106</sup>. These immunological changes may have a negative impact on the HEU child's response to infection and to immunisation in early life. Their immune response to *S. pneumoniae* and other encapsulated bacteria, which requires functional antibodies, may also be reduced <sup>96</sup>.

A number of metabolic and haematological changes have been reported in HEU infants exposed to ART during PMTCT <sup>96</sup>. Metabolic changes are likely caused by mitochondrial toxicity which can result in mitochondrial dysfunction with neuropathy, development of lactic acidosis, cardiac growth and functional abnormalities <sup>107-109</sup>. Haemoglobin levels, platelets, total lymphocytes, neutrophils, CD4 and CD8 T cell counts may all be reduced <sup>110-112</sup>. Further studies are required to determine the extent to which ART directly alters immune responses and to assess the functional significance of the changes in haematological parameters.

#### Impact of breastfeeding in HIV-exposed-uninfected children

Another explanation for a higher mortality in HEU compared with HUU infants is that HIVinfected mothers chose not to breastfeed or are unable to breastfeed due to advanced HIV disease. Breast milk contains a number of different immune-related compounds including IgA, leukocytes, lysozyme, lactoferrin, interferon- $\gamma$  and cytokines <sup>113</sup>. Some compounds prevent adherence of pathogens to the upper respiratory tract and gastrointestinal tract mucosa in the infant providing passive protection against invasive infections. Breast milk may also stimulate the child's own immune system. In developing countries breastfeeding reduces mortality from acute respiratory infection and diarrhoea <sup>114</sup>, with a 6 times higher odds of mortality reported in non-breast-fed infants <2 months of age. Even in developed countries, studies have shown a protective effect of breastfeeding against acute infections <sup>115,116</sup>

# VACCINE EFFICACY OF PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINES IN CLINICAL TRIALS

Vaccine probe studies can be used to estimate the total burden of pneumococcal disease incidence that is preventable by PCV by calculating the difference in disease incidence between vaccinated and unvaccinated people <sup>117</sup>. Estimates can be calculated separately for different disease syndromes. Vaccine probe studies can gauge the contribution of the pneumococcus to different clinical syndromes and explore causality in disease pathogenesis. Vaccine probe studies can use either a randomised or non-randomised design to measure the incidence of IPD pre- or post-PCV introduction and be incorporated into the design of a vaccine efficacy study or be applied retrospectively <sup>117</sup>.

A Cochrane review exploring PCV effect on IPD and CXR pneumonia included eleven publications from 6 randomised control trials conducted in 5 different countries (South Africa, The Gambia, the USA, Philippines and Finland)<sup>118</sup>. These trials included 113,044 children <2 years of age; 57,015 who received PCV and 56,029 who received a placebo or another vaccine. The evidence on PCV efficacy against IPD was considered high quality while the evidence against pneumonia was of moderate quality. Of the 5 trials that included all-cause mortality data, none had sufficient numbers to explore this outcome and only 2 trials had data on all-cause admissions. The pooled vaccine efficacy (VE) for vaccine type IPD (VT-IPD) in HU children was 80% (95% confidence interval (CI): 58-90) while the VE for all serotype IPD was 58% (95% CI: 29-75) and the all-cause mortality VE was 11% (95% CI: -1-21%). The findings for HI children were similar although point estimates were slightly lower than in HU children <sup>118</sup>.

#### Vaccine efficacy of pneumococcal vaccines in developed countries

A Kaiser Permanente trial was conducted in Northern California (NCKP study) from October 1995 to April 1999 to evaluate PCV7 efficacy <sup>28</sup>. The final analysis included 40 fully vaccinated IPD VT-IPD cases, 39 of which were controls, translating into a VE of 97.4% (95% CI: 82.7 to 99.9%). There was an 89.1% (95% CI: 73.7 to 95.8%) reduction in allserotype IPD in children who had received  $\geq 1$  dose of PCV7. Another trial which used a group-randomised design to recruit Native American children  $\leq 2$  years of age demonstrated a per-protocol VE of 76.8% (95% CI: -9.4-95.1)<sup>119</sup>. None of the non-vaccine type (NVT) results were statistical significance.

#### Vaccine efficacy of pneumococcal vaccines in developing countries

Two clinical randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind vaccine efficacy trials were conducted using a 9-valent PCV (PCV9) in Africa <sup>21,29</sup>. This vaccine included additional serotypes 1 and 5 which were not included in the PCV7 vaccine that was ultimately licensed. In the South African VE trial, a total of 39,836 children were included, 19,922 in the PCV9 group and 19,914 in the placebo group <sup>21</sup>. In the per-protocol analysis, the VE was 85% (95% CI: 32-98) for HU children and 65% (95% CI: 24-86) against VT-IPD (the primary endpoint) in HI children. In the Gambian trial 17,437 children were randomised of those screened, 8718 into the vaccine group and 8719 into the placebo group <sup>29</sup>. The original primary endpoint was all-cause childhood mortality, but this was changed to radiologically confirmed pneumonia due to concerns that the original study endpoint would not be met. Efficacy against a secondary endpoint of the study, VT-IPD was 77% (95% CI: 51–90).

# VACCINE EFFECTIVENESS OF PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINES FROM CASE-CONTROL STUDIES

#### Vaccine effectiveness of pneumococcal vaccines in developed countries

In the US, a matched case-control study was conducted from 2001-2004 to assess the effectiveness of PCV7 against IPD following the introduction of this vaccine in 2000<sup>120</sup>. Cases were identified using the Active Bacterial Core Surveillance programme and community controls from birth registers; matching was by age and zip code. Vaccines were

administered at 2, 4, 6 and 12–15 months of age. The study showed a high vaccine effectiveness against VT-IPD with  $\geq$ 1 dose of PCV7 in healthy children (96% [95% CI: 93–98]) as well as good efficacy against penicillin non-susceptible disease (76% [95%CI: 63–85]) and multidrug-resistant strains (77% [95%CI: 62–86]).

A paper from the UK using enhanced surveillance data utilised the indirect cohort method to assess the vaccine effectiveness of PCV7 against VT-IPD and individual serotypes <sup>121</sup>. The analysis included all first episode IPD cases aged  $\geq$ 5 months from November 2006 to May 2010. In children <14 months of age, the adjusted vaccine effectiveness for 1 dose was 56% (95% CI: -7-82) and for 2 doses was 83% (95% CI: 60-93); the vaccine effectiveness for 2 doses in children  $\geq$ 14 months was 93% (95% CI: 70-98). The authors concluded that their vaccine effectiveness estimates were lower than in the US study possibly due to residual confounding.

# Vaccine effectiveness of pneumococcal vaccines in South Africa

In South Africa, a matched case-control study was conducted to assess the effectiveness of PCV7 against IPD <sup>122</sup>. Cases of IPD were identified through a national laboratory-based surveillance programme while controls were enrolled from wards or outpatient departments at the same hospital as their case. Cases and controls were also matched by age and HIV status. The study was able to show that  $\geq$ 2 PCV7 doses were effective against VT-IPD amongst HU children (74% [95% CI: 25–91]), but not against HI children  $\geq$ 16 weeks of age (-12% [95% CI: -449-77]). Among HIV-exposed-uninfected (HEU) children, the vaccine effectiveness of  $\geq$ 2 doses was 92% (95% CI: 47–99) against VT-IPD, while that against all-serotype multidrug-resistant IPD was 96% (95% CI: 62–100) among HU children. A single dose of PCV7 given at about 6 weeks provided no protection against VT-IPD, unlike the effectiveness shown in the USA <sup>122</sup>.

A later analysis from the same South African case-control study determined PCV13 effectiveness (Cheryl Cohen, submitted). Amongst HU children the vaccine effectiveness of  $\geq$ 2 PCV13 doses against PCV13-serotype IPD was 85% (95% CI: 37-96), 92% (95% CI: 40-99) against the 6 additional PCV13 serotypes and 52% (95% CI: -12-79) against all serotype IPD. When the data from both children who received PCV7 or PCV13 was combined the vaccine effectiveness against PCV7-serotype IPD was 87% (95% CI: 38-97) in HEU children and 90% (95% CI: 53-98) in HU malnourished children. Significant effectiveness could still not be shown for  $\geq$ 2 doses amongst HI children (91% [95% CI: -35-100]) against PCV13-

serotype IPD or against the 6 additional PCV-13 serotypes (82% [95% CI: -155-100]) even though the point estimate was higher than that shown in the PCV7 study.

### PNEUMOCOCCAL CONJUGATE VACCINE IMPACT

When using surveillance systems to monitor the impact of PCV it is important to remember the inherent biases associated with trend data <sup>123</sup>. There may be natural fluctuations in serotypes and changes in specimen-taking practices following vaccine introduction <sup>124,125</sup>. Post-vaccine introduction less blood cultures may be taken due to clinicians expecting less disease, resulting in an inflation of the change in VT disease and a reduction in NVT disease detection. Increases in trends may also be reported <sup>126,127</sup>. These changes in specimen-taking practices may be more marked in outpatient departments than hospitalised children. It is important to ensure that there is stability in the pre-vaccine years used for the baseline calculation of rates and sufficient post-vaccine years to determine the actual change in disease incidence and the extent of replacement disease <sup>123</sup>. Incomplete case ascertainment can make the establishment of a stable baseline for subsequent comparison difficult. In ecological studies changes in disease incidence following vaccine introduction cannot always be causally attributed to vaccine introduction. PCV effectiveness and impact data is now available from more than 50 countries (http://view-hub.org/viz/). Only a few of these studies are discussed in detail below.

# Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine impact on invasive pneumococcal disease in developed countries

A meta-analysis of 21 datasets from different surveillance systems showed a reduction in all IPD and VT-IPD in children <5 years of age by 1 year after introduction of PCV7 and which continued till 7 years post-introduction <sup>128</sup>. Most sites showed an increase in NVT-IPD in at least one post-introduction year. In adults, VT-IPD decreased significantly by the second year following PCV7 introduction and was more gradual when compared to children. Only adults aged  $\geq$ 50 years showed significant increases in NVT-IPD post-PCV introduction. The impact of PCV7 on VT-IPD has shown consistent results in high-income countries, with reductions in incidence ranging from 79% to 100% <sup>129-137</sup>. However the overall reduction in incidence of all serotype IPD showed more variation across studies (37-80%), likely due to differences in serotype distributions <sup>129-139</sup>.

In the UK, PCV7 was introduced in 2006 and replaced by PCV13 in 2010. Comparing IPD incidence rates from 2004-2006 to those in 2009-2010, in children <2 years of age, there was a 46% reduction in all IPD, 97% reduction in VT disease and an 81% increase in NVT disease  $^{136}$ . In the elderly ( $\geq$ 65 years) there was a 13% reduction in all IPD, 79% reduction in VT disease and a 48% increase in NVT disease. After PCV13 introduction, IPD incidence decreased by 32% across all ages by 2013-14  $^{140}$ . The incidence of PCV7 VT disease continued to decline in all age groups and the additional six serotypes in PCV13 also showed a significant decrease of 69%. Compared with the pre-PCV7 baseline years the overall incidence of IPD in 2013-14 was reduced by 56% and the incidence of PCV7 VT disease by 97%; the incidence of non-PCV13 IPD, compared with the pre-PCV baseline, increased by 28%.

In the USA, PCV7 was introduced in 2000 and replaced by PCV13 in 2010. In 2001 in children <2 years of age, compared with 1998-1999, the incidence of PCV7 VT disease was reduced by 78%, while all vaccine-related IPD (6A, 9A, 19A) was reduced by 50% and NVT disease increased by 27%; the latter was not significant <sup>141</sup>. Following PCV13 introduction, time series models were used to compare what would have been seen in the absence of PCV13 with what was actually observed <sup>142</sup>. In children <5 years of age in 2012-2013 there was a reduction of 64% in all IPD, 93% reduction in the additional 6 PCV13 serotypes and no evidence of replacement disease. In adults ≥65 years of age, there was a 12% reduction in all IPD and a 58% reduction in the additional 6 PCV13 serotypes. There was also no significant increase in NVT disease in this age group.

# Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine impact on pneumonia and hospitalisation in developed countries

A number of studies have reported the impact of PCV7 on pneumonia-associated hospitalisation. Reported reductions in all-cause pneumonia hospitalisations in children post-PCV7 introduction range from 13% to 65% after introduction of PCV-7<sup>139,143,144</sup>. It was suggested that the range of reductions was possibly due to differences between countries in the common serotypes causing pneumonia, the aetiology of pneumonia and differential duration of time since PCV7 introduction<sup>145</sup>. In the United States it was estimated that 41,000 all-cause pneumonia hospitalisations were avoided in children <2 years of age through the introduction of PCV7, a 39% (22-52%) reduction<sup>143</sup>; by the end of 2004, there was a 65% (47-77%) reduction in the rate of pneumococcal pneumonia admissions in

children <2 years of age and a 21% (6-34%) reduction in all age groups. The control group of dehydration admission rates showed no change in young children.

In Canada PCV7 was first introduced as part of the national immunisation programme in 2002. A review of data from 2004 to 2010 showed an overall decrease in the incidence of all-cause and pneumococcal pneumonia <sup>146</sup>. This was driven primarily by decreases in incidence in children <5 years and the elderly ( $\geq$ 65 years). In all age groups the incidence of all-cause pneumonia declined from 361 (359-364) per 100,000 in 2004-2005 to 347 (345-349) per 100,000 in 2009-2010 and for pneumococcal pneumonia from 6.40 (6.09-6.73) per 100,000 to 5.08 (4.81-5.36) per 100,000 in the same years.

# Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine impact on invasive pneumococcal disease and carriage in developing countries

Studies on the impact of PCV on IPD are currently been conducted in at least 21 developing countries and impact on nasopharyngeal carriage in 18 countries (http://view-hub.org/viz/).

The KEMRI Wellcome Trust Research Programme in Kenya launched a study of PCV10 effectiveness in the routine childhood immunisation schedule in Kenya. The study endpoints included invasive pneumococcal disease, radiologically proven pneumonia and all-cause hospital admissions pre- and post-PCV10 introduction. Routine immunisation of children <12 months of age began in January 2011. The surveillance programme showed a significant reduction in VT and all serotype IPD by 2012 (<u>http://www.kemri-wellcome.org</u>). In 2012 PCV10 effectiveness was estimated to be 72% (95% CI 34–88) against VT-IPD in children <5 years of age. In terms of nasopharyngeal carriage, vaccine effectiveness for VT disease was 64% (95% CI 49–74) in children <5 years of age and 66% (38–82) in individuals  $\geq$ 5 years of age <sup>147</sup>. There was a significant increase in NVT carriage in children <5 years of age 37% (95% CI 13–65); however overall there was a slight decline in pneumococcal carriage prevalence because the magnitude of the decline in VT carriage was greater than NVT increase <sup>147</sup>.

To investigate the impact of PCV7 on pneumococcal nasopharyngeal carriage, a cluster-randomised trial was conducted in 21 villages in The Gambia over a 5 year period (December 2003 to June 2008) <sup>148</sup>. PCV7 was given to children <30 months of age in all the villages, while older children and adults were randomised to receive either one dose of PCV7 (11 vaccinated villages) or meningococcal serogroup C conjugate vaccine (10 control

villages). Nasopharyngeal swabs were collected in cross-sectional surveys before vaccination and at 3 points after vaccination. A time trend analysis demonstrated a reduction in VT pneumococcal carriage prevalence in all age groups in both villages following vaccination, showing both direct and indirect vaccine effects. The herd effect was shown from 6 months after vaccination and persisted for at least the next 2 years. Only small differences were noted in NVT pneumococcal carriage prevalence between the different villages <sup>148</sup>.

A population-based surveillance system in the Gambia compared the incidence of baseline IPD rates pre-PCV13 (May 2008-May 2010) and rates post-PCV13 (Jan 2013-Dec 2014) introduction <sup>149</sup>. A total of 320 cases of IPD were identified over the 7 year period. In children 2-23 months of age there was a 55% (95% CI 30-71%) reduction in the incidence of all IPD and an 82% (95% CI 44-91%) reduction in the incidence of PCV13 serotypes. Similarly in children 2-4 years of age there was a 56% (95% CI 25-75%) reduction in the incidence of PCV13 serotypes. Reductions in other age groups were not significant, as were the increases in non-vaccine type disease.

In South Africa a national, laboratory-based surveillance programme for IPD demonstrated a reduction in the incidence of disease, when rates were compared between four pre-vaccine (baseline) years (average of 2005 through 2008) and two different post-vaccine years (2011 and 2012)  $^{150}$ . In children <2 years of age (vaccinated group), the incidence rates for all pneumococcal serotypes decreased from 54.8 to 17.0 cases per 100,000 person-years (69% reduction) between these 2 periods, while PCV7 serotypes showed an 89% reduction (32.1 to 3.4 cases per 100,000 person-years). The additional 5 serotypes (excluding 6A) in PCV13 and not in PCV7 also showed a significant 57% reduction by 2012. Among HU children, PCV7 VT disease decreased by 85%, whereas disease caused by non-PCV13 serotypes increased by 33%. Similarly in HI children PCV7 VT disease decreased by 86%, although the overall rate of disease was more than 20 fold greater than in HU children, and there was no significant change in non-PCV13 serotype disease. The absolute difference in HI children between VT and NVT disease was 55%. Among adults 25 to 44 years of age, there was evidence of herd immunity with the rate of PCV7 VT disease declining by 57%, and all serotype disease by 34%<sup>150</sup>. This surveillance programme does not capture outpatient or non-invasive disease.

# Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine impact on pneumonia and hospitalisation in developing countries

There is limited data on PCV impact on pneumonia and hospitalisations from low and middle income countries. Various studies on the impact of PCV on pneumonia are ongoing in a number of developing countries (<u>http://view-hub.org/viz/</u>). Post–PCV7 introduction a study from Poland reported a 65% reduction in pneumonia hospitalisations <sup>151</sup> and a study from Uruguay showed a 56% reduction in CXR confirmed pneumonia <sup>152</sup>. A later study from Uruguay showed a continued reduction in hospitalisations for non-consolidated pneumonia (46.4%) in the post-vaccine era and an overall decrease in consolidated pneumonia (27.3%) despite an slight increase in numbers in 2012 <sup>153</sup>. The authors investigated possible causes for this increase including changes in the diagnosis or hospitalisation of patients with suspected pneumonia, but could find none. They suspected an increase in other bacterial aetiologies. In Brazil, soon after the introduction of PCV10, an interrupted time-series analysis measured the rates of hospitalisation for pneumonia and non-respiratory causes among children in 5 cities <sup>154</sup>. During the post-vaccination period there was a significant difference in the reductions of pneumonia hospitalisation rates and non-respiratory hospitalisation rates in 3 of the cities.

#### **REPLACEMENT PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE**

With the expanded use of PCV globally it is important to estimate the scale of serotype replacement to determine the net decline in disease and the overall benefit of vaccination. The magnitude of the increase in non-vaccine serotypes varies between different settings and is depended on host and *S.pneumoniae* population level characteristics <sup>123</sup>.

Randomised-controlled clinical trials are unable to demonstrate indirect effects or replacement disease due to the fact that only a limited number of individuals are vaccinated <sup>155-157</sup>. Data on the extent of replacement disease is mainly being derived from observational studies which are subject to various biases. Replacement is more marked in well-vaccinated populations <sup>158</sup>.

Vaccination with conjugate vaccines has resulted in a change in pneumococci colonising the nasopharynx, from mainly VT serotypes to predominantly NVT serotypes with little or no net change in the bacterial carriage prevalence <sup>21,123,159,160</sup>. The increase in NVT carriage may partially be due to the artefact known as "unmasking" <sup>161</sup> in which the reduction in prevalence of VT serotypes has made it easier to detect the presence of NVT serotypes in the population. Other contributing factors may be the increase in acquisition of new serotypes <sup>162</sup> and a higher NVT colonisation density in vaccinated individuals <sup>163</sup>.

NVT-IPD incidence has also increased <sup>123</sup>. In the USA, 10 years after PCV7 introduction, the surveillance system showed a decrease in VT disease and increase in NVT disease especially serotype 19A. The increase was most apparent among hospitalised cases. The incidence of NVT disease in children <5 years of age increased from 16.8 per 100 000 population in 1998–99 to 22.1 per 100 000 population in 2006–7 (32%); however the overall rate of IPD in the paediatric population was still significantly lower than in the pre-vaccine era <sup>137</sup>.

The increase in NVT infections in England and Wales post-PCV7 introduction was greater than that reported in the USA <sup>136</sup>. This may be as most children in the UK programme were hospitalised, whereas the US surveillance system also included non-hospitalised children (68% of <5 year olds in 1998–99) <sup>137</sup> resulting in a substantially higher prevalence of IPD in the USA compared with England and Wales. For pneumococcal meningitis the increase in NVT cases in children <5 years in the USA and England/Wales was similar at over 70% <sup>136,137</sup>. The increase in NVT disease in individuals aged 65 years or older in the USA was 32% by 2006–07 <sup>137</sup> compared with 48% in England and Wales by 2009–10 <sup>136</sup>. Serotypes 17F and 19A were major causes of replacement pre-PCV13 introduction <sup>123,136</sup>, while data regarding serotype 1 was contradictory <sup>21,29</sup>. In 2013-14, post-PCV13 introduction, non-PCV13 serotypes increased significantly in children <5 years and adults ≥45 years, compared with the pre-PCV13 baseline across all age groups. For children <5 years, the increase in non-PCV13 IPD compared with the pre-PCV13 baseline was most marked in 2013-14 and at this point the overall IPD incidence was higher than 2012-13 <sup>140</sup>.

Increases in NVT disease are likely due to a number of factors; however vaccination probable provides the strongest pressure for this increase. Other contributing factors may include antibiotic use and resistance and long-term secular trends <sup>164-166</sup>.

A meta-analysis, including 19 datasets in children <5 years, showed a significant increase in NVT-IPD rates by 2 years post-PCV introduction, which increased through 5 years, with some plateauing till year 7  $^{128}$ .

There is a possibility that serotype replacement could substantially reduce the impact and benefits of vaccines. Replacement serotypes could be associated with resistance, even multidrug resistance. The amount of replacement thus far, especially with PCV13 use (which covers serotype 19A) is small in comparison to the overall reduction in disease. However there is a need for broader valency vaccines, universal vaccines and adequate surveillance <sup>128</sup>.

# JUSTIFICATION AND OBJECTIVES

There are limited data on the epidemiology of pneumococcal disease from Africa and other developing countries. As PCV is gradually introduced into developing countries, it is important to have good data regarding pneumococcal disease and the impact of the vaccine. As South Africa was the first African country to introduce PCV into its routine national immunisation programme and there is a long-standing national pneumococcal surveillance programme with good baseline data, it is a good platform to describe the changes in pneumococcal serotypes and the overall impact of PCV on disease burden. We used the IPD surveillance data to build a burden model to describe the overall burden of hospitalisations and deaths in the pre- and post-PCV period. We also calculated the proportion of disease averted as all these components are important for health policy.

Serotype 1 pneumococcal disease has been shown to have distinctive clinical and microbiological characteristics in other studies and is an important cause of disease in low and middle income countries. Although it has been shown to cause outbreaks in the African meningitis belt the epidemiology of serotype 1 is likely different in South Africa a high HIV prevalence setting. Serotype 1 is contained in the PCV13 vaccine and it is important to describe its epidemiology in the post-vaccine era. There is conflicting data regarding whether PCV13 will result in a reduction in serotype 1 disease and in view of its epidemic nature ongoing surveillance is important.

Risk factors for pneumococcal disease in South Africa are anticipated to differ somewhat from those traditionally reported from developed countries as there are high rates of HIV and malnutrition and lower socioeconomic conditions in certain communities. HIVinfected children have been shown to have an increased risk of IPD but data are limited on other risk factors for IPD in South Africa. It is important to describe the change in risk in these children the era of PCV and paediatric HIV treatment and care. In HIV-uninfected children it is important to describe the risk factors for ongoing disease in the era of PCV. The identification of risk groups guides policy makers with regards to allocation of resources and clinical management by alerting clinicians to who may present with pneumococcal disease and who to treat empirically.

With improvements in prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission (PMTCT) programmes and high maternal antenatal HIV prevalence rates, there has been a reduction in HIV-infected children but an increasing number of HEU infants. There were no published

data exploring the risk of IPD-associated hospitalization or mortality amongst HEU children at the time of conceptualisation of this PhD.

This thesis aimed to assess the public health impact of introducing the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine into the Expanded Programme on Immunisation in South Africa (EPI-SA), including the changes in disease burden and risk factor groups in the country as well as trends in disease caused by specific important serotypes. It is hoped that the findings from this thesis will be useful in guiding future pneumococcal vaccination policies and development in South Africa and other developing countries. The thesis focused predominantly on children <5 years of age where the greatest effects of PCV were observed. For the serotype 1 analysis all age groups were included to provide a complete picture of disease clustering for this serotype.

The primary objectives for this thesis were:

1. To estimate the burden of hospitalised pneumococcal cases and in-hospital deaths caused by severe pneumococcal clinical syndromes (meningitis, bacteraemic and non-bacteraemic pneumonia, and non-pneumonia non-meningitis invasive disease), among HI and HU children <5 years in South Africa, in the pre-vaccine (2005-2008) and post-vaccine (2013) era (Paper I).

2. To describe the epidemiology of IPD due to serotype 1 in all age groups in South Africa from 2003 to 2013, including the impact of PCV (Paper I).

3. To describe the epidemiology of IPD in HEU children <1 year of age, compared with HUU and HI children in South Africa from 2009 through 2013 and include changes over this time period due to PCV and paediatric antiretroviral treatment introduction (Paper III).

4. To describe the risk factors related to IPD in HI and HU South African children eligible to receive PCV7 through the EPI-SA and the changes in risk factors associated with vaccination between 2010 and 2012 (Paper IV).

## METHODS

## **STUDY SETTING**

In 2015, South Africa had a total population of around 54,96 million people with an annual birth rate of 22,7 per 1000 and an infant mortality rate of 34,4 per 1000 live births. The HIV prevalence rate was approximately 11.2% in the general South African population in 2015<sup>167</sup>, as compared with 18.8% in 2008<sup>168</sup>. The antenatal HIV prevalence rate remained stable at around 30% from 2004<sup>81</sup>, while the HIV prevalence in children <5 years of age decreased over time from 4.4% in 2006 to 3.5% by 2013 due to marked improvements in the PMTCT programme; the estimated perinatal HIV transmission rate decreased from 16.4% in 2006 to 2.4% in 2012<sup>169,170</sup>. The number of HI infants identified under the age of 2 months, fell by 46% between 2008 and 2012<sup>170</sup>. Access to ART has gradually improved since its introduction in the public sector in South Africa in 2004, and the overall estimated coverage in HI children requiring treatment was 63% in 2012<sup>171,172</sup>. The number of women newly infected with HIV declined by 21% from 2009 to 2012 in South Africa.

PCV7 was available in the private sector and limited areas of the public health sector in South Africa from 2008. The vaccine was introduced into the EPI-SA in April 2009. It was replaced by PCV13 from May 2011. PCV is administered in the EPI as 2 primary doses (6 and 14 weeks) with a booster dose at 9 months. This differs from the schedule that was used in the vaccine efficacy trial (6, 10 and 14 weeks) conducted in South Africa with PCV9<sup>21</sup>.

There are a number of different estimates of vaccination coverage rates for PCV in South Africa, all of which have limitations <sup>173</sup>. According to WHO-UNICEF estimates, vaccination coverage for the third dose of PCV increased from 10% in 2009 to 65% in 2014, while official administrative country estimates reported 94% in 2014.

#### **STUDY DESIGN**

Data from a number of studies was utilised in order to address the objectives of this thesis. Descriptions of the study methods and statistical analyses are discussed in detail within the methods sections of each paper. A brief description of methods as well as some additional issues related to different study designs is discussed below.

#### **Burden models**

Burden of disease models usually combine multiple data sources to calculate the number of cases and deaths from defined diseases in a certain population. For our burden model we used a robust active laboratory-based surveillance programme for the baseline case numbers for meningitis, bacteraemic pneumonia and non-meningitis non-pneumonia syndromes, adjusting for differences in specimen taking practices. We calculated non-bacteraemic pneumonia cases using data from a vaccine probe study <sup>20</sup>. We applied observed case fatality ratios from hospitalised cases to calculate death rates. This approach differed from previous estimates as it used a bottom-up approach.

We conducted one-way sensitivity analyses adjusting one variable at a time using different assumptions. Adjusted variables included community HIV prevalence, deaths in the community, a specimen-taking practice adjustment based on IPD incidence rates from a clinical trial conducted in South Africa, different adjustment rates for HIV-infected and – uninfected children and a lower vaccine attributable reduction ratio for chest X-ray confirmed pneumonia instead of clinical pneumonia, compared to bacteraemic pneumonia. For death rates we also explored different case fatality ratios. Tornado diagrams were used to depict the sensitivity of the case and death estimates to changes in selected variables. These diagrams show the effect on the base rate by varying each input variable one at a time, while keeping all the other input variables at their initial base value. High and low values may be chosen for each input. The results are displayed as a bar graph with the variation for each variable from the base rate.

To account for uncertainty in our estimates and calculate confidence intervals we used bootstrapping. It is usually not feasible to sample repeatedly from the same population so the best estimate is to resample randomly from a sample. Every resample has the same number of observations as the original sample, so the bootstrap method models the impact of the actual sample size <sup>174</sup>. Bootstrapping allows measures of accuracy to be assigned to sample estimates, verifies replicability of results and allows inferences to be made regarding key parameters. The simulated samples were used to calculate an estimated population distribution.

#### Spatial-temporal analysis for detection of IPD clusters

Outbreaks or clusters of serotype 1 pneumococcal disease have not been previously described in South Africa despite a long standing surveillance programme, but this may have simply been due to the fact that they were missed. To determine whether any serotype 1 clusters occurred within an 11 year period (2003-2013) we conducted a space-time scan analysis using a Bernoulli model <sup>175,176</sup> to compare cases (serotype 1 IPD cases) to controls (non-serotype 1 IPD cases) rather than a rate (Poisson) model. The space-time analysis was implemented using SatScanTM version 9.3.1 (http://www.satscan.org/) <sup>177</sup>. SatScanTM is able to detect spatial, temporal or spatio-temporal disease clusters and determine whether they are random and whether they are significant or not. For Bernoulli models SaTScan uses a shifting window of varying proportions to evaluate clusters. The area of search varies in size, shape and direction. At each point SaTScan calculates the number of observed and expected observations and the likelihood function.

A Poisson-based model can be used when events in a geographical area are Poissondistributed and assumed to be independent with a known underlying population at risk. The dependent variable is a count of the number of cases that occur over a follow-up period. One can estimate a rate ratio associated with a given predictor or exposure. A Bernoulli model is a discrete-time stochastic model that takes only two values, 0 (controls) and 1 (cases) and determines whether there is a significant difference in clustering of cases versus that of controls. The SaTScan Bernoulli model uses a likelihood ratio test of the probability of a group of patients within a potential cluster being a case versus a control <sup>178</sup>. SaTScan uses elliptical windows to identify potential cluster boundaries and this may not be a realistic representation of the population at risk.

We chose to use a Bernoulli as opposed to a Poisson model for a number of reasons. Firstly we felt that the comparison of cases to controls from the same geographical area and time period would minimise biases potentially introduced by temporal and geographical differences in specimen-taking practices, healthcare seeking behaviour or improvements of the surveillance system over time. Secondly the Bernoulli model is independent of the underlying population distribution. Following the introduction of PCV7 from 2009 there was a reduction in control numbers; to account for this we adjusted positively by the percent reduction from the pre-vaccine period <sup>150</sup>. We obtained average monthly estimated reductions in control numbers (from 2009 to 2013) assuming that there was no PCV introduction. Monthly adjustment factors were also differentiated by province as PCV7 uptake was

assumed to differ by geographical area. It was necessary to adjust controls to obtain a stable baseline by essentially removing the impact of PCV7 on serotypes in this group; this allowed for true increases in cases to be identified and not just relative case changes.

#### Surveillance data for monitoring trends in IPD

A number of countries have population-based surveillance programmes for monitoring infectious diseases. In South Africa, surveillance for IPD started in 1999<sup>179</sup> and the programme was expanded into a more comprehensive national active laboratory-based surveillance system, called GERMS-SA (Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa) in 2003. This robust surveillance system provided us with good baseline data pre-PCV introduction to show trends post-PCV introduction<sup>150</sup>. Cases of IPD were considered as hospitalized individuals with *S. pneumoniae* cultured from normally sterile site specimens. The GERMS-SA programme includes over 200 microbiological laboratories ("non-enhanced" sites) which submit isolates and basic demographic information (age, gender, date of specimen collection, and body fluid source of isolate). Trained surveillance officers at 24 sentinel hospitals ("enhanced" sites) located in all nine provinces collect additional data including HIV status, discharge diagnosis and outcome.

A number of factors can influence trend data besides the exposure of interest, in this case PCV. There was an improvement in healthcare services, ART for adults and children and HIV PMTCT programmes over the same period which also would have impacted trend data and needed to be accounted for in interpretation of PCV impact data <sup>150</sup>.

Surveillance data was used in three of the manuscripts included in this PhD. Firstly it was used for the baseline rates of the pneumococcal burden model for the different invasive clinical syndromes in both the pre- (2005-2008) and post-PCV (2013) period. In addition to the introduction of PCV, other interventions were instituted in South Africa between these two periods. We attempted to account for these other changes by using adjusted denominators stratified by HIV status, and using actual case numbers with altered HIV prevalence rates. Secondly it was used to calculate IPD incidence rates in HEU, HUU and HI infants in one year pre- (2009) and post-PCV (2013) introduction using adjusted denominators as before. Lastly we also used surveillance data in all age groups to demonstrate changes in serotype 1 pneumococcal trends over an 11 year period using pre- (2003-2008) and post-PCV (2013) time points.

#### Case-control study

A case-control study design was used to explore risk factors for pneumococcal disease in children; this was a secondary objective of the study, the primary being vaccine effectiveness. In our case-control study <sup>122</sup> which enrolled cases with IPD from 24 sentinel hospitals, there was only one group of controls. Controls were children hospitalised in wards or attending outpatient departments at the same hospital as the case. This group of controls were chosen based on convenience and the fact that we did not have mechanisms in place to enrol community controls e.g. through registers or telephone lists. We matched for age, as vaccination status is integrally linked to age; HIV status, as PCV efficacy differed in HU and HI children in the South African clinical trial; and hospital site as access to care differs between different provinces of South Africa. We explored risk factors associated with allserotype, VT, NVT and penicillin nonsusceptible IPD. We also determined the change in risk factors associated with PCV introduction by stratifying by vaccination status.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Detailed study results are presented in full within the results sections of each paper. Here we discuss some of the main issues arising from the results.

Surveillance data was used as the baseline for most of our studies. There are inherent limitations in the use of surveillance data. Our laboratory-based surveillance programme underestimates the full burden of pneumococcal disease as it only includes patients who present to healthcare facilities and have samples taken; we aimed to address this in our burden model (paper I). There is often missing data associated with the use of surveillance programmes; we assumed that data were missing at random and imputed values for serotype for trend analyses. Interventions other than vaccination, for example PMTCT and ART, impact IPD disease trends. It is often difficult to tease out the proportional contribution of all these strategies on disease reduction using surveillance data.

# BURDEN OF POTENTIALLY VACCINE-PREVENTABLE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE IN CHILDREN

#### Summary of results and comparison with other burden models

The estimates from our burden model demonstrated that approximately 196,100 (178,500-210,400) total cases of severe hospitalised pneumococcal disease occurred annually in the pre-vaccine era. In 2013, 5 years after PCV introduction, only 67,300 total cases were estimated, a rate reduction of 2528 cases per 100,000 child-years. In terms of deaths approximately 8600 (7000-10200) pneumococcal-related annual deaths were estimated in the pre-vaccine period and 3600 in 2013, a rate difference of 99 per 100,000 child-years. These changes were assumed to be due to PCV as well as HIV-related interventions.

Prior to our study, the only available burden estimates for pneumococcal disease for South Africa were derived from global pneumococcal models which included data on South Africa using a proportional mortality top down approach to calculate burden of disease.

Most national disease burden estimates for pneumococcal disease are derived from models that use country specific inputs with a pneumonia component which is calculated from randomised control trial data. Data is then aggregated in a meta-analysis at the global level. In contrast we used country-specific surveillance data on IPD as the input data for
building our burden model, a bottom up approach, and adjusted for underestimation in case ascertainment. Our model differed from the global model of O'Brien et al. in its conceptual approach and in terms of several input parameters; it allowed us to assess the degree to which the models calculated similar or different disease rates. Death rates for South Africa reported by the pre-PCV era global model <sup>15</sup> were 101 (72-140) per 100,000 py for total pneumococcal death rates, 9 (6-25) per 100,000 py for meningitis and 82 per 100,000 (60-90) py for pneumonia in the <5 year old age group in 2000. Rates from our model for the pre-vaccine period (2005-2008) were similar: 166 (87-261), 7 (6-8) and 139 (59-243) per 100,000 py in these respective groups, but our rates in 2013 were lower than an updated model <sup>180</sup> which reported 203 (164-241) per 100,000 py for total pneumococcal death rates, 19 (16-23) per 100,000 py for total pneumococcal death rates, 19 (16-23) per 100,000 py for total pneumococcal death rates, 19 (16-23) per 100,000 py for total pneumococcal death rates, 19 (16-23) per 100,000 py for total pneumococcal death rates, 19 (16-23) per 100,000 py for meningitis and 166 (133-198) per 100,000 py for pneumonia in the <5 year old age group.

As mentioned the pneumococcal global burden paper used three different methods for determining incidence and death rates for different pneumococcal syndromes <sup>15</sup>. Both this model and our model used an incidence based approach for meningitis. We were able to use this approach as we had actual meningitis case numbers and appropriate case fatality rates. The O'Brien model adjusted case fatality rates for access to care, while we adjusted our meningitis estimates for specimen taking practices, resulting in similar estimates. The global model used a proportional approach for pneumonia using vaccine efficacy trial results <sup>20,21,28-</sup>  $^{32}$  for WHO-defined clinical pneumonia to determine the proportion of cases attributable to S. pneumoniae and WHO-defined CXR positive pneumonia for deaths. For pneumonia we used actual case numbers and CFRs for bacteraemic pneumonia and used vaccine efficacy trial results<sup>20</sup> to estimate non-bacteraemic pneumonia numbers. There are limitations in using the vaccine probe approach for allocating aetiological fractions; clinical definitions err on the side of higher sensitivity but low specificity in detecting pneumococcal pneumonia. The global model used triangulation to determine the burden of NPNM invasive disease from meningitis cases while our model used actual non-meningitis non-pneumonia cases. Lastly the global model calculated numbers of HIV-infected children by using HIV prevalence rates while our model used HIV data from the surveillance programme.

Burden of disease models usually combine multiple data sources to calculate the number of cases and deaths from defined diseases in a certain population. Disease burden may be reported as incidence rates as described in our model; however disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) or quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) measurements may also be used <sup>181</sup>. Death rates are used to compare mortality in different regions of the world and vital

registration systems are often used. These registration systems usually underestimate the true number of deaths <sup>182</sup>. In our model we used death rates observed in hospitalised cases captured through our surveillance programme.

## Considerations for interpreting burden model results

Burden models are often particular to the setting in which they were calculated as they usually use locally specific data. The choice of potential covariates and structure of the model introduces uncertainty and variability into the model. It is important to account for model uncertainty otherwise standard error calculations will underestimate the overall equivocality of the results. Bayesian model averaging or stratification of data may be used to deal with the variability <sup>183</sup>.

A pathogen-based incidence approach like our burden model usually uses data acquired from different surveillance sources, including notification or lab surveillance data for symptomatic cases, hospital data for hospitalised cases and vital registration systems for death rates. Data from these routine surveillance sources need to be adjusted when estimating disease burden to correct for underreporting (misdiagnosis) and under-ascertainment (cases who never seek health care). The multiplication factors used to adjust the data should be age-specific and disease-specific at minimum <sup>184</sup>.

As previously mentioned, in South Africa in the post-PCV period a number of other interventions, including improvements in PMTCT and paediatric ARTs changed the profile of pneumococcal disease in HIV-infected children. Data was not available for all adjustment parameters in the post-PCV era resulting in some pre-PCV parameters been used for these calculations. This may have overestimated the contribution of HIV to pneumococcal disease in 2013 and inflated our calculation of case numbers and deaths. In 2013, the estimated number of deaths in children <5 years of age for South Africa was 44000 (35000-55000), 40% during the neonatal period and 15% due to pneumonia <sup>185</sup>. Our model estimated that approximately 8% (3600) of these deaths were still due to severe pneumococcal disease, mostly pneumonia. This has important implications for management guidelines for pneumonia including choice of antibiotics and taking of blood cultures. In addition continued surveillance to monitor changes in pneumococcal disease especially replacement serotypes is important.

## Generalisability of results and accounting for variability

Our burden model was based on national laboratory-based surveillance data which included isolates from both urban and rural sites. It is likely that representivity differed between these sites, however our model adjusted for differences in specimen taking practices assuming that urban sites and certain provinces with more academic facilities were more likely to take specimens. This adjustment was also assumed to account for access to care and deaths prior to reaching facilities (which is likely higher in rural areas).

We considered alternative parameters and adjustment factors by conducting one-way sensitivity analyses by changing a single variable at a time. We explored changing the HIV prevalence (community versus hospitalised patients), using different specimen-taking estimates and lower vaccine attributable reduction ratios which all lowered our case estimates. Using alternative non-bacteraemic pneumonia estimates and adding community deaths increased our estimates

To account for variability and uncertainty around our estimates we used bootstrapping, a robust statistical method, to calculate confidence intervals. Bootstrapping relies on fewer assumptions than more traditional statistical approaches but is often more accurate in certain circumstances, requires smaller sample sizes and is easier to implement for complicated statistics. Bootstrapping assumes that each sample is identically and independently distributed. It draws many more sub-samples than other methods and provides less biased and more consistent results than the Jackknife method for example <sup>186</sup>.

## Remaining gaps and implications following our study

Our burden model only estimated the burden of severe pneumococcal disease in children <5 years of age in a middle income country. Pneumococcal burden estimates are still required for older children and adults as well as for non-invasive pneumococcal disease, for example otitis media, in order to build the complete burden pyramid. In addition the cost of pneumococcal disease in our setting and the cost-effectiveness of PCV in South Africa would be important to determine.

We were not able to accurately estimate the individual contribution of PCV and HIV interventions (ART and PMTCT) to the reduction in IPD observed in 2013. Based on findings from the surveillance programme which showed the reduction in IPD between 2005-2008 and 2012<sup>150</sup> we made some assumptions regarding the impact of PCV. We assumed that all reductions in PCV7 serotypes (85%) in HIV-uninfected children <2 years of age were

due to PCV7, while in HIV-infected children <2 years of age the impact of PCV (55%) was assumed to be the difference between changes in the PCV7 serotype rates (86%) and NVT serotype rates (31%), the latter assumed to be due to the effect of ART.

In our study we noted differential changes in PCV13 and non-PCV13 serotypes in 2013 in HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected children by syndrome. In HIV-infected meningitis cases aged <5 years, there was a reduction in both PCV13 (90%) and non-PCV13 (22%) serotypes; while in contrast PCV13 serotypes were reduced (90%) in HIV-uninfected children, but non-PCV13 serotypes increased by 27%. A similar picture was seen with non-pneumonia non-meningitis rates. For incidence rates in bacteraemic and non-bacteraemic pneumonia cases, there was a decrease in PCV13 serotypes in HIV-infected (89%) and – uninfected (83%) children, while non-PCV13 serotypes increased in both groups (1.1 fold in HIV-infected and 1.9 fold in HIV-uninfected children). For all syndromes combined for children aged <5 years there was a 85% reduction in PCV13 serotypes in HIV-infected children there was an 83% reduction and a 98% increase, respectively. The increases in non-PCV13 serotypes are indicative of replacement disease which has been observed in surveillance data for children <5 years of age from the UK <sup>187</sup>, but not in the US <sup>188</sup>.

## EPIDEMIOLOGY OF SEROTYPE 1 INVASIVE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE

## Summary of results and comparison with other serotype 1 studies

Serotype 1 (ST1) IPD has been described to have a number of distinct characteristics when compared to other pneumococcal serotypes. In our study we demonstrated that over 11 years of surveillance (2003-2013), the incidence of serotype 1 (ST1) IPD fluctuated significantly with two clusters of ST1 IPD from May 2003 to December 2004 and September 2008 to April 2012. ST1 is amongst the most frequently isolated IPD serotype and has been shown in other studies to fluctuate year-on-year and cause outbreaks <sup>189,190</sup>.

When we explored factors associated with ST1 IPD, compared with all other serotypes, in children <5 years of age we found that older children (1-4 years) were more likely to have ST1 IPD than the youngest group (<1 year). In the <5 year olds, the most common serotypes prior to PCV introduction (2003-2008) were 14, 6B, 6A, 19F, 23F and 19A; while in the post-PCV era (2010-2013) in the same group, serotypes 19A, 6A, 8, 23F, 6B, 19F and 35B had the highest numbers. ST1 IPD differed by province and year demonstrating its epidemic-prone nature. Young children with ST1 IPD were hospitalised for shorter periods, were less likely to have HIV or die or have resistant disease compared with children with non-ST1 IPD. Other studies have shown that ST1 has low mortality and rarely causes antibiotic resistance. ST1 has a short duration of carriage which allows reduced opportunity for recombination, genetic diversity and antibiotic resistance <sup>48</sup>.

Serotype 1 was the most common serotype in older children and adults ( $\geq$ 5 years) in the pre-vaccine era and the post-vaccine era. These older individuals with ST1 IPD had lower rates of hospitalisation and were hospitalised for shorter periods when compared to individuals with non-ST1 IPD. HIV and resistance rates were also lower and pneumonia was more common than meningitis in ST1 IPD. ST1 tends to affect young adults without underlying conditions and frequently causes uncommon clinical manifestations of pneumococcal disease such as empyema and peritonitis <sup>48</sup>. When ST1 is associated with pneumonia it is usually bacteraemic pneumonia <sup>191</sup>. When we analysed factors associated with in-hospital deaths in patients with ST1 IPD, the extremely young (<1 year), those with underlying conditions and those with meningitis were more likely to die. In older individuals the elderly and extremely ill were also more likely to die. Our findings regarding ST1 disease, i.e. syndrome, age and underlying conditions, were similar to a study from Israel (2000-2009) <sup>192</sup>.

## Considerations for interpreting cluster results

Spatial epidemiology has been described as the "study of spatial variation in disease risk or incidence" <sup>193</sup> and it can be used to advise public health decision making <sup>194</sup>. Our spatio-temporal analysis identified two large serotype 1 clusters, which were not recognised prospectively, due to the limitations of laboratory-based surveillance data. There is a delay in the processing and serotyping of samples from laboratory-based surveillance which hinders the ability to identify community-wide clusters in real time. In addition clusters were over prolonged periods and across a number of provinces which complicated identification. A cluster is considered as a number of health events (in our study serotype 1 pneumococcal cases) situated in close proximity in space and/or time. Clusters may be detected using a number of different techniques which are based on cell counts, or on adjacent high cell counts, or on distance between events <sup>195</sup>. A large cluster may engulf surrounding regions which don't have an elevated risk of disease <sup>196</sup>.

We explored clustering of other epidemic serotypes, i.e. serotypes 5 and 8, over the study period to assist in the interpretation of the two ST1 clusters. These serotypes fluctuated at low levels with small numbers. When we modelled serotype 5 changes in children <5 years of age, we ascertained that compared with 2005, which was considered the baseline, there were no significant increases in case numbers. Most years showed a decrease in numbers, especially 2013. Similar findings were found in individuals  $\geq$ 5 years of age. When we modelled serotype 8 changes in children <5 years of age, compared with 2005, there were increasing trends in case numbers from 2011-2013 but none were significant. In persons  $\geq$ 5 years of age, there were non-significant increases in 2006-2008 and 2012-2013.

We used a Geographic Information System (GIS) to analyse and present our serotype 1 cluster data spatially-referenced data. GIS is able to handle large volumes of data with repetitive tasks and compare spatial data from various sources and different spatial areas. However, GIS data does not always adequately represent spatial-temporal information as it usually represents static points in time <sup>195</sup>. We were able to demonstrate two clusters of serotype 1 by district level during May 2003 to December 2004 (Gauteng, Mpumalanga, Limpopo and North-West Provinces) and September 2008 to April 2012 (KwaZulu-Natal, Free State, Gauteng, North-West, Mpumalanga and Eastern Cape Provinces). We were only able to map ST1 IPD incidence for all age groups at district level, so minor changes in incidence and clusters at the individual healthcare facility level may have been missed.

#### **Generalisability of results**

Only patients who had relevant samples taken were identified as IPD cases and included in our surveillance programme. This means that more severe cases that potentially did not reach a health facility or died soon after admission would not be represented by the surveillance programme. Most of our enhanced sites were urban or peri-urban sites which may not be completely reflective of rural sites.

#### Remaining gaps and other considerations following our study

The PCV13 vaccine has been found to induce antibodies against the serotype 1 capsule in children; however in two clinical trials from The Gambia and South Africa using PCV9, protection could not be demonstrated against serotype 1 clinical disease, although case numbers were small <sup>197,198</sup>. In addition these two trials, which used three infant vaccine doses

only, showed that serotype 1 vaccine failures occurred after 12 months of age <sup>199</sup>. It was suggested that a booster dose may be necessary for protection against this serotype. As mentioned the serotype 1 capsular polysaccharide is particularly resistant to opsonisation and it is uncertain whether protein-conjugate vaccination will be as effective against serotype 1 disease as against other serotypes.

In the United Kingdom PCV13 was introduced in April 2010 in a 2+1 schedule. Annual serotype specific incidence rates showed a significant reduction in serotype 1 rates between 2008-2010 and 2013-2014 in all age groups <sup>140</sup>. An indirect cohort study, including data up to 3.5 years after PCV13 introduction, showed protection against serotype 1 with a vaccine effectiveness of 84% (95% CI 54-95) <sup>200</sup>.

In South Africa a case control study demonstrated a high vaccine effectiveness point estimate against serotype 1 (89% [95% CI -82-100]) although the results were not statistically significant (Cohen 2016, submitted). In the USA no reductions in serotype 1 incidence rates were shown, but case numbers were small <sup>142</sup>.

As ST1 is an outbreak serotype with fluctuating annual cases it is important for surveillance programmes to monitor for increasing case numbers. The main aim of monitoring for outbreaks would be to determine if there are any modifiable risk factors or public health changes which could be made to stop the spread of the outbreak. In addition it is important to determine if new serotype 1 clones are emerging as these may have different characteristics in terms of antibiotic resistance.

Following the introduction of PCV13 it is assumed that serotype 1 case numbers will decrease although previous studies showed differing results. Our study only included data on ST1 up to 2 years post-PCV13 introduction. It is important to continue to monitor trends in outbreak prone serotypes included in PCV13 to document whether there is indeed a sustained reduction in these serotypes.

# INCREASED INVASIVE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE RISK AND MORTALITY IN HIV-EXPOSED BUT UNINFECTED INFANTS

## Comparison with other studies including HIV-exposed-uninfected children

The PMTCT programme for HIV in South Africa has improved significantly over the last decade. Mother-to-child HIV transmission rates decreased from 16.4% in 2006 to 2.4%

in 2012 <sup>170</sup>, despite an antenatal HIV prevalence of around 30% over the same period. This resulted in an increasing population of HEU children and less HI children.

To explore the risk of disease and mortality associated with IPD in HEU children we included cross-sectional data from a surveillance programme as well as data from a nested case-control study. We were able to use the cohort data to determine incidence of HEU to HUU and HI children while the case-control data allowed us to explore risk factors for IPD associated with being HIV exposed but uninfected.

Our case-control study showed that the single risk factor which remained significant in all the subgroup analyses for IPD in HU children was been exposed to HIV. For allserotype IPD and NVT-IPD, HEU children had a two times higher odds of IPD [OR 1.62 (95% CI=1.10–2.37) and OR 1.96 (95% CI=1.25–3.07), respectively]. The increased risk was more marked for VT-IPD [OR 3.05 (95% CI=1.10–2.37)], especially in unvaccinated children [OR 8.80 (95% CI=1.23–62.94)]. Prior to our study, HIV exposure had not been described as a specific risk factor for IPD; it had however been shown to be associated with an increased risk of lower respiratory tract infections and bacterial infections.

All-cause hospitalisation rates and complicated hospital admissions are more frequent in HEU than in HUU infants <sup>86,88</sup>. Some infectious diseases, including respiratory tract infections <sup>201</sup>, are more common and often more severe among HEU than HUU children. HEU children tend to have more severe infections, for example persistent diarrhoea <sup>202</sup>, complicated acute malaria <sup>203</sup> and higher treatment failure rates with pneumonia <sup>86</sup>. In our study we showed that HEU children were more likely to have pneumococcal pneumonia than other syndromes when compared with HUU children..

A pooled analysis of three longitudinal community studies from Uganda, Tanzania and Malawi found that both maternal HIV infection and maternal death increased the risk of childhood death <sup>204</sup>. In Botswana discontinuation of breastfeeding increased the risk of death in HEU compared with HUU children <sup>205</sup>. In our dataset we only had breastfeeding data for 17-35% of cases across all years and could therefore not make definite conclusions regarding the contribution of breastfeeding as a risk factor in our population. Not accounting for breastfeeding in our study may have resulted in confounding in our comparison of HEU, HUU and HI children as breastfeeding practices possibly differed between these groups.

We established that the incidence of IPD was three-fold higher in HEU infants <6 months of age when compared with HUU infants. It is possible that breastfeeding differed between HEU and HUU children in our study. Breastfeeding is protective against IPD and mortality which may have resulted in residual confounding in our risk factor and mortality

analyses. A number of studies could not show a significant difference in mortality between HEU and HUU children <sup>206-209</sup>. In our study we demonstrated that HEU infants less than 6 months of age with IPD were more likely to die than HUU infants likely due to differences in breastfeeding practices. This increased risk was not shown in the older infants.

In our study HI infants were at higher risk of malnutrition, previous hospital admissions, non-susceptible pneumococcal disease and death than HEU infants. In addition children who were malnourished and who had pneumococcal meningitis were also more likely to die. A study in Tanzania (1995-1997) enrolled 474 HU and 69 HI children and followed them up until 12 months of age. CD4 counts were measured in children every 3 months and they decreased linearly among HI children and increased linearly among HEU children. Predictors of IPD in HI and HEU children included malnutrition and advanced maternal HIV <sup>210</sup>. As shown in the literature, for HI infants, we found that those who had a low CD4 count (CD4 percent <30) were 2-3 times more likely to die [infants <6 months (OR 2.43, 95% CI = 1.12-5.28) and >6-<12 months (OR 2.73, 95% CI = 1.16-6.41) then those with a higher CD4 count. CD4 T-cell depletion rates in HI children are predictive of mortality and poor clinical outcome. A prospective cohort study in South Africa in 848 mother–child pairs determined that the main causes of infant morbidity were gastrointestinal and respiratory infections. The mortality rate among HI infants was eight times higher than among HU infants <sup>93</sup>.

### Considerations for interpreting surveillance data results

Surveillance data is used to monitor population health to develop and direct public health strategies, for example to target specific high risk and underserved groups. It allows large-scale between-country comparisons. Surveillance data may be limited by underreporting and misclassification, trend changes due to logistic and operational reasons, changes in case definitions or testing strategies and multiple interventions. In our surveillance programme decreasing trends in IPD rates were demonstrated after the introduction of PCV. Some of the reductions in HI individuals were also attributed to improvements in HIV care. To account for the impact of HIV interventions in HI individuals when exploring trend data, it was assumed that reductions in non-vaccine type disease was due to HIV interventions while vaccine-type disease was mainly influenced by PCV introduction; the difference in rate reductions between VT-IPD and NVT-IPD were then assumed to be due to PCV introduction <sup>150</sup>. This assumption is not entirely accurate as HIV-interventions also reduce VT-IPD; it is however difficult to tease out the differential impact of PCV and HIV-interventions on disease. To ensure that changes in laboratory testing did not influence trend rates, PCR results were excluded from reported trends. The number of hospitals and laboratories covered by the surveillance programme increased between 2005 and 2012 from 126 to 459 hospitals (and 109 to 215 laboratories); however, 94% (32,922/35,192) of cases were reported from 150 hospitals, and more than 70% of these hospitals reported cases for the full period <sup>150</sup>.

#### Generalisability and implications of results

As mentioned only certain patients with IPD would have been captured by our surveillance programme. In addition only patients with clinical data were included in some analyses, which may have limited the generalisability of some of our findings to certain groups. However we used national data for incidence calculations and had large numbers of children <1 year of age in our dataset which would likely make our results applicable to other low/middle income countries with high HIV prevalence. In addition our findings were similar those from other studies <sup>83,208</sup>.

With increasing numbers of HEU children who have a higher risk of IPD when compared to HUU children, it is important to ensure that HIV-infected pregnant women receive ART to optimise the outcome of the infant and reduce HIV transmission. It is also important recognise these children to ensure that they receive appropriate doses of PCV to reduce their risk of IPD and its negative health outcomes, including death.

# CHANGING RISK FACTORS FOR INVASIVE PNEUMOCOCCAL DISEASE IN YOUNG CHILDREN IN A HIGH HIV PREVALENCE SETTING

As part of a nested case-control study we explored the risk factors predisposing children to IPD in South Africa. In HU children, besides from being HIV-exposed other risk factors in this group included having siblings <5 years old, underlying medical conditions, preceding upper respiratory tract infections and day care attendance, while been vaccinated with PCV7 was protective.

In HI children, advanced HIV disease was more common in cases than controls; being recently diagnosed with tuberculosis and malnutrition increase the odds of IPD in cases versus controls, while use of ART was protective.

#### Comparison with other risk factor studies

We described risk factors in HU children which were in line with conventional pneumococcal risk factors. In our study these risk factors included, day care attendance which may increase IPD risk due to crowding which aids in transmission of pneumococci and higher pneumococcal loads, mixing of children with different pneumococci and possible cessation of breastfeeding <sup>75</sup>; living with siblings less than 5 years of age due to high rates of pneumococcal carriage <sup>211</sup>, underlying medical conditions <sup>75</sup>, poor socioeconomic conditions which are often associated with crowding and different odds in different race groups and by sex. Vaccination with the conjugate pneumococcal vaccine reduced the odds of disease in HU children <sup>120</sup>.

A number of factors increased the risk of antibiotic-resistant IPD. In HU children we found that black race, a recent hospital admission, been HIV exposed and attending day care was associated with penicillin-nonsusceptible disease. In HI children, being malnourished, recent tuberculosis or a respiratory tract infection increased the odds of disease, while ART use reduced the odds of penicillin-non-susceptible disease. Upper respiratory tract infections may increase vulnerability to bacterial infections by causing changes in the respiratory epithelium which promote bacterial invasion <sup>212</sup>. Previous studies and reviews <sup>78</sup> have showed a positive association between day care attendance and resistant disease, likely due to crowding, lack of hygiene and a higher use of antibiotics as children often have recurrent respiratory tract infections. Previous admissions and respiratory tract infections are associated with antibiotic use which in turn results in increased resistance, especially if antibiotics are used inappropriately.

A case-control study nested in the US Active Bacterial Core surveillance programme <sup>76</sup> explored risk factors associated with IPD in the PCV7 era and demonstrated that cases and controls differed in terms of race, gender, history of breastfeeding, smoke exposure in the home, day care attendance, caregiver education level, presence of underlying illnesses, household income and healthcare coverage. This study showed a reduction in risk among traditional risk groups following PCV introduction, while children with underlying conditions still remained at risk of IPD <sup>76</sup>; similarly in our study children with underlying medical conditions remained at risk of IPD.

#### Considerations for interpreting case-control study results

Prior to introduction of PCV into the EPI-SA, a randomised controlled trial showed good efficacy of this vaccine in a high HIV prevalence setting <sup>21</sup>. Post-PCV introduction into routine use, other study designs need to be used to evaluate vaccine effectiveness as placebo controlled trials are no longer ethically acceptable. One option is a case-control study design <sup>213,214</sup>. Case-control studies can be used for rare diseases, such as IPD, and are less costly and time-consuming then randomised trials or cohort studies. Case-control studies are however subject to bias and confounding. There are a number of strategies to minimise bias <sup>215</sup>: attention must be given to the choice of cases and controls, for example having a clear case definition for cases, random selection of controls, matching of cases and risk factor exposure and use of statistical techniques, such as stratification or logistic regression. In addition use of "sham" outcomes and exposures can be used to determine whether bias affected the results of the study <sup>215</sup>.

Choosing the correct control group is vital to the conduct of a case-control study and when considering differences in risk factors between cases and controls. Differences may occur if cases are compared to hospital or community controls <sup>216,217</sup>. In our study we included hospitalised controls or those seen at the hospital outpatient department due to ease of access. Hospitalised controls may not be representative of children in the community from which the case originated as they may have different vaccination and disease risk factor status with different IPD risk factors. For example, if controls were hospitalised with gastroenteritis many risk conditions would be elevated in these children resulting in some risk factors been potentially missed or underestimated when compared with IPD cases. However, there are advantages to using hospital controls; besides for the convenience of enrolment, their health-seeking behaviour is likely similar to hospitalised IPD cases. We had to take these differences into account when we analysed risk factors for cases with IPD.

Matching is an important strategy to control for known confounders and ensure that there are enough controls in each subgroup <sup>218,219</sup>. However, as in our study, some cases were excluded in the analysis when no matched controls could be found, and especially in the HI group, enrolment of eligible HI controls often took months as it was difficult to find controls who met the eligibility criteria. An enrolment algorithm was followed if sufficient controls were not identified within a prescribed period and cases were often closed with one or two controls.

## Generalisability of results

The public health impact of pneumococcal vaccines as well as the risk factors associated with IPD may differ between and within countries. We analysed risk factors by province as we had national data and risk factors were not statistically different across provinces. However, enhanced sites that collected risk factor data were predominantly urban or peri-urban sites and our results may therefore not be generalisable to more rural areas of South Africa. It is likely that our results may be generalisable to other developing countries with a high HIV prevalence.

Pre-PCV introduction in the USA, age (<2 years of age) and race (black) were risk factors for pneumococcal disease. Following PCV introduction, rates in black children decreased by 83% to similar rates to those in white children. In addition there was a reduction in the proportional difference in antibiotic non-susceptible disease in young children <sup>220</sup>. In our study we showed a higher risk of IPD in HU children of black race, especially antibiotic resistant disease.

Another study from South Africa<sup>88</sup> showed that similar to our study, young infants who were HIV-exposed but uninfected were shown to have an increased risk of severe disease.

#### Remaining gaps and implications following our studies

Even though there were limitations in our choice of control group which may have resulted in some risk factors been missed, our risk factors were comparable to previous studies. We only had breastfeeding data for <40% of all cases and could therefore not make definite conclusions regarding its role as a risk factor in our population. In other studies, however, breastfeeding has been shown to be protective against IPD and mortality and should be advocated for to improve child health. HI infants who were malnourished were more likely to die from IPD. Improving the nutritional status of HI infants and ensuring they receive appropriate ART is a key part of management. It is important to continue to document changes in risk factors for IPD with continued use of PCV, especially higher valency vaccines, and ongoing decreases in HIV rates in children. It is important to identify risk factors in order to prioritise interventions to reduce pneumococcal disease.

## CONCLUSION

This doctoral thesis has demonstrated that even in the post-PCV era, *S. pneumoniae* is still an important cause of invasive disease in young children in South Africa and represents a major public health burden and potential cost. There has been a reduction in HIV infection rates in young infants due to improvements in the PMTCT programme and an improvement in paediatric ART with an 18-fold greater reduction in the absolute burden of IPD in HI children. However there are increasing numbers of HEU children who we have shown to be more likely to be hospitalised with IPD. HEU infants <6 months of age were more likely to die from IPD than HUU children. From a public health point of view it important to continue targeting HEU children for PCV vaccination and ensure that IPD is diagnosed promptly especially in the very young to minimise mortality. In HU children, traditional risk factors such as poor socio-economic conditions and intense exposure to infection need to be addressed to reduce the burden of disease in these children.

It is important to continue with robust ongoing surveillance to show reductions or increases in different serotypes in the post-vaccine era. We demonstrated that serotype 1 IPD had marked temporal variability with two large clusters observed between 2003 and 2012 and apparent reductions within two years of PCV13 introduction; however an extended period is needed to better define this change.

Laboratory-based IPD surveillance should continue unchanged to allow for measurement against the baseline. In addition documentation of nasopharyngeal carriage at defined points in time may assist with prediction of which serotypes will become most prominent in the post-PCV13 period. Although vaccine-serotypes continue to decrease globally following PCV13 introduction, some increases in non-vaccine serotypes have been observed. There is a limit on the number of serotypes that can be conjugated in one vaccine and replacement non-PCV13 serotypes vary across different countries. New universal protein-based vaccines are therefore in development. A complete picture of the impact of PCV on pneumococcal disease burden is needed to support ongoing national policy decisions related to PCV use.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to acknowledge the numerous people who without their support this thesis would have not been possible:

Brendan Vally, my husband, for allowing me to pursue my dreams and encouraging me to persevere even when things were tough. Without you this thesis would have not been possible.

Catherine, my daughter who has always been so proud of me and the work that I do; you never complained when I needed to work on my thesis or publications.

Cheryl Cohen and Anne von Gottberg, my supervisors, for all the advice, comments guidance as well as all the opportunities that you have given me to further my career as an epidemiologist, vaccinologist and researcher.

My work colleagues and fellow PhD students, Sibongile Walaza and Jocelyn Moyes, your "peer-pressure" and discussions helped to keep me on track.

The NICD writing group members, the group's tight deadlines, pressure and support pushed me to publish timeously.

The Wits School of Public Health programme, the protocol review and interim seminar process was invaluable. I also learned a huge amount about other types of research.

Colleagues at the CDC, especially Cynthia Whitney who always gave invaluable insight into the case-control study and manuscripts and Elizabeth Zell for her statistical advice.

Other colleagues, especially Kate O'Brien without whom the burden paper would have never been finalised.

The GERMS and IPD case-control study coordinators and surveillance officers, as well as the NICD lab staff whose hard work made all the projects possible.

Publishers Oxford University Press, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and Wolters Kluwer for permission to use the published manuscripts in my thesis.

## REFERENCES

1. Watson DA, Musher DM, Jacobson JW, Verhoef J. A brief history of the pneumococcus in biomedical research: a panoply of scientific discovery. Clin Infect Dis 1993; 17(5): 913-24.

2. Osler W. The principles and practice of medicine. 7th ed. New York and London: D. Appleton and Company; 1910.

3. Deibel RH, Seeley HW. Family II. Streptococcaceae I. In: Buchanan RE, Gibbons NE, eds. Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology. Eighth ed. Baltimore: The Williams and Wilkins Co.; 1974: 490-515.

4. Bogaert D, De Groot R, Hermans PW. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* colonisation: the key to pneumococcal disease. Lancet Infect Dis 2004; 4(3): 144-54.

5. Austrian R. Some observations on the pneumococcus and on the current status of pneumococcal disease and its prevention. Rev Infect Dis 1981; 3 Suppl: S1-17.

6. Crewe-Brown HH, Karstaedt AS, Saunders GL, Khoosal M, Jones N, Wasas A, et al. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* blood culture isolates from patients with and without human immunodeficiency virus infection: alterations in penicillin susceptibilities and in serogroups or serotypes. ClinInfect Dis 1997; 25(5): 1165-72.

 Jones N, Huebner R, Khoosal M, Crewe-Brown H, Klugman K. The impact of HIV on *Streptococcus pneumoniae* bacteraemia in a South African population. AIDS 1998; 12(16): 2177-84.

8. Karstaedt AS, Khoosal M, Crewe-Brown HH. Pneumococcal bacteremia during a decade in children in Soweto, South Africa. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2000; 19(5): 454-7.

9. Karstaedt AS, Khoosal M, Crewe-Brown HH. Pneumococcal bacteremia in adults in Soweto, South Africa, during the course of a decade. Clin Infect Dis 2001; 33(5): 610-4.

10. Madhi SA, Petersen K, Madhi A, Khoosal M, Klugman KP. Increased disease burden and antibiotic resistance of bacteria causing severe community-acquired lower respiratory tract infections in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected children. ClinInfect Dis 2000; 31(1): 170-6.

11. Madhi SA, Petersen K, Madhi A, Wasas A, Klugman KP. Impact of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 on the disease spectrum of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in South African children. PediatrInfect DisJ 2000; 19(12): 1141-7.

12. Nunes MC, von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Cohen C, Moore DP, Klugman KP, et al. The impact of antiretroviral treatment on the burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in South African children: a time series analysis. AIDS 2011; 25(4): 453-62.

13. Nunes MC, von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Cohen C, Kuwanda L, Karstaedt AS, et al. Persistent high burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in South African HIV-infected adults in the era of an antiretroviral treatment program. PLoS One 2011; 6(11): e27929.

14. Organization WH. 5 children under age 5 die every minute in the African Region. http://www.afro.who.int/en/media-centre/afro-feature/item/7718-5-children-under-age-5-dieevery-minute-in-the-african-region.html (accessed 06 August 2016).

15. O'Brien KL, Wolfson LJ, Watt JP, Henkle E, Deloria-Knoll M, McCall N, et al. Burden of disease caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. Lancet 2009; 374(9693): 893-902.

16. Rudan I, O'Brien KL, Nair H, Liu L, Theodoratou E, Qazi S, et al. Epidemiology and etiology of childhood pneumonia in 2010: estimates of incidence, severe morbidity, mortality, underlying risk factors and causative pathogens for 192 countries. J Glob Health 2013; 3(1): 010401.

17. von Gottberg A, Cohen C, de Gouveia L, Meiring S, Quan V, Whitelaw A, et al. Epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in the pre-conjugate vaccine era: South Africa, 2003-2008. Vaccine 2013; 31(38): 4200-8.

18. Yu VL, Chiou CC, Feldman C, Ortqvist A, Rello J, Morris AJ, et al. An international prospective study of pneumococcal bacteremia: correlation with in vitro resistance, antibiotics administered, and clinical outcome. Clin Infect Dis 2003; 37(2): 230-7.

 Madhi SA, Kuwanda L, Cutland C, Holm A, Kayhty H, Klugman KP. Quantitative and qualitative antibody response to pneumococcal conjugate vaccine among African human immunodeficiency virus-infected and uninfected children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2005; 24(5): 410-6.

20. Madhi SA, Kuwanda L, Cutland C, Klugman KP. The impact of a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on the public health burden of pneumonia in HIV-infected and -uninfected children. ClinInfect Dis 2005; 40(10): 1511-8.

Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Huebner RE, Kohberger R, Mbelle N, Pierce N. A trial of a
 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children with and those without HIV infection.
 NEnglJ Med 2003; 349(14): 1341-8.

22. Crowther-Gibson P, Cohen C, Klugman KP, de Gouveia L, von Gottberg A, Group for Enteric R, et al. Risk factors for multidrug-resistant invasive pneumococcal disease in South

Africa, a setting with high HIV prevalence, in the prevaccine era from 2003 to 2008. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012; 56(10): 5088-95.

23. von Mollendorf C, Cohen C, de Gouveia L, Quan V, Meiring S, Feldman C, et al. Factors associated with ceftriaxone nonsusceptibility of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: analysis of South African national surveillance data, 2003 to 2010. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014; 58(6): 3293-305.

24. Feldman C, Klugman KP, Yu VL, Ortqvist A, Choiu CC, Chedid MB, et al.Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia: impact of HIV on clinical presentation and outcome.J Infect 2007; 55(2): 125-35.

25. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283(15): 2008-12.

26. Whitehead A, Whitehead J. A general parametric approach to the meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Stat Med 1991; 10(11): 1665-77.

DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials 1986;
 7(3): 177-88.

28. Black S, Shinefield H, Fireman B, Lewis E, Ray P, Hansen JR, et al. Efficacy, safety and immunogenicity of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children. Northern California Kaiser Permanente Vaccine Study Center Group. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2000; 19(3): 187-95.

29. Cutts FT, Zaman SM, Enwere G, Jaffar S, Levine OS, Okoko JB, et al. Efficacy of nine-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against pneumonia and invasive pneumococcal disease in The Gambia: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2005; 365(9465): 1139-46.

30. Hansen J, Black S, Shinefield H, Cherian T, Benson J, Fireman B, et al. Effectiveness of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children younger than 5 years of age for prevention of pneumonia: updated analysis using World Health Organization standardized interpretation of chest radiographs. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2006; 25(9): 779-81.

31. Lucero MG, Nohynek H, Williams G, Tallo V, Simoes EA, Lupisan S, et al. Efficacy of an 11-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against radiologically confirmed pneumonia among children less than 2 years of age in the Philippines: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009; 28(6): 455-62.

32. Black SB, Shinefield HR, Ling S, Hansen J, Fireman B, Spring D, et al. Effectiveness of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children younger than five years of age for prevention of pneumonia. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2002; 21(9): 810-5.

 Avery OT, Goebel WF. Chemo-Immunological Studies on Conjugated Carbohydrate-Proteins : II. Immunological Specificity of Synthetic Sugar-Protein Antigens. J Exp Med 1929; 50(4): 533-50.

34. Goldblatt D. Conjugate vaccines. Clin Exp Immunol 2000; 119(1): 1-3.

35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Pneumococcal Disease: Epidemiology and Prevention of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases: The Pink Book. 13th ed; 2013.

36. Hausdorff WP, Feikin DR, Klugman KP. Epidemiological differences among pneumococcal serotypes. Lancet Infect Dis 2005; 5(2): 83-93.

37. Heffron R. Pneumonia with special reference to pneumococcus lobar pneumonia. New York, 1939.

38. Gleich S, Morad Y, Echague R, Miller JR, Kornblum J, Sampson JS, et al. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype 4 outbreak in a home for the aged: report and review of recent outbreaks. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000; 21(11): 711-7.

39. Feikin DR, Klugman KP. Historical changes in pneumococcal serogroup distribution: implications for the era of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines. Clin Infect Dis 2002; 35(5): 547-55.

40. Crum NF, Wallace MR, Lamb CR, Conlin AM, Amundson DE, Olson PE, et al.
Halting a pneumococcal pneumonia outbreak among United States Marine Corps trainees.
Am J Prev Med 2003; 25(2): 107-11.

41. Fiore AE, Iverson C, Messmer T, Erdman D, Lett SM, Talkington DF, et al. Outbreak of pneumonia in a long-term care facility: antecedent human parainfluenza virus 1 infection may predispose to bacterial pneumonia. J Am Geriatr Soc 1998; 46(9): 1112-7.

42. Hodges RG, Mac LC. Epidemic pneumococcal pneumonia; final consideration of the factors underlying the epidemic. Am J Hyg 1946; 44(2): 237-43.

43. Kim PE, Musher DM, Glezen WP, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Nahm WK, Wright CE. Association of invasive pneumococcal disease with season, atmospheric conditions, air pollution, and the isolation of respiratory viruses. Clin Infect Dis 1996; 22(1): 100-6.

44. Ihekweazu C, Basarab M, Wilson D, Oliver I, Dance D, George R, et al. Outbreaks of serious pneumococcal disease in closed settings in the post-antibiotic era: a systematic review. J Infect 2010; 61(1): 21-7.

45. de Galan BE, van Tilburg PM, Sluijter M, Mol SJ, de Groot R, Hermans PW, et al. Hospital-related outbreak of infection with multidrug-resistant *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in the Netherlands. J Hosp Infect 1999; 42(3): 185-92.

46. DeMaria A, Jr., Browne K, Berk SL, Sherwood EJ, McCabe WR. An outbreak of type 1 pneumococcal pneumonia in a men's shelter. JAMA 1980; 244(13): 1446-9.

47. Mercat A, Nguyen J, Dautzenberg B. An outbreak of pneumococcal pneumonia in two men's shelters. Chest 1991; 99(1): 147-51.

48. Ritchie ND, Mitchell TJ, Evans TJ. What is different about serotype 1 pneumococci? Future Microbiol 2012; 7(1): 33-46.

49. Molesworth AM, Thomson MC, Connor SJ, Cresswell MP, Morse AP, Shears P, et al. Where is the meningitis belt? Defining an area at risk of epidemic meningitis in Africa. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2002; 96(3): 242-9.

50. Blumental S, Moisi JC, Roalfe L, Zancolli M, Johnson M, Burbidge P, et al. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype 1 burden in the African meningitis belt: exploration of functionality in specific antibodies. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2015; 22(4): 404-12.

51. Flasche S, Van Hoek AJ, Sheasby E, Waight P, Andrews N, Sheppard C, et al. Effect of pneumococcal conjugate vaccination on serotype-specific carriage and invasive disease in England: a cross-sectional study. PLoS Med 2011; 8(4): e1001017.

52. Mueller JE, Yaro S, Ouedraogo MS, Levina N, Njanpop-Lafourcade BM, Tall H, et al. Pneumococci in the African meningitis belt: meningitis incidence and carriage prevalence in children and adults. PLoS One 2012; 7(12): e52464.

53. Yaro S, Njanpop-Lafourcade BM, Drabo A, Idohou RS, Kroman SS, Sanou O, et al. Antipneumococcal seroprevalence and pneumococcal carriage during a meningococcal epidemic in Burkina Faso, 2006. J Infect Dis 2014; 209(8): 1241-50.

54. Mueller JE, Gessner BD. A hypothetical explanatory model for meningococcal meningitis in the African meningitis belt. Int J Infect Dis 2010; 14(7): e553-9.

55. Thomson MC, Molesworth AM, Djingarey MH, Yameogo KR, Belanger F, Cuevas LE. Potential of environmental models to predict meningitis epidemics in Africa. Trop Med Int Health 2006; 11(6): 781-8.

56. Cheung YB, Zaman SM, Nsekpong ED, Van Beneden CA, Adegbola RA, Greenwood B, et al. Nasopharyngeal carriage of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in Gambian children who participated in a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine trial and in their younger siblings. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009; 28(11): 990-5.

57. Dochez AR, Avery OT. The Occurrence of Carriers of Disease-Producing Types of Pneumococcus. J Exp Med 1915; 22(1): 105-13.

58. Smillie WG, Warnock GH, White HJ. A Study of a Type I Pneumococcus Epidemic at the State Hospital at Worcester, Mass. Am J Public Health Nations Health 1938; 28(3): 293-302.

59. Brueggemann AB, Peto TE, Crook DW, Butler JC, Kristinsson KG, Spratt BG.

Temporal and geographic stability of the serogroup-specific invasive disease potential of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in children. J Infect Dis 2004; 190(7): 1203-11.

60. Porat N, Trefler R, Dagan R. Persistence of two invasive *Streptococcus pneumoniae* clones of serotypes 1 and 5 in comparison to that of multiple clones of serotypes 6B and 23F among children in southern Israel. J Clin Microbiol 2001; 39(5): 1827-32.

61. Hanquet G, Kissling E, Fenoll A, George R, Lepoutre A, Lernout T, et al.
Pneumococcal serotypes in children in 4 European countries. Emerg Infect Dis 2010; 16(9): 1428-39.

62. Harboe ZB, Benfield TL, Valentiner-Branth P, Hjuler T, Lambertsen L, Kaltoft M, et al. Temporal trends in invasive pneumococcal disease and pneumococcal serotypes over 7 decades. Clin Infect Dis 2010; 50(3): 329-37.

63. Health Protection Scotland. Respiratory and immunisation quarterly report – Quarter four: 1 October to 31 December 2008.

www.hps.scot.nhs.uk/resp/wrdetail.aspx?id=40447&wrtype=6 (accessed 16 June 2016).

64. Health Protection Scotland. Respiratory and immunisation quarterly report – Quarter four: 1 October to 31 December 2009.

www.hps.scot.nhs.uk/resp/wrdetail.aspx?id=43965&wrtype=6 (accessed 16 June 2016).

65. Harboe ZB, Thomsen RW, Riis A, Valentiner-Branth P, Christensen JJ, Lambertsen L, et al. Pneumococcal serotypes and mortality following invasive pneumococcal disease: a population-based cohort study. PLoS Med 2009; 6(5): e1000081.

66. Weinberger DM, Harboe ZB, Sanders EA, Ndiritu M, Klugman KP, Ruckinger S, et al. Association of serotype with risk of death due to pneumococcal pneumonia: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis 2010; 51(6): 692-9.

67. Eastham KM, Freeman R, Kearns AM, Eltringham G, Clark J, Leeming J, et al. Clinical features, aetiology and outcome of empyema in children in the north east of England. Thorax 2004; 59(6): 522-5. 68. Lagos R, Munoz A, San Martin O, Maldonado A, Hormazabal JC, Blackwelder WC, et al. Age- and serotype-specific pediatric invasive pneumococcal disease: insights from systematic surveillance in Santiago, Chile, 1994--2007. J Infect Dis 2008; 198(12): 1809-17.

69. Melin M, Trzcinski K, Meri S, Kayhty H, Vakevainen M. The capsular serotype of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is more important than the genetic background for resistance to complement. Infect Immun 2010; 78(12): 5262-70.

70. Steenhoff AP, Wood SM, Rutstein RM, Wahl A, McGowan KL, Shah SS. Invasive pneumococcal disease among human immunodeficiency virus-infected children, 1989-2006. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27(10): 886-91.

71. Davidson M, Parkinson AJ, Bulkow LR, Fitzgerald MA, Peters HV, Parks DJ. The epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in Alaska, 1986-1990--ethnic differences and opportunities for prevention. J Infect Dis 1994; 170(2): 368-76.

72. Nuorti JP, Butler JC, Farley MM, Harrison LH, McGeer A, Kolczak MS, et al. Cigarette smoking and invasive pneumococcal disease. Active Bacterial Core Surveillance Team. N Engl J Med 2000; 342(10): 681-9.

73. Bisharat N, Omari H, Lavi I, Raz R. Risk of infection and death among postsplenectomy patients. J Infect 2001; 43(3): 182-6.

74. O'Dempsey TJ, McArdle TF, Morris J, Lloyd-Evans N, Baldeh I, Laurence BE, et al. A study of risk factors for pneumococcal disease among children in a rural area of west Africa. Int J Epidemiol 1996; 25(4): 885-93.

75. Levine OS, Farley M, Harrison LH, Lefkowitz L, McGeer A, Schwartz B. Risk factors for invasive pneumococcal disease in children: a population-based case-control study in North America. Pediatrics 1999; 103(3): E28.

76. Pilishvili T, Zell ER, Farley MM, Schaffner W, Lynfield R, Nyquist AC, et al. Risk factors for invasive pneumococcal disease in children in the era of conjugate vaccine use. Pediatrics 2010; 126(1): e9-17.

77. Verani JR, Groome MJ, Zar HJ, Zell ER, Kapongo CN, Nzenze SA, et al. Risk Factors for Presumed Bacterial Pneumonia Among HIV-Uninfected Children Hospitalized in Soweto, South Africa. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2016.

78. Klugman KP. Risk factors for antibiotic resistance in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. S Afr Med J 2007; 97(11 Pt 3): 1129-32.

79. Buie KA, Klugman KP, von Gottberg A, Perovic O, Karstaedt A, Crewe-Brown HH, et al. Gender as a risk factor for both antibiotic resistance and infection with pediatric

serogroups/serotypes, in HIV-infected and -uninfected adults with pneumococcal bacteremia. J Infect Dis 2004; 189(11): 1996-2000.

80. Hogberg L, Geli P, Ringberg H, Melander E, Lipsitch M, Ekdahl K. Age- and serogroup-related differences in observed durations of nasopharyngeal carriage of penicillin-resistant pneumococci. J Clin Microbiol 2007; 45(3): 948-52.

81. National Department of Health. The 2012 National Antenatal Sentinel HIV and Herpes Simplex type-2 prevalence Survey, South Africa. Civitas Building, Corner Struben and Thabo Sehume Street, Pretoria: National Department of Health, 2013.

82. Evans C, Jones CE, Prendergast AJ. HIV-exposed, uninfected infants: new global challenges in the era of paediatric HIV elimination. Lancet Infect Dis 2016; 16(6): e92-e107.

83. Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, Rollins N, Gaillard P, Dabis F, et al. Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV-infected mothers in Africa: a pooled analysis. Lancet 2004; 364(9441): 1236-43.

Filteau S. The HIV-exposed, uninfected African child. TropMedIntHealth 2009; 14(3):
 276-87.

Koyanagi A, Humphrey JH, Ntozini R, Nathoo K, Moulton LH, Iliff P, et al. Morbidity among human immunodeficiency virus-exposed but uninfected, human immunodeficiency virus-infected, and human immunodeficiency virus-unexposed infants in Zimbabwe before availability of highly active antiretroviral therapy. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2011; 30(1): 45-51.
McNally LM, Jeena PM, Gajee K, Thula SA, Sturm AW, Cassol S, et al. Effect of age, polymicrobial disease, and maternal HIV status on treatment response and cause of severe pneumonia in South African children: a prospective descriptive study. Lancet 2007; 369(9571): 1440-51.

87. Slogrove AL, Cotton MF, Esser MM. Severe infections in HIV-exposed uninfected infants: clinical evidence of immunodeficiency. J Trop Pediatr 2010; 56(2): 75-81.
88. Slogrove A, Reikie B, Naidoo S, De Beer C, Ho K, Cotton M, et al. HIV-exposed

uninfected infants are at increased risk for severe infections in the first year of life. J Trop Pediatr 2012; 58(6): 505-8.

 Taron-Brocard C, Le Chenadec J, Faye A, Dollfus C, Goetghebuer T, Gajdos V, et al. Increased risk of serious bacterial infections due to maternal immunosuppression in HIVexposed uninfected infants in a European country. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59(9): 1332-45.
 Asbjornsdottir KH, Slyker JA, Weiss NS, Mbori-Ngacha D, Maleche-Obimbo E, Wamalwa D, et al. Breastfeeding is associated with decreased pneumonia incidence among HIV-exposed, uninfected Kenyan infants. AIDS 2013; 27(17): 2809-15. 91. Wei R, Msamanga GI, Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E, Baylin A, Manji K, et al.
Association between low birth weight and infant mortality in children born to human immunodeficiency virus 1-infected mothers in Tanzania. PediatrInfect DisJ 2004; 23(6): 530-5.

92. Marinda E, Humphrey JH, Iliff PJ, Mutasa K, Nathoo KJ, Piwoz EG, et al. Child mortality according to maternal and infant HIV status in Zimbabwe. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007; 26(6): 519-26.

93. Venkatesh KK, Lurie MN, Triche EW, De Bruyn G, Harwell JI, McGarvey ST, et al. Growth of infants born to HIV-infected women in South Africa according to maternal and infant characteristics. Trop Med Int Health 2010; 15(11): 1364-74.

94. Chilongozi D, Wang L, Brown L, Taha T, Valentine M, Emel L, et al. Morbidity and mortality among a cohort of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected and uninfected pregnant women and their infants from Malawi, Zambia, and Tanzania. PediatrInfect DisJ 2008; 27(9): 808-14.

95. Kuhn L, Kasonde P, Sinkala M, Kankasa C, Semrau K, Scott N, et al. Does severity of HIV disease in HIV-infected mothers affect mortality and morbidity among their uninfected infants? ClinInfect Dis 2005; 41(11): 1654-61.

96. Afran L, Garcia Knight M, Nduati E, Urban BC, Heyderman RS, Rowland-Jones SL. HIV-exposed uninfected children: a growing population with a vulnerable immune system? Clin Exp Immunol 2014; 176(1): 11-22.

97. Kuhn L, Coutsoudis A, Moodley D, Trabattoni D, Mngqundaniso N, Shearer GM, et al.
T-helper cell responses to HIV envelope peptides in cord blood: protection against intrapartum and breast-feeding transmission. AIDS 2001; 15(1): 1-9.

98. John-Stewart GC, Mbori-Ngacha D, Payne BL, Farquhar C, Richardson BA, Emery S, et al. HV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and breast milk HIV-1 transmission. J Infect Dis 2009; 199(6): 889-98.

99. Tiemessen CT, Shalekoff S, Meddows-Taylor S, Schramm DB, Papathanasopoulos M, Gray G, et al. Natural killer cells that respond to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) peptides are associated with control of HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 2010; 202(9): 1444-53.

100. Cumberland P, Shulman CE, Maple PA, Bulmer JN, Dorman EK, Kawuondo K, et al. Maternal HIV infection and placental malaria reduce transplacental antibody transfer and tetanus antibody levels in newborns in Kenya. J Infect Dis 2007; 196(4): 550-7.

101. de Moraes-Pinto MI, Verhoeff F, Chimsuku L, Milligan PJ, Wesumperuma L, Broadhead RL, et al. Placental antibody transfer: influence of maternal HIV infection and placental malaria. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 1998; 79(3): F202-5.

102. de Moraes-Pinto MI, Almeida AC, Kenj G, Filgueiras TE, Tobias W, Santos AM, et al. Placental transfer and maternally acquired neonatal IgG immunity in human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Infect Dis 1996; 173(5): 1077-84.

103. Scott S, Moss WJ, Cousens S, Beeler JA, Audet SA, Mugala N, et al. The influence of HIV-1 exposure and infection on levels of passively acquired antibodies to measles virus in Zambian infants. Clin Infect Dis 2007; 45(11): 1417-24.

104. Velilla PA, Montoya CJ, Hoyos A, Moreno ME, Chougnet C, Rugeles MT. Effect of intrauterine HIV-1 exposure on the frequency and function of uninfected newborns' dendritic cells. Clin Immunol 2008; 126(3): 243-50.

105. Nielsen SD, Jeppesen DL, Kolte L, Clark DR, Sorensen TU, Dreves AM, et al. Impaired progenitor cell function in HIV-negative infants of HIV-positive mothers results in decreased thymic output and low CD4 counts. Blood 2001; 98(2): 398-404.

106. Vigano A, Saresella M, Schenal M, Erba P, Piacentini L, Tornaghi R, et al. Immune activation and normal levels of endogenous antivirals are seen in healthy adolescents born of HIV-infected mothers. AIDS 2007; 21(2): 245-8.

107. Lipshultz SE, Shearer WT, Thompson B, Rich KC, Cheng I, Orav EJ, et al. Cardiac effects of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-negative infants born to HIV-positive mothers: NHLBI CHAART-1 (National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Cardiovascular Status of HAART Therapy in HIV-Exposed Infants and Children cohort study). J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 57(1): 76-85.

108. Alimenti A, Burdge DR, Ogilvie GS, Money DM, Forbes JC. Lactic acidemia in human immunodeficiency virus-uninfected infants exposed to perinatal antiretroviral therapy. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2003; 22(9): 782-9.

109. Poirier MC, Divi RL, Al-Harthi L, Olivero OA, Nguyen V, Walker B, et al. Long-term mitochondrial toxicity in HIV-uninfected infants born to HIV-infected mothers. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2003; 33(2): 175-83.

110. Pacheco SE, McIntosh K, Lu M, Mofenson LM, Diaz C, Foca M, et al. Effect of perinatal antiretroviral drug exposure on hematologic values in HIV-uninfected children: An analysis of the women and infants transmission study. J Infect Dis 2006; 194(8): 1089-97.

111. Bunders M, Thorne C, Newell ML, European Collaborative S. Maternal and infant factors and lymphocyte, CD4 and CD8 cell counts in uninfected children of HIV-1-infected mothers. AIDS 2005; 19(10): 1071-9.

112. Le Chenadec J, Mayaux MJ, Guihenneuc-Jouyaux C, Blanche S, Enquete Perinatale Francaise Study G. Perinatal antiretroviral treatment and hematopoiesis in HIV-uninfected infants. AIDS 2003; 17(14): 2053-61.

113. Schack-Nielsen L, Michaelsen KF. Advances in our understanding of the biology of human milk and its effects on the offspring. J Nutr 2007; 137(2): 503S-10S.

114. Effect of breastfeeding on infant and child mortality due to infectious diseases in less developed countries: a pooled analysis. WHO Collaborative Study Team on the Role of Breastfeeding on the Prevention of Infant Mortality. Lancet 2000; 355(9202): 451-5.

115. Chantry CJ, Howard CR, Auinger P. Full breastfeeding duration and associated decrease in respiratory tract infection in US children. Pediatrics 2006; 117(2): 425-32.

116. Howie PW, Forsyth JS, Ogston SA, Clark A, Florey CD. Protective effect of breast feeding against infection. BMJ 1990; 300(6716): 11-6.

117. Feikin DR, Scott JA, Gessner BD. Use of vaccines as probes to define disease burden. Lancet 2014; 383(9930): 1762-70.

118. Lucero MG, Dulalia VE, Nillos LT, Williams G, Parreno RA, Nohynek H, et al. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccines for preventing vaccine-type invasive pneumococcal disease and X-ray defined pneumonia in children less than two years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009; (4): CD004977.

119. O'Brien KL, Moulton LH, Reid R, Weatherholtz R, Oski J, Brown L, et al. Efficacy and safety of seven-valent conjugate pneumococcal vaccine in American Indian children: group randomised trial. Lancet 2003; 362(9381): 355-61.

120. Whitney CG, Pilishvili T, Farley MM, Schaffner W, Craig AS, Lynfield R, et al. Effectiveness of seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease: a matched case-control study. Lancet 2006; 368(9546): 1495-502.

121. Andrews N, Waight PA, Borrow R, Ladhani S, George RC, Slack MP, et al. Using the indirect cohort design to estimate the effectiveness of the seven valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in England and Wales. PLoS One 2011; 6(12): e28435.

122. Cohen C, von Mollendorf C, de Gouveia L, Naidoo N, Meiring S, Quan V, et al. Effectiveness of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in HIV-infected and -uninfected children in south africa: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59(6): 808-18. 123. Weinberger DM, Malley R, Lipsitch M. Serotype replacement in disease after pneumococcal vaccination. Lancet 2011; 378(9807): 1962-73.

124. Weatherholtz R, Millar EV, Moulton LH, Reid R, Rudolph K, Santosham M, et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease a decade after pneumococcal conjugate vaccine use in an American Indian population at high risk for disease. Clin Infect Dis 2010; 50(9): 1238-46. 125. Lacapa R, Bliss SJ, Larzelere-Hinton F, Eagle KJ, McGinty DJ, Parkinson AJ, et al. Changing epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease among White Mountain Apache persons in the era of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Clin Infect Dis 2008; 47(4): 476-84.

126. Bingen E, Levy C, Varon E, de La Rocque F, Boucherat M, d'Athis P, et al.

Pneumococcal meningitis in the era of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine implementation. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2008; 27(3): 191-9.

127. Perez A, Herranz M, Segura M, Padilla E, Gil F, Duran G, et al. Epidemiologic impact of blood culture practices and antibiotic consumption on pneumococcal bacteraemia in children. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2008; 27(8): 717-24.

128. Feikin DR, Kagucia EW, Loo JD, Link-Gelles R, Puhan MA, Cherian T, et al. Serotype-specific changes in invasive pneumococcal disease after pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction: a pooled analysis of multiple surveillance sites. PLoS Med 2013; 10(9): e1001517.

129. Hennessy TW, Singleton RJ, Bulkow LR, Bruden DL, Hurlburt DA, Parks D, et al. Impact of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on invasive disease, antimicrobial resistance and colonization in Alaska Natives: progress towards elimination of a health disparity. Vaccine 2005; 23(48-49): 5464-73.

130. Kellner JD, Vanderkooi OG, MacDonald J, Church DL, Tyrrell GJ, Scheifele DW. Changing epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in Canada, 1998-2007: update from the Calgary-area *Streptococcus pneumoniae* research (CASPER) study. Clin Infect Dis 2009; 49(2): 205-12.

131. Williams SR, Mernagh PJ, Lee MH, Tan JT. Changing epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in Australian children after introduction of a 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Med J Aust 2011; 194(3): 116-20.

132. Vestrheim DF, Lovoll O, Aaberge IS, Caugant DA, Hoiby EA, Bakke H, et al.Effectiveness of a 2+1 dose schedule pneumococcal conjugate vaccination programme on invasive pneumococcal disease among children in Norway. Vaccine 2008; 26(26): 3277-81.

133. Harboe ZB, Valentiner-Branth P, Benfield TL, Christensen JJ, Andersen PH, Howitz M, et al. Early effectiveness of heptavalent conjugate pneumococcal vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease after the introduction in the Danish Childhood Immunization Programme. Vaccine 2010; 28(14): 2642-7.

134. Hanquet G, Lernout T, Vergison A, Verhaegen J, Kissling E, Tuerlinckx D, et al.Impact of conjugate 7-valent vaccination in Belgium: addressing methodological challenges.Vaccine 2011; 29(16): 2856-64.

135. Foster D, Walker AS, Paul J, Griffiths D, Knox K, Peto TE, et al. Reduction in invasive pneumococcal disease following implementation of the conjugate vaccine in the Oxfordshire region, England. J Med Microbiol 2011; 60(Pt 1): 91-7.

136. Miller E, Andrews NJ, Waight PA, Slack MP, George RC. Herd immunity and serotype replacement 4 years after seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccination in England and Wales: an observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 2011; 11(10): 760-8.

137. Pilishvili T, Lexau C, Farley MM, Hadler J, Harrison LH, Bennett NM, et al. Sustained reductions in invasive pneumococcal disease in the era of conjugate vaccine. J Infect Dis 2010; 201(1): 32-41.

138. Ruckinger S, van der Linden M, Reinert RR, von Kries R, Burckhardt F, Siedler A.Reduction in the incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease after general vaccination with7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in Germany. Vaccine 2009; 27(31): 4136-41.

139. Simonsen L, Taylor RJ, Young-Xu Y, Haber M, May L, Klugman KP. Impact of pneumococcal conjugate vaccination of infants on pneumonia and influenza hospitalization and mortality in all age groups in the United States. MBio 2011; 2(1): e00309-10.

140. Waight PA, Andrews NJ, Ladhani NJ, Sheppard CL, Slack MP, Miller E. Effect of the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on invasive pneumococcal disease in England and Wales 4 years after its introduction: an observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 2015; 15(6): 629.

141. Whitney CG, Farley MM, Hadler J, Harrison LH, Bennett NM, Lynfield R, et al. Decline in invasive pneumococcal disease after the introduction of protein-polysaccharide conjugate vaccine. N Engl J Med 2003; 348(18): 1737-46.

142. Moore MR, Link-Gelles R, Schaffner W, Lynfield R, Lexau C, Bennett NM, et al. Effect of use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children on invasive pneumococcal disease in children and adults in the USA: analysis of multisite, populationbased surveillance. Lancet Infect Dis 2015; 15(3): 301-9. 143. Grijalva CG, Nuorti JP, Arbogast PG, Martin SW, Edwards KM, Griffin MR. Decline in pneumonia admissions after routine childhood immunisation with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in the USA: a time-series analysis. Lancet 2007; 369(9568): 1179-86.

144. De Wals P, Robin E, Fortin E, Thibeault R, Ouakki M, Douville-Fradet M. Pneumonia after implementation of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine program in the province of Quebec, Canada. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27(11): 963-8.

145. Fitzwater SP, Chandran A, Santosham M, Johnson HL. The worldwide impact of the seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2012; 31(5): 501-8.
146. McNeil SA, Qizilbash N, Ye J, Gray S, Zanotti G, Munson S, et al. A retrospective study of the clinical burden of hospitalized all-cause and pneumococcal pneumonia in Canada. Can Respir J 2015.

147. Hammitt LL, Akech DO, Morpeth SC, Karani A, Kihuha N, Nyongesa S, et al.
Population effect of 10-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on nasopharyngeal carriage of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* in Kilifi, Kenya: findings from cross-sectional carriage studies. Lancet Glob Health 2014; 2(7): e397-405.
148. Roca A, Hill PC, Townend J, Egere U, Antonio M, Bojang A, et al. Effects of community-wide vaccination with PCV-7 on pneumococcal nasopharyngeal carriage in the Gambia: a cluster-randomized trial. PLoS Med 2011; 8(10): e1001107.

149. Mackenzie GA, Hill PC, Jeffries DJ, Hossain I, Uchendu U, Ameh D, et al. Effect of the introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in The Gambia: a population-based surveillance study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016.

150. von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Tempia S, Quan V, Meiring S, von Mollendorf C, et al. Effects of vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa. N Engl J Med 2014; 371(20): 1889-99.

151. Patrzalek M, Albrecht P, Sobczynski M. Significant decline in pneumonia admission rate after the introduction of routine 2+1 dose schedule heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7) in children under 5 years of age in Kielce, Poland. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2010; 29(7): 787-92.

152. Pirez MC, Algorta G, Cedres A, Sobrero H, Varela A, Giachetto G, et al. Impact of universal pneumococcal vaccination on hospitalizations for pneumonia and meningitis in children in Montevideo, Uruguay. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2011; 30(8): 669-74.

153. Hortal M, Estevan M, Meny M, Iraola I, Laurani H. Impact of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines on the incidence of pneumonia in hospitalized children after five years of its introduction in Uruguay. PLoS One 2014; 9(6): e98567.

154. Afonso ET, Minamisava R, Bierrenbach AL, Escalante JJ, Alencar AP, Domingues CM, et al. Effect of 10-valent pneumococcal vaccine on pneumonia among children, Brazil. Emerg Infect Dis 2013; 19(4): 589-97.

155. Jaffar S, Leach A, Hall AJ, Obaro S, McAdam KP, Smith PG, et al. Preparation for a pneumococcal vaccine trial in The Gambia: individual or community randomisation? Vaccine 1999; 18(7-8): 633-40.

156. Lipsitch M. Bacterial vaccines and serotype replacement: lessons from *Haemophilus influenzae* and prospects for *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Emerg Infect Dis 1999; 5(3): 336-45.

157. Moulton LH, O'Brien KL, Kohberger R, Chang I, Reid R, Weatherholtz R, et al. Design of a group-randomized Streptococcus pneumoniae vaccine trial. Control Clin Trials 2001; 22(4): 438-52.

158. Song JH, Baek JY, Cheong HS, Chung DR, Peck KR, Ko KS. Changes of serotype and genotype in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* isolates from a Korean hospital in 2007. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2009; 63(3): 271-8.

159. Lipsitch M. Vaccination against colonizing bacteria with multiple serotypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94(12): 6571-6.

160. Spratt BG, Greenwood BM. Prevention of pneumococcal disease by vaccination: does serotype replacement matter? Lancet 2000; 356(9237): 1210-1.

161. Lipsitch M. Interpreting results from trials of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines: a statistical test for detecting vaccine-induced increases in carriage of nonvaccine serotypes.Am J Epidemiol 2001; 154(1): 85-92.

162. Frazao N, Sa-Leao R, de Lencastre H. Impact of a single dose of the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on colonization. Vaccine 2010; 28(19): 3445-52.

163. O'Brien KL, Millar EV, Zell ER, Bronsdon M, Weatherholtz R, Reid R, et al. Effect of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on nasopharyngeal colonization among immunized and unimmunized children in a community-randomized trial. J Infect Dis 2007; 196(8): 1211-20.

164. Black S. The volatile nature of pneumococcal serotype epidemiology: potential for misinterpretation. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2010; 29(4): 301-3.

165. Moore MR. Rethinking replacement and resistance. J Infect Dis 2009; 199(6): 771-3.

166. Moore MR, Whitney CG. Emergence of nonvaccine serotypes following introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine: cause and effect? Clin Infect Dis 2008; 46(2): 183-5.

167. Statistics South Africa. Mid-year population estimates, 2015. Statistical release P0302.

168. Statistics South Africa. Mid-year population estimates, 2008. Statistical release P0302.2008.

169. Barron P, Pillay Y, Doherty T, Sherman G, Jackson D, Bhardwaj S, et al. Eliminating mother-to-child HIV transmission in South Africa. Bull World Health Organ 2013; 91(1): 70-4.

170. Sherman GG, Lilian RR, Bhardwaj S, Candy S, Barron P. Laboratory information system data demonstrate successful implementation of the prevention of mother-to-child transmission programme in South Africa. S Afr Med J 2014; 104(3 Suppl 1): 235-8.

171. Johnson L. Access to antiretroviral treatment in South Africa, 2004-2011. The South African Journal of HIV Medicine 2012; 43(1): 22-7.

172. UNAIDS. Global report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2013, 2013.

173. World Health Organization. WHO vaccine-preventable diseases: monitoring system.2015 global summary.

http://apps.who.int/immunization\_monitoring/globalsummary/countries?countrycriteria[count ry][]=ZAF&commit=OK (accessed 20 December 2015).

174. Fan X, Wang L. Comparability of jackknife and bootstrap results: An investigation for a case of canonical correlation analysis. Journal of Experimental Education 1996; 64: 173-89.

175. Kulldorff M. A spatial scan statistic. Communications in statistics: theory and methods 1997; 26(6): 1481-96.

176. Kulldorff M, Nagarwalla N. Spatial disease clusters: detection and inference. Stat Med 1995; 14(8): 799-810.

177. Kulldorff M, Information Management Services ISv. Software for the spatial and space-time scan statistics. 2014. <u>http://www.satscan.org/</u>.

178. Warden CR. Comparison of Poisson and Bernoulli spatial cluster analyses of pediatric injuries in a fire district. Int J Health Geogr 2008; 7: 51.

179. Huebner RE, Klugman KP, Matai U, Eggers R, Hussey G. Laboratory surveillance for *Haemophilus influenzae* type B meningococcal, and pneumococcal disease. Haemophilus Surveillance Working Group. S Afr Med J 1999; 89(9): 924-5.

180. Wahl B, O'Brien KL, Greenbaum A, Liu L, Chu Y, Black R, et al. Global burden of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in children younger than 5 years in the era of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (PCV): 2000-2015. 10th International Symposium on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD-10); Glasgow, Scotland 2016.

181. Lajoie J. Understanding the Measurement of Global Burden of Disease National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases, 2013.

182. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012; 380(9859): 2095-128.
183. Vock DM, Atchison EA, Legler JM, McClure DR, Carlyle JC, Jeavons EN, et al. Accounting for model uncertainty in estimating global burden of disease. Bull World Health Organ 2011; 89(2): 112-20.

184. Kretzschmar M, Mangen MJ, Pinheiro P, Jahn B, Fevre EM, Longhi S, et al. New methodology for estimating the burden of infectious diseases in Europe. PLoS Med 2012; 9(4): e1001205.

185. UNICEF. Levels & Trends in Child Mortality Report 2014.

http://www.unicef.org/media/files/Levels and Trends in Child Mortality 2014.pdf.

186. Deng N, Allison JJ, Fang HJ, Ash AS, Ware JE, Jr. Using the bootstrap to establish statistical significance for relative validity comparisons among patient-reported outcome measures. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2013; 11: 89.

187. Collins S, Sheppard C, Litt D, Fry NK, Andrews N, Miller E, et al. Trends in invasive pneumococcal disease over time: England and Wales 2000/01 to 2014/15. 10th International Symposium on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD-10); Glasgow, Scotland 2016.

188. Pilishvili T, Gierke R, Farley M, Schaffner W, Thomas A, Reingold A, et al. Direct and Indirect Impact of 13-valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine (PCV13) on Invasive Pneumococcal Disease (IPD) in the U.S. 10th International Symposium on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD-10); Glasgow, Scotland; 2016.

189. Jefferies JM, Smith AJ, Edwards GF, McMenamin J, Mitchell TJ, Clarke SC. Temporal analysis of invasive pneumococcal clones from Scotland illustrates fluctuations in diversity of serotype and genotype in the absence of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. J Clin Microbiol 2010; 48(1): 87-96.

190. Le Hello S, Watson M, Levy M, Marcon S, Brown M, Yvon JF, et al. Invasive serotype 1 *Streptococcus pneumoniae* outbreaks in the South Pacific from 2000 to 2007. J Clin Microbiol 2010; 48(8): 2968-71.

191. Benfield T, Skovgaard M, Schonheyder HC, Knudsen JD, Bangsborg J, Ostergaard C, et al. Serotype distribution in non-bacteremic pneumococcal pneumonia: association with disease severity and implications for pneumococcal conjugate vaccines. PLoS One 2013; 8(8): e72743.

192. Fuchs I, Dagan R, Givon-Lavi N, Greenberg D. Serotype 1 childhood invasive pneumococcal disease has unique characteristics compared to disease caused by other *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotypes. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2013; 32(6): 614-8.

193. Ostfeld RS, Glass GE, Keesing F. Spatial epidemiology: an emerging (or re-emerging) discipline. Trends Ecol Evol 2005; 20(6): 328-36.

194. Linard C, Tatem AJ. Large-scale spatial population databases in infectious disease research. Int J Health Geogr 2012; 11: 7.

195. Moore DA, Carpenter TE. Spatial analytical methods and geographic information systems: use in health research and epidemiology. Epidemiol Rev 1999; 21(2): 143-61.

196. Sugumaran R, Larson SR, Degroote JP. Spatio-temporal cluster analysis of countybased human West Nile virus incidence in the continental United States. Int J Health Geogr 2009; 8: 43.

197. Madhi SA, Adrian P, Kuwanda L, Jassat W, Jones S, Little T, et al. Long-term immunogenicity and efficacy of a 9-valent conjugate pneumococcal vaccine in human immunodeficient virus infected and non-infected children in the absence of a booster dose of vaccine. Vaccine 2007; 25(13): 2451-7.

198. Saaka M, Okoko BJ, Kohberger RC, Jaffar S, Enwere G, Biney EE, et al.
Immunogenicity and serotype-specific efficacy of a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate
vaccine (PCV-9) determined during an efficacy trial in The Gambia. Vaccine 2008; 26(29-30): 3719-26.

199. Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Adegbola RA, Cutts F, Greenwood B, Hausdorff WP. Timing of serotype 1 pneumococcal disease suggests the need for evaluation of a booster dose. Vaccine 2011; 29(18): 3372-3.

200. Andrews NJ, Waight PA, Burbidge P, Pearce E, Roalfe L, Zancolli M, et al. Serotypespecific effectiveness and correlates of protection for the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine: a postlicensure indirect cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 2014; 14(9): 839-46.

201. Mussi-Pinhata MM, Freimanis L, Yamamoto AY, Korelitz J, Pinto JA, Cruz ML, et al. Infectious disease morbidity among young HIV-1-exposed but uninfected infants in Latin American and Caribbean countries: the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development International Site Development Initiative Perinatal Study. Pediatrics 2007; 119(3): e694-704.

202. Thea DM, St Louis ME, Atido U, Kanjinga K, Kembo B, Matondo M, et al. A prospective study of diarrhea and HIV-1 infection among 429 Zairian infants. NEnglJ Med 1993; 329(23): 1696-702.

203. Otieno RO, Ouma C, Ong'echa JM, Keller CC, Were T, Waindi EN, et al. Increased severe anemia in HIV-1-exposed and HIV-1-positive infants and children during acute malaria. AIDS 2006; 20(2): 275-80.

204. Zaba B, Whitworth J, Marston M, Nakiyingi J, Ruberantwari A, Urassa M, et al. HIV and mortality of mothers and children: evidence from cohort studies in Uganda, Tanzania, and Malawi. Epidemiology 2005; 16(3): 275-80.

205. Shapiro RL, Lockman S, Kim S, Smeaton L, Rahkola JT, Thior I, et al. Infant morbidity, mortality, and breast milk immunologic profiles among breast-feeding HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected women in Botswana. J Infect Dis 2007; 196(4): 562-9.
206. Schim van der Loeff MF, Hansmann A, Awasana AA, Ota MO, O'Donovan D, Sarge-

Njie R, et al. Survival of HIV-1 and HIV-2 perinatally infected children in The Gambia. AIDS 2003; 17(16): 2389-94.

207. Spira R, Lepage P, Msellati P, Van de Perre P, Leroy V, Simonon A, et al. Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in children: a five-year prospective study in Rwanda. Mother-to-Child HIV-1 Transmission Study Group. Pediatrics 1999; 104(5): e56.

208. Sutcliffe CG, Scott S, Mugala N, Ndhlovu Z, Monze M, Quinn TC, et al. Survival from 9 months of age among HIV-infected and uninfected Zambian children prior to the availability of antiretroviral therapy. ClinInfect Dis 2008; 47(6): 837-44.

209. Taha TE, Kumwenda NI, Broadhead RL, Hoover DR, Graham SM, van der Hoven L, et al. Mortality after the first year of life among human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected and uninfected children. PediatrInfect DisJ 1999; 18(8): 689-94.

210. Kupka R, Msamanga GI, Aboud S, Manji KP, Duggan C, Fawzi WW. Patterns and predictors of CD4 T-cell counts among children born to HIV-infected women in Tanzania. J Trop Pediatr 2009; 55(5): 290-6.

211. Abdullahi O, Karani A, Tigoi CC, Mugo D, Kungu S, Wanjiru E, et al. The prevalence and risk factors for pneumococcal colonization of the nasopharynx among children in Kilifi District, Kenya. PLoS One 2012; 7(2): e30787.

212. McCullers JA. Insights into the interaction between influenza virus and pneumococcus.Clin Microbiol Rev 2006; 19(3): 571-82.

213. Clemens JD, Shapiro ED. Resolving the pneumococcal vaccine controversy: are there alternatives to randomized clinical trials? Rev Infect Dis 1984; 6(5): 589-600.

214. Orenstein WA, Bernier RH, Hinman AR. Assessing vaccine efficacy in the field.Further observations. Epidemiol Rev 1988; 10: 212-41.

215. Shapiro ED. Case-Control Studies to Assess the Effectiveness of Vaccines. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc 2014; 3(4): 278-9.

216. Infante-Rivard C. Hospital or population controls for case-control studies of severe childhood diseases? Am J Epidemiol 2003; 157(2): 176-82.

217. Wacholder S, Silverman DT, McLaughlin JK, Mandel JS. Selection of controls in casecontrol studies. II. Types of controls. Am J Epidemiol 1992; 135(9): 1029-41.

218. Shahar E, Shahar DJ. Causal diagrams and the logic of matched case-control studies. Clin Epidemiol 2012; 4: 137-44.

219. Wacholder S, Silverman DT, McLaughlin JK, Mandel JS. Selection of controls in casecontrol studies. III. Design options. Am J Epidemiol 1992; 135(9): 1042-50.

220. Talbot TR, Poehling KA, Hartert TV, Arbogast PG, Halasa NB, Mitchel E, et al. Elimination of racial differences in invasive pneumococcal disease in young children after introduction of the conjugate pneumococcal vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004; 23(8): 726-31.

# APPENDICES

Appendix A - Role of the student

Appendix B - Ethical clearance certificate

Appendix C - Copies of manuscripts making up PhD

Paper I

Paper II

Paper III

Paper IV

Appendix D – Responses to examiners' comments
#### **APPENDIX A: ROLE OF THE STUDENT**

#### Roles performed by the student in the manuscripts making up the PhD

Claire Emily von Mollendorf, student number 9102000D, had the following roles in the studies and the writing of the manuscripts forming part of her thesis entitled: "Epidemiology of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* post-pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction in South Africa".

# 1. Burden of potentially vaccine-preventable pneumococcal disease in children <5 years of age in South Africa, 2005-2008 and 2013

Claire von Mollendorf, Stefano Tempia, Anne von Gottberg, Susan Meiring, Vanessa Quan, Charles Feldman, Jeane Cloete, Shabir Madhi, Katherine L. O'Brien, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, Cheryl Cohen

Paper finalised for submission and currently undergoing CDC clearance

Data derived from: (1) GERMS-SA: Laboratory-based Surveillance for Pathogens of Public Health Importance in South Africa; (2) NHLS Corporate Data Warehouse; (3) Published literature

<u>Role of the student</u>: General epidemiological support, data cleaning, data analysis, training of site staff and site visits for the GERMS-SA programme. Analysis of NHLS Corporate Data Warehouse data. Creation of burden model. Literature review, drafting of paper and revision and finalisation of paper.

# 2. Epidemiology of serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease in all ages in South Africa, 2003-2013

Claire von Mollendorf, Cheryl Cohen, Stefano Tempia, Susan Meiring, Linda de Gouveia, Vanessa Quan, Sarona Lengana, Alan Karstaedt, Halima Dawood, Sharona Seetharam, Ruth Lekalakala, Shabir A. Madhi, Keith P. Klugman, Anne von Gottberg, for the Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA). Emerging Infectious Diseases 2015; 22(2):261-270

<u>Data derived from</u>: (1) GERMS-SA: Laboratory-based Surveillance for Pathogens of Public Health Importance in South Africa

<u>Role of the student</u>: General epidemiological support, data cleaning, data analysis, training of site staff and site visits. Literature review, drafting of paper and revision and finalisation of paper.

## 3. Increased Risk for and Mortality from Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in HIV-Exposed but Uninfected Infants Aged <1 Year in South Africa, 2009–2013

Claire von Mollendorf, Anne von Gottberg, Stefano Tempia, Susan Meiring, Linda de Gouveia, Vanessa Quan, Sarona Lengana, Theunis Avenant, Nicolette du Plessis, Brian Eley, Heather Finlayson, Gary Reubenson, Mamokgethi Moshe, Katherine L. O'Brien, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, and Cheryl Cohen for the Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA). Clinical Infectious Diseases 2015; 60(9):1346–56

<u>Data derived from</u>: (1) Case-control study to estimate effectiveness of a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa; (2) GERMS-SA: Laboratory-based Surveillance for Pathogens of Public Health Importance in South Africa <u>Role of the student</u>: Responsible for coordinating the case-control study, case report form design and changes, updating tools, updating the protocol, ethics applications, checking study case investigation forms, review and verification of vaccination histories from road-to-health cards, data cleaning, data analysis, training of site staff and site visits. Provided general epidemiological support to the GERMS-SA programme, joint site visits, training and data cleaning. Literature review, drafting of paper and revision and finalisation of paper.

## 4. Risk Factors for Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Among Children Less Than 5 Years of Age in a High HIV Prevalence Setting, South Africa, 2010 to 2012

Claire von Mollendorf, Cheryl Cohen, Linda de Gouveia, Nireshni Naidoo, Susan Meiring, Vanessa Quan, Sonwabo Lindani, David P. Moore, Gary Reubenson, Mamokgethi Moshe, Brian Eley, Ute M. Hallbauer, Heather Finlayson, Shabir A. Madhi, Laura Conklin, Elizabeth R. Zell, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, and Anne von Gottberg, for the South African IPD Case-Control Study Group. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal 2015; 34(1):27–34

Data derived from: (1) Case-control study to estimate effectiveness of a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa Role of the student: Responsible for coordinating the case-control study, case report form design and changes, updating tools, updating the protocol, ethics applications, checking study case investigation forms, review and verification of vaccination histories from road-to-health cards, data cleaning, data analysis, training of site staff and site visits. Literature review, drafting of paper and revision and finalisation of paper. All co-authors have been informed that the papers are to be used in a PhD thesis and none raised any objections regarding their use within the thesis.

Student: Claire von Mollendorf: <u>leven velendor</u>

Supervisor: Cheryl Cohen:

A VON GOTTBERG

**Supervisor: Anne von Gottberg:** 

#### **APPENDIX B – ETHICAL CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE**



R14/49 Dr Claire von Mollendorf et al

## HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

# CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M140822

<u>NAME:</u> (Principal Investigator)	Dr Claire von Mollendorf et al							
DEPARTMENT:	School of Public Health National Institute for Communicable Disease							
PROJECT TITLE:	Epidemiology of Streptococcus Pneumoniae Post-Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine Introduction in South Africa							
DATE CONSIDERED:	29/08/2014							
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally							
CONTINNS:								
SUPERVISOR:	Dr Cheryl Cohen and Dr Anne von Gottberg							
APPROVED BY:	Professor P Cleaton-Jones, Co-Chairperson, HREC (Medical)							
DATE OF APPROVAL:	01/09/2014							
This clearance certificate is va	alid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for.							
DECLARATION OF INVESTIGA	ATORS							
To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Secretary in Room 10004, 10th floor, Senate House, University. I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and I/we undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, I/we undertake to resubmit the application to the Committee. Lagree to submit a yearly progress report.								

Pfincipal Investigator Signature

04/09/2014

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES

Date

# APPENDIX C - COPIES OF MANUSCRIPTS MAKING UP PHD

### PAPER I

# Severe pneumococcal disease cases and deaths prevented by pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction in children <5 years of age in South Africa

Claire von Mollendorf (1,2), Stefano Tempia (3,4), Anne von Gottberg (1,5), Susan Meiring (6), Vanessa Quan (6), Charles Feldman (7,8), Jeane Cloete (9), Shabir A. Madhi (1,5), Katherine L. O'Brien (10), Keith P. Klugman (11), Cynthia G. Whitney (3), Cheryl Cohen (1,2)

#### Affiliations:

 Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, a division of the National Health Laboratory Service, Johannesburg, South Africa;
 School of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa;

(3) National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, United States of America (USA);

(4) Influenza Program, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Pretoria, South Africa;

(5) Medical Research Council: Respiratory and Meningeal Pathogens Research Unit, School of Pathology, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa;

(6) Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response, National Institute for

Communicable Diseases of the National Health Laboratory Service, Johannesburg, South Africa;

(7) Department of Internal Medicine, Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital, Johannesburg, South Africa;

(8) Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa;

(9) Department of Paediatrics, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, Pretoria, South Africa;

(10) Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, International Vaccine Access

Center, Department of International Health, Baltimore, Maryland, USA;

(11) Hubert School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

Keywords: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, burden, children, South Africa, pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

Running title: Pneumococcal disease burden in children

**Corresponding author:** Claire von Mollendorf, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, 1 Modderfontein Road, NHLS, Sandringham, 2193, Gauteng, South Africa; Telephone: 27 11 386 6321, Fax: 27 11 386 6580, Cell: +27 (0)82 828 8134, E-mail: <u>clairevm@nicd.ac.za</u>

#### Word count:

Abstract: 258 Main text: 4111 Tables: 6 Figures: 1 Supplementary material: Tables: 3; Figures: 4

#### <u>Abstract</u>

#### Introduction

*Streptococcus pneumoniae* is a leading cause of severe bacterial infections globally. A full understanding of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) impact on pneumococcal disease burden, following its introduction in 2009 in South Africa, can support the ongoing national policy on PCV use and assist with policy decisions elsewhere.

#### Methods

We developed a model to estimate national burden of severe pneumococcal disease pre-(average 2005-2008) and post-PCV introduction (2013) in children aged 0-59 months in South Africa. We estimated case numbers for invasive pneumococcal disease using data from national laboratory-based surveillance, adjusted for specimen-taking practices. We estimated non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia case numbers using vaccine probe study data. To estimate pneumococcal deaths, we applied observed case fatality ratios to estimated case numbers. Estimates were stratified by HIV status to account for the impact of PCV and HIVrelated interventions. We assessed how different assumptions affected estimates using a sensitivity analysis. Bootstrapping created confidence intervals.

#### Results

In the pre-vaccine era a total of approximately 196,100 (148,000-251,000) cases of severe hospitalised pneumococcal disease were estimated annually. In 2013, 5 years after introduction of PCV, 67,300 (49,000-95,000) cases were estimated, a rate reduction of 2528 cases per 100,000 child-years. Approximately 8600 (4500-13,500) pneumococcal-related annual deaths were estimated in the pre-vaccine period and 3600 (1000-6800) in 2013, a rate difference of 99 per 100,000 child-years.

#### Conclusions

A reduction in the burden of pneumococcal-associated hospitalisations and deaths, temporally associated with PCV introduction, was noted in children aged <5 years in South Africa. The impact of other interventions such as improvements in HIV care can't be excluded.

#### **Introduction**

*Streptococcus pneumoniae* is a leading cause of bacterial pneumonia, meningitis, and sepsis, and was estimated to cause 335,000 (240,000-460,000) deaths in children <5 years in 2015 globally (1). In 2008, immediately before the introduction of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) in low income countries, the estimated number of deaths was 541,000 (376,000- 594,000) (2). In South Africa HIV-infected children, as well as HIV-exposed-uninfected children, had a higher incidence of all acute lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) than HIV-unexposed-uninfected children, even in the post-PCV era (3). In addition the incidence of pneumococcus-associated LRTIs still remained higher in HIV-infected than –uninfected children, although the rate ratio was not significant.

Prevention of pneumococcal disease by PCV use has been documented through effectiveness and impact data from more than 50 countries (http://view-hub.org/viz/). In South Africa, the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7) was introduced nationally in April 2009 and replaced by PCV13 in June 2011. National surveillance data for invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) from South Africa showed a 69% (95% confidence interval [CI]: 65-72%) reduction in the incidence of all-serotype IPD among children aged <2 years by 2012, with contributions by PCV and HIV-associated interventions (4).

The burden of pneumococcal disease has been described in young children in the African region (5) with epidemiological studies in a number of countries including The Gambia (6, 7), Kenya (8) and South Africa (9). World Health Organization (WHO) country specific estimates of disease burden (1, 5, 10) generate summed regional and global estimates using country specific inputs for syndromic mortality (pneumonia and meningitis) along with other country specific parameters (e.g. pathogen specific case fatality ratios, HIV prevalence, population size, vaccine coverage). However, these models do not include the observed incidence of IPD. South Africa has excellent surveillance to measure IPD incidence and thus allows for an alternative model to estimate national cases and deaths from pneumococcal disease, anchoring on this observed value. The model can be updated over time to track improvements in health and be compared to other estimates.

We aimed to estimate the national burden of severe hospitalised pneumococcal disease (meningitis, bacteraemic and non-bacteraemic pneumonia, and non-pneumonia non-

meningitis invasive disease) among HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected children aged 0-59 months in South Africa in two periods: 2005-2008, before PCV was introduced, and 2013, after PCV was introduced. Estimates were based on the observed IPD incidence measures from our surveillance system, as an alternative approach to that used by the WHO.

#### **Methods**

#### Model overview

We developed a conceptual model to estimate the national burden of pneumococcal cases, deaths, incidence and mortality rates, in children 0-59 months in South Africa for the prevaccine (average 2005-2008) era and one year (2013) of the post-vaccine era (Figure 1 and supplementary figures 1a and 1b). Cases and deaths averted were calculated as the difference between these two periods, i.e. over 5 years. We used the observed cases of IPD hospitalisations from the GERMS-SA surveillance programme at both time points, stratified by disease syndrome (meningitis, pneumonia and non-pneumonia non-meningitis) and by age (<1 year of age, 1-4 years of age) as the base rate and adjusted for incomplete specimen collection based on Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW) data numbers by province among hospitalised children. Gauteng province was used as the reference province for this adjustment because of its systematic testing practices. We stratified all estimates by HIV status which has previously been documented to affect burden of disease (9). Model parameters are given in Table 1a and calculations are explained further below as well as shown in Figure 1 (and Supplementary Figures 1a and 1b). All reported case numbers were rounded to the closest 100, except when counts were less than a 100. Incidence rates were calculated from the estimated cases using denominators from Statistics South Africa (11); incidence rates were reported to the lowest case number per 100,000 population.

#### Estimated number of cases and incidence rates by clinical syndrome

IPD case numbers were estimated from national laboratory-based surveillance (described below) and divided into fractions attributable to meningitis, bacteraemic pneumonia and non-pneumonia non-meningitis cases on the basis of GERMS-SA clinical data. IPD case numbers were adjusted for sensitivity of blood culture among truly bacteraemic cases and CSF culture among those with pneumococcal meningitis, and incomplete specimen-taking practices among those with IPD. To estimate the number of cases of non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia, we extrapolated data from PCV probe studies in South Africa (12) by using the

PCV9 vaccine attributable reduction (VAR) ratio of clinical pneumonia to bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (11:1). An additional adjustment was made for the presumed underestimation of vaccine efficacy (VE) for non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia in this study. This assumption was based on a study which showed a higher pneumococcal detection rate using urine antigen testing in non-bacteraemic pneumonia in the elderly (13). The adjustment value (1.89) was based on the ratio of the original and inflated VE from the different studies (see Supplementary Material for detailed methods).

#### Estimated number of deaths and mortality rates

Pneumococcal death estimates for each syndrome were calculated by multiplying case estimates (as calculated above) by observed syndrome specific case fatality ratios (CFRs) (from GERMS-SA enhanced sites) for IPD cases by age group and HIV status. For non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia we used the ratio of CFR (5:1) among all-cause community-acquired bacteraemia (28.2%) to all-cause non-bacteraemic hospital admissions (5.7%) reported in the literature from Kenya (14, 15) to calculate the non-bacteraemic pneumonia CFR. This CFR ratio was intermediate between those reported by two other trials (16, 17). Clinical trial data from The Gambia showed a death risk ratio of 4 times for end-point pneumonia (3.0%) compared to 'other infiltrates/abnormalities' pneumonia (0.8%) (16) and a CFR of 6.6% in a study comparing cases with bacteraemic pneumonia to a non-pneumonia control group (17). Mortality rates were calculated by dividing the estimated pneumococcal deaths by mid-year age-specific population denominators.

#### **Data sources**

#### GERMS-SA IPD surveillance programme

GERMS-SA is an active, national, laboratory-based surveillance programme for IPD and other invasive organisms. All public health sector microbiology laboratories (>200) are encouraged to submit isolates to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD) in Johannesburg. The public sector serves 84% of the South African population without private medical aid coverage (18). Some private sector laboratories also submit isolates. Of the public sector facilities, 24 sites have dedicated surveillance officers who collect clinical information on identified patients thereby defining them as enhanced sites. Laboratory-based surveillance for IPD in South Africa began in 1999 (19) and completeness of case reporting stabilised by 2005 (20). Cases of IPD were defined as illnesses in patients with *S. pneumoniae* cultured from normally sterile-body sites (e.g. cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) or

blood) or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) confirmation of culture-negative cases. Information on specimen type and age of cases is available from all sites; clinical diagnosis is reported only from cases that occurred at enhanced sites. Severe pneumococcal disease was considered as disease resulting in hospitalisation.

#### National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS) Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW)

The CDW is managed by the NHLS, the sole laboratory service provider for all public health facilities in South Africa. The CDW is a repository which contains archived data on all laboratory tests requested and results from public laboratories from 2003.

#### Additional input parameters for model

Values for input parameters of the model were derived from a number of sources. For estimates of non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases and adjustments for expected burden in presence of systematic blood culturing practices we used published data from a South African PCV9 vaccine clinical trial (12, 21). Published data was also used to derive the CFR for non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (14, 15).

#### Population denominators

Annual age-specific population denominators used to calculate incidence and mortality rates were obtained from Statistics South Africa (11). The Thembisa model (22) was used to estimate population denominators by HIV status; these denominators accounted for the changes in mother-to-child HIV transmission rates and improvements in paediatric ARV treatment.

#### Statistical analysis

We calculated the percent reduction in incidence and death rates between the two periods (2005-2008 and 2013) using the following formula:

% reduction = [Average incidence or death rate 2005 to 2008 – Incidence or death rate 2013] Average incidence or death rate 2005 to 2008

Bootstrapping to create confidence intervals was used for all endpoints, to account for variability and uncertainty in detection rates, incidence rates and case-fatality rates from the surveillance data.

#### Human subjects review

Ethics approval was obtained for GERMS-SA surveillance (M081117) from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical), University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa and other local hospital or provincial ethics committees, as required. Clearance for the surveillance programme was also obtained from the U.S. Centers for Disease Control (IRB 00001223).

#### Sensitivity analysis

A one-way sensitivity analysis was performed by changing one variable at a time to see the effect on the total number of cases and deaths (parameters in Table 1b). A Tornado diagram was fitted around the base case estimates for cases (Supplementary figure 2a) and deaths (Supplementary figure 2b) to evaluate the sensitivity of the model to changes in the assumed values of key parameters (Details in Supplementary Material).

#### **Results**

#### Burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in the pre-vaccine era

In the pre-vaccine era (2005-2008) an estimated national average of 196,100 (148,000-251,000) annual cases of hospitalised pneumococcal disease, an incidence of 3799 (2870-4853) per 100,000 person-years (py), occurred in children aged <5 years in South Africa (Tables 2 and 3). An average of 1100 (1000-1200) cases of pneumococcal meningitis (21 per 100,000 py); 8600 (6700-11,200) bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases (167 per 100,000 py), 181,500 (140,000-236,000) non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases (3515 per 100,000 py) and 4900 (3600-6100) non-pneumonia non-meningitis invasive pneumococcal disease cases (95 per 100,000 py) were estimated to occur annually in children 0-59 months of age. Based on model inputs, the overall incidence for hospitalised pneumococcal disease was higher amongst infants <1 year of age (9024 per 100,000 py) than children 1-4 years of age (2472 per 100,000 py), a relative risk of 4; incidence was also higher among HIV-infected children (41,436 per 100,000 py) than among HIV-uninfected children aged 0-59 months (1741 per 100,000 py), a relative risk of 24. Similar trend were observed in all syndromes (Table 3).

#### Pneumococcal related deaths and mortality rates in the pre-vaccine era

In the pre-vaccine period an average of 8600 (4500-13,500) annual pneumococcal-related deaths, translating into a mortality rate of 166 per 100,000 py, was estimated to have occurred

in children 0-59 months of age (Table 4 and 5). An average of 370 (300-400) pneumococcal meningitis deaths (7 per 100,000 py), 1400 (900-2000) bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia deaths (27 per 100,000 py), 5800 (2200-10,000) non-bacteraemic pneumonia deaths (112 per 100,000 py) and 1000 (200-2000) non-pneumonia non-meningitis IPD deaths (20 per 100,000 py) were estimated per year. The overall pneumococcal mortality rate, based on CFRs, was higher amongst infants (550 per 100,000 py) than children 1-4 years of age (68 per 100,000 py), a relative risk of 8, and also higher amongst HIV-infected children (1731 per 100,000 py) than amongst HIV-uninfected children aged 0-59 months (80 per 100,000 py), a relative risk of 22 (Table 5).

# Impact of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and other interventions on the burden of disease

Based on inputted model parameters we estimated that in 2013 there were 67,300 (49,000-95,000) pneumococcal cases in children aged 0-59 months, 128,800 fewer cases than would have been expected based on the incidence of disease observed in 2005-2008 among this age group (Table 2). Since the IPD syndromic distribution observed in 2005-2008 and in 2013 drives the case and death estimates for these two periods, any reductions by syndrome are inherently a result of the differences observed by syndrome in the IPD cases. As a result of those differences, the model output had reductions in all syndromes between the pre- and the post-PCV periods. Similarly reductions were greatest in infants and HIV-infected children, the latter driven by the relative risk inputted into the model.

The overall national annual incidence of pneumococcal disease in 2013 was estimated as 1271 per 100,000 py in children 0-59 months of age, a total rate difference of 2528 per 100,000 (67% reduction) compared with the pre-PCV period (Table 3). The annual incidence of pneumococcal meningitis in 2013 was 5 per 100,000 py in children 0-59 months of age (rate difference of 16 per 100,000, 77% reduction), 57 per 100,000 py for bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (rate difference of 110 per 100,000, 66% reduction), 1187 per 100,000 py for non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (rate difference of 73 per 100,000, 76% reduction). For all syndromes incidence was highest amongst infants and HIV-infected children as is expected based on the rates observed in the IPD GERMS data.

Pneumococcal related deaths and mortality rates in 2013

In 2013 we estimated 3600 (1000-6800) annual pneumococcal deaths in children aged 0-59 months, 5000 fewer than would have been expected based on modelled pneumococcal deaths in 2005-2008 (Table 4). The overall South African annual mortality rate for pneumococcal disease in 2013 was estimated at 67 per 100,000 py in children 0-59 months of age, a rate difference of 99 per 100,000 py (59% reduction) compared with the pre-PCV years (Table 5). The mortality rate was 10 times greater in infants (237 per 100,000 py) than in children 1-4 years of age (24 per 100,000 py). The average pneumococcal meningitis mortality rate in 2013 was 2 per 100,000 py in children 0-59 months of age, a rate difference of 5 per 100,000 (76% reduction) compared with the 2005-2008 rate; 11 per 100,000 py for bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (rate difference of 16 per 100,000, 58% reduction) and 49 per 100,000 py for non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (rate difference of 63 per 100,000, 56% reduction).

#### Sensitivity analysis

The total numbers of pneumococcal cases and deaths estimated by the model changed depending on the values of key parameters used in the model (Table 1b); most variations resulted in lower estimates of cases and deaths (Supplementary Table 2a and 2b; Tornado diagrams, supplementary figures 2a and 2b). The inclusion of death estimates in the community did not change the numbers of cases and deaths significantly from our base model, while variations in the CFR resulted in a 16-74% increase in the estimated number of pneumococcal deaths. In the sensitivity analysis when we changed other parameters, including the VAR NBP/BPP ratio of 11:1, VAR NBP/BPP ratio of 7.6:1, the adjustment factor for systematic blood culturing and the HIV prevalence, the case numbers were reduced by 44%, 59%, 50% and 78% respectively. When the same parameters were altered in estimating pneumococcal deaths, numbers were reduced by between 33% and 49%.

#### **Discussion**

Our South African pneumococcal disease burden model has estimated that in the pre-vaccine era (2005-2008) an average of 196,100 (148,000-251,000) cases of severe pneumococcal disease were experienced per year in children 0-59 months of age. In 2013, 67,300 cases were estimated, a 2528 per 100,000 py rate difference. This 67% reduction in all serotype IPD compared with a non-PCV period was likely due to PCV introduction as well as improvements in HIV care and prevention. Other studies in the PCV13 era, which compared

reductions with the PCV7 period, showed a 64% (95% CI 59–68%) reduction in all IPD in the USA in children aged <5 years (23) and in the Gambia a 55% (95% CI 30-71%) reduction in children 2-23 months of age and 56% (95% CI 25-75%) reduction in children 2-4 years of age (24). In the UK in 2014/2015 in all age groups the overall incidence of IPD, compared to the pre-PCV7 period, declined by 47%, but an increase was noted in non-PCV13 serotypes in this period (25).

The model estimated 8600 (4500-13,500) annual pneumococcal deaths in children aged 0-59 months in the pre-vaccine era; this translated into a mortality rate of 166 per 100,000 py. In children aged 0-59 months in South Africa there was an average of 61,749 annual all causes deaths and 14,927 annual pneumonia and influenza deaths over the 2005-2008 period based on Statistics South Africa data (26); the estimated pneumococcal deaths would have made up 14% and 57% of these deaths respectively. A meta-analysis, including studies from the US, South Africa, Gambia and the Philippines, which assessed PCV efficacy on pneumonia concluded that approximately 21.2% of severe clinical pneumonia and 35.8% of CXR confirmed pneumonia was attributable to pneumococcal disease (5). In 2013 we estimated that 3600 (1000-6800) annual pneumococcal-related deaths occurred in children aged 0-59 months, a mortality rate reduction of 99 per 100,000 py. In 2013 in children <5 years there were an estimated 35,094 overall deaths and 8596 pneumonia and influenza deaths in South Africa, based on Statistics South Africa data (26); the estimated pneumococcal deaths would have contributed to 10% and 41% of these deaths respectively. A review by Izadnegahdar, et. al. in 2013 (27) proposed that even in the post-PCV13 period, S. pneumoniae pneumonia may still make up 44% of pneumonia deaths due to non-PCV13 serotypes. This estimate is higher than that reported in a Child Health Epidemiology Reference Group (CHERG) systematic review which estimated that in 2011 S. pneumoniae made up 32.7% of pneumonia deaths in the African region and globally (28).

An updated global burden model that includes a time series from 2000-2015 (1) with annual rates, calculated a total pneumococcal death rate of 203 (164-241) per 100,000 py, 19 (16-23) per 100,000 py for pneumococcal meningitis and 166 (133-198) per 100,000 py for pneumococcal pneumonia in children 1-59 months of age in 2008 for South Africa. When compared with our model which included children 0-59 months, the point estimates for the global model were slightly higher but the uncertainty ranges overlapped with our overall (166 [87-261] per 100,000 py) and pneumonia (139 [59-243] per 100,000 py) rates. Our meningitis

rates were lower than those reported in the global model (7 [6-8] per 100,000 py). In 2013, our overall (67 [19-129] per 100,000 py) and pneumonia (60 [12-124] per 100,000 py) rates overlapped with the South African estimates from the global model (70 [57-83] and 56 [45-66] per 100,000 py respectively). Our meningitis estimates were again slightly lower (2 [1-3] vs 8 [7-9] per 100,000 py) than the global model estimates. Even though the two models differed in their conceptual approach, their approach to neonatal deaths, and the inclusion of different input parameters, they provided similar death rate estimates. The global disease burden model is centred on a proportional mortality approach, taking as a given the allpathogen deaths for meningitis and for pneumonia provided by the Maternal and Child Epidemiology Estimation (MCEE) Group. These deaths are apportioned out to pneumococcus using country specific empirical data for meningitis and PCV clinical trial data (for pneumonia). In contrast, the South Africa specific model used a bottom-up approach using IPD surveillance data as the anchor for the estimates, but it used the same PCV clinical trial data for pneumonia estimates. Lastly our model used the HIV prevalence rates for children identified with pneumococcal disease from our surveillance programme (67% in 2005-2008 and 30% in 2013) and not community prevalence rates (+/- 4% in 2008 and 2% in 2013) used by other models.

The greatest burden of pneumococcal disease in this study was contributed by pneumonia with a 96-fold higher rate than meningitis. This was similar to rates described in previous burden papers where pneumonia made up the bulk of pneumococcal disease (90-fold higher than meningitis) (5).

The pre-PCV pneumococcal incidence rates calculated by this burden model were comparable to those from a clinical trial conducted in South Africa in the pre-antiretroviral treatment, pre-vaccine era from 1998-2001. This clinical trial reported an IPD incidence of 331 per 100,000 py in young children in the placebo arm (21) which was slightly higher than this burden model rate of 283 per 100,000 py (2005-2008). The same trial demonstrated a bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia incidence for all children of 196 per 100,000 py (12) which was similar to our estimates of 167 per 100,000 py. The non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia rates (3515 per 100,000 py) were similar to the observed incidence of clinical lower respiratory tract infection (3565 per 100,000) rates among the placebo arm of the clinical trial (12). Our model utilised parameters from this clinical trial to calculate the

burden of non-bacteraemic from bacteraemic pneumonia, and this may have contributed to similar rates.

Stratifying data by HIV status revealed a 49% reduction in the incidence of all serotype pneumococcal disease in HIV-uninfected children, and a 67% reduction in HIV-infected children aged <5 years based on data inputted into the model. The decrease in HIV-infected children is likely due to the combined effect of PCV, antiretroviral therapy and improvements in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV programme.

Although we did not calculate costs of pneumococcal hospitalizations, there have been studies from Latin America which documented the substantial cost of pneumococcal disease and found that PCV introduction was cost-saving (29, 30). With approximately 26,000 hospitalised cases averted annually in South Africa in 2013, it is expected that PCV will have significant cost reductions for the health system despite the expense of the vaccine. A health economic study in South Africa (Cohen, personal communication) calculated the median total cost for a severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) hospitalization as ZAR 8804.25; assuming a similar cost for pneumococcal disease, ZAR 228,910,500 (US\$ 19,075,875) could be saved per annum in direct hospitalization costs compared with those that would occur without the PCV program. We did not account for the impact and costs of PMTCT and ART in these calculations.

This study is subject to a number of limitations. First, the model is anchored on the GERMS-SA IPD surveillance data which is primarily drawn from public sector laboratories, so may not be representative of all sectors in South Africa; however, 84% of the population access public health care in South Africa even though not all cases detected in private laboratories are captured. Second, a number of assumptions were made to adjust for the lack of sensitivity of detecting cases, and this contributes to higher incidence rates than would be inferred from the measured cases. It is possible that some of the difference in incidence rates were true differences. Although all the assumptions were based on published literature, it is possible that some of these assumptions were not accurate. For example, using a CFR for all hospitalised cases may have overestimated the CFR for non-bacteraemic pneumonia cases and the ratio of BPP to NBP may change by serotype distribution which we did not account for in our model. In addition some estimates (e.g. vaccine probe study data) were only available for the pre-vaccine period and were assumed to be relevant to the post-PCV period. Third, we only calculated the burden of severe pneumococcal disease and did not include pneumococcal disease that was cared for only in the outpatient setting. We were unable to include otitis media burden calculations in this model due to a lack of reliable African data. A US study showed that in children <5 years of age, acute otitis media made up 74% of pneumococcal cases (31), so this burden model is an underestimate of true pneumococcal burden. Fourth, as we used adjustment factors from a PCV-probe study in children (12) which based the diagnosis of pneumonia on clinical and CXR findings only, both of which have limitations in detection, we may have underestimated the burden of non-bacteraemic pneumonia in our calculations. We tried to account for this underestimate by including an adjustment for the increase in the known vaccine efficacy, based on more recent data, against non-bacteraemic pneumonia since these trials were conducted. Supporting evidence for this additional adjustment was seen in a recent PCV vaccine efficacy study in the elderly (13) which used a serotype-specific urinary antigen detection assay to detect vaccine-type S. pneumoniae. It is possible that this adjustment may have overinflated our numbers as it is not clear if the magnitude of the difference in VE for non-bacteraemic and bacteraemic pneumonia is the same for children as observed in the adult study. Fifth, we assumed similar PCV impact across all age strata among children less than 5 years and did not account for direct or indirect vaccine effects separately; we assumed that by using actual reported cases this would account for different impact rates. Lastly, there was a reduction in all-cause pneumonia deaths in South Africa over the 2005 to 2008 period (26); for the pre-PCV death rate calculations we assumed that rates were similar over this period and we may have therefore overestimated the change in pneumococcal death rates when compared with 2013.

In summary, pneumococcal disease represents a major public health burden in children <5 years of age in South Africa. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccination, in conjunction with other interventions, has resulted in a significant reduction in severe pneumococcal disease with approximately 130,000 cases and 5,000 deaths averted over a 5-year period. Although other interventions likely contribute to reductions in pneumococcal disease it is possible that PCV use may have a 'multiplier' effect of preventing other illnesses as children are generally healthier for not having had pneumonia or IPD.

# Table 1a: Parameters used in base case model to estimate total number of cases, incidence and mortality rates for severe pneumococcal disease among children aged <5 years in South Africa

Parameter	Value used	in base case	model	Source of data
Number of cases of invasive	IPD cases de	etected from	enhanced and	GERMS-SA
pneumococcal disease for 3	non-enhance	ed surveilland	ce sites	surveillance programme
clinical syndromes (meningitis,				
BPP, NPNM)				
Adjustment factor for	Ratio of BPI	P incidence f	rom Soweto	Madhi 2005: VE clinical
systematic blood culturing from	clinical trial	(1998-1999)	to BPP	trial conducted in
South African clinical trial: for	incidence fro	om GERMS-	·SA	Soweto located in the
Gauteng Province only	surveillance	in same age	Gauteng Province	
	(<2 years of	age) = 23  ov		
	HIV-uninfec	ted and 23 in		
	infected chil	dren.		
Adjustment for specimen-taking	Provincial in	ncidence rate	s were	NHLS Corporate Data
practices in provinces other than	adjusted by	the relative r	ate of blood	Warehouse (CDW):
Gauteng Province	cultures or C	CSF specime	ns collected in	Collates data on CSF
	each provinc	e relative to	and blood specimens	
(Provincial incidences rates	Province (ba	useline=1). R	taken nationally &	
calculated using provincial	differed by p	province and	submitted to NHLS	
specific cases and provincial	type			laboratories
denominators)	2005-	CSF	Blood	
	2008			
	GA	1.00	1.00	
	WC	1.27	1.26	
	KZN	2.00	6.00	
	NC EC	1.86	4.32	
	EC NWP	2.01	4.38	
	MP	2.53	18.06	
	FS	2.04	2.43	
	LP	5.60	80.13	
			11	
	2013	CSF	Blood	
	GA	1.00	1.00	
	WC	0.23	0.35	
	KZN	2.30	35.35	
	NC	1.84	11.82	

NWP $1.66$ $15.08$ MP $2.71$ $40.06$ FS $0.39$ $10.71$ LP $5.70$ $82.37$ Number of cases of non- bacteraemic pneumococcalPCV9 clinical pneumonia VAR = 410 cases/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37Madhi 2005
MP $2.71$ $40.06$ FS $0.39$ $10.71$ LP $5.70$ $82.37$ Number of cases of non- bacteraemic pneumococcalPCV9 clinical pneumonia VAR = 410 cases/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37maximumonia $aaaaa/100,000 = matic 11/1$
FS $0.39$ $10.71$ LP $5.70$ $82.37$ Number of cases of non- bacteraemic pneumococcalPCV9 clinical pneumonia VAR = 410 cases/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37naumonia $aaaa/100,000 = ratio 11/1$
LP5.7082.37Number of cases of non- bacteraemic pneumococcalPCV9 clinical pneumonia VAR = 410 cases/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37Madhi 2005naumoniaaccord/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37accord/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37Accord/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37
Number of cases of non- bacteraemic pneumococcalPCV9 clinical pneumonia VAR = 410 cases/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37Madhi 2005nnaumoniaaccord/100,000 and all BPP VAR = 37accord/101,000 and all BPP VAR = 37
bacteraemic pneumococcal cases/100,000 and all BPP VAR = $37$
$p_{1} = p_{1} = p_{1$
cases/100,000 = ratio 11:1
Additional adjustment for vaccine Bonten 2014
probe underestimate – VE against VT
non-bacteraemic pneumonia is closer
to 45% than 85% = 1.89
HIV prevalence among IPD Number of HIV-infected and – GERMS-SA
cases; used to calculate uninfected cases calculated by surveillance programme
proportion of HIV-infected and syndrome and year – HIV data available for
-uninfected cases. enhanced sites
Case fatality ratio CFR for pneumococcal bacteraemic GERMS-SA
syndromes = unadjusted pneumococcal surveillance data
deaths from enhanced sites/unadjusted
pneumococcal cases from enhanced
sites; CFR determined by age, HIV
status and syndrome.
CFR for non-bacteraemic Ayieko 2013
pneumococcal pneumonia based on
published data on difference in CFR
(28.2%) between all-cause bacteraemic
cases and medical non-bacteraemic
cases (5.7%) in Kenya.
Adjusted number of deaths Adjusted number of pneumococcal GERMS-SA
deaths = CFR*Adjusted pneumococcal surveillance data
case numbers
Incidence and death rates using Incidence rates = Adjusted case Statistics South Africa
mid-year population numbers/population denominator data
denominators Death rates = Adjusted death
numbers/population denominator
HIV-specific denominators forIncidence and death rates by HIVAIDS and Demographic
incidence and death rates status model developed by
ASSA – was used to

	adjust Statistics South
	Africa denominators for
	HIV influence

# Table 1b: Additional parameters for sensitivity analysis for severe pneumococcaldisease among children aged <5 years in South Africa</td>

Parameter	Value used	l in sensitivity	Source of data	
Number of cases of invasive	As for base	calculations		GERMS-SA
pneumococcal disease for 3				surveillance
clinical syndromes (meningitis,				programme
BPP, NPNM)				
Adjustment factor for	Ratio of IP	D incidence fr	Klugman 2003: VE	
systematic blood culturing from	clinical tria	l (1998-1999)	to IPD incidence	e clinical trial
South African clinical trial: for	from GERM	MS-SA survei	llance in same	conducted in Soweto
Gauteng Province only	age group i	n 2005 (<2 ye	ars of age) = $8$ .	located in the
			Gauteng Province	
Adjustment for specimen-taking	As for base	calculations	NHLS CDW	
practices in provinces other than				
Gauteng Province				
Number of cases of non-	PCV9 Clini	ical pneumoni	a VAR = 410	Madhi 2005
bacteraemic pneumococcal	cases/100,0	000 and all BP	P VAR = 37	
pneumonia	cases/100,0	000 = ratio 11:	1 without	
	additional a	adjustment		
Number of cases of non-	PCV9 WH	O CXR confir	med VAR = $155$	Madhi 2005
bacteraemic pneumococcal	cases/100,0	000 and all BP	PVAR = 37	
pneumonia	cases/100,0	000 = ratio 4:1		
HIV prevalence among general	Number of	HIV-infected	and -uninfected	Thembisa model (Lee
community used to calculate	cases calcu	lated by age g	roup and year	Johnson)
proportion of HIV-infected and	Age	Year	HIV	
-uninfected cases.	group		prevalence	
	<2 years	2005	4.5	
		2006	4.3	
		2007	4.0	
		2008	4.1	
		2003_2008	1.3	
	2-4	2005	5.1	

	vears			
	jeurs	2006	5.1	
		2000	<u> </u>	
		2007	4.9	
		2005 2008	5.0	
		2003_2008	2.5	
Case fatality ratio for all	Specific C	ER by age grou	2.5	e Berkley 2005
		r K by age glou		
syndromes	bacteraem	ic/all-cause non	-bacteraemic	Аујеко 2014
	syndromes			
	Age	Bacteraemic		
	group		bacteraemic	
	<1 year	34%	8%	
	$\geq 1$ year	23%	4.3%	
	All ages	28.2%	5.7%	
Case fatality ratio of	Ratio of er	nd-point pneum	Enwere 2007	
bacteraemic to non-bacteraemic	(3.0%) to t	the CFR for 'oth		
pneumococcal pneumonia	abnormalit	ties' pneumonia		
	CFR of 6.6	5% in cases with	Forgie 1991	
	pneumonia	a compared with		
	pneumonia	a control group		
Adjusted number of deaths	Adjusted r	number of pneur	nococcal death	s GERMS-SA
	= CFR*Ad	ljusted pneumoo	coccal case	surveillance
	numbers –	used different (	CFR	programme
Deaths in the community	(Deaths by	syndrome outs	ide	Vital statistics data
	hospital/D	eaths by syndro	me in-	from Statistics South
	hospital)*(	Deaths from Gl	ERMS-SA	Africa
	enhanced s	sites) by age, sy	ndrome and	
	year			
Mid-year population	As for bas	e case model		Statistics South
denominators for incidence and				Africa data
death rates				
HIV-specific denominators for	As for bas	e case model		ASSA model
incidence and death rates				
	1			

BPP = Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NPNM = Non-pneumonia non-meningitis; IPD = invasive pneumococcal disease; PCV9 = 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; VAR = Vaccine-attributable reduction; VE = vaccine efficacy; CSF = cerebrospinal fluid; NHLS = National Health Laboratory Service; ASSA = Actuarial Society of South Africa; PCV13 = 13-valent PCV; CFR = case fatality ratio; NBP = Non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia

Provinces: GA = Gauteng, WC = Western Cape, KZN = KwaZulu-Natal, NC = Northern Cape, EC = Eastern Cape, NW = North West Province, MP = Mpumalanga, FS = Free State, LP = Limpopo Province

		Total	<u> </u>	H	V-infected	,		HIV-uninfected		
Syndrome /age group	Mean case numbers 2005-2008 (95% CI)	Case numbers 2013 (95% CI)	Reduction in cases*	Mean case numbers 2005-2008 (95% CI)	Case numbers 2013 (95% CI)	Reduction in cases*	Mean case numbers 2005-2008 (95% CI)	Case numbers 2013 (95% CI)	Reduction in cases*	
Meningitis				· · · · ·						
<1 year	700 (680-740)	200 (180-240)	500	350 (320-390)	40 (20-60)	310	350 (320-380)	170 (130-200)	180	
1-4 years	350 (300-390)	50 (30-60)	300	230 (200-250)	20 (10-30)	210	140 (120-160)	20 (10-30)	120	
<5 years	1100 (1000-1200)	300 (200-320)	800	600 (540-630)	60 (50-80)	540	590 (540-630)	200 (160-220)	390	
BPP										
<1 year	4100 (3000-5000)	1600 (1100-2200)	2500	2100 (1600-2700)	300 (150-550)	1800	2100 (1600-2700)	1300 (900-1800)	800	
1-4 years	4500 (3500-5900)	1400 (1100-2100)	3400	2800 (2200-3700)	700 (500-1000)	2100	1700 (1300-2300)	800 (600-1200)	900	
<5 years	8600 (6700-11200)	3000 (2000-4000)	5600	4900 (3800-6500)	1000 (700- 1500)	3900	3800 (2800-4800)	2000 (1500-3000)	1800	
NBP										
<1 year	86800 (66000- 112000)	33200 (23400- 45600)	53600	43600 (33000-56100)	6600 (3100- 11500)	37000	43200 (32400-56500)	26600 (18300- 37200)	16600	
1-4 years	94700 (74000-97000)	29700 (23800- 44900)	65000	59100 (45400-77300)	13900 (10100- 22700)	45200	35600 (26800-48000)	15800 (12000- 25000)	19800	
<5 years	181500 (140000- 236000)	62800 (47000- 89000)	118700	102700 (79389- 134106)	20400 (13800- 30500)	82300	78800 (59600-101500)	42400 (32000- 62000)	36400	
NPNM	,	,		,	,			,		
<1 year	2800 (2100-3600)	600 (400-800)	2200	1400 (1100-1800)	100 (50-200)	1300	1400 (1100-1800)	500 (300-700)	900	
1-4 years	2200 (1500-2600)	600 (400-800)	1600	1400 (900-1700)	300 (200-400)	1100	800 (600-1000)	300 (200-400)	500	
<5 years	4900 (3600-6100)	1200 (800-1500)	3700	2700 (2000-3500)	400 (200-500)	2300	2100 (1600-2700)	800 (500-1000)	1300	
Total										
<1 year	94400 (71000-	35500 (24600-	58900	47400 (34400-60400)	7000 (3500-	40400	46900 (34700-61300)	28500 (19000-	18400	
	120000)	48300)			12000)			39000)		
1-4 years	101800 (77000-	31800 (24100-	70000	63500 (48100-81800)	14800 (11000-	48700	38300 (28100-50700)	16900 (12400-	21400	
	130000)	47400)			23400)			26800)		
<5 years	196100 (148000- 251000)	67300 (49000- 95000)	128800	111000 (84000- 145000)	21900 (14800- 32400)	89100	85200 (63500-108000)	45400 (33000- 66000)	39800	

#### Table 2: Number of pneumococcal cases, by syndrome, in South Africa, by age and HIV status, 2005-2008 and 2013

CI = confidence interval; BPP = Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NBP = Non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NPNM = Non-pneumonia non-meningitis \*Reduction in cases = difference in case numbers between 2005-2008 and 2013

		Total		Н	IV-infected (HI)		HIV-	uninfected (HU)		]	IRR^	
Syndrome	Incidence rate*	Incidence rate*	%	Incidence rate*	Incidence rate*	%	Incidence rate*	Incidence rate*	%	IRR^	IRR^	
and age	2005-2008	2013 (95% CI)	reducti	2005-2008	2013 (95% CI)	reduction	2005-2008	2013 (95% CI)	reducti	HI/HU	HI/HU	
group	(95% CI)		on	(95% CI)			(95% CI)		on	2005-8	2013	
	, , ,			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,						(95%CI)	(95%CI)	
Meningitis							I					
<1 year	68 (66-71)	19 (17-22)	72	868 (786-947)	285 (152-446)	67	35 (33-39)	16 (13-19)	56	25	18	
1-4 years	9 (8-10)	1 (0.8-1.4)	88	102 (94-112)	15 (10-20)	85	3.5 (3-4)	0.6 (0.4-0.8)	84	26	15	
<5 years	21 (20-22)	5 (4-6)	77	221 (203-233)	40 (30-50)	82	10 (9-11)	4 (3-5)	63	22	10	
BPP												
<1 year	395 (300-509)	146 (102-200)	63	5043 (3785-	2165 (1046-	57	205 (154-266)	118 (82-165)	42	25	18	
				6491)	3827)							
1-4 years	110 (86-142)	34 (27-51)	69	1242 (960-	469 (345-745)	62	44 (33-58)	19 (14-30)	58	28	25	
				1620)								
<5 years	167 (129-218)	57 (42-80)	66	1837 (1410-	625 (439-940)	66	77 (58-97)	39 (29-57)	49	24	16	
				2412)								
NBP												
<1 year	8298 (6316-	3056 (2153-	63	105906 (80010-	45471 (21554-	57	4296 (3234-	2485 (1707-	42	25	18	
	10699)	4200)		136268)	79645)		5629)	3470)				
1-4 years	2301 (1803-	705 (566-1066)	69	26085 (20062-	9855 (7198-	62	916 (689-1234)	389 (294-615)	58	28	25	
	2993)			34146)	16106)							
<5 years	3515 (2710-	1187 (887-	66	38367 (29655-	13161 (8910-	66	1609 (1218-	826 (623-1208)	49	24	16	
	4573)	1681)		50094)	19687)		2074)					
NPNM												
<1 year	263 (204-342)	53 (34-77)	80	3354 (2549-	784 (368-1418)	77	136 (105-177)	43 (26-63)	69	25	18	
				4391)								
1-4 years	53 (36-64)	15 (9-20)	72	598 (405-733)	205 (117-288)	66	21 (14-27)	8 (5-11)	62	28	26	
<5 years	95 (70-119)	22 (15-29)	76	1028 (756-	258 (160-353)	75	45 (32-56)	15 (10-21)	66	23	17	
				1291)								

Table 3: Pneumococcal incidence rates in South Africa, by syndrome, age and HIV status, 2005-2008 and 2013

9024 (6743-	3273 (2264-	64	115171(83626-	48705 (24398-	58	4671 (3450-	2662 (1767-	43	25	18
11483)	4453)		146513)	80060)		6101)	3680)			
2472 (1873-	755 (572-1128)	69	28027 (21214-	10544 (7785-	62	984 (721-1302)	416 (304-659)	58	28	25
3185)			36095)	16641)						
3799 (2870-	1271 (926-	67	41436 (31406-	14086 (9565-	66	1741 (1297-	884 (645-1285)	49	24	16
4853)	1795)		54037)	20904)		2200)				
	9024 (6743- 11483) 2472 (1873- 3185) 3799 (2870- 4853)	9024 (6743-       3273 (2264-         11483)       4453)         2472 (1873-       755 (572-1128)         3185)       3799 (2870-         1271 (926-         4853)       1795)	9024 (6743-       3273 (2264-       64         11483)       4453)       69         2472 (1873-       755 (572-1128)       69         3185)       3799 (2870-       1271 (926-       67         4853)       1795)       1275       1195	9024 (6743-       3273 (2264-       64       115171(83626-         11483)       4453)       146513)         2472 (1873-       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214-         3185)       36095)         3799 (2870-       1271 (926-       67       41436 (31406-         4853)       1795)       54037)	9024 (6743- 11483)       3273 (2264- 4453)       64       115171(83626- 146513)       48705 (24398- 80060)         2472 (1873- 3185)       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214- 36095)       10544 (7785- 16641)         3799 (2870- 4853)       1271 (926- 1795)       67       41436 (31406- 54037)       14086 (9565- 20904)	9024 (6743- 11483)       3273 (2264- 4453)       64       115171(83626- 146513)       48705 (24398- 80060)       58         2472 (1873- 3185)       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214- 36095)       10544 (7785- 16641)       62         3799 (2870- 4853)       1271 (926- 1795)       67       41436 (31406- 54037)       14086 (9565- 20904)       66	9024 (6743- 11483)       3273 (2264- 4453)       64       115171(83626- 146513)       48705 (24398- 80060)       58       4671 (3450- 6101)         2472 (1873- 3185)       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214- 36095)       10544 (7785- 16641)       62       984 (721-1302)         3799 (2870- 4853)       1271 (926- 1795)       67       41436 (31406- 54037)       14086 (9565- 20904)       66       1741 (1297- 2200)	9024 (6743- 11483)       3273 (2264- 4453)       64       115171(83626- 146513)       48705 (24398- 80060)       58       4671 (3450- 6101)       2662 (1767- 3680)         2472 (1873- 3185)       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214- 36095)       10544 (7785- 16641)       62       984 (721-1302)       416 (304-659)         3185)       36095)       16641)       14086 (9565- 4853)       66       1741 (1297- 2200)       884 (645-1285)	9024 (6743- 11483)       3273 (2264- 4453)       64       115171(83626- 146513)       48705 (24398- 80060)       58       4671 (3450- 6101)       2662 (1767- 3680)       43         2472 (1873- 3185)       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214- 36095)       10544 (7785- 16641)       62       984 (721-1302)       416 (304-659)       58         3185)       36095)       16641)       14086 (9565- 4853)       66       1741 (1297- 2200)       884 (645-1285)       49	9024 (6743- 11483)       3273 (2264- 4453)       64       115171(83626- 146513)       48705 (24398- 80060)       58       4671 (3450- 6101)       2662 (1767- 3680)       43       25         2472 (1873- 3185)       755 (572-1128)       69       28027 (21214- 36095)       10544 (7785- 16641)       62       984 (721-1302)       416 (304-659)       58       28         3185)       36095)       16641)       36995       16641)       24       24       24       25       28       24       25       28       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24       24

\*Per 100,000 population; ^IRR = incidence rate ratio; IPD = invasive pneumococcal disease; BPP = Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NBP = Non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NPNM = Non-pneumonia non-meningitis

		Total		HIV-infected HIV-uninfected					
Syndrome	Mean number of	Number of	Reduction	Mean number of	Number of	Reduction	Mean number of	Number of	Reduction
and age	deaths 2005-2008	deaths 2013	in deaths	deaths 2005-2008	deaths 2013	in deaths	deaths 2005-2008	deaths 2013	in deaths
group	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(2005/8-	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(2005/8-	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(2005/8-
			2013)			2013)			2013)
Meningitis									
<1 year	300 (200-400)	60 (20-110)	240	140 (90-180)	10 (3-30)	130	150 (90-200)	50 (20-90)	100
1-4 years	90 (50-130)	20 (10-40)	70	60 (10-110)	10 (4-20)	50	40 (10-60)	10 (5-20)	30
<5 years	370 (300-400)	90 (50-140)	280	200 (100-300)	20 (10-40)	180	160 (100-200)	70 (40-100)	90
BPP									
<1 year	900 (300-1600)	400 (100-900)	500	500 (100-800)	90 (20-220)	410	500 (200-800)	300 (100-700)	200
1-4 years	500 (150-900)	200 (0-700)	300	300 (0-800)	80 (0-300)	220	200 (0-500)	100 (0-400)	100
<5 years	1400 (900-2000)	600 (100-1300)	800	800 (300-1400)	200 (40-400)	600	600 (200-1000)	400 (90-900)	200
NBP									
<1 year	3900 (1200-6800)	1800 (400-3700)	2100	2000 (600-3500)	400 (80-840)	1600	1900 (600-3400)	1500 (300-3000)	400
1-4 years	2000 (0-5000)	700 (0-2900)	1300	1000 (0-3200)	400 (0-1400)	600	700 (0-2000)	400 (0-1600)	300
<5 years	5800 (2200-10000)	2600 (500-5300)	3200	3000 (1300-6000)	700 (200-1700)	2300	2700 (1000-4500)	1900 (400-3600)	800
NPNM									
<1 year	700 (100-1500)	200 (50-500)	500	300 (70-700)	40 (10-100)	260	300 (60-700)	200 (50-400)	100
1-4 years	300 (0-900)	50 (0-400)	250	200 (0-600)	20 (0-200)	180	100 (0-400)	30 (0-200)	70
<5 years	1000 (200-2000)	300 (0-600)	700	600 (100-1000)	70 (0-200)	530	500 (100-800)	200 (0-400)	300
Total									
<1 year	5800 (2500-9100)	2600 (800-4900)	3200	2900 (1200-4600)	500 (100-1000)	2400	2900 (1200-4700)	2100 (700-3900)	800
1-4 years	2800 (500-6200)	1000 (10-4000)	1800	1700 (70-4300)	500 (10-1800)	1200	1100 (40-2600)	500 (10-2200)	600
<5 years	8600 (4500-13500)	3600 (1000-6800)	5000	4600 (2200-8200)	1000 (300-	3600	3900 (1700-6300)	2600 (700-4700)	1300
					2300)				

Table 4: Number of pneumococcal deaths in South Africa, by syndrome, age and HIV status, 2005-2008 and 2013

CI = confidence interval; BPP = Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NBP = Non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NPNM = Non-pneumonia non-meningitis

	Total			HIV-infected (HI)			HIV-uninfected (HU)			Incidence rate ratio	
Syndrome	MR* 2005-	MR* 2013	%	MR* 2005-2008	MR* 2013	%	MR* 2005-	MR* 2013	%	IRR HI/HU	IRR
age group	2008	(95% CI)	reductio	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	reduc	2008	(95% CI)	reducti	2005-2008	HI/HU
	(95% CI)		n			tion	(95% CI)		on	(95% CI)	2013
											(95% CI)
Meningiti				·							
S											
<1 year	26 (21-31)	6 (2-10)	78	334 (213-446)	87 (22-181)	74	14 (9-19)	5 (2-8)	65	24	17
1-4 years	2 (1-3)	0.6(0.2-1)	75	26 (6-47)	8 (3-14)	69	1 (0.2-2)	0.3 (0.1-0.5)	65	26	8
<5 years	7 (6-8)	2 (1-3)	76	73 (50-101)	15 (7-25)	79	3 (2-4)	1 (0.7-2)	63	18	15
BPP											
<1 year	88 (28-155)	40 (9-80)	54	1128 (351-1992)	601 (126-1495)	47	46 (15-83)	33 (7-66)	28	25	18
1-4 years	11 (4-21)	4 (0-16)	62	125 (0-333)	59 (0-233)	53	4 (0-12)	2 (0-9)	47	31	30
<5 years	27 (17-40)	11 (2-24)	58	279 (114-538)	109 (27-266)	61	13 (5-22)	8 (2-17)	35	21	14
NBP											
<1 year	371 (118-653)	170 (38-337)	54	4736 (1497-8444)	2526 (1707-3470)	47	192 (62-342)	138 (30-286)	28	25	18
1-4 years	46 (0-125)	18 (0-68)	62	524 (0-1421)	246 (0-985)	53	18 (0-51)	10 (0-38)	47	29	25
<5 years	112 (42-203)	49 (10-100)	56	1172 (469-2238)	458 (115-1099)	61	54 (19-92)	36 (7-71)	33	22	13
NPNM											
<1 year	65 (13-139)	21 (5-42)	68	828 (165-1748)	89 (19-225)	89	34 (6-74)	17 (4-34)	50	24	18
1-4 years	8 (0-23)	1 (0-8)	85	94 (0-255)	17 (0-120)	82	3 (0-9)	1 (0-5)	80	31	17
<5 years	20 (4-37)	5 (0-12)	74	207 (46-399)	44 (0-139)	79	10 (2-17)	4 (0-8)	58	21	11
Total											
<1 year	550 (235-871)	237 (77-454)	57	7025 (2976-11066)	1545(479-3125)	50	285 (124-464)	192 (63-363)	32	25	18
1-4 years	68 (13-150)	24 (0.3-94)	65	769 (30-1899)	330 (4-1306)	57	27 (1-67)	13 (0.2-53)	52	28	25
<5 years	166 (87-261)	67 (19-129)	59	1731 (813-3074)	626 (200-1466)	64	80 (34-128)	50 (13-91)	37	22	13

Table 5: Pneumococcal mortality rate in South Africa, by syndrome, age and HIV status, 2005-2008 and 2013

\*Mortality rate (MR) per 100,000; IRR = incidence rate ratio; IPD = invasive pneumococcal disease; BPP = Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NBP = Non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; NPNM = Non-pneumonia non-meningitis

#### Figure 1: Flow diagram of the steps used to estimate the burden of invasive and noninvasive pneumococcal cases in children <5 years of age in South Africa in 2005-2008 and 2013



<sup>#</sup>For all syndromes total case numbers as well as numbers stratified by HIV status were determined ^Additional adjustment (1.89) for difference in VE estimated with use of urinary antigen

#### **References**

1. Wahl B, O'Brien KL, Greenbaum A, Liu L, Chu Y, Black R, et al., editors. Global burden of *Streptococcus Pneumoniae* in children younger than 5 years in the era of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (PCV): 2000-2015. 10th International Symposium on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD-10); 2016; Glasgow, Scotland

Hib and pneumococcal deaths among children 1-59 months of age, 2008 [cited 11 May 2016]. Available from:

http://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring\_surveillance/burden/estimates/Pneumo\_hib/en/

 Cohen C, Moyes J, Tempia S, Groome M, Walaza S, Pretorius M, et al. Epidemiology of Acute Lower Respiratory Tract Infection in HIV-Exposed Uninfected Infants. Pediatrics. 2016;137(4).

 von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Tempia S, Quan V, Meiring S, von Mollendorf C, et al. Effects of vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(20):1889-99.

5. O'Brien KL, Wolfson LJ, Watt JP, Henkle E, Deloria-Knoll M, McCall N, et al. Burden of disease caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. Lancet. 2009;374(9693):893-902.

6. Greenwood B. The epidemiology of pneumococcal infection in children in the developing world. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1999;354(1384):777-85.

7. O'Dempsey TJ, McArdle TF, Lloyd-Evans N, Baldeh I, Lawrence BE, Secka O, et al. Pneumococcal disease among children in a rural area of west Africa. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1996;15(5):431-7.

8. Feikin DR, Jagero G, Aura B, Bigogo GM, Oundo J, Beall BW, et al. High rate of pneumococcal bacteremia in a prospective cohort of older children and adults in an area of high HIV prevalence in rural western Kenya. BMCInfect Dis. 2010;10:186.

9. von Gottberg A, Cohen C, de Gouveia L, Meiring S, Quan V, Whitelaw A, et al. Epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in the pre-conjugate vaccine era: South Africa, 2003-2008. Vaccine. 2013;31(38):4200-8.

10. Black RE, Cousens S, Johnson HL, Lawn JE, Rudan I, Bassani DG, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality in 2008: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9730):1969-87.

11. Statistics South Africa. Mid-year population estimates 2005-2013.

12. Madhi SA, Kuwanda L, Cutland C, Klugman KP. The impact of a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on the public health burden of pneumonia in HIV-infected and -uninfected children. ClinInfect Dis. 2005;40(10):1511-8.

Bonten MJ, Huijts SM, Bolkenbaas M, Webber C, Patterson S, Gault S, et al.
 Polysaccharide conjugate vaccine against pneumococcal pneumonia in adults. N Engl J Med.
 2015;372(12):1114-25.

14. Ayieko P, Griffiths UK, Ndiritu M, Moisi J, Mugoya IK, Kamau T, et al. Assessment of health benefits and cost-effectiveness of 10-valent and 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccination in Kenyan children. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e67324.

15. Berkley JA, Lowe BS, Mwangi I, Williams T, Bauni E, Mwarumba S, et al. Bacteremia among children admitted to a rural hospital in Kenya. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(1):39-47.

16. Enwere G, Cheung YB, Zaman SM, Akano A, Oluwalana C, Brown O, et al. Epidemiology and clinical features of pneumonia according to radiographic findings in Gambian children. Trop Med Int Health. 2007;12(11):1377-85.

17. Forgie IM, O'Neill KP, Lloyd-Evans N, Leinonen M, Campbell H, Whittle HC, et al. Etiology of acute lower respiratory tract infections in Gambian children: I. Acute lower respiratory tract infections in infants presenting at the hospital. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1991;10(1):33-41.

18. Statistics South Africa. Use of health facilities and levels of selected health conditions in South Africa: Findings from the General Household Survey, 2011. Report No. 03–00–05.

19. Huebner RE, Klugman KP, Matai U, Eggers R, Hussey G. Laboratory surveillance for Haemophilus influenzae type B meningococcal, and pneumococcal disease. Haemophilus Surveillance Working Group. SAfr MedJ. 1999;89(9):924-5.

20. Meiring S, Cohen C, Quan V, de Gouveia L, Feldman C, Karstaedt A, et al. HIV Infection and the Epidemiology of Invasive Pneumococcal Disease (IPD) in South African Adults and Older Children Prior to the Introduction of a Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine (PCV). PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0149104.

21. Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Huebner RE, Kohberger R, Mbelle N, Pierce N. A trial of a 9valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children with and those without HIV infection. NEnglJ Med. 2003;349(14):1341-8.

22. Johnson L. THEMBISA version 1.0: A model for evaluating the impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa, 2014.

23. Moore MR, Link-Gelles R, Schaffner W, Lynfield R, Lexau C, Bennett NM, et al. Effect of use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children on invasive pneumococcal

disease in children and adults in the USA: analysis of multisite, population-based surveillance. Lancet Infect Dis. 2015;15(3):301-9.

Mackenzie GA, Hill PC, Jeffries DJ, Hossain I, Uchendu U, Ameh D, et al. Effect of the introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in The Gambia: a population-based surveillance study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(6):703-11.
 Collins S, Sheppard C, Litt D, Fry NK, Andrews N, Miller E, et al., editors. Trends in invasive pneumococcal disease over time: England and Wales 2000/01 to 2014/15. 10th

International Symposium on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD-10); 2016; Glasgow, Scotland

26. Statistics South Africa. Mortality and cause of death in South Africa 2005 through 2013. Pretoria: Statistics South Africa, 2013.

27. Izadnegahdar R, Cohen AL, Klugman KP, Qazi SA. Childhood pneumonia in developing countries. Lancet Respir Med. 2013;1(7):574-84.

28. Walker CL, Rudan I, Liu L, Nair H, Theodoratou E, Bhutta ZA, et al. Global burden of childhood pneumonia and diarrhoea. Lancet. 2013;381(9875):1405-16.

29. Constenla D. Evaluating the costs of pneumococcal disease in selected Latin American countries. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2007;22(4):268-78.

 Bahia L, Toscano CM, Takemoto ML, Araujo DV. Systematic review of pneumococcal disease costs and productivity loss studies in Latin America and the Caribbean. Vaccine. 2013;31 Suppl 3:C33-44.

Huang SS, Johnson KM, Ray GT, Wroe P, Lieu TA, Moore MR, et al. Healthcare utilization and cost of pneumococcal disease in the United States. Vaccine.
 2011;29(18):3398-412.

#### **Supplementary material**

# <u>Severe pneumococcal disease cases and deaths prevented by pneumococcal conjugate</u> <u>vaccine introduction in children <5 years of age in South Africa</u>

Claire von Mollendorf, Stefano Tempia, Anne von Gottberg, Susan Meiring, Vanessa Quan, Charles Feldman, Jeane Cloete, Shabir A. Madhi, Katherine L. O'Brien, Keith P. Klugman, Cynthia G. Whitney, Cheryl Cohen

#### Methods (see Figure 1a and 1b)

#### Model overview

*Estimated pneumococcal cases, deaths and incidence rates by clinical syndrome in the prepneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) period (2005-2008) and post-PCV period (2013)* 

A number of steps were followed to estimate pneumococcal case numbers, numbers of deaths and incidence rates in both the pre- and post-PCV periods:

#### STEP 1 (Figure 1a)

- All GERMS-SA hospitalised IPD cases from both enhanced and non-enhanced sites from 2005 to 2008 and for 2013, were included in the baseline numbers on which the model was based because specimen type was available for all cases. An average of the case numbers for the pre-vaccine period (2005-2008) was calculated. Based on specimen type (i.e. CSF or non-CSF), IPD cases were defined as meningitis cases or non-meningitis cases. Cases numbers were determined by province and age group (<1 and 1-4 years) for each of the time periods (2005-2008 and 2013).
- 2) Pneumococcal meningitis cases were defined as all IPD cases with *S. pneumoniae* isolated from CSF (enhanced and non-enhanced sites) or IPD cases where the organism was isolated from blood and the clinical diagnosis was meningitis (enhanced sites). The proportion of meningitis cases diagnosed clinically, with only a positive blood culture, was determined from enhanced site cases and extrapolated to non-enhanced site cases (as for other syndromes). This extrapolation was done by province and age for each of the time periods (2005-2008 and 2013). The calculated non-enhanced site cases were combined with the diagnosed meningitis cases by province and age group (<1 year and 1-4 years).</p>
- 3) Non-meningitis pneumococcal cases were defined as all the remaining IPD cases that were not meningitis cases. Among the remaining IPD cases we applied the proportions of bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia and non-pneumonia non-meningitis IPD cases

observed at enhanced sites in each year and by province and age group (<1 and 1-4 years) to the non-meningitis IPD cases at non-enhanced sites to calculate case numbers by syndrome. Case counts, by syndrome, from non-enhanced sites were combined with those from enhanced sites for each of the categories.

#### STEP 2: Figure 1b

- 4) Pneumococcal meningitis cases were adjusted for specimen-taking practices by province (see 5b) as certain provinces had better access to care and more cerebrospinal fluid specimens were taken in certain provinces compared with others, assuming that IPD incidence was similar across all provinces. We totalled meningitis cases and stratified by HIV (see 9) to calculate numbers of HIV-infected and –uninfected meningitis pneumococcal cases.
- 5) For bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia we adjusted for incomplete blood culturing in the Gauteng Province (see 5a) and for specimen-taking practices by province (see 5b) as certain provinces had better access to care and some provinces took more blood culture specimens for patients presenting with pneumonia. We totalled bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases and stratified by HIV (see 9) to calculate numbers of HIV-infected and uninfected bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases.
  - a. We assumed that Gauteng Province had the highest rate of specimen-taking for pneumonia but knew that not all children with pneumonia would have had a blood culture taken as part of routine practice. In contrast in a clinical trial setting all children presenting with pneumonia had a blood culture taken. To account for incomplete blood culture collection among children hospitalised with pneumonia, we adjusted the measured rate of bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia in 2005-2008 by a ratio (23:1) comparing the bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia hospitalisation incidence from a PCV clinical trial (control arm) in Soweto [1,2] to the measured bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia in 2005-2008). The same ratio was used to adjust 2013 measured case numbers.
  - b. Specimen-taking practices varied across facilities and provinces. To account for differences in specimen-taking practices and the underdiagnosis of IPD, we adjusted GERMS case numbers for meningitis, bacteraemic pneumonia and non-pneumonia non-meningitis using a specimen ratio where the Gauteng province incidence was estimated to be the baseline (= 1,0) and have the most complete specimen taking after been adjusted (as in 5a), compared with the incidence rates in other provinces by year.

Data on total numbers of blood and cerebrospinal fluid specimens taken on an annual basis and submitted to public-sector laboratories was obtained from the National Health Laboratory Service Corporate Data Warehouse. These data were broken down by province, age group and year. We assumed that this adjustment would account for children who did not reach a hospital for care as this also differed between provinces.

- 6) To calculate the number of hospitalised non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases we used published data on the PCV9 attributable reduction (VAR) ratio (11:1) of clinical pneumonia to all bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia [2]. We used the clinical pneumonia outcome because it was found to be the most sensitive measure of pneumococcal pneumonia burden in the clinical trial (i.e. had the highest VAR). Based on a clinical trial in adults [3] which incorporated urine antigen testing for non-bacteraemic pneumonia, a higher vaccine efficacy was demonstrated against pneumonia. The ratio (1.89) of the original and inflated vaccine efficacy was used to adjust our non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases. The total non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases were stratified by HIV (see 9) to calculate numbers of HIV-infected and –uninfected non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia cases.
- 7) For non-pneumonia non-meningitis IPD case numbers we adjusted the observed cases from GERMS for specimen-taking practices by province (see 5b) as certain provinces had better access to care and some provinces took proportionally more blood culture specimens. We totalled the adjusted non-pneumonia non-meningitis IPD cases and stratified by HIV (see 9) to calculate numbers of HIV-infected and –uninfected nonpneumonia non-meningitis IPD cases.
- 8) To calculate the relative risk (RR) of IPD in HIV-infected versus HIV-uninfected cases we used the following formula:
- RR = ((Number of enhanced site (ES) cases\*HIV prevalence)/HIV-infected population denominator) ((Number of ES cases – (Number of ES cases\*HIV prevalence))/HIV-uninfected population denominator)
- 9) We stratified by HIV for all pneumococcal syndromes by estimating the number of HIVinfected cases in each group using the following formula:

$$IPD HIV-infected cases = \frac{1}{(\underline{PopHIV-} +1) * 1/IPDT otal}$$

$$(RR* PopHIV+)$$

The number of HIV-uninfected cases was assumed to be the difference between the total number of cases and the HIV-infected cases (IPD HIV-uninfected cases = IPD Total cases – IPD HIV-infected cases).

- 10) We calculated the adjusted number of pneumococcal deaths for each syndrome by age group by multiplying adjusted case number estimates (as calculated above) by case fatality ratios (CFRs) observed at the GERMS-SA enhanced sites for bacteraemic cases (meningitis, bacteraemic pneumonia and non-pneumonia non-meningitis). For non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia we used CFRs from a study in Kenya [4] that observed case fatality rates among children under 5 years of age admitted to hospital for any reason with and without bacteraemia (all children had blood cultures obtained regardless of their admission diagnosis). The observed CFR for non-bacteraemic admissions was (5.7%) which was 5-fold lower than that observed for bacteraemic admissions (28.2%).
- 11) For all syndromes we calculated incidence and mortality rates using the adjusted case and death estimates from the model in combination with the and mid-year population estimates obtained from Statistics South Africa as denominators for different age groups (http://www.statssa.gov.za/). The Thembisa model which accounted for PMTCT and HIV treatment impact, was used for HIV specific denominators [5]. We calculated incidence rate ratios for all syndromes comparing incidence or mortality rates in HIV-infected to HIV-uninfected children (Supplementary table 1).

Supplementary table 1: Population denominators from Thembisa model for children <5 years of age in South Africa [5]

	2005	2006	2007	2008	2005_2008	2013
<1 year						
Pop Total	993446	1071503	1085777	1133330	1071014	1129271
Pop HIV+	44033	44702	41169	38857	42190	14982
Pop HIV-	949413	1026801	1044608	1094473	1028824	1114289
1-4 years						
Pop Total	3674623	3683421	3805687	3981501	3786308	4494190
Pop HIV+	212561	209114	207500	204103	208320	150315
Pop HIV-	3462062	3474307	3598187	3777398	3577989	4343875
<5 year						
Pop Total	4668070	4754925	4891464	5114831	4857322	5623461
Pop HIV+	256595	253817	248669	242960	250510	165297
Pop HIV-	4411475	4501108	4642795	4871871	4606812	5458164
# Sensitivity analysis

A one-way sensitivity analysis was performed by changing one variable at a time to see the effect on the total number of cases and deaths (Tornado diagrams, supplementary figure 2a and figure 2b).

Parameters that we varied in the sensitivity analysis of cases and deaths included HIV prevalence, proportion of under 5 year old deaths that occur in the community, adjustment for the likelihood of obtaining a blood culture among hospitalised children with suspected pneumococcal disease and the ratio of bacteraemic to non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumococcal pneumococcal deaths we also assessed the effect of changes in CFRs (see Table 1b for parameters).

- For HIV prevalence we used values from the Thembisa model which reflects HIV prevalence in the community instead of the prevalence in hospitalised IPD cases used in our main analysis.
- 2) For the proportion of all deaths that occur in the community (which we did not include in our main analysis) we used vital statistics data from Statistics South Africa which enumerates deaths in the community and in hospitals by syndrome. The limitation is that cases that die in and out of hospital may not be directly comparable with each other in terms of severity and causation.
- 3) For incomplete blood culturing practices among children hospitalised with IPD, we adjusted the measured rate of bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia by a ratio of 8:1 which compared the IPD hospitalisation incidence from the PCV clinical trial (control arm) in Soweto [2] to the measured IPD incidence in the same province.
- 4) For the ratio of bacteraemic to non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia we used the same published data on the vaccine attributable reduction (VAR) ratio (11:1) of clinical pneumonia to bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia as in our main analysis [2] but without the additional factor (1.89) accounting for the change in vaccine efficacy [3] which was included in our main analysis.
- 5) A second VAR calculation using the ratio of CXR-confirmed pneumonia to bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (4:1) [2] and including the additional factor (1.89) accounting for the change in vaccine efficacy [3] which was included in our main analysis (7.6:1) was conducted.
- 6) For the alternative calculation of non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia we calculated the number of HIV-infected and –uninfected cases separately and summed the numbers to calculate the total. The sensitivity of blood culture for diagnosing pneumococcal

pneumonia was assumed to be 3-5% in HIV-uninfected children and 18% in HIV-infected children.

- 7) For the CFR we used published rates for bacteraemic and non-bacteraemic disease [4] instead of the rates calculated from our surveillance programme (which were assumed to be underestimates). We used the published bacteraemic CFRs for meningitis, for bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia and non-pneumonia non-meningitis invasive disease, and the non-bacteraemic CFRs for non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia. The limitations with using these published rates were that they were from Kenya, the bacteraemic group included all causes of bacteraemia and all syndromes, the non-bacteraemic group included children with all medical conditions who did not have a positive blood culture and the age groups reported in this paper were different those used in our model.
- 8) Lastly for the CFR ratio of bacteraemic to non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia we used the death risk ratio reported by a trial from The Gambia [6]. This ratio (4:1) was considered an underestimate as it compared the CFR for end-point pneumonia (3.0%) which included the highest proportion of bacteraemic pneumonia to the CFR for 'other infiltrates /abnormalities' pneumonia (0.8%) which had the lowest proportion of positive blood cultures. The CFR for bacteraemic pneumonia was also lower than that reported in another study from The Gambia (6.6%), but the control group did not have pneumonia and no control children died [7].

# Results

# Sensitivity analysis

Supplementary table 2a: Sensitivity analysis for case numbers showing key variables altered in analysis, 2005-2008 and 2013

Key variables altered in analysis	Number of cases			
	2005-2008	2013		
0) Base numbers	196,100	67,300		
1) Community HIV prevalence	43,100	3200		
2) Community deaths	196,900	68,900		
3) Altered blood culturing estimates	98,100	34,400		
4) NBP/BPP VAR ratio of 11:1	109,700	37,300		
5) NBP/BPP VAR ratio of 7.6:1	80,300	27,200		

6) Altered NBP calculations with separate HIV	214 300	77 800
estimates	214,500	11,000

NBP = non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; BPP = bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia

# Supplementary table 2b: Sensitivity analysis for numbers of deaths showing key variables altered in analysis, 2005-2008 and 2013

Key variables altered in analysis	Number of deaths			
	2005-2008	2013		
0) Base numbers	8600	3600		
1) Community HIV prevalence	5300	700		
2) Community deaths	8600	3700		
3) Altered blood culturing estimates	4400	1800		
4) NBP/BPP VAR ratio of 11:1	5800	2300		
5) NBP/BPP VAR ratio of 7.6:1	4900	1900		
6) Altered NBP calculations with separate HIV estimates	8700	3900		
<ol> <li>Separate case fatality ratios for bacteraemic and non-bacteraemic syndromes</li> </ol>	15,000	5000		
8) Adjusted case fatality ratio for BPP to NBP (4:1 ratio)	10,000	4200		

NBP = non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia; BPP = bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia

The highest mortality rate (when new CFRs were included) in children <5 years estimated a death rate of 1492 per 100,000 py in 2005-2008 and 468 per 100,000 py in 2013.



Figure 1a: Initial step in estimating the burden of invasive and non-invasive pneumococcal cases in children aged <5 years in South Africa, 2005-

\*Includes cases positive for pneumococcus from CSF at ES and NES, and among ES sites, cases with pneumococcus from blood culture along with a clinical meningitis diagnosis

Figure 1b: Second step in estimating the burden of invasive and non-invasive pneumococcal cases in children <5 years in South Africa, , 2005-2008 and 2013

**STEP 2** 



Figure 2a: Tornado sensitivity diagram representing change in pneumococcal case estimates in children <5 years of age in the pre-vaccine era, when values of key variables are modified.



Figure 2b: Tornado sensitivity diagram representing change in pneumococcal death estimates in children <5 years of age in the pre-vaccine era, when values of key variables are modified.



# **References**

1. Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Huebner RE, Kohberger R, Mbelle N, et al. (2003) A trial of a 9valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children with and those without HIV infection. N Engl J Med 349: 1341-1348.

2. Madhi SA, Kuwanda L, Cutland C, Klugman KP (2005) The impact of a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on the public health burden of pneumonia in HIV-infected and -uninfected children. Clin Infect Dis 40: 1511-1518.

Bonten MJ, Huijts SM, Bolkenbaas M, Webber C, Patterson S, et al. (2015)
 Polysaccharide conjugate vaccine against pneumococcal pneumonia in adults. N Engl J Med
 372: 1114-1125.

4. Berkley JA, Lowe BS, Mwangi I, Williams T, Bauni E, et al. (2005) Bacteremia among children admitted to a rural hospital in Kenya. N Engl J Med 352: 39-47.

5. Johnson L (2014) THEMBISA version 1.0: A model for evaluating the impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa.

6. Enwere G, Cheung YB, Zaman SM, Akano A, Oluwalana C, et al. (2007) Epidemiology and clinical features of pneumonia according to radiographic findings in Gambian children. Trop Med Int Health 12: 1377-1385.

7. Forgie IM, O'Neill KP, Lloyd-Evans N, Leinonen M, Campbell H, et al. (1991) Etiology of acute lower respiratory tract infections in Gambian children: I. Acute lower respiratory tract infections in infants presenting at the hospital. Pediatr Infect Dis J 10: 33-41.

# PAPER II

# Epidemiology of Serotype 1 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease, South Africa, 2003–2013

Claire von Mollendorf, Cheryl Cohen, Stefano Tempia, Susan Meiring, Linda de Gouveia, Vanessa Quan, Sarona Lengana, Alan Karstaedt, Halima Dawood, Sharona Seetharam, Ruth Lekalakala, Shabir A. Madhi, Keith P. Klugman, Anne von Gottberg, for the Group for Enteric, Respiratory, and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA)

In South Africa, 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) was introduced in April 2009 and replaced with 13-valent PCV in April 2011. We describe the epidemiology of serotype 1 Streptococcus pneumoniae disease during the pre- and post-PCV eras (2003-2013). Using laboratorybased invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) surveillance. we calculated annual incidences, identified IPD clusters, and determined serotype 1-associated factors. Of 46,483 IPD cases, 4,544 (10%) were caused by serotype 1. Two clusters of serotype 1 infection were detected during 2003-2004 and 2008–2012, but incidence decreased after 2011. Among children <5 years of age, those who had non-serotype 1 IPD had shorter hospital stays, fewer cases of penicillin-nonsusceptible disease, and lower HIV prevalence and in-hospital death rates than did those with serotype 1 IPD; similar factors were noted for older patients. Serotype 1 IPD had distinctive clinical features in South Africa, and annual incidences fluctuated, with decreases noted after the introduction of PCV13.

Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 is highly invasive and rarely carried asymptomatically (1). The incidence

Author affiliations: National Institute for Communicable Diseases, Johannesburg, South Africa (C. von Mollendorf, C. Cohen, S. Tempia, S. Meiring, L. de Gouveia, V. Quan, S. Lengana, S.A. Madhi, K.P. Klugman, A. von Gottberg); University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg (C. von Mollendorf, C. Cohen, A. Karstaedt, S. Seetharam, S.A. Madhi, A. von Gottberg); Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (S. Tempia), and Pretoria, South Africa (S. Tempia); Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital, Johannesburg (A. Karstaedt, S. Seetharam); Pietermaritzburg Metropolitan Hospital, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa (H. Dawood); University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg (H. Dawood); National Health Laboratory Service, Johannesburg (S. Seetharam), National Health Laboratory Service, Polokwane, South Africa (R. Lekalakala); University of Limpopo, Polokwane (R. Lekalakala); Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA (K.P. Klugman)

of serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) fluctuates year to year; disease is associated with outbreaks in closed communities and hospitals and, in Africa, with communitywide meningitis outbreaks (2). Compared with other *S. pneumonia*e serotypes, serotype 1 tends to cause fewer cases of fatal disease, and antibiotic-resistant cases are unusual (1).

IPD is common in children with underlying diseases, especially HIV. A study conducted among children <18 years of age in Israel before introduction of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7) showed that, compared with other common serotypes, serotype 1 caused more bacteremic pneumonia and peritonitis, occurred in older children and certain ethnic groups, and affected otherwise healthy children (3). After PCV7 introduction, infections caused by serotypes included in the vaccine declined, but other pneumococcal serotypes (e.g., serotype 1, which was later included in 13-valent vaccine [PCV13]) became relatively more common (4-6); serotype 1 ranked among the top 4 serotypes infecting children <5 years of age (7). Although PCV7 use may have contributed to the relative increase in serotype 1 infections, some studies showed no correlation between the vaccine and serotype 1 disease incidence (8). Lack of correlation is likely due to the epidemic-prone nature of serotype 1 disease and annual fluctuations in disease incidence (9). In addition, replacement disease is mainly due to common colonizing serotypes. An indirect cohort analysis using data from the United Kingdom Health Protection Agency (now Public Health England) surveillance program could not demonstrate significant protection against serotype 1 IPD by PCV13, although the point estimate suggested protection (vaccine effectiveness 62% [95% CI –112% to 92%]) (10). Two trials of a 9-valent vaccine showed waning protection against serotype 1 in the absence of a booster vaccine dose in the second year of life; vaccine failures clustered in children >18 months of age (11,12).

In South Africa, PCV7 was introduced into the national immunization schedule in April 2009 as a 3-dose

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3201/eid2202.150967

# RESEARCH

regimen for infants 6 weeks, 14 weeks, and 9 months of age; in April 2011, the vaccine was replaced with PCV13. Among children <1 year of age, reported coverage for the third dose of PCV improved from 10% in 2009 to 81% in 2012 but declined to 62% in 2013 (*13*). In 2012, after PCV13 introduction, serotype 1 IPD incidence showed a temporally associated decline in children <2 years of age (-57%, 95% CI -79% to -16%) and adults 25–44 years of age (-33%, 95% CI -46% to -17%) compared with incidence in 2005–2008 (*14*).

Information regarding *S. pneumonia*e serotype 1 epidemiology in Africa is limited. We compared serotype 1 disease epidemiology in South Africa with that of other serotypes over an 11-year period, before and after introduction of PCV7 and PCV13. We also explored whether temporal or spatial clusters of serotype 1 disease occurred during the study period.

# Methods

# Study Design and Setting

Persons of any age were included in the study if they were hospitalized in South Africa during 2003-2013 for laboratory-confirmed IPD and had an available S. pneumoniae serotype result for an isolate from a normally sterile site. Patients were identified through an active national, laboratory-based surveillance program for S. pneumoniae. Data were contributed by >200 hospital-based diagnostic laboratories that submitted pneumococcal isolates to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases, Johannesburg, South Africa. Most laboratories were nonenhanced sites where only isolates and accompanying laboratory report forms with patient age, sex, date and source of the specimen were submitted. However, 24 sites (primarily tertiary hospitals) implemented enhanced surveillance, in which dedicated surveillance officers collected additional clinical information on identified patients; at least 1 site was located in each South Africa province, giving national representation (14). Enhanced sites were chosen on the basis of convenience, interest from site investigators, and number of isolates submitted each year; thus, some differences existed between enhanced and nonenhanced sites (online Technical Appendix, http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/ EID/article/22/2/15-0967-Techapp1.pdf). Annual audits conducted by using a laboratory-based information system were used to identify unreported cases, which were included and used in incidence calculations.

Participants identified from enhanced and nonenhanced sites were included for determining incidence rates and cluster mapping. For the analyses of factors associated with serotype 1 pneumococcal disease and fatality, only participants from enhanced sites with detailed clinical information and known in-hospital outcomes were included. Approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical), University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg (M081117), and other hospital or provincial ethics committees, as required. Informed consent was obtained for all patients.

# Definitions

IPD cases were defined as disease in persons with *S. pneumoniae* detected in cultures of specimens from normally sterile sites or persons with culture-negative samples that were positive by latex agglutination and/or Gram stain microscopy or *lytA* PCR (*15*). Pneumococci were serotyped by the Quellung method (Statens Serum Institut, Copenhagen, Denmark).

Serotype 1 clusters were defined as an increase in serotype 1 IPD numbers relative to other serotype numbers in a specific geographic area and time. Cluster location was based on hospital district where cases were diagnosed; actual geographic location was considered to be the centroid of the district polygon. Other definitions are provided in the online Technical Appendix.

# **Incidence Estimations**

We calculated annual incidence of serotype 1 disease per 100,000 population during 2003-2013 by using data for participants in defined age groups. We divided the number of age-specific, culture-positive serotype 1 IPD cases reported each year by age-specific midyear population estimates. Incidences for non-serotype 1 disease were similarly calculated. Serotype data for cases without serotype results from culture (including cases with only PCR serotype results) were imputed by age and year to obtain final incidence rates. Missing data were assumed to be random among different serotypes. Midyear population denominators were obtained from Statistics South Africa (http://www.statssa.gov.za/). To show differences in serotype incidences between prevaccine and postvaccine years, we compared an average incidence from prevaccine years (2003-2008) to 1 postvaccine year (2013). As a baseline for comparison, we included the average for years without clusters (2005-2007). CIs were calculated by using Poisson distribution for incidence rates.

# Factors Associated with Serotype 1 IPD and Case-Fatality Rates

For the analyses of factors associated with serotype 1 IPD, we included only participants with culture- and PCR-positive results from enhanced sites during 2003–2013. Patients were stratified into 2 age groups (<5 and  $\geq$ 5 years), and disease-associated factors in those with serotype 1 IPD were compared with those in patients with non–serotype 1 IPD by using a multivariable logistic regression model. A

second model to assess in-hospital fatalities restricted the analysis to serotype 1 IPD cases.

For both models, we assessed all variables considered significant (p<0.2) on univariate analysis and removed non-significant factors ( $p\geq0.05$ ) by manual backward elimination. Patients with missing data for included variables were excluded. Statistical analysis was implemented by using Stata version 13.1 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

# Spatiotemporal Analysis for Detection of Serotype 1 IPD Clusters

We conducted a space-time scan analysis to detect serotype 1 clusters by aggregating IPD cases with available serotype results from January 2003–December 2013 by month and district. To minimize potential biases introduced by temporal and geographic differences in specimen-collecting practices, healthcare-seeking behavior, or surveillance system improvements over time, we compared cases (serotype 1 IPD cases) with controls (non– serotype 1 IPD cases) from the same geographic area and time period; a Bernoulli model (16,17) was used for the comparison.

To account for control number reductions after PCV7 introduction, we adjusted (increased) observed control numbers by the percent reduction from the prevaccine period (14). To obtain estimated monthly numbers of controls, assuming no PCV introduction, we linearly interpolated estimated annual proportional reductions from June to June of consecutive years from 2009 through 2013. Because the percentage of reduction in the control numbers may have differed by geographic area due to locality differences in PCV7 uptake over time, we obtained monthly adjustment factors for each province. This adjustment would decrease the likelihood of detecting a cluster if, in fact, a cluster did not occur (null hypothesis).

To identify spatial clusters, we used an elliptical area of search that was allowed to vary in size, shape, and direction. Significance was assessed at p<0.05 over 999 replications. Space-time analysis was conducted by using SaTScan version 9.3.1 (http://www.satscan.org/); maps were generated by using ArcGIS version 9.2 (http://www.esri.com/). To calculate relative risks for districts, we divided observed number of cases by expected number of cases in each district.

# Results

During 2003–2013, a total of 46,483 persons with IPD were enrolled in the study; 32,841 (71%) had viable isolates and known *S. pneumoniae* serotype, and 1,204 (3%) had serotype determination by PCR. Of the 46,483 persons, 20,564 (44%) were enrolled from enhanced sites; of these 6,211 (30%) were <5 years of age, 14,004 (68%) were  $\geq$ 5 years of age, and 349 (2%) had unknown age (Figure 1). Of the 4,985 patients who died, 68% (3,365) did so within 3 days of admission. Of the 12,013 patients who recovered, 14% (1,673) were hospitalized for  $\leq$ 3 days, 62% (7,427) for 4–14 days, and 24% (2,913) for >2 weeks. In the pre-PCV7 period (2003–2008), serotype 1 was the sixth most common *S. pneumoniae* serotype among children <5 years of age, but by 2013, it was eleventh. In contrast, among persons  $\geq$ 5 years of age, serotype 1 was the most common serotype across all years, although case numbers decreased after PCV13 introduction.





# RESEARCH

# **Comparison of Enhanced and Nonenhanced Sites**

Characteristics of enhanced and nonenhanced sites differed (online Technical Appendix Table 1). Compared with nonenhanced sites, enhanced sites had a higher proportion of cases among younger children, more cases from certain provinces, fewer cases in 2012–2013, more penicillinnonsusceptible cases, more blood culture results, and fewer serotype 1 IPD cases.

# Incidence of Serotype-Specific IPD in Different Age Groups

During the prevaccine era (2003–2008), serotype 1 incidence per 100,000 population was highest among persons <1 (1.8 cases), 5–9 (1.6 cases), and 25–44 (1.8 cases) years of age (Figure 2, panel A). Serotype 1 incidence did not differ significantly for 2003–2008 compared with 2005–2007, when there were no clusters. In 2013, serotype 1 incidence



**Figure 2.** Incidence of serotype 1 and non–serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) by age group, South Africa, 2003–2013. Years indicate prevaccine (2003–2008), baseline without clusters (2005–2007), and postvaccine (2013) periods. A) Serotype 1 IPD incidence by age group during prevaccine (no. cases = 622), baseline (no. cases = 549), and postvaccine (no. cases = 246) years. B) Non–serotype 1 IPD incidence by age group during prevaccine (no. cases = 4,239), and postvaccine years (no. cases = 2,618). Error bars indicate 95% CIs.

was highest among persons 5–9 (0.7 cases) and 25–44 (0.6 cases) years of age; reductions were significant (p<0.001) in all age groups except the >64-year-old age group (p = 0.07).

For all other serotypes during 2003–2008, the highest incidence rates per 100,000 population were among persons <1 (71.8 cases), 1–4 (13.9 cases), and 25–44 (10.1 cases) years of age (Figure 2, panel B). In 2013, the highest incidence rates were among persons <1 (27.3 cases) and >25 (>5.0 cases) years of age. Reductions in incidence among persons <5 and 25–44 years of age were significant (p<0.001).

The incidence of serotype 1 IPD fluctuated over the 11-year period (online Technical Appendix Figure 1). For the <5-year-old age group, incidence rates were significantly reduced in 2006 (p = 0.01), 2007 (p = 0.03), 2010 (p = 0.006), and 2012–2013 (p<0.001) compared with rates in 2005. In the  $\geq$ 5-year-old age group, incidence rates were significantly higher in 2003 (p = 0.001) and 2004 (p = 0.002) compared with 2005 but lower during 2006–2008 and 2010–2013 (p<0.001).

# Factors Associated with Serotype 1 IPD

After adjustment for geographic location (province), year (based on prominent serotype 1 fluctuations), and clinical syndrome, we saw a difference among patients at enhanced sites who had IPD caused by serotype 1 versus other serotypes. Multivariable analysis showed a difference in disease distribution by province, year, and age among children <5 years of age; these difference were more apparent in children >3 than <1 years of age. Compared with children with non-serotype 1 IPD, those with serotype 1 disease had significantly shorter hospitalizations ( $\leq 3$  days vs. 4–14 days [odds ratio (OR) 0.58, 95% CI 0.33–1.02] or ≥15 days [OR 0.44, 95% CI 0.23-0.85]) and were less likely to have HIV disease (OR 0.19, 95% CI 0.12-0.31), to die while hospitalized (OR 0.38, 95% CI 0.19-0.76), or to have penicillin-nonsusceptible disease (OR 0.02, 95 CI 0.01–0.05) (Table 1).

Among persons  $\geq$ 5 years of age, serotype 1 IPD (compared with non–serotype 1 IPD) was significantly associated with province, year, and patient age: compared with persons >64 years of age, ORs (95% CIs) were 13.48 (5.53–32.82) for children 5–9 years of age; 8.02 (3.15–20.43) for children 10–14 years of age; 5.65 (2.31–13.82) for persons 15–24 years of age; 3.67 (1.53–8.76) for persons 25–44 years of age; and 2.57 (1.06–6.23) for persons 45–64 years of age (online Technical Appendix Table 2). Compared with persons with non–serotype 1 IPD, those with serotype 1 disease had significantly shorter hospitalization ( $\leq$ 3 days vs. 4–14 days [OR 0.86, 95% CI 0.68–1.09] and vs.  $\geq$ 15 days [OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.48–0.86]) and lower rates of previous admissions (OR 0.45, 95% CI 0.35–0.57) and tuberculosis treatment (OR 0.73, 95% CI 0.57–0.95).

i i i	No. cases/no. total (%)		Univariate analysis†		Multivariable analysis†	
Variable	Serotype 1	Non-serotype 1	OR (95% CI)	p value	aOR (95% CI)	p value
Age, y					· · ·	
<1	63/211 (30)	2,754/5,061 (54)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	<0.001
1	35/211 (17)	1,155/5,061 (23)	1.32 (0.87–2.01)		2.36 (1.31–4.26)	
2	43/211 (20)	519/5,061 (10)	3.62 (2.43-5.40)		6.91 (3.78–12.64)	
3	37/211 (18)	355/5,061 (7)	4.56 (2.99-6.94)		12.03 (6.12-23.64)	
4	33/211 (16)	278/5,061 (5)	5.19 (3.35-8.05)		7.13 (3.60–14.13)	
Province						
Gauteng	95/211 (45)	2,067/5,061 (41)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	<0.001
Western Cape	11/211 (5)	1,158/5,061 (23)	0.21 (0.11-0.39)		0.11 (0.04–0.26)	
KwaZulu-Natal	46/211 (22)	957/5,061 (19)	1.05 (0.73–1.50)		1.04 (0.59–1.84)	
Eastern Cape	15/211 (7)	152/5,061 (3)	2.15 (1.22-3.79)		1.98 (0.74-5.28)	
Free State	25/211 (12)	383/5,061 (8)	1.42 (0.90–2.24)		1.06 (0.56–2.00)	
Mpumalanga	4/211 (2)	104/5,061 (2)	0.84 (0.30-2.32)		0.58 (0.07-4.86)	
North-West	5/211 (2)	46/5,061 (1)	2.36 (0.92-6.09)		5.65 (1.33-24.05)	
Limpopo	4/211 (2)	48/5,061 (1)	1.81 (0.64–5.13)		1.79 (0.41–7.90)	
Northern Cape	6/211 (3)	146/5,061 (3)	0.89 (0.39-2.08)		0.50 (0.15–1.64)	
Year of specimen collection			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		, ,	
2003	31/211 (15)	544/5,061 (11)	1.20 (0.72-1.99)	0.004	1.10 (0.49–2.49)	0.05
2004	26/211 (12)	699/5,061 (14)	0.78 (0.46–1.32)		0.58 (0.25-1.34)	
2005	32/211 (15)	672/5,061 (13)	Reference		Reference	
2006	21/211 (10)	551/5,061 (11)	0.80 (0.46-1.40)		0.77 (0.34–1.72)	
2007	15/211 (7)	547/5,061 (11)	0.58 (0.31–1.07)		0.67 (0.26–1.75)	
2008	10/211 (5)	542/5,061 (11)	0.39 (0.19–0.80)		0.40 (0.15–1.03)	
2009	23/211 (11)	494/5,061 (10)	0.98 (0.57–1.69)		1.43 (0.63–3.24)	
2010	19/211 (9)	361/5,061 (7)	1.11 (0.62–1.98)		0.82 (0.33-2.08)	
2011	19/211 (9)	240/5,061 (5)	1.66 (0.92–2.99)		1.04 (0.44–2.44)	
2012	12/211 (6)	190/5,061 (4)	1.33 (0.67–2.63)		0.49 (0.18–1.33)	
2013	3/211 (1)	221/5,061 (4)	0.29 (0.09–0.94)		0.12 (0.02–0.59)	
Medical conditions/treatment						
Length of hospital stay, d						
<u>&lt;</u> 3	57/186 (31)	1,238/4,489 (28)	Reference	0.09	Reference	0.04
4–14	96/186 (52)	2,138/4,489 (48)	0.98 (0.70-1.36)		0.58 (0.33-1.02)	
<u>&gt;</u> 15	33/186 (18)	1,113/4,489 (25)	0.64 (0.42-1.00)		0.44 (0.23-0.85)	
Previously hospitalized	39/164 (24)	1,676/4,110 (41)	0.45 (0.31–0.65)	<0.001		
Underlying medical condition <sup>‡</sup>	27/114 (24)	1,321/3,371 (39)	0.48 (0.31-0.75)	0.001		
Antimicrobial drug use in	10/147 (7)	742/3,549 (21)	0.28 (0.14–0.53)	<0.001		
previous 2 mo§						
HIV infected	43/132 (33)	2,125/3,539 (60)	0.32 (0.22-0.47)	<0.001	0.19 (0.12–0.31)	<0.001
TB treatment in previous 3 mo	11/161 (7)	570/3,928 (15)	0.43 (0.23-0.80)	0.008		
Malnourished¶	24/95 (25)	1,109/2,619 (42)	0.46 (0.29–0.74)	0.001		
Died during hospitalization	24/191 (13)	1,105/4,513 (24)	0.44 (0.29–0.68)	<0.001	0.38 (0.19–0.76)	0.006
Pneumococcal isolate			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		, ,	
characteristics						
Penicillin nonsusceptible#	4/203 (2)	2,580/4,950 (52)	0.02 (0.01-0.05)	<0.001	0.02 (0.01-0.05)	<0.001
Previous invasive	2/211 (1)	356/5,061 (7)	0.13 (0.03–0.51)	0.004	· · · · ·	
pneumococcal disease**	. /	, ,	· · /			
Clinical syndrome <sup>++</sup>						
Meningitis	59/198 (30)	1,668/4,736 (35)	Reference	0.001		
Pneumonia	124/198 (63)	2,358/4,736 (50)	1.49 (1.08–2.04)			
Bacteremia	15/198 (8)	710/4,736 (15)	0.60 (0.34–1.06)			

 Table 1. Characteristics of 5,272 patients <5 years of age with invasive pneumococcal disease caused by serotype 1 or non-serotype</th>

 1 Streptococcus pneumoniae. South Africa. 2003–2013\*

\*All patients were reported from the enhanced Group for Enteric, Respiratory, and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA) surveillance sites. aOR, adjusted odds ratio; OR, odds ratio; TB, tuberculosis.

†Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included are sex, race, Pitt bacteremia score, prematurity, antimicrobial drug use in previous 24 h, viable culture, and specimen type.

‡Includes asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness (i.e., chronic lung, renal, liver, cardiac disease, and diabetes); other immunocompromising conditions (i.e. including organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy, and malignancy, but excluding HIV); and other risk factors (i.e., head injury with possible cerebral spinal fluid leak, neurologic disorders, burns, and chromosomal abnormalities). Excludes malnutrition. §Use of any antimicrobial drug in 2 mo prior to admission.

Malnutrition was classified as a weight-for-age z-score of less than -2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) (18), nutritional edema, or both.

#Considered penicillin nonsusceptible at MIC ≥0.12 µg/mL; intermediately resistant and resistant groups were combined into a nonsusceptible group. \*\*Invasive pneumococcal disease diagnosis >21 d before this episode.

††Clinical diagnoses were made on the basis of documented discharge diagnoses in patient medical records; clinical syndrome were separated into 3 groups: meningitis, bacteremic pneumonia, and bacteremia without focus or other diagnosis (e.g., septic arthritis, endopthalmitis, peritonitis, pericarditis).

Persons  $\geq$ 5 years of age with serotype 1 disease were also significantly less likely to have HIV (OR 0.39, 95% CI 0.31–0.49) or penicillin-nonsusceptible disease (OR 0.02, 95% CI 0.01–0.04), and they were more likely than those with non–serotype 1 IPD to receive a diagnosis of pneumonia (OR 1.28, 95% CI 1.03–1.58) or bacteremia (OR 1.76, 95% CI 1.22–2.55) rather than meningitis. Inhospital death compared with recovery was not significant in the  $\geq$ 5 year age group.

# Factors Associated with In-Hospital Deaths among Patients with Serotype 1 IPD

We conducted multivariable analysis to explore factors associated with death in children <5 years of age with serotype 1 IPD (Table 2). Compared with 4-year-old children, those <1 year of age were more likely to die (OR 12.06, 95% CI 1.45–100.26), as were children with underlying medical conditions than those without. Odds of death were also increased among children with HIV (OR 2.82, 95% CI 1.36–5.84) or meningitis versus those with pneumonia or bacteremia. Duration of hospitalization was shorter among persons who died compared with those who recovered (<3 days vs. 4–14 days [OR 0.06, 95% CI 0.03–0.15] or  $\geq$ 15 days [OR 0.02, 95% CI 0.01–0.07]).

Similar factors were associated with increased odds of death in persons  $\geq$ 5 years of age with serotype 1 IPD (online Technical Appendix Table 3). In addition, death was more likely among persons who had received tuberculosis treatment in the previous 3 months (OR 1.75, 95% CI 1.25–2.45) and among severely ill persons (OR 5.26, 95% CI 3.53–7.84 for patients with a Pitt bacteremia score  $\geq$ 4). No difference was seen in the odds of death by HIV status. Compared with children 5–9 years of age, persons >25 years of age had incrementally increased odds of death by age group: 25–44 years of age, OR 5.07 (95% CI 2.74–9.38); 45–64 years of age, OR 9.00 (95% CI 4.66–17.35); and >64 years of age, OR 10.13 (95% CI 4.46–23.00).

# **Detection of Serotype 1 IPD Clusters**

Of the 46,483 IPD cases, 34,032 (73%) had available data (i.e., date of specimen collection, geographic location of patient, and serotype results) and were included in the space-time scan analysis. Of these 34,032 cases, 4,544 (13%) were caused by serotype 1 IPD. Two clusters of serotype 1 were detected. The first (713 cases) occurred during May 2003–December 2004 and affected Gauteng Province and adjacent districts of Mpumalanga, Limpopo, and North-West Provinces (Figure 3, panel A; online Technical Appendix Table 4). The second cluster (718 cases) occurred during September 2008–April 2012 and affected KwaZulu-Natal and Free State Provinces and adjacent districts of Gauteng, North-West, Mpumalanga, and Eastern

Cape Provinces (Figure 3, panel B; online Technical Appendix Table 4). We also assessed clustering of disease caused by 2 other epidemic-prone serotypes (serotypes 5 and 8); neither showed significant increases in case numbers compared with numbers in 2005.

# Discussion

In South Africa, serotype 1 pneumococcal disease had a number of distinct features. Children <5 years of age with serotype 1 IPD were less likely to die than were children with disease caused by other serotypes; this association between serotype 1 and death was not seen in older children and adults. Patients with serotype 1 IPD had fewer cases of penicillin-nonsusceptible disease, a lower prevalence of HIV, and less severe disease than patients with non–serotype 1 IPD. However, pneumonia and bacteremia occurred more commonly in patients with serotype 1 IPD than in patients with IPD caused by other serotypes.

Serotype 1 IPD incidence differed by geographic area and year, reflecting its epidemic potential (1). In older children and adults, serotype 1 was the most common serotype over the entire study period, even though numbers were lower after PCV13 introduction. Before PCV7 introduction, serotype 1 was the sixth most common serotype in children <5 years of age; by 2013, it no longer ranked in the top 10 serotypes in this age group.

IPD is common in children with underlying diseases, including HIV. Compared with infections caused by other common pneumococcal serotypes, serotype 1 IPD was associated with more bacteremic pneumonia and peritonitis, occurred in older children and specific ethnic groups, and affected otherwise healthy children (*3*).

Serotype 1 IPD has marked temporal variability (19) and is associated with outbreaks (20,21). In our study, we noted fluctuations in incidence rates for serotype 1 IPD, especially among young children before PCV introduction. Incidence of serotype 1 IPD decreased in all age groups after 2011, likely due to the effect of PCV13, and serotype 1 disease nearly disappeared among the youngest children by 2013, two years after PCV13 introduction (10). We cannot exclude that other factors (e.g., improvements in access to antiretroviral treatment and programs for the prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission) may have contributed to this decrease (14,22). We identified 2 large clusters that were not recognized prospectively because of the difficulty in identifying communitywide clusters in real time, especially using laboratory-based surveillance.

Our findings showed differences in the geographic distribution of serotype 1 and non-serotype 1 disease. Serotype 1 has been described to occur more frequently in underprivileged populations in developing countries (19); in our study, differences in specimen collection practices between provinces may have

<u> </u>	Univaria		Multivariable analysis		
Variable	No. deaths/no. cases (%)	OR (95% CI)	p value	aOR (95% CI)	p value
Age group, y					
<1	102/355 (29)	11.49 (2.75–47.95)	<0.001	12.06 (1.45–100.26)	0.02
1	22/154 (14)	4.75 (1.08–20.88)		3.83 (0.41–35.35)	
2	11/94 (12)	3.78 (0.81-17.69)		1.30 (0.12–14.34)	
3	6/73 (8)	2.55 (0.49-13.14)		1.40 (0.12-15.82)	
4	2/59 (3)	Reference		Reference	
Province					
Gauteng	53/327 (16)	Reference	0.001		
Western Cape	15/111 (14)	0.81 (0.44–1.50)			
KwaZulu-Natal	26/111 (23)	1.58 (0.93-2.68)			
Eastern Cape	12/44 (27)	1.94 (0.94–4.01)			
Free State	11/62 (18)	1.11 (0.55–2.28)			
Mpumalanga	7/19 (37)	3.02 (1.13–8.01)			
North-West	11/23 (48)	4.74 (1.99–11.30)			
Limpopo	7/21 (33)	2.58 (1.00-6.71)			
Northern Cape	1/17 (6)	0.32 (0.04–2.49)			
Medical condition/treatment					
Length of hospital stay, d					
<3	94/209 (45)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	<0.001
4-14	36/354 (10)	0 14 (0 09–0 21)		0.06 (0.03-0.15)	
>15	10/160 (6)	0.08(0.04-0.16)		0.02(0.01-0.07)	
Pitt bacteremia scoret					
0-3	102/608 (17)	Reference	<0 001		
>4	16/28 (58)	6 61 (3 04–14 40)	0.001		
Underlying medical conditiont	10,20 (00)	0.01 (0.01 11.10)			
No	55/343 (16)	Reference	0 19	Reference	0.003
Yes	33/158 (21)	1 38 (0 86-2 23)	0.10	3 21 (1 49–6 91)	0.000
Antimicrobial drug use in 24 h befor	e admission	1.00 (0.00 2.20)		0.21 (1.40 0.01)	
No	82/504 (16)	Reference	0.05		
Ves	15/56 (26)	1 88 (1 00_3 56)	0.00		
HIV status	10,00 (20)	1.00 (1.00 0.00)			
HIV-uninfected	37/252 (15)	Reference	0 13	Reference	0.005
HIV-infected	52/263 (20)		0.10	2 82 (1 36_5 84)	0.000
Malnourished&	32/203 (20)	1.40 (0.00-2.27)		2.02 (1.00-0.04)	
No	44/277 (16)	Poforonco	0.03		
Yes	43/176 (24)	1 71 (1 07_2 74)	0.05		
Clinical syndrome/specimen type	43/170 (24)	1.71 (1.07-2.14)			
Specimen type					
CSE	59/166 (36)	Reference	<0.001		
Blood	83/530 (16)	0.34 (0.23_0.50)	-0.001		
Other	1/39 (3)	0.04 (0.20-0.00) 0.05 (0.01_0.36)			
	1/00 (0)	0.00 (0.01-0.00)			
Meninaitie	74/200 (35)	Peference	<0.001	Peference	0 0003
Proumonia	50/410 (12)		~0.00 I		0.0003
Ractoromia	19/111 (16)	0.25(0.17-0.30)		0.23(0.11-0.34) 0.11(0.03, 0.42)	
Dacierennia	10/111 (10)	0.35 (0.20-0.63)		0.11(0.03-0.42)	

Table 2. Factors associated with death in patients <5 years of age with serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease, South Africa, 2003–2013\*

\*All patients were reported from the enhanced Group for Enteric, Respiratory, and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA) surveillance sites. Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included in table are sex, year, previous hospital admission, prematurity, antimicrobial drug in previous 2 mo, and penicillin nonsusceptible invasive pneumococcal disease. aOR, adjusted odds ratio; OR, odds ratio.

+Pitt bacteremia score calculated using temperature, hypotension, mechanical ventilation, cardiac arrest and mental status. Severe disease defined as score of ≥4 points.

‡Includes asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness (i.e., chronic lung, renal, liver, cardiac disease, and diabetes); other immunocompromising conditions (i.e., organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy, and malignancy, but excluding HIV); and other risk factors (i.e., head injury with possible cerebral spinal fluid leak, neurologic disorders, burns, and chromosomal abnormalities). Excludes malnutrition.

§Children with weight-for-age z-score of less than -2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) (18), nutritional edema, or both.

[Clinical diagnoses were made on the basis of documented discharge diagnoses in patient medical records, with clinical syndrome separated into 3 groups: meningitis, bacteremic pneumonia, and bacteremia without focus or other diagnosis (e.g., septic arthritis, endopthalmitis, peritonitis, pericarditis)

contributed to differences seen in disease distribution, as shown in other studies (23). Similar to findings by others (24,25), we found a difference in serotype distribution by age: serotype 1 IPD incidence was proportionally similar among older children and adults compared with that among children <1 year of age, whereas

other serotypes predominated in the youngest age group and showed only a small peak in young adults. A number of factors may contribute to these age-associated differences (25). Compared with other serotypes, serotypes 1 and 5 are rarely carried by healthy persons; a short duration of carriage results in less opportunity for recombination events and

# RESEARCH



**Figure 3.** Serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease clusters by district, South Africa. A) May 2003–December 2004. B) September 2008–April 2012. Gray borders indicate district boundaries; black borders indicate provincial boundaries. Provinces: EC, Eastern Cape; FS, Free State; GP, Gauteng; KZN, KwaZulu-Natal; LP, Limpopo; MP, Mpumalanga; NC, Northern Cape; NWP, North-West; WC, Western Cape. District relative risk was calculated by dividing the observed number of cases per district by the number of cases expected by district (as determined on the basis of numbers in control groups).

less antibiotic selection pressure, resulting in reduced antibiotic nonsusceptibility in serotype 1 isolates (26).

Similar to findings in other studies (3), we found that, compared with other pneumococcal serotypes, serotype 1 caused more bacteremic pneumonia than meningitis. In addition, among HIV-uninfected children, serotype 1 IPD made up a larger proportion of disease than in HIV-infected children (27,28), suggesting that serotype 1 is more invasive and virulent, thus affecting otherwise healthy persons (29,30). Among children <5 years of age, those with serotype 1 disease were less likely to die than those with disease caused by other serotypes (31), and those most at risk of death were the very young (<1 year of age) and those HIV infected. In older persons, no association was found between serotype 1 disease and death when compared with other serotypes. Another analysis from the prevaccine era showed an increased risk of death among adults with serotype 1 disease compared with those with serotype 4 disease (32); this increased risk has been shown in few other studies (33).

Our study had several limitations. First, we included only patients who sought care at healthcare facilities with laboratories that submitted pneumococcal isolates to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases and who had specimens collected; patients with mild clinical pneumococcal disease treated in the community were not included. Second, we were able to map serotype 1 IPD incidence only at district level, so minor changes in incidence and clusters at the individual healthcare facility level may have been missed. Third, because of the small number of patients in the <5-year-old age group, we did not show clusters by age. We expect that reported clusters would have been similar for all ages. Fourth, we did not collect details regarding duration of symptoms before admission and thus could not assess whether intensity of symptoms when healthcare was sought affected case-fatality rates. Fifth, PCR serotype results from samples with a lytA cycle threshold (C<sub>t</sub>) of  $\geq$ 35 may not be accurate. We did not use PCR results in the trend analysis, and the proportion of lytA samples with high C, values was low in the surveillance program (34), so the C<sub>4</sub> accuracy is unlikely to have affected our results. Sixth, we used non-serotype 1 cases as our comparison group in the descriptive factor analysis; although this group changed over the study period, PCV13 serotypes (excluding serotype 1) made up >50%of this group until 2012 and 40% in 2013. Last, our study covered only a short period of observation after PCV13 introduction, making it difficult to determine whether reductions in serotype 1 IPD were due to introduction of this vaccine.

In conclusion, compared with IPD caused by other serotypes, IPD caused by serotype 1 in South Africa was characterized by shorter hospital stays, fewer cases of resistant disease, fewer in-hospital fatalities in children <5 years of age, and lower prevalence among HIV-infected persons. Serotype 1 caused disease in all age groups, although prevalence peaked in older children and young adults. Temporal reductions in serotype 1 IPD have been observed within 2 years of PCV13 introduction in South Africa; this observation must be corroborated by ongoing surveillance over an extended period of time.

## Acknowledgments

We thank all persons, and their caregivers, who kindly agreed to be included in this study. We acknowledge all GERMS-SA surveillance officers for their hard work in enrolling participants into the study and obtaining vaccination histories; the GERMS-SA coordinators for assisting the surveillance officers and clinical and intellectual input for the surveillance; laboratory staff throughout the country for submitting isolates to NICD; and staff at the NICD laboratory, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, for their efforts in processing and characterizing these isolates.

This study was supported by NICD/National Health Laboratory Service, South Africa; PEPFAR (President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief) through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (cooperative agreement No. 5U2GPS001328); and the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunisation, Accelerated Vaccine Introduction Initiative Special Studies Team.

C.vM. has received honoraria from Pfizer. A.vG. has received research funding from Pfizer. S.A.M. has received honoraria from GlaxoSmithKline, Pfizer, and Sanofi Pasteur, and research funding from GlaxoSmithKline, Pfizer, and Novartis. H.D. has received honoraria from Novartis, Pfizer, Merck & Co., Inc. and a travel grant from Mylan. C.C. has received research funding from Pfizer and Sanofi Pasteur.

Dr. von Mollendorf is a medical epidemiologist in the Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis at the National Institute for Communicable Diseases in Johannesburg, South Africa. Her primary research interests include the epidemiology of respiratory diseases and meningitis and vaccine-preventable diseases.

#### References

- Ritchie ND, Mitchell TJ, Evans TJ. What is different about serotype 1 pneumococci? Future Microbiol. 2012;7:33–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/fmb.11.146
- Gessner BD, Mueller JE, Yaro S. African meningitis belt pneumococcal disease epidemiology indicates a need for an effective serotype 1 containing vaccine, including for older children and adults. BMC Infect Dis. 2010;10:22. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2334-10-22
- Fuchs I, Dagan R, Givon-Lavi N, Greenberg D. Serotype 1 childhood invasive pneumococcal disease has unique characteristics compared to disease caused by other *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotypes. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2013;32:614–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e31828691cb
- Calbo E, Diaz A, Canadell E, Fabrega J, Uriz S, Xercavins M, et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease among children in a health district of Barcelona: early impact of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2006;12:867–72. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1469-0691.2006.1502\_1.x
- Aguiar SI, Brito MJ, Goncalo-Marques J, Melo-Cristino J, Ramirez M. Serotypes 1, 7F and 19A became the leading causes of pediatric invasive pneumococcal infections in Portugal after 7 years of heptavalent conjugate vaccine use. Vaccine. 2010;28:5167–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.06.008
- Feikin DR, Kagucia EW, Loo JD, Link-Gelles R, Puhan MA, Cherian T, et al. Serotype-specific changes in invasive

pneumococcal disease after pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction: a pooled analysis of multiple surveillance sites. PLoS Med. 2013;10:e1001517. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pmed.1001517

- Johnson HL, Deloria-Knoll M, Levine OS, Stoszek SK, Freimanis Hance L, Reithinger R, et al. Systematic evaluation of serotypes causing invasive pneumococcal disease among children under five: the pneumococcal global serotype project. PLoS Med. 2010;7:e1000348. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000348
- Hanquet G, Kissling E, Fenoll A, George R, Lepoutre A, Lernout T, et al. Pneumococcal serotypes in children in 4 European countries. Emerg Infect Dis. 2010;16:1428–39. http://dx.doi.org/10.3201/ eid1609.100102
- Jefferies JM, Smith AJ, Edwards GF, McMenamin J, Mitchell TJ, Clarke SC. Temporal analysis of invasive pneumococcal clones from Scotland illustrates fluctuations in diversity of serotype and genotype in the absence of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48:87–96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.01485-09
- Miller E, Andrews NJ, Waight PA, Slack MP, George RC. Effectiveness of the new serotypes in the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Vaccine. 2011;29:9127–31. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.09.112
- Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Adegbola RA, Cutts F, Greenwood B, Hausdorff WP. Timing of serotype 1 pneumococcal disease suggests the need for evaluation of a booster dose. Vaccine. 2011;29:3372–3. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.02.089
- Cutts FT, Zaman SM, Enwere G, Jaffar S, Levine OS, Okoko JB, et al. Efficacy of nine-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against pneumonia and invasive pneumococcal disease in The Gambia: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2005;365:1139–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(05)71876-6
- World Health Organization. WHO UNICEF estimates of PCV3 coverage [cited 2015 Aug 14]. http://apps.who.int/immunization\_ monitoring/globalsummary/timeseries/tswucoveragepcv3.html
- von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Tempia S, Quan V, Meiring S, von Mollendorf C, et al. Effects of vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:1889–99. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1401914
- Carvalho MG, Tondella ML, McCaustland K, Weidlich L, McGee L, Mayer LW, et al. Evaluation and improvement of real-time PCR assays targeting *lytA*, *ply*, and *psaA* genes for detection of pneumococcal DNA. J Clin Microbiol. 2007;45: 2460–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02498-06
- Kulldorff M. A spatial scan statistic. Comm Stat Theory Methods. 1997;26:1481–96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 03610929708831995
- Kulldorff M, Nagarwalla N. Spatial disease clusters: detection and inference. Stat Med. 1995;14:799–810. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ sim.4780140809
- 18. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards: Growth velocity based on weight, length and head circumference: Methods and development. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 [cited 2015 Aug 14]. http://www.who.int/childgrowth/publications/ technical\_report\_velocity/en/
- Lagos R, Muñoz A, San Martin O, Maldonado A, Hormazabal JC, Blackwelder WC, et al. Age- and serotype-specific pediatric invasive pneumococcal disease: insights from systematic surveillance in Santiago, Chile, 1994–2007. J Infect Dis. 2008;198:1809–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/593334
- Le Hello S, Watson M, Levy M, Marcon S, Brown M, Yvon JF, et al. Invasive serotype 1 *Streptococcus pneumoniae* outbreaks in the South Pacific from 2000 to 2007. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48:2968–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01615-09

# RESEARCH

- 21 Antonio M, Hakeem I, Awine T, Secka O, Sankareh K, Nsekpong D, et al. Seasonality and outbreak of a predominant *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype 1 clone from The Gambia: expansion of ST217 hypervirulent clonal complex in West Africa. BMC Microbiol. 2008;8:198. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-198
- Johnson LF. Access to antiretroviral treatment in South Africa, 2004–2011. Southern African Journal of HIV Medicine. 2012;13:22–7.
- Hausdorff WP, Siber G, Paradiso PR. Geographical differences in invasive pneumococcal disease rates and serotype frequency in young children. Lancet. 2001;357:950–2. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(00)04222-7
- Ciruela P, Soldevila N, Selva L, Hernández S, Garcia-Garcia JJ, Moraga F, et al. Are risk factors associated with invasive pneumococcal disease according to different serotypes? Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013;9:712–9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.4161/hv.23270
- Hausdorff WP, Feikin DR, Klugman KP. Epidemiological differences among pneumococcal serotypes. Lancet Infect Dis. 2005;5:83–93. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(05)70083-9
- Porat N, Trefler R, Dagan R. Persistence of two invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae clones of serotypes 1 and 5 in comparison to that of multiple clones of serotypes 6B and 23F among children in southern Israel. J Clin Microbiol. 2001;39:1827– 32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.39.5.1827-1832.2001
- Jones N, Huebner R, Khoosal M, Crewe-Brown H, Klugman K. The impact of HIV on *Streptococcus pneumoniae* bacteraemia in a South African population. AIDS. 1998;12:2177–84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00002030-199816000-00013
- Scott JA, Hall AJ, Hannington A, Edwards R, Mwarumba S, Lowe B, et al. Scrotype distribution and prevalence of resistance to benzylpenicillin in three representative populations of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* isolates from the coast of Kenya. Clin Infect Dis. 1998;27:1442–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/ 515013
- Brueggemann AB, Peto TE, Crook DW, Butler JC, Kristinsson KG, Spratt BG. Temporal and geographic stability of the serogroup-specific invasive disease potential of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in children. J Infect Dis. 2004;190:1203–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/423820
- Hausdorff WP. The roles of pneumococcal serotypes 1 and 5 in paediatric invasive disease. Vaccine. 2007;25:2406–12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.09.009
- Weinberger DM, Harboe ZB, Sanders EA, Ndiritu M, Klugman KP, Ruckinger S, et al. Association of serotype with risk of death due to pneumococcal pneumonia: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51:692–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/655828
- Cohen C, Naidoo N, Meiring S, de Gouveia L, von Mollendorf C, Walaza S, et al. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotypes and mortality in adults and adolescents in South Africa: analysis of national surveillance data, 2003–2008. PLoS ONE. 2015;10:e0140185. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140185
- Martens P, Worm SW, Lundgren B, Konradsen HB, Benfield T. Serotype-specific mortality from invasive *Streptococcus pneumoniae* disease revisited. BMC Infect Dis. 2004;4:21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-4-21
- Magomani V, Wolter N, Tempia S, du Plessis M, de Gouveia L, von Gottberg A. Challenges of using molecular serotyping for surveillance of pneumococcal disease. J Clin Microbiol. 2014;52:3271–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01061-14

Address for correspondence: Claire von Mollendorf, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, 1 Modderfontein Rd, NHLS, Sandringham, 2193, Gauteng, South Africa; email: clairevm@nicd.ac.za Unraveling the Mysteries of Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus



Dr. Aron Hall, a CDC coronavirus epidemiologist, discusses Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus



http://www2c.cdc.gov/podcasts/ player.asp?f=8631627

# Article DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3201/eid2202.150967

# Epidemiology of Serotype 1 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease, South Africa, 2003–2013

# **Technical Appendix**

# Methods

# Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Surveillance in South Africa

Invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) surveillance began in South Africa in 1999 (*1*) and was limited to the collection of laboratory data and isolates from pneumococcal cases. The surveillance program was expanded in 2003 through GERMS-SA (Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa), a national, active, laboratory-based surveillance system. The number of hospitals and laboratories covered by the surveillance increased over time, however more than 70% of hospitals remained consistent in the program over most of the reported period (*2*).

All laboratories record basic demographic information (age, sex, date of specimen collection, and source of isolate) for all pneumococcal isolates. Enhanced surveillance with trained surveillance officers at 24 sentinel hospitals located in all nine provinces of South Africa, includes the collection of additional clinical data, for example, admission and discharge date, HIV serologic status, vaccination information and discharge diagnosis and outcome. Enhanced surveillance sites account for  $\approx$ 50% of all reported pneumococcal cases nationally.

Enhanced surveillance sites were chosen based on convenience, interest from site investigators and number of isolates submitted. Larger sites with higher isolate submissions were favored, resulting in enhanced sites being mainly tertiary and some secondary (regional) hospitals. Non-enhanced sites include district, regional and tertiary public hospitals, private hospitals and clinics. The regional and tertiary hospitals however made up over 70% of isolates sent from non-enhanced sites. To identify missed unreported cases, annual laboratory audits were conducted throughout the study period using a centralized National Health Laboratory Service Corporate Data Warehouse which consolidates cases for all public-sector laboratories. Audit cases were included in the surveillance database for incidence rate calculations. Cases were likely missed as isolates were submitted by staff working in busy routine clinical microbiological laboratories. Isolates were often delayed at the sites and submitted in batches with other surveillance organisms sent to the NICD. As *S. pneumoniae* is fastidious it was often non-viable by the time it reached the NICD.

# Definitions

At enhanced sites where additional clinical information was available, underlying conditions were defined as asplenia, including sickle cell anemia; chronic illness (chronic lung, renal, liver, cardiac disease and diabetes); other immunocompromising conditions (excluding HIV), including organ transplant and malignancy; and other risk factors, including head injury with possible CSF leak, neurologic disorders, burns, chromosomal abnormalities, alcohol use and smoking. Clinical diagnoses were based on documented discharge diagnoses in patient medical records, with clinical syndrome separated into three groups: meningitis, bacteremic pneumonia, and bacteremia without focus/other. Pitt bacteremia score was calculated using 5 parameters: (1) oral temperature, (2) hypotension, (3) receipt of mechanical ventilation, (4) cardiac arrest, and (5) mental status. Severe disease was defined as a score of  $\geq$ 4 points (3).

Serotypes were defined as serotype 1 or non-serotype 1 IPD. Penicillin non-susceptibility was categorized using 2013 Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute breakpoints for oral penicillin V (susceptible,  $\leq 0.06 \ \mu g/L$ ; intermediately resistant,  $0.12-1 \ \mu g/L$  and resistant,  $\geq 2 \ \mu g/L$ ) (4). Intermediately resistant and resistant groups were combined into a non-susceptible group for analysis. Pneumococcal disease was considered recurrent if diagnosed >21 days after a previous case in the same patient.

# Other Interventions Affecting Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Trends in South Africa

Comprehensive HIV/AIDS treatment programs were implemented in South Africa in 2003 and access to treatment improved steadily with 80% coverage reported by 2012 (5).

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission programs also improved steadily with an associated decrease in mother-to-child HIV transmission rates from 12% in 2007 to 2.7% in 2011 (6) and 2.5% during 2012/2013 (7). This was despite a relatively constant prevalence of HIV in pregnant women of around 30% over the same period.

A manuscript describing the reduction in IPD in South Africa following the introduction of PCV (2) showed a 49% reduction in all serotype IPD and 85% reduction in PCV7 serotypes in HIV-uninfected children <2 years of age by 2012. In HIV-infected children PCV7 serotypes decreased by 86% and non-vaccine serotypes by 31% which showed the benefit of improvements in prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV, antiretroviral treatment in children and PCV7. Reductions in PCV13-serotype disease in 2009 and 2010, before the introduction of PCV13, were also most likely a result of ART. In HIV-infected children it was thought to be difficult to tease out the exact amount of reduction in pneumococcal disease due to PCV and that due to other interventions.

# References

- Huebner RE, Klugman KP, Matai U, Eggers R, Hussey G. Laboratory surveillance for *Haemophilus* influenzae type B meningococcal, and pneumococcal disease. Haemophilus Surveillance Working Group. S Afr Med J. 1999;89:924–5. <u>PubMed</u>
- von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Tempia S, Quan V, Meiring S, von Mollendorf C, et al. Effects of vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:1889– 99. <u>PubMed http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1401914</u>
- Paterson DL, Ko WC, Von Gottberg A, Mohapatra S, Casellas JM, Goossens H, et al. Antibiotic therapy for *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteremia: implications of production of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;39:31–7. <u>PubMed http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/420816</u>
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; twenty-third informational supplement. Document M100–S23.Wayne (PA): The Institute; 2013.
- 5. Johnson LF. Access to antiretroviral treatment in South Africa, 2004–2011. Southern African Journal of HIV Medicine. 2012;13:22–7.

# 6. Barron P, Pillay Y, Doherty T, Sherman G, Jackson D, Bhardwaj S, et al. Eliminating mother-to-child HIV transmission in South Africa. Bull World Health Organ. 2013;91:70–4. <u>PubMed</u> <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.106807</u>

 Massyn N, Day C, Dombo M, Barron P, English R, Padarath A. District health barometer 2012/13[cited 2014 Jul 31]. http://www.hst.org.za/publications/district-health-barometer-201213

2013				
Variable	Expanded attach $p(\mathbf{N}  (0))$	Non-enhanced sites n/N		n volue
	Enhanced sites h/h (%)	(%)	OR (95% CI)	p value
Age	2424/20 020 (40)	2470/02 207 (45)	4 04 (4 00 4 00)	<0.001
<1 y	3431/20,826 (16)	3470/23,397 (15)	1.21 (1.08–1.36)	
1–4 y	2899/20,826 (14)	2828/23,397 (12)	1.26 (1.12–1.41)	
5–9 y	1286/20,826 (6)	1587/23,397 (7)	0.99 (0.88–1.13)	
10–14 y	510/20,826 (2)	700/23,397 (3)	0.89 (0.77–1.04)	
15–24 y	1269/20,826 (6)	1551/23,397 (7)	1.00 (0.89–1.14)	
25–44 y	7909/20,826 (38)	9058/23,397 (39)	1.07 (0.96–1.19)	
45–64 y	2844/20,826 (14)	3371/23,397 (14)	1.04 (0.92–1.16)	
>64 y	678/20,826 (3)	832/23,397 (4)	Reference	
Sex				0.83
Female	10,686/20,984 (51)	12,510/24,516 (51)	Reference	
Male	10,298/20,984 (49)	12,006/24,516 (49)	1.00 (0.97-1.04)	
Province				< 0.001
Gauteng	11.287/21.188 (53)	10.950/25.297 (43)	Reference	
Western Cape	3038/21.188 (14)	2864/25.297 (11)	1.03 (0.97-1.09)	
KwaZulu-Natal	3045/21,188 (14)	2321/25.297 (9)	1.27 (1.20–1.35)	
Fastern Cape	570/21 188 (3)	3101/25 297 (12)	0.18 (0.16-0.20)	
Free State	1365/21 188 (6)	1687/25 297 (7)	0.78 (0.73-0.85)	
Moumalanda	726/21 188 (3)	1873/25 297 (7)	$0.70(0.70\ 0.00)$ 0.38(0.34 $-$ 0.41)	
North West	338/21 188 (2)	1510/25 297 (6)	0.30 (0.34–0.41)	
Limpopo	363/21,100 (2)	710/25 207 (2)	0.22 (0.13 - 0.23) 0.40 (0.43 - 0.56)	
Northorn Cano	456/21 188 (2)	272/25 207 (1)	0.49(0.43-0.50) 1 63 (1 40 1 80)	
Veer	450/21,188 (2)	212/25,297 (1)	1.03 (1.40–1.09)	-0.001
	4007/04 400 (0)	4000/05 007 (0)	Defenses	<0.001
2003	1927/21,188 (9)	1962/25,297 (8)		
2004	2297/21,188 (11)	2245/25,297 (9)	1.04 (0.96–1.13)	
2005	2488/21,188 (12)	2398/25,297 (9)	1.06 (0.97–1.15)	
2006	2202/21,188 (10)	2534/25,297 (10)	0.88 (0.81–0.96)	
2007	2148/21,188 (10)	2595/25,297 (10)	0.84 (0.77–0.92)	
2008	2051/21,188 (10)	2784/25,297 (11)	0.75 (0.69–0.82)	
2009	2039/21,188 (10)	2725/25,297 (11)	0.76 (0.70–0.83)	
2010	1918/21,188 (9)	2280/25,297 (9)	0.86 (0.78–0.93)	
2011	1615/21,188 (8)	2189/25,297 (9)	0.75 (0.69–0.82)	
2012	1305/21,188 (6)	1917/25,297 (8)	0.69 (0.63–0.76)	
2013	1198/21,188 (6)	1668/25,297 (7)	0.73 (0.66–0.81)	
Penicillin non-susceptibility				<0.001
Susceptible	10,536/16,338 (64)	10,986/16,510 (67)	Reference	
Non-susceptible	5802/16,338 (36)	5524/16,510 (33)	1.10 (1.05–1.15)	
Specimen type	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			< 0.001
CSF	5697/21.188 (27)	11.446/25.297 (45)	Reference	
Blood culture	13.897/21.188 (66)	11.104/25.297 (44)	2.51 (2.41-2.62)	
Other specimens	1594/21.188 (8)	2747/25.297 (11)	1.17 (1.09–1.25)	
Serotype				< 0.001
Non-serotype 1	19,246/21 186 (91)	22,690/25,294 (90)	Reference	
Serotype 1	1940/21 186 (9)	2604/25 294 (10)	0.88 (0.83-0.03)	
	1040/21,100 (0)	2007/20,207 (10)	0.00 (0.00-0.00)	

**Technical Appendix Table 1.** Comparison of cases from GERMS-SA enhanced and non-enhanced sites for all age groups, 2003–2013

Variable         Serotype 1         Non-serotype 1         OR (95% CI)         p value         act (95% CI)         p value           5-9         254/1,642 (15)         809/9,257 (8)         3.91 (2.27-4.45)         0.001         13.48 (55.5-32.82)         -0.001           15-24         2011/1642 (12)         755/9,2287 (8)         3.92 (2.27-1.566)         8.02 (3.15-20.43)         -566 (2.3.15.82.82)         -0.001           25-44         768/1.642 (47)         7.50789,257 (55)         1.54 (1.13-2.10)         3.67 (1.5.3-4.76)         -2.57 (1.6.8-2.3)         -2.5		No. cases/	no. total (%)	Univariate ana	lysis†	Multivariable ana	lysis†
Ape group, y         -5-9         254/1.642 (15)         809/9.257 (8)         3.19 (2.29-4.45)         <0.001         13.48 (5.53-32.82)         <0.001           15-24         201/1.642 (7)         298/9.257 (8)         3.29 (2.71-5.66)         8.02 (3.15-20.43)         5.65 (2.31-13.82)           25-44         768/1.642 (47)         5.0780/9.257 (55)         1.54 (1.13-2.10)         3.67 (1.53-8.76)           45-64         257/1.642 (15)         1.3939.257 (15)         1.42 (1.137-1.47)         -0.001           Black race         14521.577         7.58547.898 (88)         1.54 (1.127-1.47)         -0.001           Province         (92)         7.58547.898 (88)         1.54 (1.27-1.47)         -0.001         Reference           Black race         14521.577         7.5847.898 (88)         1.54 (1.27-1.47)         -0.001         Reference         <0.001	Variable	Serotype 1	Non-serotype 1	OR (95% CI)	p value	aOR (95% CI)	p value
5-9         254/1,622 (15)         809(2,527 (8)         3.19 (2,224-4.45)         e0.001         13.48 (2,515-32.6.22)         e0.001           15-24         201/1,642 (12)         7556,92.763         3.32 (2,711.136-3.79)         5.65 (2,311-3.82)         2.544           25-44         768/1,622 (7)         7557,92.75 (5)         1.54 (1.13-2.10)         5.67 (1.53-4.76)         7.67 (1.53-4.76)           3-64         4771,622 (3)         7439,257 (5)         1.54 (1.13-2.10)         2.57 (1.06-2.3)         Reference           964         4771,624 (3)         7.7854/8,899 (8)         1.54 (1.27-1.67)         0.001         Reference         0.001         1.64 (1.27-1.67)         0.001         Network           970rdice         1921         4.430 (2.57 (16)         0.378 (0.52-0.43)         0.24 (0.17-0.34)         Noth-1.63)           Western Cape         4771,642 (3)         1669 (2.577 (4)         0.29 (0.69-1.70)         0.28 (0.69-1.63)           Free State         1301 (642 (8)         1569,2577 (2)         1.43 (1.03-1.99)         0.80 (0.43-1.42)           Mpumalenga         644,1642 (1,149,2587 (2)         1.43 (1.64-2.11)         0.90 (0.69-1.16)         0.80 (0.43-1.42)           North-West         347,1642 (3)         1439,2577 (2)         1.45 (1.16-1.48)         0.001         1.77 (0.76-	Age group, y						
10-14         115/1642 (7)         298/9.257 (3)         3.32 (2.71-5.66)         8.02 (3.15-20.43)           15-24         201/1642 (12)         755/9.257 (15)         8.27 (1.93-3.79)         5.56 (2.31-1.32.2)           25-44         768/1,642 (47)         5,078/9,257 (5)         1.24 (1.03-1.97)         2.57 (1.66-6.23)           >64         477.1642 (3)         478/9,257 (5)         Reference         Reference         Reference           Black race         14521,157         7.854/8.889 (8)         1.54 (1.27-1.87)         <0.001	5–9	254/1,642 (15)	809/9,257 (9)	3.19 (2.29–4.45)	<0.001	13.48 (5.53–32.82)	<0.001
15-24         2014, 1642 (12)         755/9, 257 (8)         2.71 (1.93-3.79)         5.62 (2.31-13.82)           25-44         7681, 682 (17)         5078, 152 (75)         1.54 (1.13-2.10)         3.67 (1.53-8.76)           45-64         2577, 1642 (16)         1.8399, 257 (20)         1.42 (1.03-1.97)         2.57 (1.06-6.23)           S464         4771, 642 (16)         1.78 (348, 889 (88)         1.54 (1.27-1.87)         <0.001	10–14	115/1,642 (7)	298/9,257 (3)	3.92 (2.71–5.66)		8.02 (3.15-20.43)	
25-44         7681/642 (47)         5,0789,257 (55)         1.54 (1.32-1.90)         3.57 (1.53-8.76)           >544         4771,642 (3)         4789,257 (5)         Reference         Reference           Black race         1452/1,57         7.854/8.899 (8)         1.54 (1.27-1.87)         <0.001	15–24	201/1,642 (12)	755/9,257 (8)	2.71 (1.93–3.79)		5.65 (2.31–13.82)	
45-64         2571 (462 (16)         1,839/9,257 (20)         1.42 (1.03-1.97)         2.57 (1.06-6.23)           Black race         1452/1,576         7,854/8,889 (88)         1.54 (1.27-1.87)         <0.001	25–44	768/1,642 (47)	5,078/9,257 (55)	1.54 (1.13–2.10)		3.67 (1.53-8.76)	
>64         471,642 (3)         4739,257 (5)         Reference         Reference           Black race         14521,757         7.854(8.89 (88)         1.54 (1.27-1.87)         <0.001	45–64	257/1,642 (16)	1,839/9,257 (20)	1.42 (1.03–1.97)		2.57 (1.06-6.23)	
Black race         1452/1,57c         7,854/6,899 (88)         1.54 (1.27-1.87)         <0.001           Gauteng         9511,642 (58)         4.804/9,257 (52)         Reference         <0.001	>64	47/1,642 (3)	478/9,257 (5)	Reference		Reference	
(92)           Province         Gauteng         9511,642 (58)         4,804/9,257 (52)         Reference         <0.001	Black race	1452/1,576	7,854/8,889 (88)	1.54 (1.27–1.87)	<0.001		
Province Gauteng 951/1,642 (68) 4,804/9,257 (52) Reference <0.001 Reference <0.001 Western Cape 991/1,642 (61 1,443/9,257 (16) 0.78 (0.67-0.92) 0.80 (0.00-1.07) Eastern Cape 47/1,642 (31 166/9,257 (2) 1.43 (1.03-1.99) 0.80 (0.39-1.63) Free State 130/1,642 (8) 516/9,257 (6) 1.27 (1.04-1.56) 0.89 (0.64-1.22) Moumalanga 64/1,642 (4) 356/9,257 (6) 1.27 (1.04-1.56) 0.89 (0.64-1.22) Moumalanga 64/1,642 (12) 149/9,257 (2) 1.16 (0.79-1.70) 2.25 (1.13-4.48) Limpopo 42/1,642 (31 43/9,257 (2) 1.48 (1.07-9-1.70) 2.25 (1.13-4.48) Limpopo 42/1,642 (31 43/9,257 (2) 1.48 (1.07-9-1.70) 2.25 (1.13-4.48) Limpopo 42/1,642 (31 23/9,257 (2) 1.48 (1.0-1.58) 1.39 (0.85-2.26) Year of specimen collection 2004 2.21 (44/2 (13) 733/9,257 (8) 1.45 (1.16-1.80) <0.001 1.17 (0.76-1.82) 0.01 2005 196/1,642 (12) 994/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2005 196/1,642 (12) 994/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2005 196/1,642 (12) 994/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2006 142/1,642 (19) 952/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2007 11271,642 (7) 842/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2008 116/1,642 (7) 842/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2009 156/1,642 (10) 959/9,257 (10) 0.75 (0.59-0.95) 0.67 (0.42-1.09) 2010 146/1,642 (7) 842/9,257 (7) 0.74 (0.67-0.82) 0.71 (0.42-1.14) 2020 116/1,642 (7) 842/9,257 (7) 0.74 (0.67-0.85) 0.66 (0.63-1.37) 2011 134/1,642 (10) 959/9,257 (7) 0.84 (0.65-1.05) 0.98 (0.63-1.51) 2012 122 76/1,043 (10) 955/9,257 (7) 0.84 (0.65-1.05) 0.96 (0.63-1.51) 2013 76/1,642 (5) 567/9,257 (7) 0.84 (0.65-1.05) 0.64 (0.40-1.04) Medical conditions/treatment Length of hospital stay, d ≤1 41/1,43 (33) 251/8,3311 (30) Reference 0.001 0.45 (0.35-0.57) <0.001 0.45 (0.35-0.57) <0.001 0.45 (0.35-0.57) <0.001 0.45 (0.48-0.66) 0.001 0.45 (0.35-0.57) <0.001 0.45 (0.48-0.66) Previous hospital stay, d ≤1 41/1,42 (13) 1373/6,659 (21) 0.57 (0.43 (0.30-0.62) <0.001 0.45 (0.48-0.66) 0.001 0.73 (0.57-0.79) 0.02 0.004 Previous range in Previous hospital s		(92)					
Gauteng         9511,142 (58)         4,804/9,257 (52)         Reference         <0.001         Reference         <0.001           Western Cape         991,642 (14)         1,469/9,257 (16)         0.35 (0.28-0.43)         0.24 (0.17-0.34)         0.24 (0.17-0.34)           Eastern Cape         471,642 (3)         166/9,257 (2)         1.43 (1.03-1.99)         0.80 (0.80-1.07)           Hyumalanga         64/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.43 (1.03-1.99)         0.80 (0.43-1.49)           North-West         34/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.16 (0.79-1.70)         2.25 (1.13-4.49)           Limpopo         42/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.46 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           North-West         34/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           Year of specimen collection         2004         2251,1642 (12)         994/9,257 (10)         0.76 (0.59-0.95)         0.67 (0.42-1.09)           2005         196/1,642 (12)         994/9,257 (10)         0.76 (0.59-0.95)         0.67 (0.42-1.09)           2006         142/1,642 (7)         829/9,257 (10)         0.76 (0.59-0.82)         0.66 (0.56-1.32)           2009         156/1,642 (10)         959(9,257 (10)         0.76 (0.59-0.82)         0.67 (0.42-1.09)	Province						
Western Cape         99/1,642 (b)         1,443(9,257 (fb)         0.38 (0.28–0.43)         0.24 (0.17–0.34)           KwaZuk-Natal         228/1,642 (14)         1,66(9,257 (2)         1.43 (1.03–1.99)         0.80 (0.39–1.63)           Free State         1301,642 (8)         516(9,257 (2)         1.43 (1.03–1.99)         0.80 (0.43–1.42)           Moumalanga         64/1,642 (4)         358/9,257 (4)         0.90 (0.69–1.19)         0.28 (0.43–1.42)           North-West         34/1,642 (2)         149/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04–2.11)         0.97 (0.47–2.01)           North-West         34/1,642 (3)         210/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04–2.11)         0.97 (0.47–2.01)           North-West         200/1,642 (14)         891/9,257 (10)         1.46 (1.16–1.80)         <0.001	Gauteng	951/1,642 (58)	4,804/9,257 (52)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	<0.001
KwaZulu-Natal         228/1,642 (14)         1,469/9,257 (16)         0.78 (0.67-0.92)         0.80 (0.60-1.07)           Eastem Cape         47/1,642 (3)         166/9,257 (2)         1.43 (1.03-1.99)         0.80 (0.64-1.42)           Mournalanga         64/1,642 (4)         356/9,257 (3)         1.43 (1.03-1.99)         0.80 (0.64-1.42)           Mournalanga         64/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           North-West         34/1,642 (3)         210/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           Northerr Cape         47/1,642 (3)         210/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           2003         209/1,642 (13)         733/9,257 (8)         1.45 (1.16-1.80)         <0.001	Western Cape	99/1,642 (6)	1,443/9,257 (16)	0.35 (0.28–0.43)		0.24 (0.17–0.34)	
Eastern Cape         47/1,642 (3)         166/9,257 (2)         1.43 (1.03-1.99)         0.80 (0.39-1.63)           Pres State         130/1,642 (4)         356/9,257 (6)         1.27 (1.04-1.56)         0.88 (0.64-1.22)           Moumalanga         64/1,642 (4)         356/9,257 (2)         1.16 (0.79-1.70)         2.25 (1.13-4.48)           Limpopo         42/1,642 (3)         143/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           Northerm Cape         47/1,642 (3)         733/9,257 (8)         1.45 (1.16-1.80)         <0.001	KwaZulu-Natal	228/1,642 (14)	1,469/9,257 (16)	0.78 (0.67–0.92)		0.80 (0.60-1.07)	
Free State         130/1,642 (8)         516/9,257 (6)         1.27 (1.04–1.56)         0.88 (0.64–1.22)           Moundanga         64/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.16 (0.79–1.70)         2.25 (1.13–4.48)           Limpopo         42/1,642 (2)         148/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04–2.11)         0.97 (0.47–2.01)           Northern Cape         47/1,642 (3)         210/9,257 (2)         1.48 (1.04–2.11)         0.97 (0.47–2.01)           2003         209/1,642 (13)         733/9,257 (8)         1.45 (1.16–1.80)         <0.001	Eastern Cape	47/1,642 (3)	166/9,257 (2)	1.43 (1.03–1.99)		0.80 (0.39-1.63)	
Mpumalanga         64/1.642 (4)         3569.257 (4)         0.90 (0.69–1.19)         0.80 (0.43–1.49)           North-West         34/1.642 (3)         1439.257 (2)         1.16 (0.79–1.70)         2.25 (1.13–4.48)           Limpopo         42/1.642 (3)         2109.257 (2)         1.13 (0.82–1.56)         1.39 (0.85–2.26)           Year of specimen collection         2003         209/1.642 (13)         733/9.257 (8)         1.45 (1.16–1.80)         <0.001	Free State	130/1,642 (8)	516/9,257 (6)	1.27 (1.04–1.56)		0.89 (0.64-1.22)	
North-Wesi         34/1.642 (2)         148/9.257 (2)         1.16 (0.79-1.70)         2.25 (1.13-4.48)           Limpopo         42/1.642 (3)         143/9.257 (2)         1.48 (1.04-2.11)         0.97 (0.47-2.01)           Year of specimen collection         2003         209/1.642 (13)         733/9.257 (8)         1.45 (1.16-1.80)         <0.001	Mpumalanga	64/1,642 (4)	358/9,257 (4)	0.90 (0.69-1.19)		0.80 (0.43-1.49)	
Limopop 4/1/.642 (3) 143/9.257 (2) 1.48 (1.04–2.11) 0.97 (0.47–2.01) Year of specimen collection 2003 209/(642 (13) 739/9.257 (2) 1.13 (0.82–1.56) 1.39 (0.85–2.26) Year of specimen collection 2004 225/1.642 (14) 891/9.257 (10) 1.28 (1.03–1.58) 1.32 (0.87–2.00) 2005 196/1.642 (12) 994/9.257 (11) Reference Reference 2006 142/1.642 (2) 994/9.257 (10) 0.75 (0.59–0.95) 0.67 (0.42–1.09) 2007 112/1.642 (7) 892/9.257 (10) 0.64 (0.59–0.89) 0.66 (0.56–1.32) 2009 156/1.642 (10) 896/9.257 (10) 0.84 (0.65–0.89) 0.66 (0.56–1.52) 2010 164/1.642 (10) 995/9.257 (19) 0.81 (0.65–1.06) 0.96 (0.63–1.51) 2011 134/1.642 (8) 819/9.257 (9) 0.81 (0.65–1.06) 0.96 (0.63–1.57) 2013 76/1.642 (5) 587/9.257 (6) 0.66 (0.49–0.87) 0.64 (0.40–1.04) Medical conditions/treatment Length of hospital stay, d 411/1,443 (33) 2518/8,311 (30) Reference 0.001 Reference 0.01 4-14 755/1.443 (53) 4299/8,311 (52) 0.93 (0.82–1.05) 0.66 (0.68–1.09) 2515 204/1.443 (14) 1504/8,311 (18) 0.71 (0.60–0.87) 0.64 (0.40–0.46) Previous hospital admission 166/1.153 (14) 20006,816 (29) 0.40 (0.34–0.48) <0.001 0.45 (0.48–0.86) 0.45 (0.35–0.57) <0.001 Underlying medical 2010 164/1.621 (2) 2557 (7) 0.43 (0.30–0.62) <0.001 Underlying medical 2112/1.642 (3) 412/5,550 (7) 0.43 (0.30–0.62) <0.001 0.64 (0.48–0.86) 0.45 (0.35–0.57) <0.001 Underlying medical 2010 164/1.422 (32) 2650/8,228 (32) 1.01 (0.90–1.14) 0.88 Previous a mo§ Heitwinected 717/1.007 (71) 5373/6,338 (85) 0.44 (0.38–0.52) <0.001 0.73 (0.57–0.95) 0.02 mo Died during hospitalization 4611.422 (32) 2650/8,228 (32) 1.01 (0.90–1.14) 0.38 Previous invasive 26/1.642 (2) 396/9.257 (7) 0.81 (0.65–1.02) Clinical syndromettje 15/1.541 (38) 3043/8,793 (35) Reference 0.05 1.28 (1.03–1.58) Biod 102/51.541 (54) 5967/9.257 (7) 0.81 (0.65–1.02) Clinical syndromettje 557/1.541 (54) 5076/8,793 (58) 0.85 (0.76–0.99) (62) Other 105/1.642 (6) 664/9.257 (7) 0.81 (0.65–1.02) Clinical syndromettje 557/1.541 (54) 5076/8,793 (58) 0.85 (0.76–0.99) (52) Other 105/1.642 (6) 564/9.257 (7) 0.81 (0.65–1.02) Cl	North-West	34/1,642 (2)	148/9,257 (2)	1.16 (0.79–1.70)		2.25 (1.13-4.48)	
Northern Cape         47/1,642 (3)         210/9,257 (2)         1.13 (0.82–1.56)         1.39 (0.85–2.26)           Year of specimen collection         200/1,642 (13)         733/9,257 (8)         1.45 (1.16–1.80)         <0.001	Limpopo	42/1,642 (3)	143/9,257 (2)	1.48 (1.04–2.11)		0.97 (0.47-2.01)	
Year of specimen collection         2003         2094         225/1,642 (14)         891/9,257 (10)         1.45 (1.16–1.80)         <0.001         1.17 (0.76–1.82)         0.01           2005         196/1,642 (12)         994/9,257 (10)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)         1.32 (0.87–2.00)         Reference         Reference           2006         14271,642 (19)         992/9,257 (10)         0.75 (0.59–0.95)         0.67 (0.42–1.09)         0.07 (0.44–1.14)           2009         116/1,642 (10)         866/9,257 (9)         0.91 (0.73–1.15)         1.21 (0.80–1.84)           2010         164/1,642 (10)         995/9,257 (11)         0.84 (0.65–1.05)         0.98 (0.63–1.51)           2011         134/1,642 (10)         995/9,257 (10)         0.83 (0.65–1.05)         0.98 (0.62–1.48)           2012         112/1,642 (17)         676/9,257 (10)         0.84 (0.65–1.05)         0.98 (0.68–1.67)           2013         76/1,642 (10)         986/9,257 (10)         0.83 (0.65–1.05)         0.98 (0.68–1.67)           2014         134/1,642 (13)         2718/9,257 (6)         0.86 (0.68–1.08)         0.96 (0.68–1.67)           2013         76/1,642 (15)         50/9,257 (11)         0.86 (0.68–1.08)         0.96 (0.68–1.08)           2013         76/1,642 (15)         50/9,257 (16)         0.68 (0.168	Northern Cape	47/1,642 (3)	210/9,257 (2)	1.13 (0.82–1.56)		1.39 (0.85–2.26)	
2003         209/1,642 (13)         733/9,257 (8)         1.45 (1.16-1.80)         <0.001	Year of specimen collection						
2004         225/1,642 (14)         891/9,257 (10)         1.28 (1.03-1.58)         1.32 (0.87-2.00)           2005         196/1,642 (12)         994/9,257 (10)         0.75 (0.59-0.95)         0.67 (0.42-1.09)           2006         142/1,642 (9)         962/9,257 (10)         0.64 (0.50-0.82)         0.71 (0.44-1.14)           2008         116/1,642 (10)         866/9,257 (9)         0.91 (0.73-1.15)         1.21 (0.80-1.84)           2009         156/1,642 (10)         866/9,257 (9)         0.81 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.51)           2011         134/1,642 (8)         819/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.51)           2013         76/1,642 (15)         956/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.85)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           215         204/1,443 (13)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         0.46 (0.48-0.86)           215         204/1,443 (14)         1504/8,311 (18)         0.71 (0.60-0.85)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           Previous hospital admission	2003	209/1,642 (13)	733/9,257 (8)	1.45 (1.16–1.80)	<0.001	1.17 (0.76–1.82)	0.01
2005         196/1,642 (12)         994/9,257 (11)         Reference         Reference           2006         14/2/1,642 (17)         962/9,257 (10)         0.75 (0.59-0.95)         0.67 (0.42-1.09)           2007         11/2/1,642 (17)         892/9,257 (10)         0.64 (0.50-0.82)         0.71 (0.44-1.14)           2008         116/1,642 (17)         842/9,257 (19)         0.70 (0.55-0.89)         0.86 (0.56-1.32)           2010         156/1,642 (10)         995/9,257 (11)         0.84 (0.65-1.05)         1.22 (0.66-1.57)           2011         134/1,642 (8)         81/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.51)           2012         112/1,642 (5)         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d         -         -         -           4-14         756/1,443 (53)         4289/8,311 (52)         0.93 (0.82-1.05)         0.86 (0.68-1.09)           215         204/1,443 (53)         2516/8,311 (18)         0.71 (0.60-0.65)         0.26 (0.49-0.86)           Previous hospital admission         166/1,153 (14)         200/6,816 (29)         0.04 (0.34-0.48)         <0.001	2004	225/1,642 (14)	891/9,257 (10)	1.28 (1.03–1.58)		1.32 (0.87–2.00)	
2006         142/1,642 (9)         962/9,257 (10)         0.75 (0.59-0.55)         0.67 (0.42-1.09)           2007         112/1,642 (7)         892/9,257 (10)         0.64 (0.50-0.82)         0.71 (0.44-1.14)           2008         116/1,642 (7)         842/9,257 (9)         0.91 (0.73-1.15)         1.21 (0.80-1.84)           2010         164/1,642 (10)         866/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.66-1.57)           2011         134/1,642 (8)         819/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.62-1.48)           2012         112/1,642 (7)         676/9,257 (7)         0.84 (0.65-1.08)         0.96 (0.62-1.48)           2013         76/1,642 (5)         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d               213         76/1,443 (33)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.001           214         756/1,443 (33)         2518/8,311 (20)         0.93 (0.82-1.05)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           215         204/1,443 (14)         150/48,311 (18)         0.71 (0.60-0.85)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           Previous hospital admission         166/1,153 (14)         2000/6,816 (29)<	2005	196/1,642 (12)	994/9,257 (11)	Reference		Reference	
2007         112/1,642 (7)         892/9,257 (10)         0.64 (0.50-0.82)         0.71 (0.44-1.14)           2008         116/1,642 (7)         842/9,257 (9)         0.70 (0.55-0.89)         0.86 (0.56-1.32)           2009         156/1,642 (10)         866/9,257 (9)         0.91 (0.73-1.15)         1.21 (0.80-1.84)           2010         164/1,642 (10)         995/9,257 (11)         0.84 (0.67-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.51)           2011         134/1,642 (8)         81/9,257 (7)         0.83 (0.65-1.06)         0.96 (0.62-1.48)           2012         112/1,642 (7)         676/9,257 (7)         0.84 (0.65-1.08)         0.96 (0.62-1.48)           2013         76/1,642 (5)         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d	2006	142/1,642 (9)	962/9,257 (10)	0.75 (0.59-0.95)		0.67 (0.42-1.09)	
2008         116/1 (42 (7)         84/2 (9,257 (9)         0.70 (0.55-0.89)         0.86 (0.56-1.32)           2009         156/1 (42 (10)         966/9,257 (9)         0.91 (0.73-1.15)         1.21 (0.80-1.84)           2010         164/1 (42 (10)         995/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.57)           2011         134/1 (42 (8)         819/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.57)           2012         112/1 (642 (7)         76/9,257 (7)         0.84 (0.65-1.08)         0.96 (0.62-1.48)           2013         76/1,642 (5)         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d               4.14         758/1,443 (53)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.011           Underlying medical         310/953 (33)         2571/6,083 (42)         0.66 (0.57-0.76)         <0.001	2007	112/1,642 (7)	892/9,257 (10)	0.64 (0.50-0.82)		0.71 (0.44–1.14)	
2009         156/1,642 (10)         866/9,257 (9)         0.91 (0.73-1.15)         1.21 (0.80-1.84)           2010         164/1,642 (10)         995/9,257 (11)         0.84 (0.67-1.05)         1.02 (0.66-1.57)           2011         134/1,642 (7)         676/9,257 (7)         0.83 (0.65-1.08)         0.96 (0.62-1.48)           2012         112/1,642 (7)         676/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment Length of hospital stay, d         53         481/1,443 (53)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.01           3         481/1,443 (53)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.04 (0.49-0.86)           215         204/1,443 (14)         1504/8,311 (18)         0.71 (0.60-0.86)         0.064 (0.48-0.66)         revious hospital admission         164/1,153 (14)         2000/8,816 (29)         0.40 (0.34-0.48)         <0.001	2008	116/1,642 (7)	842/9,257 (9)	0.70 (0.55–0.89)		0.86 (0.56–1.32)	
2010         164/1 642 (10)         995/9.257 (11)         0.84 (0.67-1.05)         1.02 (0.66-1.57)           2011         134/1.642 (8)         819/9.257 (7)         0.84 (0.65-1.06)         0.98 (0.63-1.51)           2012         112/1.642 (5)         587/9.257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d         ≤3         481/1.443 (33)         2518/8.311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.01           4-14         758/1.443 (53)         4289/8.311 (52)         0.93 (0.82-1.05)         0.64 (0.40-0.86)         0.64 (0.40-0.86)           Previous hospital admission         166/1.153 (14)         2000/6.816 (29)         0.40 (0.34-0.48)         <0.001	2009	156/1,642 (10)	866/9,257 (9)	0.91 (0.73–1.15)		1.21 (0.80–1.84)	
2011         134/1,642 (8)         819/9,257 (9)         0.83 (0.65-1.05)         0.98 (0.63-1.51)           2012         112/1,642 (7)         676/9,257 (7)         0.84 (0.65-1.08)         0.96 (0.62-1.48)           2013         76/1,642 (5)         587/9,257 (6)         0.66 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           Medical conditions/treatment         Length of hospital stay, d         0.53 (0.49-0.87)         0.64 (0.40-1.04)           ≤3         481/1,443 (33)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.01           4-14         758/1,443 (53)         4289/8,311 (18)         0.77 (0.60-0.85)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           Previous hospital admission         166/1,153 (14)         2000/6,816 (29)         0.40 (0.34-0.48)         <0.001	2010	164/1,642 (10)	995/9,257 (11)	0.84 (0.67–1.05)		1.02 (0.66–1.57)	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	2011	134/1,642 (8)	819/9,257 (9)	0.83 (0.65–1.05)		0.98 (0.63–1.51)	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	2012	112/1,642 (7)	676/9,257 (7)	0.84 (0.65–1.08)		0.96 (0.62–1.48)	
Medical conditions/treatment Length of hospital stay, d         481/1,443 (33)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.01           4-14         758/1,443 (53)         4289/8,311 (52)         0.93 (0.82-1.05)         0.86 (0.68-1.09)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           215         204/1,443 (14)         1504/8,311 (18)         0.71 (0.60-0.85)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)           Previous hospital admission Underlying medical         166/1,153 (14)         2000/6,816 (29)         0.40 (0.34-0.48)         <0.001	2013	76/1,642 (5)	587/9,257 (6)	0.66 (0.49–0.87)		0.64 (0.40–1.04)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Medical conditions/treatment		· · · · · ·				
≤3         481/1,443 (33)         2518/8,311 (30)         Reference         0.001         Reference         0.01           4-14         758/1,443 (53)         4289/8,311 (52)         0.93 (0.82-1.05)         0.86 (0.68-1.09)         0.86 (0.68-1.09)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)         0.011           ≥15         204/1,443 (14)         1504/8,311 (18)         0.71 (0.60-0.85)         0.64 (0.48-0.86)         0.45 (0.35-0.57)         <0.001	Length of hospital stay, d						
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	<3	481/1,443 (33)	2518/8,311 (30)	Reference	0.001	Reference	0.01
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	4–14	758/1,443 (53)	4289/8,311 (52)	0.93 (0.82-1.05)		0.86 (0.68–1.09)	
Previous hospital admission Underlying medical         166/1,153 (14)         2000/6,816 (29)         0.40 (0.34–0.48)         <0.001         0.45 (0.35–0.57)         <0.001           condition‡         310/953 (33)         2571/6,083 (42)         0.66 (0.57–0.76)         <0.001	>15	204/1,443 (14)	1504/8,311 (18)	0.71 (0.60–0.85)		0.64 (0.48–0.86)	
Underlying medical 310/953 (33) 2571/6,083 (42) 0.66 (0.57–0.76) <0.001 condition‡ Antimicrobial drug use in 32/962 (3) 412/5,550 (7) 0.43 (0.30–0.62) <0.001 Previous 2 mo§ HIV infected 717/1,007 (71) 5373/6,338 (85) 0.44 (0.38–0.52) <0.001 0.39 (0.31–0.49) <0.001 Treated for TB in previous 3 146/1,126 (13) 1373/6,659 (21) 0.57 (0.48–0.69) <0.001 0.73 (0.57–0.95) 0.02 mo Died during hospitalization 461/1,422 (32) 2650/8,228 (32) 1.01 (0.90–1.14) 0.88 Pneumococcal isolate characteristics Penicillin nonsusceptible¶ 15/1,555 (1) 2916/8,829 (33) 0.02 (0.01–0.03) <0.001 0.02 (0.01–0.04) <0.001 Previous invasive 26/1,642 (2) 396/9,257 (4) 0.36 (0.24–0.54) <0.001 0.32 (0.16–0.63) 0.001 pneumococcal disease** Clinical syndrome/specimen type Specimen type Cerebral spinal fluid 512/1,642 (31) 2626/9,257 (28) Reference 0.05 G(2) 0.10 Other 105/1,642 (6) 664/9,257 (7) 0.81 (0.65–1.02) Clinical syndrome†† Meningitis 587/1,541 (38) 3043/8,793 (35) Reference 0.02 Reference 0.006 Pneumonia 832/1,541 (54) 5076/8,793 (58) 0.85 (0.76–0.95) 1.28 (1.03–1.58) Bacteremia 122/1,541 (8) 674/8,793 (8) 0.94 (0.76–1.16) 1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Previous hospital admission	166/1,153 (14)	2000/6,816 (29)	0.40 (0.34–0.48)	<0.001	0.45 (0.35–0.57)	<0.001
condition‡       Antimicrobial drug use in previous 2 mo§       32/962 (3)       412/5,550 (7)       0.43 (0.30–0.62)       <0.001	Underlying medical	310/953 (33)	2571/6,083 (42)	0.66 (0.57–0.76)	<0.001	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Antimicrobial drug use in previous 2 mo§         32/962 (3)         412/5,550 (7)         0.43 (0.30-0.62)         <0.001           HIV infected         717/1,007 (71)         5373/6,338 (85)         0.44 (0.38-0.52)         <0.001	condition	( )	, , ,	· · · · ·			
previous 2 mo§       717/1,007 (71)       5373/6,338 (85)       0.44 (0.38–0.52)       <0.001	Antimicrobial drug use in	32/962 (3)	412/5,550 (7)	0.43 (0.30-0.62)	<0.001		
HIV infected       717/1,007 (71)       5373/6,338 (85)       0.44 (0.38–0.52)       <0.001	previous 2 mo§	( )	, , , ,	· · · · ·			
Treated for TB in previous 3       146/1,126 (13)       1373/6,659 (21)       0.57 (0.48–0.69)       <0.001	HIV infected	717/1,007 (71)	5373/6,338 (85)	0.44 (0.38-0.52)	<0.001	0.39 (0.31–0.49)	<0.001
mo         definition         461/1,422 (32)         2650/8,228 (32)         1.01 (0.90–1.14)         0.88           Pneumococcal isolate characteristics         Penicillin nonsusceptible¶         15/1,555 (1)         2916/8,829 (33)         0.02 (0.01–0.03)         <0.001	Treated for TB in previous 3	146/1,126 (13)	1373/6,659 (21)	0.57 (0.48–0.69)	<0.001	0.73 (0.57–0.95)	0.02
Died during hospitalization         461/1,422 (32)         2650/8,228 (32)         1.01 (0.90–1.14)         0.88           Pneumococcal isolate characteristics         Penicillin nonsusceptible¶         15/1,555 (1)         2916/8,829 (33)         0.02 (0.01–0.03)         <0.001	mo			,		· · · · ·	
Pneumococcal isolate       15/1,555 (1)       2916/8,829 (33)       0.02 (0.01–0.03)       <0.001	Died during hospitalization	461/1,422 (32)	2650/8,228 (32)	1.01 (0.90–1.14)	0.88		
characteristics Penicillin nonsusceptible¶ Previous invasive pneumococcal disease** Clinical syndrome/specimen type Specimen type Cerebral spinal fluid Blood 1022/1,642 (3) 2626/9,257 (2) Specimen type Cerebral spinal fluid Blood 1022/1,642 (3) 2626/9,257 (28) Clinical syndrome/specimen type Specimen type Cerebral spinal fluid Blood 1025/1,642 (5) 664/9,257 (7) Clinical syndrome†† Meningitis Pneumonia 832/1,541 (54) 122/1,541 (8) 674/8,793 (8) 0.94 (0.76-1.16) 0.001 0.02 (0.01-0.04) 0.02 (0.01-0.04) 0.00 (0.01-0.0	Pneumococcal isolate		· · · /				
Penicillin nonsusceptible¶         15/1,555 (1) 26/1,642 (2)         2916/8,829 (33) 396/9,257 (4)         0.02 (0.01–0.03) 0.36 (0.24–0.54)         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04) 0.32 (0.16–0.63)         <0.001           pneumococcal disease**         Clinical syndrome/specimen type         Specimen type         0.02         0.02         0.01         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001         0.001         0.02 (0.01–0.04)         0.001	characteristics						
Previous invasive         26/1,642 (2)         396/9,257 (4)         0.36 (0.24–0.54)         <0.001         0.32 (0.16–0.63)         0.001           pneumococcal disease**         Clinical syndrome/specimen type         0.36 (0.24–0.54)         <0.001	Penicillin nonsusceptible¶	15/1.555 (1)	2916/8.829 (33)	0.02 (0.01-0.03)	<0.001	0.02 (0.01-0.04)	<0.001
pneumococcal disease**           Clinical syndrome/specimen type           Specimen type           Cerebral spinal fluid         512/1,642 (31)         2626/9,257 (28)         Reference         0.05           Blood         1025/1,642         5967/9,257 (64)         0.88 (0.78–0.99)         0.62           Other         105/1,642 (6)         664/9,257 (7)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)         Reference         0.02           Clinical syndrome††         Meningitis         587/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76–0.95)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)           Bacteremia         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76–1.16)         1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Previous invasive	26/1.642 (2)	396/9.257 (4)	0.36 (0.24-0.54)	< 0.001	0.32 (0.16-0.63)	0.001
Clinical syndrome/specimen type       Specimen type         Specimen type       Cerebral spinal fluid       512/1,642 (31)       2626/9,257 (28)       Reference       0.05         Blood       1025/1,642       5967/9,257 (64)       0.88 (0.78–0.99)       0.62         Other       105/1,642 (6)       664/9,257 (7)       0.81 (0.65–1.02)         Clinical syndrome††       Meningitis       587/1,541 (38)       3043/8,793 (35)       Reference       0.02       Reference       0.006         Pneumonia       832/1,541 (54)       5076/8,793 (58)       0.85 (0.76–0.95)       1.28 (1.03–1.58)       0.006         Bacteremia       122/1,541 (8)       674/8,793 (8)       0.94 (0.76–1.16)       1.76 (1.22–2.55)	pneumococcal disease**			,		(	
type Specimen type Cerebral spinal fluid Blood 005 0.00 0.006 Pneumonia Bacteremia 122/1,541 (8) 074/8,793 (8) 0.94 (0.76-0.95) 1.28 (1.03-1.58) 1.76 (1.22-2.55)	Clinical syndrome/specimen						
Specimen type         Cerebral spinal fluid         512/1,642 (31)         2626/9,257 (28)         Reference         0.05           Blood         1025/1,642         5967/9,257 (64)         0.88 (0.78–0.99)         0.88 (0.78–0.99)         0.62           Other         105/1,642 (6)         664/9,257 (7)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)           Clinical syndrome††         Meningitis         587/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76–0.95)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)         0.006           Bacteremia         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76–1.16)         1.76 (1.22–2.55)	type						
Cerebral spinal fluid         512/1,642 (31)         2626/9,257 (28)         Reference         0.05           Blood         1025/1,642         5967/9,257 (64)         0.88 (0.78–0.99)         0.05           Other         105/1,642 (6)         664/9,257 (7)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)         0.02           Clinical syndrome††         Meningitis         587/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76–0.95)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)         1.22/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76–1.16)         1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Specimen type						
Blood         1025/1,642         5967/9,257         64)         0.88 (0.78–0.99)           Other         105/1,642 (6)         664/9,257 (7)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)           Clinical syndrome††         Meningitis         587/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         507/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76–0.95)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)           Bacteremia         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76–1.16)         1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Cerebral spinal fluid	512/1.642 (31)	2626/9.257 (28)	Reference	0.05		
(62)         (105/1,642 (6)         664/9,257 (7)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)           Clinical syndrome††         Meningitis         587/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76–0.95)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)           Bacteremia         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76–1.16)         1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Blood	1025/1.642	5967/9.257 (64)	0.88 (0.78-0.99)	0.00		
Other         105/1,642 (6)         664/9,257 (7)         0.81 (0.65–1.02)           Clinical syndrome††		(62)		(1.1.0 0.00)			
Clinical syndrome††         S87/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76–0.95)         1.28 (1.03–1.58)           Bacteremia         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76–1.16)         1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Other	105/1.642 (6)	664/9.257 (7)	0.81 (0.65-1.02)			
Meningitis         587/1,541 (38)         3043/8,793 (35)         Reference         0.02         Reference         0.006           Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76-0.95)         1.28 (1.03-1.58)         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76-1.16)         1.76 (1.22-2.55)	Clinical syndromet+						
Pneumonia         832/1,541 (54)         5076/8,793 (58)         0.85 (0.76-0.95)         1.28 (1.03-1.58)           Bacteremia         122/1,541 (8)         674/8,793 (8)         0.94 (0.76-1.16)         1.76 (1.22-2.55)	Meningitis	587/1.541 (38)	3043/8,793 (35)	Reference	0.02	Reference	0.006
Bacteremia 122/1,541 (8) 674/8,793 (8) 0.94 (0.76–1.16) 1.76 (1.22–2.55)	Pneumonia	832/1.541 (54)	5076/8,793 (58)	0.85 (0.76-0.95)	0.02	1.28 (1.03–1.58)	0.000
	Bacteremia	122/1.541 (8)	674/8.793 (8)	0.94 (0.76–1.16)		1.76 (1.22–2.55)	

Technical Appendix Table 2. Characteristics of 10,899 patients ≥5 years of age with invasive pneumococcal disease caused b	y
serotype 1 and non-serotype 1 Streptococcus pneumoniae. South Africa. 2003–2013*	

\*All patients were reported from the enhanced Group for Enteric, Respiratory, and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA) surveillance sites. aOR, adjusted odds ratio; OR, odds ratio; TB, tuberculosis

†Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown (exception is death during hospital admission). Variables not included in table are sex, Pitt bacteremia score, antimicrobial drug in previous 24 h, and viable culture. Prematurity and malnutrition were not included in the analysis because they were not considered relevant or actively collected for patients ≥5 years of age.

analysis because they were not considered relevant or actively collected for patients ≥5 years or age. ‡Includes asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness (i.e., chronic lung, renal, liver, cardiac disease, and diabetes); other immunocompromising conditions (i.e., organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy, and malignancy, but excluding HIV); and other risk factors (i.e., head injury with possible cerebral spinal fluid leak, neurologic disorders, burns, chromosomal abnormalities, smoking, and alcohol use). §Use of any antimicrobial drug in 2 mo before admission.

 $\mathbb{P}_{1}$  and  $\mathbb{P}_{2}$  and  $\mathbb{P}_{2}$  are before damasion.  $\mathbb{P}_{2}$  are before d

††Clinical diagnoses were made on the basis of documented discharge diagnoses in patient medical records; clinical syndrome separated into 3 groups: meningitis, bacteremic pneumonia, and bacteremia without focus or other diagnosis (e.g., septic arthritis, endopthalmitis, peritonitis, pericarditis).

Technical Appendix Table 3. Factors associated with death in patients ≥5 years of age with serotype 1 invasive pneumococcal disease, South Africa, 2003–2013\*

	Univariate analysis			Multivariable analysis	
Variable	No. deaths/no. cases (%)	OR (95% CI)	p value	aOR (95% CI)	p value
Demographic/socioeconomic					
characteristic					
Age group, y					
5–9	37/350 (11)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	<0.001
10–14	23/143 (16)	1.62 (0.92–2.84)		1.24 (0.65–4.57)	
15–24	90/362 (25)	2.80 (1.85–4.24)		3.05 (1.47–6.32)	
25–44	611/1,950 (31)	3.86 (2.71–5.50)		5.07 (2.74–9.38)	
45-64	285/686 (42)	6.01 (4.14–8.73)		9.00 (4.66–17.35)	
_ >64	58/133 (44)	6.54 (4.03–10.61)		10.13 (4.46–23.00)	
Race		5.4			
Nonblack	61/250 (24)	Reference	0.03		
Black	1,023/3,313 (31)	1.38 (1.02–1.86)			
Province	700/0 444 (00)	D (	0.004		
Gauteng	706/2,444 (29)	Reference	<0.001		
Western Cape	54/217 (25)	0.82 (0.59–1.12)			
KwaZulu-Natal	98/329 (30)	1.04 (0.81–1.34)			
Eastern Cape	29/68 (43)	1.83 (1.12–2.98)			
Free State	59/189 (31)	1.12 (0.81–1.54)			
North West	63/154 (41)	1.70 (1.22–2.38)			
North-west	34/70 (49)	2.32(1.44 - 3.75)			
Limpopo	42/94 (45)	1.99 (1.31–3.01)			
Madical condition (tractment)	19/59 (32)	1.17 (0.67–2.03)			
l opath of hospital atoy, d					
	750/1 120 (66)	Poforonoo	-0.001	Poforonoo	-0.001
<u>&gt;</u> 3 4 14	254/1 801 (12)		<0.001		<0.001
4-14 > 15	234/1,091 (13)	0.00(0.07-0.09) 0.10(0.08,0.13)		0.07 (0.03 - 0.10)	
215 Pitt bacteremia scoret	93/377 (10)	0.10 (0.00-0.13)		0.00 (0.04–0.09)	
	744/2 920 (26)	Peference	~0.001	Peference	~0.001
5 \_4	258/361 (71)	7 33 (5 74_0 34)	<0.001	5 26 (3 53-7 84)	<0.001
Linderlying medical conditiont	238/301 (71)	7.00 (0.74-0.04)		0.20 (0.00-1.04)	
No	357/1 582 (23)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	0 004
Yes	257/827 (31)	1 55 (1 28-1 87)	<b>NO.001</b>	1 53 (1 14-2 04)	0.004
Antimicrobial drug use in 24 h before	201/021 (01)	1.00 (1.20 1.07)		1.00 (1.14 2.04)	
admission					
No	644/2 537 (25)	Reference	0.05		
Yes	32/93 (34)	1.54 (1.00-2.39)	0.00		
HIV status	02,000 (01)				
HIV uninfected	108/514 (21)	Reference	0.001		
HIV infected	610/2.165 (28)	1.47 (1.17–1.86)			
Treated for tuberculosis in previous	0.0,2,100 (20)	(			
3 mo					
No	508/2,156 (24)	Reference	0.001	Reference	0.001
Yes	154/496 (31)	1.46 (1.18–1.81)		1.75 (1.25–2.45)	
Previous invasive					
pneumococcal disease§					
No	1097/3,536 (31)	Reference	<0.001		
Yes	7/88 (8)	0.19 (0.09-0.42)			
Clinical aundrama/anaaiman turna					

Clinical syndrome/specimen type

Specimen type					
Cerebral spinal fluid	461/802 (57)	Reference	<0.001		
Blood	565/2,440 (23)	0.22 (0.19-0.26)			
Other	78/382 (20)	0.19 (0.14–0.25)			
Clinical syndrome¶		, ,			
Meningitis	531/982 (54)	Reference	<0.001	Reference	<0.001
Pneumonia	490/2,311 (21)	0.23 (0.19-0.27)		0.18 (0.13-0.25)	
Bacteremia	75/307 (24)	0.27 (0.21–0.37)		0.29 0.18–0.48)	

\*All patients were reported from the enhanced Group for Enteric, Respiratory, and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA) surveillance sites. Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included in table are sex, year, previous hospital admission, any antimicrobial drug used in 2 mo before admission, and penicillin-nonsusceptible invasive pneumococcal disease. Prematurity and malnutrition were not included in the analysis because they were not considered relevant or actively collected for patients >5 years of age. aOR, adjusted odds ratio; OR, odds ratio.

+Pitt bacteremia score calculated by using temperature, hypotension, mechanical ventilation, cardiac arrest, and mental status. Severe disease defined as score of  $\geq$ 4 points.

defined as score of ≥4 points. ‡Includes asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness (i.e., chronic lung, renal, liver, cardiac disease and diabetes); other immunocompromising conditions (i.e., organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy, and malignancy, but excluding HIV); and other risk factors (i.e. head injury with possible cerebral spinal fluid leak, neurologic disorders, burns, and chromosomal abnormalities). §Invasive pneumococcal disease diagnosis >21 days before this episode. ¶Clinical diagnoses were made on the basis of documented discharge diagnoses in patient medical records, with clinical syndrome separated into 3 groups: meningitis, bacteremic pneumonia, and bacteremia without focus or other diagnosis (e.g. septic arthritis, endopthalmitis, peritonitis, paricervitic)

pericarditis).

# Technical Appendix Table 4. Serotype 1 clusters, by district, in South Africa, 2003–2013

		Locat	tion		
Cluster	Period	District	Province	Relative risk	p value
1	May 2003–Dec 2004	City of Johannesburg	Gauteng	1.7	<0.001
		City of Tshwane	Gauteng		
		Ekurhuleni	Gauteng		
		Metweding	Gauteng		
		Sedibeng	Gauteng		
		West Rand	Gauteng		
		Sekhukhune Cross	Limpopo		
		Govan Mbeki	Mpumalanga		
		Nkangala	Mpumalanga		
		Bojanala	North-West		
		Southern	North-West		
2	Sep 2008–Apr 2012	Alfred Nzo	Eastern Cape	1.4	<0.001
		Amatole	Eastern Cape		
		Chris Hani	Eastern Cape		
		Ukhahlamba	Eastern Cape		
		Lejweleputswa	Free State		
		Motheo	Free State		
		Northern	Free State		
		Thabo Mofutsanyane	Free State		
		Xhariep	Free State		
		Ekurhuleni	Gauteng		
		Sedibeng	Gauteng		
		Amabuja	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Ethekwini	KwaZulu-Natal		
		iLembe	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Sisonke	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Ugu	KwaZulu-Natal		
		UMgungundlovu	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Umkhanyakude	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Umzinyathi	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Uthukela	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Uthungulu	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Zululand	KwaZulu-Natal		
		Govan Mbeki	Mpumalanga		
		Southern	North-West		



**Technical Appendix Figure.** Incidence rates for serotype 1 in children <5 years (n = 714) and individuals  $\geq$ 5 years (n = 5167) of age, South Africa, 2003–2013. Error bars indicate CIs for incidence rates. N, imputed serotype 1 cases.

# PAPER III

# Increased Risk for and Mortality From Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in HIV-Exposed but Uninfected Infants Aged <1 Year in South Africa, 2009–2013

# Claire von Mollendorf,<sup>1,2</sup> Anne von Gottberg,<sup>1,3</sup> Stefano Tempia,<sup>1,4,5</sup> Susan Meiring,<sup>6</sup> Linda de Gouveia,<sup>1</sup> Vanessa Quan,<sup>6</sup> Sarona Lengana,<sup>1</sup> Theunis Avenant,<sup>7</sup> Nicolette du Plessis,<sup>7</sup> Brian Eley,<sup>8</sup> Heather Finlayson,<sup>9</sup> Gary Reubenson,<sup>10</sup> Mamokgethi Moshe,<sup>11</sup> Katherine L. O'Brien,<sup>12</sup> Keith P. Klugman,<sup>13,14</sup> Cynthia G. Whitney,<sup>15</sup> and Cheryl Cohen<sup>1,2</sup>; for the Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA)

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, Division of the National Health Laboratory Service, <sup>2</sup>School of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, and <sup>3</sup>Medical Research Council, Respiratory and Meningeal Pathogens Research Unit, School of Pathology, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa; <sup>4</sup>Influenza Division, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia; <sup>5</sup>Influenza Division, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Pretoria, <sup>6</sup>Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, Division of the National Health Laboratory Service, Johannesburg, <sup>7</sup>Pediatric Infectious Diseases Unit, Steve Biko (Pretoria Academic Hospital) and Kalafong Hospital, University of Pretoria, Gauteng, <sup>8</sup>Red Cross War Memorial Children's Hospital, Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, University of Cape Town, <sup>9</sup>Tygerberg Hospital and Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, Western Cape, <sup>10</sup>Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, and <sup>11</sup>Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Dr George Mukhari Hospital, Medunsa University, Tshwane, Gauteng Province, South Africa; <sup>12</sup>International Vaccine Access Center, Department of International Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland; <sup>13</sup>Hubert Department of Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health, <sup>14</sup>Division of Infectious Diseases, School of Medicine, Emory University, and <sup>15</sup>National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia

# (See the Editorial Commentary by Mofenson on pages 1357-60.)

**Background.** High antenatal human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) seroprevalence rates (~30%) with low perinatal HIV transmission rates (2.5%), due to HIV prevention of mother-to-child transmission program improvements in South Africa, has resulted in increasing numbers of HIV-exposed but uninfected (HEU) children. We aimed to describe the epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) in HEU infants.

*Methods.* We conducted a cross-sectional study of infants aged <1 year with IPD enrolled in a national, laboratory-based surveillance program for incidence estimations. Incidence was reported for 2 time points, 2009 and 2013. At enhanced sites we collected additional data including HIV status and in-hospital outcome.

**Results.** We identified 2099 IPD cases in infants from 2009 to 2013 from all sites. In infants from enhanced sites (n = 1015), 92% had known HIV exposure status and 86% had known outcomes. IPD incidence was highest in HIV-infected infants, ranging from 272 to 654 per 100 000 population between time points (2013 and 2009), followed by HEU (33–88 per 100 000) and HIV-unexposed and uninfected (HUU) infants (18–28 per 100 000). The case-fatality rate in HEU infants (29% [74/253]) was intermediate between HUU (25% [94/377]) and HIV-infected infants (34% [81/242]). When restricted to infants <6 months of age, HEU infants (37% [59/175]) were at significantly higher risk of dying than HUU infants (32% [51/228]; adjusted relative risk ratio, 1.76 [95% confidence interval, 1.09–2.85]).

**Discussion.** HEU infants are at increased risk of IPD and mortality from IPD compared with HUU children, especially as young infants. HEU infants, whose numbers will likely continue to increase, should be prioritized for interventions such as pneumococcal vaccination along with HIV-infected infants and children.

Keywords. Streptococcus pneumoniae; HIV exposure; children; South Africa; pneumococcal conjugate vaccine.

#### Clinical Infectious Diseases® 2015;60(9):1346–56

Received 31 October 2014; accepted 28 December 2014; electronically published 2 February 2015.

Correspondence: Claire von Mollendorf, MBBCh, MSc, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, 1 Modderfontein Road, NHLS, Sandringham 2193, Gauteng, South Africa (clairevm@nicd.ac.za).

<sup>©</sup> The Author 2015. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. All rights reserved. For Permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com. DOI: 10.1093/cid/civ059

Programs for prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) have expanded over the last decade in many countries. South Africa reported a decrease in mother-to-child HIV transmission rates from 12% in 2007 to 2.7% in 2011 [1] and 2.5% during 2012–2013 [2], despite a relatively constant prevalence of HIV in pregnant women of approximately 30%. This has resulted in an increasing number of HIV-exposed but uninfected (HEU) infants, especially in countries with elevated HIV prevalence such as South Africa.

All-cause hospitalization rates and complicated hospital admissions are more frequent in HEU than in HIV-unexposed and uninfected (HUU) infants [3, 4]. Some infectious diseases, including respiratory tract infections [5], are more common and often more severe among HEU than HUU children. Compared with HIV-infected children, 1 study reported similar rates of pneumonia and bacterial meningitis in HEU children, but higher rates of gastroenteritis and sepsis [6].

Some studies report higher mortality rates in HEU than HUU infants [7, 8] whereas others show no difference [9, 10]. In contrast, studies consistently report higher mortality rates in HIV-infected vs HEU or HUU infants [7]. Risk factors for mortality in HEU children include advanced maternal HIV disease [11, 12], malnutrition [8], severe pneumonia, and bacterial meningitis [6]. Mortality among HEU children peaks in younger infants (3–6 months), with death being predominantly associated with lower respiratory tract infections [8]. Within the general population, pneumococcus is estimated to cause 30%–40% of childhood community-acquired pneumonia cases [13]

There are no published data evaluating or quantifying the risk of hospitalization or mortality associated with invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) among HEU children. We aimed to describe the epidemiology of IPD from 2009 to 2013 in South African HEU infants <1 year of age, compared to the epidemiology of IPD in similarly aged HUU and HIV-infected infants.

# **METHODS**

### **Study Design and Setting**

Detailed methods are available in the Supplementary Appendix. Children hospitalized from 2009 through 2013 with laboratoryconfirmed IPD were prospectively identified by a national, laboratory-based, active surveillance program for *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. More than 200 routine hospital-based diagnostic laboratories (enhanced and nonenhanced hospital sites) systematically report IPD cases of all ages to the surveillance program. For the subset of cases occurring at 25 enhanced sentinel hospital sites, located in all 9 provinces, dedicated study surveillance officers collect additional clinical and demographic information.

# **Study Population**

We included all infants <1 year of age with IPD from 2009 through 2013. For incidence calculations, infants from enhanced and nonenhanced sites were included. For analyses of factors associated with HIV exposure/infection status and mortality, only infants from enhanced sites with known HIV exposure status and in-hospital outcome were included.

# **Case Definitions**

IPD cases were defined as *S. pneumoniae* identified from normally sterile site (eg, cerebrospinal fluid [CSF], blood, joint fluid, pleural fluid) specimens at participating sites. HUU infants were defined as infants with documented negative maternal HIV status at birth or time of illness, with or without a negative HIV enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) result for the infant. HEU infants were defined as infants who had a negative HIV PCR result with known positive maternal HIV status (verbal or documented positive result) or infants with a positive HIV ELISA result and negative HIV PCR result. HEU infants who had symptoms suggestive of HIV at the current admission were retested. HIV-infected infants were defined as infants with a positive HIV PCR result before or at time of illness.

#### Incidence

We calculated annual incidence of pneumococcal disease from 2009 through 2013 for infants <1 year of age, by HIV infection/ exposure status, by dividing the number of laboratoryconfirmed IPD cases reported each year in each category (HEU, HUU, and HIV) by the midyear population estimates for each group. Population denominators were obtained from the THEMBISA model [14]. Due to significant decreasing trends in IPD incidence rates (IRs) from 2009 through 2013, resulting from progressive pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) introduction and HIV-related interventions [15], we only presented data from 2 time points, prevaccine (2009) and postvaccine (2013) introduction.

As HIV infection/exposure status information was only available for cases identified at enhanced sites, we assumed a similar prevalence of HIV infection and exposure among cases with unknown (from nonenhanced sites) status as that found at enhanced sites. We calculated relative risk of IPD hospitalization comparing HEU children with HUU and HIV-infected children. Confidence intervals were calculated using Poisson distribution for incidence rates IRs and incidence rate ratios (IRRs).

## Factors Associated With HIV Exposure Status and Death

We included infants <1 years of age with IPD from enhanced sites only, from 2009 through 2013, and developed 2 multivariable models to identify factors associated with outcome variables: (1) HIV infection/exposure status and (2) mortality. Multinomial regression was used for comparison of factors associated with HIV infection/exposure. Multinomial regression allows modeling of outcome variables with >2 categories and relates the probability of being in category j to the probability of being in a baseline category. A complete set of coefficients are estimated for each of the j levels being compared with the baseline, and the effect of each predictor in the model is measured as relative risk ratio (RRR). HEU cases were used as the referent group and compared with HUU and HIV-infected infants so that all described differences would be related to



**Figure 1.** Patients with invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) reported from the Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa sites, 2009–2013. Abbreviation: HIV, human immunodeficiency virus.

exposed children. The model to assess factors associated with mortality used logistic regression and was presented stratified by age (<6 months and 6 to <12 months) as there was significant interaction between age and HIV infection/exposure status. Statistical analysis was implemented using Stata software, version 12 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas).

# Ethics

Ethics approval was obtained for Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa (GERMS-SA) surveillance (M081117) from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical), University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa, and other local hospital or provincial ethics committees, as required.

# RESULTS

We identified 2099 IPD cases in infants <1 year of age from 2009 through 2013 from all sites (Figure 1). Enhanced sites, predominantly regional and tertiary hospitals, contributed about 50% (n = 1015) of all isolates received. Nonenhanced sites included district, regional, and tertiary public hospitals, as well as private hospitals and clinics. Regional and tertiary hospitals contributed 73% (787/1084) of isolates sent from nonenhanced sites. In cases from enhanced sites, 92% (937/1015) had known HIV exposure/infection status and 86% (872/1015) had known in-hospital outcomes. Compared with nonenhanced sites, patients at enhanced sites were more likely to be diagnosed on positive blood (odds ratio [OR], 1.24; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.04–1.48) or other specimen culture (OR, 2.36; 95% CI, 1.39-4.03), compared with CSF, as these specimens were more likely to be done at enhanced sites. Age distribution (<6 months and 6 to <12 months) did not differ (OR, 1.10; 95% CI, .92-1.31) between enhanced and nonenhanced sites (data not shown).

Breastfeeding information was only available for children enrolled in a nested case-control study. In the first 4 months of life, 33% (30/90) of HEU children, 81% (119/147) of HUU children, and 56% (43/77) of HIV-infected children were breastfed. Seventy-six percent (n = 207) of all HEU children from enhanced sites had known HIV testing dates; only 61 (29%) were tested more than a month prior to admission, and 34 (of the 61) had a known feeding status, with only 7 being breastfed.

Serotype distribution differed by known HIV status for enhanced-site patients. Across all years, isolates from HIV-infected cases were more likely to be vaccine serotypes (71% [160/225]) than isolates from HEU cases (57% [139/244]; P < .001), whereas prevalence was similar between isolates from HEU and HUU cases (56% [198/356]; P = .88). A similar proportion of cases was isolated from CSF and blood cultures in HIV-infected (33% [84/257] and 65% [167/257], respectively) and HEU cases (38% [103/273] and 61% [166/273], respectively), whereas proportions differed among HUU cases (CSF, 43% [175/407]; blood culture, 51% [207/407]; P < .001). The proportion of vaccine-type IPD decreased in all 3 groups between 2009 and 2013: 79% (48/61) and 30% (12/40) for HEU infants (P < .001); 72% (72/100) and 23% (15/64) for HUU infants (P < .001); and 85% (75/88) and 35% (7/20) (P < .001), for HIV-infected infants, respectively.

#### **Incidence Rates**

In 2009 (Table 1), IPD incidence in the <1-year age group was higher in HIV-infected compared with HUU (20-fold) and HEU infants (7-fold). HEU infants also had a 3-fold higher incidence of IPD than HUU infants. When stratified into 2 age groups, incidence was similarly highest in HIV-infected infants, intermediate in HEU infants, and lowest in HUU infants (Table 1). By 2013, although IRs had decreased due to PCV and HIV interventions, in all groups compared with 2009, relative trends in incidence by HIV exposure/infection status were

 Table 1.
 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Incidence Rates and Incident Rate Ratios Between Infants Aged <12 Months, <6 Months, and 6 to <12 Months, South Africa, 2009 and 2013</th>

	Incidence Rates p	Incidence Rates per 100 000 Population (95% CI)			Incidence Rate Ratio (95% CI)		
Age Group	HI	HEU	HUU	HI/HEU	HI/HUU	HEU/HUU	
2009 (prevaccine)							
<6 mo	1156 (972–1364)	112 (94–132)	31 (26–37)	10.3 (8.1–13.1)	37.0 (29.0–47.2)	3.6 (2.8–4.6)	
6 to <12 mo	467 (394–551)	59 (46–75)	26 (21–31)	7.9 (5.9–10.8)	18.0 (14.0–23.3)	2.3 (1.7–3.1)	
<12 mo	654 (579–736)	88 (76–100)	28 (25–32)	7.5 (6.2–9.0)	23.1 (19.4–27.6)	3.1 (2.6–3.7)	
2013 (postvaccine	)						
<6 mo	581 (389–835)	57 (46–71)	21 (17–26)	10.1 (6.4–15.7)	27.2 (17.2–41.7)	2.7 (2.0–3.7)	
6 to <12 mo	149 (92–227)	11 (6–18)	14 (11–18)	13.9 (6.7–29.5)	10.4 (6.0–17.4)	0.8 (.4–1.4)	
<12 mo	272 (203–357)	33 (26–40)	18 (15–21)	8.4 (5.9–12.0)	15.0 (10.7–20.6)	1.8 (1.4–2.3)	

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HEU, HIV exposed but uninfected; HI, HIV infected; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HUU, HIV unexposed and uninfected.

similar. In 2013, among infants aged 6 to <12 months, incidence was similar between HEU and HUU cases, but case numbers were small in this age group, limiting the ability to detect relative differences in rates. Incidence rate and IRR were higher in the <6-month age group than in the 6- to <12-month age group regardless of HIV status (Table 1).

# Factors Associated With HIV Exposure and Infection Status

For cases <1 year of age, with known outcomes and HIV status, the overall case-fatality ratio was high (29% [249/872]), with mortality in HEU infants (29% [74/253]) intermediate between HUU (25% [94/377]) and HIV-infected infants (34% [81/242]) (P = .07; Supplementary Table 1). When comparing HEU (n = 273) with HUU (n = 407) infants on multivariable analysis, HUU infants were twice as likely to be >6 months of age or to have meningitis vs pneumonia, but less likely to be of black race.

On multivariable analysis, HIV-infected infants (n = 257) (Supplementary Table 1) were more likely to be >6 months of age, to be infected with penicillin-nonsusceptible *S. pneumoniae*, to have used cotrimoxazole prophylaxis in the last month, and to have died compared with HEU children. In addition, HIV-infected infants were less likely to have underlying conditions other than HIV and malnutrition.

When we restricted the analysis to cases <6 months of age (Table 2), on multivariable analysis, HUU cases were at significantly lower risk of dying during the IPD episode, had a decreased risk of IPD caused by a penicillin-nonsusceptible strain, and had an increased risk of meningitis compared with pneumonia compared with HEU children with IPD. HIV-infected infants with IPD were more likely to have disease caused by a penicillin-nonsusceptible strain and be malnour-ished than HEU infants with IPD.

For cases aged 6 to <12 months (Table 3), on multivariable analysis, HUU infants were less likely to be of black race and at significantly increased risk of dying from their IPD episode compared with HEU children. HIV-infected infants were more likely to be malnourished and die than HEU infants, despite having less-severe disease at time of presentation (as assessed with Pitt bacteremia score), and fewer underlying conditions other than HIV. Among HUU cases, underlying conditions were significantly more common in infants aged 6 to <12 months (41/141 [29.1%]) than in younger infants (22/ 209 [10.5%] (P < .001).

#### **Factors Associated With Case Fatality**

On multivariable analysis to explore factors associated with death, in infants aged <6 months (Table 4), being of black race, malnourished, or HEU or HIV-infected and having meningitis (compared with pneumonia) were associated with an increased odds of death. In infants aged 6 to <12 months (Table 5) with malnutrition (compared with no malnutrition), those with

meningitis (compared with pneumonia) and HUU cases (compared with HEU cases) had increased odds of death.

# DISCUSSION

In South Africa, HIV-infected pediatric numbers continue to decline due to PMTCT improvements [1]; however, numbers of HEU children remain high and are growing. We have shown that these HEU children are twice as likely to have an IPD-associated hospitalization; and that HEU children aged <6 months are less likely to survive an IPD episode than HUU children. It is important to prioritize and continue targeting these HEU children for public health interventions such as PCV vaccination.

Following PCV introduction into the national immunization program in South Africa, a significant reduction in vaccinetype disease in both HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected children was observed [15]. In our study, we similarly observed a reduction in the estimated incidence of IPD in HEU children from 2009 to 2013. Although other interventions such as improvements in maternal immune status [12] may have contributed to this, it is likely that the bulk of this reduction resulted from the introduction of PCV [15]. A case-control study from South Africa showed that PCV, when given in the routine program, was highly effective in HEU children [16]. Despite generally lower prevaccination antibody levels, HEU children respond quantitatively as well as HUU infants to routine immunization program vaccinations such as tetanus, pertussis, Haemophilus influenzae type b, and hepatitis B [17]. In contrast, PCV functional assays have shown that HEU children require higher antibody concentrations for effectiveness against certain pneumococcal serotypes [18].

In South Africa, antiretroviral therapy (ART) coverage in HIV-infected children increased from 2004, but by 2011, pediatric ART initiation rates still lagged behind that of adults. Nationally, the 2011-2012 coverage for children aged <18 months was reported as 54.4% with large variations between districts [14, 19]. In our study, HIV-infected children still had an elevated risk of IPD-associated hospitalization (15-fold) and IPDrelated death (2-fold), compared with unexposed children. Other studies have shown that following ART introduction, although overall incidence of IPD decreased in HIV-infected children [20], the absolute risk of IPD remained approximately 20-fold greater in HIV-infected than HIV-uninfected children <2 years of age [21]. A case-control study from South Africa found that HIV exposure was associated with nearly 2 times greater odds of all serotype IPD, although the control group in this study was children hospitalized with a nonpneumonia diagnosis, a group also at increased likelihood of HIV exposure, and therefore this study likely underestimated the increased odds of IPD associated with HIV exposure [16].

In our study, a number of differences were noted between HEU, HUU, and HIV-infected infants with IPD. Malnutrition

Table 2.	e 2. Univariate and Multivariate Multinomial Logistic Regression Model of Patients Aged <6 Months With Invasive Pneumococcal Disease, in E	nhanced Sites, Group for Enteric,
Respirato	iratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa, 2009–2013 (n = 572)	

	HEU Cases (Reference)	HUU Cases			HIV-Infected Cases		
Characteristic	no./No. (%)	no./No. (%)	RRR (95% CI)	ARRR (95% CI)	no./No. (%)	RRR (95% CI)	ARRR (95% CI)
Demographics and socioeconomic characteristics							
Black race	172/176 (97.7)	203/239 (84.9)	0.13 (.05–.38)	0.15 (.05–.45)	129/130 (99.2)	3.00 (.33–27.16)	3.48 (.37–32.69)
Length of hospital stay							
<4 d	48/174 (27.6)	47/227 (20.7)	Reference		37/127 (29.1)	Reference	
4–14 d	90/174 (51.7)	102/227 (44.9)	1.16 (.71–1.89)		60/127 (47.2)	0.86 (.50-1.48)	
≥15 d	36/174 (20.7)	78/227 (34.4)	2.21 (1.26–3.89)		30/127 (23.6)	1.08 (.57–2.06)	
Medical conditions and treatment							
Underlying conditions <sup>a</sup>	21/151 (13.9)	22/209 (10.5)	0.73 (.38–1.38)		4/113 (3.5)	0.23 (.08–.68)	
Malnutrition <sup>b</sup>	58/168 (34.5)	81/221 (36.7)	1.10 (.72–1.67)	1.20 (.72–2.02)	80/122 (65.6)	3.61 (2.21–5.90)	3.19 (1.80-5.64)
Previous hospital admission in last 12 mo	32/172 (18.6)	42/224 (18.8)	1.01 (.61–1.68)		41/119 (34.5)	2.30 (1.34–3.94)	
In-hospital mortality	59/175 (33.7)	51/228 (22.4)	0.57 (.36–.88)	0.46 (.26–.81)	50/126 (39.7)	1.29 (.80-2.08)	1.55 (.87–2.76)
Previous IPD infection <sup>c</sup>	2/189 (1.1)	4/249 (1.6)	1.53 (.28–8.42)		7/134 (5.2)	5.15 (1.05–25.21)	
Cotrimoxazole prophylaxis	26/170 (15.3)	0/249 (0.0)	Not calculated		37/110 (33.6)	2.81 (1.58–4.99)	
Treated for tuberculosis	5/174 (2.9)	6/229 (2.6)	0.91 (.27–3.03)		12/116 (10.3)	3.90 (1.34–11.39)	
Pneumococcal isolate characteristics							
Penicillin nonsusceptible <sup>d</sup>	69/157 (43.9)	69/201 (34.3)	0.67 (.43–1.02)	0.61 (.38–.99)	64/105 (61.0)	1.99 (1.20–3.29)	1.79 (1.03–3.09)
Vaccine serotypes <sup>e</sup>	94/171 (55.0)	110/217 (50.7)	0.84 (.56–1.26)		77/111 (69.4)	1.86 (1.12–3.07)	
Clinical syndrome							
Pneumonia	74/183 (40.4)	77/239 (32.2)	Reference	Reference	69/131 (52.7)	Reference	Reference
Meningitis	92/183 (50.3)	129/239 (54.0)	1.35 (.88–2.04)	1.89 (1.12–3.20)	47/131 (35.8)	0.55 (.34–.89)	0.86 (.46–1.57)
Bacteremia	17/183 (9.3)	33/239 (13.8)	1.87 (.96–3.63)	1.96 (.86–4.44)	15/131 (11.5)	0.95 (.44–2.04)	1.81 (.75–4.36)
Specimen type <sup>f</sup>							
Blood culture	105/189 (55.6)	117/249 (47.0)	Reference		89/134 (66.4)	Reference	
Cerebrospinal fluid	81/189 (42.9)	123/249 (49.4)	1.36 (.93–2.00)		42/134 (31.3)	0.61 (.38–.98)	
Other	3/189 (1.6)	9/249 (3.6)	2.69 (.71–10.21)		3/134 (2.2)	1.18 (.23–5.99)	

Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included in table: sex, Pitt bacteremia score, antibiotics in last 24 hours, antibiotics in last 2 months, and vaccination status. Abbreviations: ARRR, adjusted relative risk ratio; CI, confidence interval; HEU, HIV exposed but uninfected; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HUU, HIV unexposed and uninfected; IPD, invasive pneumococcal disease; RRR, relative risk ratio.

<sup>a</sup> Asplenia, including asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness, including chronic lung, renal, liver, or cardiac disease, and diabetes; other immunocompromising conditions (excluding HIV), including organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy, and malignancy; and other risk factors, including head injury with possible cerebrospinal fluid leak, neurological disorders, burns, and chromosomal abnormalities. Excludes malnutrition.

<sup>b</sup> Malnutrition was classified as weight-for-age z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or nutritional edema.

<sup>c</sup> Previously diagnosed with IPD >21 days prior to this episode.

<sup>d</sup> Penicillin-nonsusceptible minimum inhibitory concentration  $\geq$ 0.12 µg/mL.

<sup>e</sup> Vaccine serotypes were considered as serotypes in the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine.

<sup>f</sup> Elected to use clinical diagnosis rather than specimen type in multivariable model.

# Table 3. Univariate and Multivariate Multinomial Logistic Regression Model in Patients Aged 6 to <12 Months With Invasive Pneumococcal Disease at Enhanced Sites, Group for</th> Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa, 2009–2013 (n = 365)

	HEU Cases Reference	HUU Cases		HIV-Infected Cases			
Characteristic	no./No. (%)	no./No. (%)	RRR (95% CI)	ARRR (95% CI)	no./No. (%)	RRR (95% CI)	ARRR (95% CI)
Demographics and socioeconomic characteristics							
Black race	78/81 (96.3)	132/154 (85.7)	0.23 (.07–.80)	0.15 (.03–.70)	114/117 (97.4)	1.46 (.29–7.43)	0.82 (.09–7.23)
Medical conditions and treatment							
Underlying conditions <sup>a</sup>	15/77 (19.5)	41/141 (29.1)	1.69 (.87–3.31)	1.99 (.90–4.37)	11/103 (10.7)	0.49 (.21-1.15)	0.29 (.09–.87)
Malnutrition <sup>b</sup>	31/78 (39.7)	54/147 (36.7)	0.88 (.50–1.55)	0.68 (.35–1.34)	73/109 (67.0)	3.07 (1.68–5.63)	2.36 (1.13–4.96)
Previous hospital admission in last 12 mo	19/74 (25.7)	57/148 (38.5)	1.81 (.98–3.36)		51/111 (45.9)	2.46 (1.29–4.67)	
In-hospital mortality	15/78 (19.2)	43/149 (28.9)	1.70 (.88–3.31)	3.38 (1.34–8.53)	31/116 (26.7)	1.53 (.76–3.08)	2.82 (1.02–7.78)
Pitt bacteremia score (≥4) <sup>c</sup>	9/76 (11.8)	21/151 (13.9)	1.20 (.52–2.77)	0.62 (.21-1.84)	5/113 (4.4)	0.34 (.11–1.07)	0.13 (.02–0.72)
Antibiotics in last 2 mo <sup>d</sup>	7/73 (9.6)	37/145 (25.5)	3.23 (1.36–7.66)		23/104 (22.1)	2.68 (1.08–6.63)	
Cotrimoxazole prophylaxis	8/73 (11.0)	0/158 (0.0)	Not calculated	Not calculated	50/111 (45.1)	6.66 (2.92–15.17)	11.18 (4.04–30.91)
Treated for tuberculosis	4/75 (5.3)	4/148 (2.7)	0.49 (.11–2.02)		18/112 (16.1)	3.40 (1.10–10.48)	
Pneumococcal isolate characteristics							
Penicillin nonsusceptible <sup>e</sup>	30/62 (48.4)	68/130 (52.3)	1.17 (.64–2.14)		74/111 (66.7)	2.13 (1.13–4.03)	
Specimen type							
Blood culture	61/84 (72.6)	90/158 (57.0)	Reference		78/123 (63.4)	Reference	
Cerebrospinal fluid	22/84 (26.2)	52/158 (32.9)	1.60 (.88–2.90)		42/123 (34.1)	1.49 (.81–2.76)	
Other	1/84 (1.2)	16/158 (10.1)	10.84 (1.40-83.92)		3/123 (2.4)	2.35 (.24–23.12)	

Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included in table: sex, length of hospital stay, antibiotics in last 24 hours, previous IPD infection, vaccine serotypes, vaccination status, and clinical syndrome.

Abbreviations: ARRR, adjusted relative risk ratio; CI, confidence interval; HEU, HIV exposed but uninfected; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HUU, HIV unexposed and uninfected; IPD, invasive pneumococcal disease; RRR, relative risk ratio.

<sup>a</sup> Asplenia, including asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness, including chronic lung, renal, liver, or cardiac disease, and diabetes; other immunocompromising conditions (excluding HIV), including organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy, and malignancy; and other risk factors, including head injury with possible cerebrospinal fluid leak, neurological disorders, burns, and chromosomal abnormalities. Excludes malnutrition.

<sup>b</sup> Malnutrition was classified as weight-for-age z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or nutritional edema.

<sup>c</sup> Pitt bacteremia score calculated using temperature, hypotension, mechanical ventilation, cardiac arrest, and mental status. Severe disease defined as score of ≥4 points.

<sup>d</sup> Any antibiotics used in 2 months prior to admission.

<sup>e</sup> Penicillin nonsusceptible minimum inhibitory concentration  $\geq$ 0.12 µg/mL.

Table 4. Univariate and Multivariable Analysis Showing Factors Associated With Mortality in Infants Aged <6 Months With Invasive Pneumococcal Disease, South Africa, 2009–2013 (n = 530)

	ι	Jnivariate Analysis <sup>a</sup>	Multivariable Analysis <sup>a</sup>			
Characteristic	CFR, no./No. (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value	AOR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value	
Demographics and soc	cioeconomic characteristics					
Race						
Nonblack	5/44 (11.4)	Reference	.03	Reference	.02	
Black	164/501 (32.7)	3.31 (1.14–9.64)		4.14 (1.22–14.04)		
Length of hospital st	tay					
<4 d	121/140 (86.4)	Reference	<.001			
4–14 d	35/254 (13.8)	0.02 (.01–.04)				
≥15 d	9/144 (6.3)	0.01 (.004–.02)				
Medical conditions and	d treatment					
Malnutrition <sup>b</sup>						
No	77/292 (26.4)	Reference	.27	Reference	.03	
Yes	75/218 (34.4)	1.26 (.84–1.90)		1.63 (1.05–2.53)		
Pitt bacteremia scor	e <sup>c</sup>					
0–3	109/440 (24.8)	Reference	<.001			
≥4	46/73 (63.0)	5.03 (2.92-8.65)				
Any antibiotics used	in last 24 h <sup>d</sup>					
No	114/439 (26.0)	Reference	.02			
Yes	23/58 (39.7)	2.05 (1.15–3.66)				
HIV status						
HUU	51/228 (31.9)	Reference	.002	Reference	.007	
HEU	59/175 (36.9)	1.77 (1.13–2.75)		1.76 (1.09–2.85)		
HIV-infected	50/126 (31.3)	2.28 (1.42-3.67)		2.25 (1.32–3.82)		
Clinical syndrome						
Pneumonia	64/223 (28.7)	Reference	.10	Reference	.009	
Meningitis	90/260 (34.6)	1.47 (.98–2.22)		1.92 (1.22–3.03)		
Bacteremia	17/66 (25.8)	0.89 (.46–1.74)		0.92 (.45–1.88)		

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CFR, case-fatality rate; CI, confidence interval; HEU, HIV exposed but uninfected; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HUU, HIV unexposed and uninfected; OR, odds ratio.

<sup>a</sup> Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included in table: age group, sex, wood fire in the home, referral, previous admission, low birth weight, underlying conditions, antibiotics in last 2 months, penicillin nonsusceptibility, previous invasive pneumococcal disease infection, cotrimoxazole prophylaxis, tuberculosis treatment, and vaccination status.

<sup>b</sup> Malnutrition was classified as weight-for-age z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or nutritional edema.

<sup>c</sup> Pitt bacteremia score calculated using temperature, hypotension, mechanical ventilation, cardiac arrest, and mental status. Severe disease defined as score of ≥4 points.

<sup>d</sup> Any antibiotics used in 24 hours prior to admission.

was significantly more common in HIV-infected infants, but not in HEU compared with HUU infants. This concurs with a review of studies that showed an association between HIV infection and being stunted or underweight [22]; no differences were observed in the early growth of HEU children and healthy controls [22]. Combined ART used for PMTCT has been shown to cause lower birth weight and length in some HEU infants, but this rapidly corrects over the first few months of life [23].

Other differences between the 3 IPD case groups included clinical presentation, with HUU IPD cases more likely to present with meningitis than pneumonia. HIV-infected children are less likely to be diagnosed with meningitis than other types of IPD [24], and children with meningitis have a higher mortality than children with pneumonia or bacteremia, especially if they are HIV infected [24]. Specimen-collection practices differed between different case groups, reflecting different clinical syndromes; HUU infants were less likely to have blood cultures taken than HEU and HIV-infected infants.

Racial differences, with HUU children being more likely to be of nonblack race, has been shown in other local studies [25]. Children of black race had a higher likelihood of dying with IPD, possibly reflecting poorer socioeconomic status and higher HIV infection rates. IPD in HIV-infected individuals is more often caused by antibiotic-resistant strains than IPD in HIV-
Table 5.
 Multivariable Analysis Showing Factors Associated With Mortality in Infants Aged 6 to <12 Months With Invasive</th>

 Pneumococcal Disease, South Africa, 2009–2013 (n = 342)

		Univariate Analysis <sup>a</sup>		Multivariable Ar	nalysis <sup>a</sup>
Characteristic	CFR, no./No. (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value	AOR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value
Demographics and soc	ioeconomic characteristics				
Length of hospital st	ay				
<4 d	67/91 (73.6)	Reference	<.001		
4–14 d	15/164 (9.2)	0.03 (.02–.07)			
≥15 d	15/99 (15.2)	0.07 (.03–.15)			
Medical conditions					
Malnutrition <sup>b</sup>					
No	32/177 (18.1)	Reference	.003	Reference	.001
Yes	48/158 (30.4)	2.30 (1.32-4.01)		2.58 (1.45-4.60)	
Pitt bacteremia score	ec				
0–3	66/309 (21.4)	Reference	<.001		
≥4	28/41 (68.3)	8.66 (3.94–19.05)			
HIV status					
HUU	43/149 (28.9)	Reference	.29	Reference	.06
HEU	15/78 (19.2)	0.59 (.30–1.14)		0.46 (.22–.98)	
HIV-infected	31/116 (26.7)	0.90 (.52–1.55)		0.55 (.29–1.04)	
Clinical syndrome					
Pneumonia	37/164 (22.6)	Reference	.04	Reference	.03
Meningitis	48/130 (36.9)	1.82 (1.06–3.10)		2.16 (1.19–3.92)	
Bacteremia	16/67 (23.9)	0.88 (.42–1.84)		1.03 (.48–2.24)	

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CFR, case-fatality rate; CI, confidence interval; HEU, HIV exposed but uninfected; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HUU, HIV unexposed and uninfected; OR, odds ratio.

<sup>a</sup> Only variables significant on univariate and multivariable analysis are shown. Variables not included in table: age group, sex, race, wood fire in the home, referral, previous admission, low birth weight, underlying conditions, antibiotics in last 24 hours, antibiotics in last 2 months, penicillin nonsusceptibility, previous invasive pneumococcal disease infection, cotrimoxazole prophylaxis, tuberculosis treatment, and vaccination status.

<sup>b</sup> Malnutrition was classified as weight-for-age z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or nutritional edema.

<sup>c</sup> Pitt bacteremia score calculated using temperature, hypotension, mechanical ventilation, cardiac arrest, and mental status. Severe disease defined as score of ≥4 points.

uninfected individuals [26, 27]. Antimicrobial resistance is an important adverse consequence of cotrimoxazole prophylaxis [28]; this correlated with what we found in our study.

Cohort studies suggest that mortality among children born to HIV-infected mothers is higher than that among children born to HIV-uninfected mothers [29, 30]. A pooled mortality analysis, using African data, showed a 9 times higher mortality rate in HIV-infected than HIV-uninfected children. Children with a early positive PCR result (<4 weeks of age) were more likely to die, as were those with mothers who died or who had low CD4<sup>+</sup> cell counts at delivery [31]. In our study, we observed a higher IPD-associated case fatality rate in HEU infants compared with HUU infants in the <6-month age group. The increased fatality rate among HEU children may be due to immunological differences that resolve as these children age; thus, younger HEU children may be more vulnerable to adverse clinical outcomes [32]. Other studies have also shown a higher mortality in younger HEU children [8]. In the older infants (6 to <12

months), this relationship was reversed, with HUU infants less likely to survive IPD, but there were small numbers of infants in the comparison group of HEU infants aged 6 to <12 months (n = 78). By 6 months of age, the immunologic deficit associated with HIV exposure is reduced [8], and effects of HIV exposure on adverse outcomes in this group are less marked. Last, increased case-fatality rates in older HUU infants with IPD may be due to a higher proportion of these infants having an underlying condition or, possibly, other factors leading to high mortality in HUU infants with IPD that we were not able to document. Children with underlying conditions have been extensively described to have a higher risk of IPD than healthy children [33]. HIV infection is an independent risk factor for IPD [34, 35]. This would account for the higher rate of underlying conditions in HEU and HUU infants with IPD, compared to HIV-infected infants with IPD. The difference in underlying condition rates between HEU and HUU cases was not statistically significant and no solid conclusions could be made regarding this comparison.

A number of factors are thought to contribute to differences in case-fatality rates between HEU and HUU children. Most important are different immunological deficits documented in HEU children [36-39]. Second, a clear trend has been shown between the degree of maternal immunosuppression and infant survival [40]. We did not collect details regarding maternal CD4 count or use of ART by the mother during pregnancy and could therefore not explore this association further, which was a limitation.

Our study had other limitations. As with most surveillance studies, only patients who had samples taken could be identified as an IPD case and included in the study. For the multinomial and mortality analyses, we only included IPD cases from enhanced sites with viable isolates. These enhanced-site cases were more likely to be diagnosed with positive blood cultures, which may limit the generalizability of our findings. Infection status of HEU children was decided by 1 negative PCR result in some infants, so it is possible there may have been some misclassification of HIV status. The majority of patients had PCR testing done within a month of admission and nurses were trained to request retesting in symptomatic children, which would have minimized HIV-infected children being included in the HEU group. Some data, such as cotrimoxazole prophylaxis, were ascertained on verbal report if not available in the medical records; therefore, underreporting is possible.

In conclusion, we have described a higher incidence of hospitalization for IPD in HEU children compared with HUU children, as well as a lower chance of surviving IPD in HEU children <6 months of age compared with those who are HUU. Although we did not collect maternal data, we propose that optimizing maternal immunological status for HIV-infected women during pregnancy may help to improve outcomes in HEU children. Although widespread PCV introduction has led to substantial reductions in IPD incidence in South Africa [15], some differences were observed in vaccination rates between HIV exposure groups. It is important to ensure that all HEU children receive PCV, to reduce the risk of IPD and its negative health outcomes, including death.

### **Supplementary Data**

Supplementary materials are available at *Clinical Infectious Diseases* online (http://cid.oxfordjournals.org). Supplementary materials consist of data provided by the author that are published to benefit the reader. The posted materials are not copyedited. The contents of all supplementary data are the sole responsibility of the authors. Questions or messages regarding errors should be addressed to the author.

### Notes

**Acknowledgments.** We thank all the participants and their caregivers who kindly agreed to be included in this study. We also acknowledge the GERMS-SA surveillance officers for their hard work in enrolling participants into the study and obtaining vaccination histories; to the IPD coordinators for assisting the surveillance officers and for input; to laboratory staff throughout the country for submitting isolates to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD); and to staff at the NICD, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis laboratory for their efforts in processing and characterizing these isolates.

**Disclaimer.** The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, NICD/National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS), or the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunisation (GAVI).

*Financial support.* This work was supported by NICD/NHLS; the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief through the CDC (grant number 5U2GPS001328); and the GAVI Accelerated Vaccine Initiative–Special Studies Team.

**Potential conflicts of interest.** C. v. M. has received honoraria from Pfizer. A. v. G. has received research funding from Pfizer. T. A. has received honoraria and conference support from Pfizer. G. R. has received honoraria and conference support from Pfizer and Sanofi. K. L. O. and K. P. K. have received research funding and honoraria from Pfizer and GlaxoSmithKline. All other authors report no potential conflicts.

All authors have submitted the ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest. Conflicts that the editors consider relevant to the content of the manuscript have been disclosed.

### References

- Barron P, Pillay Y, Doherty T, et al. Eliminating mother-to-child HIV transmission in South Africa. Bull World Health Organ 2013; 91:70–4.
- Massyn N, Day C, Dombo M, Barron P, English R, Padarath A. District health barometer 2012/13. Durban, South Africa: Health Systems Trust, 2013.
- 3. Slogrove A, Reikie B, Naidoo S, et al. HIV-exposed uninfected infants are at increased risk for severe infections in the first year of life. J Trop Pediatr **2012**; 58:505–8.
- McNally LM, Jeena PM, Gajee K, et al. Effect of age, polymicrobial disease, and maternal HIV status on treatment response and cause of severe pneumonia in South African children: a prospective descriptive study. Lancet 2007; 369:1440–51.
- Mussi-Pinhata MM, Freimanis L, Yamamoto AY, et al. Infectious disease morbidity among young HIV-1-exposed but uninfected infants in Latin American and Caribbean countries: the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development International Site Development Initiative Perinatal Study. Pediatrics 2007; 119:e694–704.
- Preidis GA, McCollum ED, Mwansambo C, Kazembe PN, Schutze GE, Kline MW. Pneumonia and malnutrition are highly predictive of mortality among African children hospitalized with human immunodeficiency virus infection or exposure in the era of antiretroviral therapy. J Pediatr 2011; 159:484–9.
- Chilongozi D, Wang L, Brown L, et al. Morbidity and mortality among a cohort of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected and uninfected pregnant women and their infants from Malawi, Zambia, and Tanzania. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27:808–14.
- Marinda E, Humphrey JH, Iliff PJ, et al. Child mortality according to maternal and infant HIV status in Zimbabwe. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007; 26:519–26.
- Spira R, Lepage P, Msellati P, et al. Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in children: a five-year prospective study in Rwanda. Mother-to-Child HIV-1 Transmission Study Group. Pediatrics 1999; 104:e56.
- Sutcliffe CG, Scott S, Mugala N, et al. Survival from 9 months of age among HIV-infected and uninfected Zambian children prior to the availability of antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis 2008; 47:837–44.
- Venkatesh KK, Lurie MN, Triche EW, et al. Growth of infants born to HIV-infected women in South Africa according to maternal and infant characteristics. Trop Med Int Health 2010; 15:1364–74.
- 12. Taron-Brocard C, Le Chenadec J, Faye A, et al. Increased risk of serious bacterial infections due to maternal immunosuppression in

- O'Brien KL, Wolfson LJ, Watt JP, et al. Burden of disease caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae in children younger than 5 years: global es-timates. Lancet 2009; 374:893–902.
- 14. Johnson LF. THEMBISA version 1.0: A model for evaluating the impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town, South Africa: University of Cape Town Centre for Infectious Disease Epidemiology and Research. Available at: http://www.publichealth.uct.ac.za/sites/default/files/image\_tool/images/108/THEMBISA%20version%201.0.pdf. Accessed 29 October 2014.
- von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Tempia S, et al. Effects of vaccination on invasive pneumococcal disease in South Africa. N Engl J Med 2014; 371:1889–99.
- 16. Cohen C, von Mollendorf C, de Gouveia L, et al. Effectiveness of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in HIV-infected and -uninfected children in South Africa: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59:808–18.
- Reikie BA, Naidoo S, Ruck CE, et al. Antibody responses to vaccination among South African HIV-exposed and unexposed uninfected infants during the first 2 years of life. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2013; 20:33–8.
- Madhi SA, Adrian P, Cotton MF, et al. Effect of HIV infection status and anti-retroviral treatment on quantitative and qualitative antibody responses to pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in infants. J Infect Dis 2010; 202:355–61.
- Massyn N, Day C, Barron P, Haynes R, English R, Padarath A. District Health barometer 2011/12. Durban, South Africa: Health Systems Trust, 2013.
- Steenhoff AP, Wood SM, Rutstein RM, Wahl A, McGowan KL, Shah SS. Invasive pneumococcal disease among human immunodeficiency virus-infected children, 1989–2006. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27: 886–91.
- Nunes MC, von Gottberg A, De Gouveia L, et al. The impact of antiretroviral treatment on the burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in South African children: a time series analysis. AIDS 2011; 25:453–62.
- 22. Isanaka S, Duggan C, Fawzi WW. Patterns of postnatal growth in HIVinfected and HIV-exposed children. Nutr Rev **2009**; 67:343–59.
- Powis KM, Smeaton L, Ogwu A, et al. Effects of in utero antiretroviral exposure on longitudinal growth of HIV-exposed uninfected infants in Botswana. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2011; 56:131–8.
- Nyasulu P, Cohen C, De Gouveia L, Feldman C, Klugman KP, von Gottberg A. Increased risk of death in human immunodeficiency virus-infected children with pneumococcal meningitis in South Africa, 2003–2005. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2011; 30:1075–80.
- 25. Madhi SA, Izu A, Violari A, et al. Immunogenicity following the first and second doses of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in HIV-infected and -uninfected infants. Vaccine **2013**; 31:777–83.
- 26. Turett GS, Blum S, Fazal BA, Justman JE, Telzak EE. Penicillin resistance and other predictors of mortality in pneumococcal bacteremia

in a population with high human immunodeficiency virus seroprevalence. Clin Infect Dis **1999**; 29:321–7.

- 27. Crewe-Brown HH, Karstaedt AS, Saunders GL, et al. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* blood culture isolates from patients with and without human immunodeficiency virus infection: alterations in penicillin susceptibilities and in serogroups or serotypes. Clin Infect Dis **1997**; 25:1165–72.
- Soeters HM, von Gottberg A, Cohen C, Quan V, Klugman KP. Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole prophylaxis and antibiotic nonsusceptibility in invasive pneumococcal disease. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012; 56:1602–5.
- Nakiyingi JS, Bracher M, Whitworth JA, et al. Child survival in relation to mother's HIV infection and survival: evidence from a Ugandan cohort study. AIDS 2003; 17:1827–34.
- Ng'weshemi J, Urassa M, Isingo R, et al. HIV impact on mother and child mortality in rural Tanzania. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2003; 33:393–404.
- Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, Rollins N, Gaillard P, Dabis F. Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV-infected mothers in Africa: a pooled analysis. Lancet 2004; 364:1236–43.
- 32. Afran L, Garcia KM, Nduati E, Urban BC, Heyderman RS, Rowland-Jones SL. HIV-exposed uninfected children: a growing population with a vulnerable immune system? Clin Exp Immunol 2014; 176:11–22.
- Lynch JP III, Zhanel GG. *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: epidemiology, risk factors, and strategies for prevention. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2009; 30:189–209.
- Lynch JP III, Zhanel GG. *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: epidemiology and risk factors, evolution of antimicrobial resistance, and impact of vaccines. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2010; 16:217–25.
- van Hoek AJ, Andrews N, Waight PA, et al. The effect of underlying clinical conditions on the risk of developing invasive pneumococcal disease in England. J Infect **2012**; 65:17–24.
- De Moraes-Pinto MI, Almeida AC, Kenj G, et al. Placental transfer and maternally acquired neonatal IgG immunity in human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Infect Dis 1996; 173:1077–84.
- Rich KC, Siegel JN, Jennings C, Rydman RJ, Landay AL. Function and phenotype of immature CD4+ lymphocytes in healthy infants and early lymphocyte activation in uninfected infants of human immunodeficiency virus-infected mothers. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997; 4:358–61.
- Velilla PA, Montoya CJ, Hoyos A, Moreno ME, Chougnet C, Rugeles MT. Effect of intrauterine HIV-1 exposure on the frequency and function of uninfected newborns' dendritic cells. Clin Immunol 2008; 126:243–50.
- Nielsen SD, Jeppesen DL, Kolte L, et al. Impaired progenitor cell function in HIV-negative infants of HIV-positive mothers results in decreased thymic output and low CD4 counts. Blood 2001; 98:398–404.
- Fox MP, Brooks DR, Kuhn L, et al. Role of breastfeeding cessation in mediating the relationship between maternal HIV disease stage and increased child mortality among HIV-exposed uninfected children. Int J Epidemiol 2009; 38:569–76.

# 

1.2 Methods	4
1.3 Tables	7
1.4 References	11

### 1.1 List of collaborators

# GERMS-SA (Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal Disease Surveillance in South Africa)

Sandeep Vasaikar, Dania Perez (Eastern Cape); Eugene Elliot, Ute Hallbauer (Free State); Alan Karstaedt, Jeannette Wadula, Charl Verwey, Kathy Lindeque, Charlotte Sriruttan, Sharona Seetharam, Charles Feldman, Trusha Nana, Norma Bosman, Sheeba Varughese, Adrian Duse, Warren Lowman, David Moore, Charl Verwey, Mamokgethi Moshe, Kamaldeen Baba, Theunis Avenant, Nicolette du Plessis, Gary Reubenson, Ranmini Kularatne, Maphoshane Nchabeleng, Anwar Hoosen, Bonnie Maloba, Ruth Lekalakala (Gauteng); Yacoob Coovadia, Koleka Mlisana, Moherndran Archary, Ramola Naidoo, Khatija Dawood, Fathima Naby, Khine Sweswe, Prathna Bhola, Prasha Mahabeer, Lisha Sookan, Praksha Ramjathan, Halima Dawood, Sumayya Haffejee (Kwa-Zulu Natal); Ken Hamese, Phasweni Maredi, Takalani Muditambi (Limpopo) Greta Hoyland, Jacob Lebudi, Barry Spies (Mpumalanga); Stan Harvey, Pieter Jooste, Dhamiran Naidoo, Eunice Weenink (Northern Cape); Andrew Rampe, Lino Sono (North West); Elizabeth Wasserman, Preneshni Naicker, Andrew Whitelaw, Brian Eley, James Nuttal, Louise Cooke, Heather Finalyson, Helena Rabie, Colleen Bamford, Heidi Orth, Mark Nicol, Rena Hoffmann, Steve Oliver (Western Cape); Keshree Pillay, Chetna Govind, (LANCET); Adrian Brink, Maria Botha, Inge Zietsman, Inge Zietsman, Suzy Budavari, Xoliswa Poswa, Mark Cruz da Silva, Jennifer Coetzee (AMPATH); Marthinus Senekal (PATHCARE); Chris van Beneden, Stephanie Schrag, Elizabeth Zell, Anne Schuchat, Tom Chiller, Angela Ahlquist, Fred Angulo,(CDC); Keith Klugman, (Emory); Katherine O'Brien (Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health); Anne von Gottberg, Linda de Gouveia, Mignon du Plessis, Karen Keddy, Arvinda Sooka, Nelesh Govender, Jaymati Patel, Vanessa Quan, Susan Meiring, Melony Fortuin-de Smidt, Mohlamme John Mathabathe, Claire von Mollendorf, John Frean, Desiree du Plessis, Bhavani Poonsamy, Olga Perovic, Marshagne Smith, Cheryl Cohen, Penny Crowther, Jabulani Ncayiyana, Relebohile Ncha, Languta Sibiya, Sonwabo Lindani, Nevashan Govender, Nireshni Naidoo, Babatyi Kgokong, Vusi Nokeri, Sarona Lengana (NICD); Ntombenhle Ngcobo, Johann van den Heever (National Department of Health, Expanded Programme on Immunisation, Pretoria), Shabir Madhi (Department of Science and Technology/ National Research Foundation: Vaccine Preventable Diseases, Gauteng), Laura Conklin, Jennifer Verani, Cynthia Whitney, Elizabeth Zell, Jennifer Loo, George Nelson (National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta)

### 1.2 Methods

### Study design and setting

For each non-enhanced case a laboratory report form (with information on age, gender, date of specimen collection and source of specimen) and the associated pneumococcal isolate is submitted to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD), Johannesburg, South Africa. Additional clinical and demographic information collected at enhanced sites includes admission date, HIV exposure and infection status, discharge diagnosis, vaccination status and outcome through patient interview and medical record review.

### **Case definitions**

Laboratory testing for pneumococcus was performed as part of routine medical care. Only IPD cases diagnosed by positive culture or polymerase chain reaction (PCR), or by latex agglutination test with supporting evidence (Gram stain or PCR positive) were included.

Malnutrition was defined according to the World Health Organization (WHO) child growth standards. Malnourished infants included those with weight-for-age Z-scores less than minus two standard deviations or nutritional edema. Underlying conditions included asplenia; chronic illness, including chronic lung, renal, liver and cardiac disease; other immunocompromising conditions (excluding HIV); and other risk factors, including head injury with possible CSF leak, neurological disorders, burns and chromosomal abnormalities, but excluded malnutrition. Clinical diagnoses were based on documented discharge diagnoses in the medical records with clinical syndrome, being defined as meningitis, bacteremic pneumonia, and bacteremia without focus/other. Pitt bacteremia score was calculated using (1) oral temperature, (2) hypotension, (3) receipt of mechanical ventilation, (4) cardiac arrest and (5) mental status. Severe disease was defined as a score of  $\geq$ 4 points [1]. A case was considered to be recurrent if pneumococcal disease was diagnosed in the same patient more than 21 days after the first confirmed laboratory diagnosis of *S*. *pneumoniae* disease.

Cotrimoxazole prophylaxis is administered in HEU and HIV-infected children for differing time periods to prevent PCP and is not given to HUU children. We therefore included this variable *a priori* in our analysis as it could confound other associations.

Penicillin non-susceptibility was categorized using the 2010 Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute breakpoints for oral penicillin V (susceptible,  $\leq 0.06$ mg/L; intermediately resistant, 0.12-1mg/L and resistant,  $\geq 2$ mg/L) [2]. The intermediately resistant and resistant groups were combined into a non-susceptible group for analysis. Vaccine-serotype (VT) IPD was defined as serotypes present in the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV-13) (1, 3, 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A, 19F and 23F). All other serotypes were designated non-vaccine types (NVT).

### Incidence

Denominators for HIV-infected infants <1 year of age were calculated by combining denominators for new HIV infection at/before birth and new HIV infection due to breastfeeding in infants <1 year. Denominators for HEU infants were calculated from the population denominator for HIV-infected pregnant women, adjusted for live births and less HIV-infected infants <1 year of age and infants who were infected postnatally.

5

### Factors associated with HIV exposure status and death

Multinomial regression allows modeling of outcome variables with more than 2 categories and relates the probability of being in category *j* to the probability of being in a baseline category. A complete set of coefficients are estimated for each of the *j* levels being compared with the baseline and the effect of each predictor in the model is measured as relative risk ratio (RRR).

### 1.3 <u>Tables</u>

Supplementary Table 1: Univariate and multivariate multinomial logistic regression model showing comparison of demographic, socio-economic characteristics, and underlying conditions in HIV-exposed-uninfected (HEU), HIV-unexposed-uninfected (HUU) and HIV-infected (HI) IPD cases <1 year of age, at enhanced GERMS-SA sites in South Africa, 2009-2013 (n=937)

	HEU cases HUU cases			HI cases			
	Reference						
	n/N (%)	n/N (%)	RRR <sup>ª</sup> (95%CI)	ARRR <sup>♭</sup> (95%CI)	n/N (%)	RRR <sup>ª</sup> (95%CI)	ARRR <sup>♭</sup> (95%CI)
Demographics and socioecond	omic characteristic	S					
Age ≥ 6 months	84/273 (31.0)	158/407 (38.8)	1.43 (1.03-1.98)	1.82 (1.17-2.84)	123/257 (47.9)	2.07 (1.45-2.95)	2.71 (1.67-4.38)
Male Sex	147/273 (53.9)	229/407 (56.3)	1.10 (0.81-1.50)		138/256 (53.9)	1.00 (0.71-1.41)	
Black Race	250/257 (97.3)	335/393 (85.2)	0.16 (0.07-0.36)	0.13 (0.05-0.36)	243/247 (98.4)	1.70 (0.49-5.88)	1.39 (0.32-5.99)
Length of hospital stay:							
<4 days	65/251 (25.9)	85/376 (22.6)	Reference		65/244 (26.6)	Reference	
4-14 days	129/251 (51.4)	170/376 (45.2)	1.01 (0.68-1.50)		113/244 (46.3)	0.88 (0.57-1.34)	
≥15 days	57/251 (22.7)	121/376 (32.2)	1.62 (1.03-2.55)		66/244 (27.1)	1.16 (0.71-1.90)	
Medical conditions, treatment	t and vaccination	status					

Underlying conditions <sup>c</sup>	36/228 (15.8)	63/350 (18.0)	1.17 (0.75-1.83)	1.31 (0.73-2.35)	15/216 (6.9)	0.40 (0.21-0.75)	0.30 (0.14-0.63)
Malnutrition <sup>d</sup>	89/246 (36.2)	135/368 (36.7)	1.02 (0.73-1.43)		153/231 (66.2)	3.46 (2.37-5.04)	
Previous hospital admission	51/246 (20.7)	99/372 (26.6)	1 39 (0 94-2 04)		92/230 (40 0)	2 55 (1 70-3 82)	
in last 12 months	51/240 (20.7)	55/572 (20.0)	1.35 (0.34-2.04)		52/230 (40.0)	2.33 (1.70-3.82)	
In-hospital mortality	74/253 (29.3)	94/377 (24.9)	0.80 (0.56-1.15)	1.06 (0.65-1.74)	81/242 (33.5)	1.22 (0.83-1.78)	2.03 (1.18-3.49)
Pitt bacteremia score (≥4) <sup>e</sup>	35/245 (14.3)	49/367 (13.4)	0.92 (0.58-1.48)		20/237 (8.4)	0.55 (0.31-0.99)	
Antibiotics in last 24 hours <sup>f</sup>	20/240 (8.3)	49/362 (13.5)	1.72 (1.00-2.98)		24/223 (10.8)	1.33 (0.71-2.48)	
Antibiotics in last 2 months <sup>g</sup>	24/235 (10.2)	69/365 (18.9)	2.05 (1.25-3.37)		45/212 (21.2)	2.39 (1.39-4.05)	
Previous IPD infection <sup>h</sup>	4/273 (1.5)	12/407 (3.0)	2.04 (0.65-6.40)		15/257 (5.8)	4.16 (1.36-12.73)	
Cotrimoxazole prophylaxis	34/243 (14.0)	0/407 (0.0)	Not calculated	Not calculated	87/221 (39.4)	3.99 (2.54-6.27)	4.56 (2.63-7.89)
Treated for tuberculosis	9/249 (3.6)	10/377 (2.7)	0.73 (0.29-1.81)		30/228 (13.2)	4.04 (1.87-8.71)	
Vaccination status <sup>i</sup>							
- 0 doses	115/238 (48.3)	134/339 (39.5)	Reference		62/173 (35.8)	Reference	
- 1 dose	64/238 (26.9)	98/339 (28.9)	1.31 (0.88-1.96)		47/173 (27.1)	1.36 (0.84-2.22)	
- 2 doses	59/238 (24.8)	107/339 (31.6)	1.56 (1.03-2.33)		64/173 (37.0)	2.01 (1.26-3.22)	
Pneumococcal isolate characte	eristics						

Penicillin non-susceptible <sup>j</sup>	99/219 (45.2)	137/331 (41.4)	0.86 (0.61-1.21)	0.74 (0.49-1.11)	138/216 (63.9)	2.14 (1.46-3.15)	1.66 (1.04-2.65)
Vaccine serotypes <sup>k</sup>	139/244 (57.0)	198/356 (55.6)	0.95 (0.68-1.31)		160/225 (71.1)	1.86 (1.27-2.73)	
Clinical syndrome and specime	en type						
Clinical syndrome							
- Pneumonia	115/266 (43.2)	141/395 (35.7)	Reference	Reference	124/249 (49.8)	Reference	Reference
- Meningitis	118/266 (44.4)	188/395 (47.6)	1.30 (0.93-1.82)	1.61 (1.04-2.50)	94/249 (37.8)	0.74 (0.51-1.07)	0.72 (0.44-1.19)
- Bacteremia	33/266 (12.4)	66/395 (16.7)	1.63 (1.01-2.65)	1.67 (0.88-3.18)	31/249 (12.5)	0.87 (0.50-1.51)	1.05 (0.51-2.15)
Specimen type <sup>l</sup>							
- Blood culture	166/273 (60.8)	207/407 (50.9)	Reference		167/257 (65.0)	Reference	
- Cerebrospinal fluid	103/273 (37.7)	175/407 (43.0)	1.36 (0.99-1.87)		84/257 (32.7)	0.81 (0.57-1.16)	
- Other	4/273 (1.5)	25/407 (6.1)	5.01 (1.71-14.69)		6/257 (2.3)	1.49 (0.41-5.38)	

<sup>a</sup>Relative risk ratio; <sup>b</sup>Adjusted relative risk ratio; <sup>c</sup>Asplenia, including asplenia or sickle cell anemia; chronic illness, including chronic lung, renal, liver, cardiac disease and diabetes; other immunocompromising conditions (excluding HIV), including organ transplant, primary immunodeficiency, immunotherapy and malignancy; and other risk factors, including head injury with possible CSF leak, neurological disorders, burns and chromosomal abnormalities. Excludes malnutrition; <sup>d</sup>Malnutrition was classified as children with weight-for-age Z-score < -2 (WHO child growth standards 2009) and/or children with nutritional edema; <sup>e</sup>Pitt bacteremia score calculated using temperature, hypotension, mechanical ventilation, cardiac arrest and mental status. Severe disease defined as score of ≥4 points; <sup>f</sup>Any antibiotics used in 24 hours prior to admission; <sup>g</sup>Any antibiotics used in 2 months prior to admission; <sup>h</sup>Previously diagnosed with IPD (invasive pneumococcal disease) more than 21 days prior to this episode; <sup>i</sup>Vaccination status determined only for cases eligible to have received the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; <sup>j</sup>Penicillin non-susceptible MIC  $\geq$  0.12 µg/mL; <sup>k</sup>Vaccine serotypes were considered as serotypes in the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; <sup>l</sup>Elected to use clinical diagnosis rather than

specimen type in multivariable model

### 1.4 <u>References</u>

- 1. Paterson DL, Ko WC, von Gottberg A, et al. Antibiotic therapy for *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteremia: implications of production of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. ClinInfect Dis **2004**; 39(1): 31-7.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; twentieth informational supplement. Wayne, PA, **2010** 2010. Report No.: CLSI document M100-S20.

### PAPER IV

### Risk Factors for Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Among Children Less Than 5 Years of Age in a High HIV Prevalence Setting, South Africa, 2010 to 2012

Claire von Mollendorf, MBBCh, MSc, \*† Cheryl Cohen, MBBCh, FCPath (SA) Micro, \*† Linda de Gouveia, ND MedTech (Micro), \* Nireshni Naidoo, MSc, \*† Susan Meiring, MBChB,‡ Vanessa Quan, MBBCh, MPH,‡ Sonwabo Lindani, BCur (ED et Admin),‡ David P. Moore, MBBCh, FCPaed (SA),§¶ Gary Reubenson, MBBCh, FCPaed (SA), Mamokgethi Moshe, MBChB, FCPaed (SA), \*\* Brian Eley, MBChB, FCPaed (SA),†† Ute M. Hallbauer, MBBCh, FCPaed (SA),‡‡ Heather Finlayson, MBChB, FCPaed (SA),§§ Shabir A. Madhi, MBBCh, PhD,\*§¶ Laura Conklin, MD,¶¶ Elizabeth R. Zell, MStat,¶¶ Keith P. Klugman, MBBCh, PhD,¶III Cynthia G. Whitney, MD, MPH,¶¶ and Anne von Gottberg, MBBCh, PhD,\*¶ for the South African IPD Case–Control Study Group

**Background:** Invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) causes significant disease burden, especially in developing countries, even in the era of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and maternal-to-child HIV transmission prevention programs. We evaluated factors that might increase IPD risk in young children in a high HIV prevalence setting.

**Methods:** We conducted a case–control study using IPD cases identified at 24 Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal disease Surveillance— South Africa program sites (2010–2012). At least 4 controls were matched by age, HIV status and hospital to each case. Potential risk factors were evaluated using multivariable conditional logistic regression.

Copyright © 2014 by Lippincott Williams & Wilkins ISSN: 0891-3668/15/3401-0027

DOI: 10.1097/INF.000000000000484

**Results:** In total, 486 age-eligible cases were enrolled. Factors associated with IPD in HIV-uninfected children (237 cases, 928 controls) included siblings <5 years [adjusted odds ratio (aOR) = 1.68, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.16–2.46], underlying medical conditions (aOR = 1.99, CI 1.22–3.22), preceding upper respiratory tract infection (aOR = 1.79, CI 1.19–2.69), day-care attendance (aOR = 1.58, CI 1.01–2.47), perinatal HIV exposure (aOR = 1.62, CI 1.10–2.37), household car ownership (aOR = 0.45, CI 0.25–0.83) and  $\geq$ 2 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine doses (aOR = 0.67, CI 0.46–0.99). Among HIV-infected children (124 cases, 394 controls), IPD-associated factors included malnutrition (aOR = 2.68, CI 1.40–5.14), upper respiratory tract infection (aOR = 3.49, CI 1.73–7.03), tuberculosis in the last 3 months (aOR = 5.12, CI 1.69–15.50) and current antiretroviral treatment (aOR = 0.13, CI 0.05–0.38).

**Conclusion:** Previously identified factors related to poverty, poor health and intense exposure continue to be risk factors for IPD in children. Ensuring delivery of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and antiretroviral treatment are important for improving disease prevention.

**Key Words:** pneumococcus, risk factors, HIV, HIV exposure, children, South Africa, pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

(Pediatr Infect Dis J 2015;34:27-34)

**P**neumococcal disease is an important contributor to mortality in young children in developing countries.<sup>1</sup> In spite of this, few studies have evaluated specific factors that might lead to severe pneumococcal infections in such settings. HIV infection, common in South Africa and several other developing countries, is one welldescribed factor that increases the risk of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) in young children.<sup>2</sup>

South Africa and other countries have begun aggressive programs to prevent HIV infection, and therefore pneumococcal disease and other HIV-related complications, in newborns. In South Africa, prevention of mother to child transmission and early infant diagnosis programs have been rapidly scaled up from 2008, and by 2010, treatment was being offered at more than 95% of health facilities.<sup>3</sup> In 2010, the percentage of HIV-exposed children who were infected was 3.5% (CI 2.9–4.1%),<sup>3</sup> and this dropped to 2.7% (CI 2.1–3.2%) in 2011, despite an increase in the percentage of HIV-exposed infants (31.4% to 32.2%).<sup>4</sup> While the numbers of HIV-exposed, uninfected (HEU) children are growing because of programs designed to prevent HIV infection in newborns, the risk of IPD in this group of children is unknown. Data from developing countries have shown an increased risk of lower respiratory tract

Accepted for publication June 30, 2014.

From the \*Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases of the National Health Laboratory Service; †School of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand; Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response, National Institute for Communicable Diseases of the National Health Laboratory Service, Johannesburg, South Africa; §Department of Science and Technology/National Research Foundation: Vaccine Preventable Diseases, Gauteng, South Africa; Medical Research Council: Respiratory and Meningeal Pathogens Research Unit, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand; IRahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital, Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa; \*\*Dr George Mukhari Hospital, Paediatrics Department, Medunsa University, Gauteng, South Africa; ††Red Cross War Memorial Children's Hospital, and the Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, Western Cape; ##Universitas and Pelonomi Hospitals, Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, Free State, South Africa; §§Tygerberg Hospital and Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, Western Cape, South Africa; ¶ National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; and Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA.

This manuscript has been supported by NICD/NHLS and the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunisation (GAVI)—Accelerated Vaccine Initiative-Special Studies Team.

K.P.K. and S.A.M. have received research funding and honoraria from Pfizer and GlaxoSmithKline. A.v.G. has received research funding from Pfizer. C.v.M. has received honoraria from Pfizer. G.R. has received honoraria and conference support from Pfizer and Sanofi. C.C., L.d.G., N.N., S.L., S.M., V.Q., D.P.M., M.M., B.E., U.M.H., H.F., L.C., E.R.Z., and C.G.W. report no conflicts of interest.

The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Address for correspondence: Claire von Mollendorf, MBBCh, MSc, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis, National Institute for Communicable Diseases, Private Bag X4, Sandringham, 2131, Gauteng, South Africa. E-mail: clairevm@nicd.ac.za.

DOI: 10.1097/INF.000000000000484

infections<sup>5</sup> and infection-related hospitalizations in the first year of life in children born to HIV-infected mothers but who themselves are not HIV infected.<sup>6,7</sup>

In addition to HIV prevention programs, pneumococcal conjugate vaccines (PCVs) are now being introduced in many developing countries to prevent serious pneumococcal disease.<sup>8</sup> In South Africa, PCV was first introduced into the national immunization program in April 2009. Only a few studies have evaluated risk factors for ongoing disease in settings using PCV, and all are from highincome settings.<sup>9</sup> In addition, in studies conducted prior to PCV introduction, risk factors for IPD are well described for high-income settings<sup>10</sup> while data from developing countries are more limited.<sup>11</sup>

The main objective of this analysis was to identify factors related to IPD among HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected children eligible to receive PCV through the South African Expanded Program on Immunization, including an examination of whether HIV exposure was a risk factor for disease in HIV-uninfected children. We separately evaluated risk factors for all-serotype, vaccine-type (VT) and nonvaccine type (NVT) IPD, as well as for PCV-vaccinated and unvaccinated children.

### **METHODS**

### **Study Design and Population**

The study was part of a larger protocol that evaluated effectiveness of the 7-valent PCV; the methods have been previously described.<sup>12</sup> In brief, we used a matched case-control study design to examine IPD risk factors in South African children admitted to selected hospitals from March 2010 to November 2012. Only children aged  $\geq 8$  weeks of age who were part of the birth cohort eligible to receive PCV through the South African Expanded Program on Immunization were included in the study. The study was nested within the Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal disease Surveillance-South Africa national, laboratory-based, active surveillance program for IPD and was conducted at 24 sentinelenhanced surveillance hospitals, each with dedicated surveillance officers who collected clinical, demographic, vaccination and outcome information for cases and controls. All data, including information on potential disease risk factors, were collected on interview and medical record review using a structured questionnaire.

IPD cases were defined as Streptococcus pneumoniae identified from a sterile specimen, for example, cerebrospinal fluid, blood, joint fluid and pleural fluid. VT IPD cases were defined as those caused by serotypes in the 7-valent vaccine (4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F). Serotype 6A was excluded from the VT and NVT groups as the effect of cross-protection was unclear in this population. All other serotypes were considered to be NVT. For each case, we attempted to enroll at least 4 matched controls per case. Surveillance officers enrolled controls from children admitted to the same hospital as the case or from patients seen in the hospital casualty or outpatient departments. Controls were excluded if they were diagnosed with IPD, pneumonia or diseases with established vaccine programs, like measles and pertussis. Patients admitted with gastroenteritis were eligible as controls, although South Africa began using rotavirus vaccine in August 2009. Controls, who were at least 8 weeks of age at case specimen date, were matched by date of birth (within  $\pm 1$  calendar month from date of birth of case for children  $\leq 12$  months and  $\pm 2$  months for children  $\geq 12$  months of age), hospital and HIV status (HIV-infected or HIV-uninfected).

Malnutrition was classified as children with weight-forage Z scores <-2 using the 2009 World Health Organization child growth standards and/or those with nutritional edema.<sup>13</sup> HIV status was determined by HIV enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay testing for patients ≥18 months of age and by qualitative HIV DNA polymerase chain reaction testing for children <18 months of age. HEU children were defined as children who had a negative HIV polymerase chain reaction result with a known verbal or documented positive maternal HIV result. Data were collected for a reference period (1 month prior to the specimen collection date) for each case and their matched controls.

Pneumococci were serotyped by the Quellung reaction using specific antisera (Statens Serum Institut, Copenhagen, Denmark). Specimens that were culture negative were confirmed as pneumococci using real-time *lytA* polymerase chain reaction.<sup>14</sup> Minimum inhibitory concentrations were determined for all isolates using broth dilution. Results were interpreted as penicillin susceptible or nonsusceptible based on the 2010 Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute meningitis breakpoints (penicillin nonsusceptible if minimum inhibitory concentrations are  $\geq 0.12 \mu g/L$ ).<sup>15</sup>

### **Statistical Methods**

Data were entered into an Access database and analyzed using STATA software (STATA version 12; Stata Corp., College Station, TX). All models were run separately for HIV-uninfected and HIV-infected children. To determine risk factors associated with IPD we ran separate multivariable models for all-serotype, VT, NVT and penicillin nonsusceptible IPD. We conducted an open-ended analysis aiming to identify all factors associated with having IPD. All factors, including socioeconomic factors, with a P value  $\leq 0.20$  in the univariate analysis were included in conditional logistic regression models for multivariable analysis. All nonsignificant factors (assessed at P > 0.05) were dropped from the multivariable models employing stepwise regression starting with predictors with the highest P values. We checked for collinearity and 2-way interactions in all final models. We hypothesized that factors associated with VT IPD might differ among vaccinated (children who received  $\geq 2$  PCV doses) and unvaccinated (no PCV doses) children. To assess this we contrasted the effect of each predictor using vaccination status as an interaction term for each covariate included in the model. For all multivariable models, children with missing values for certain variables were excluded from models containing these variables.

### **Ethical Considerations**

The study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee, University of the Witwatersrand (M090915), the CDC Human Research and Protection Office (Protocol number 5834), the Johns Hopkins School of Public Health Institutional Review Board (Institutional Review Board number 00002484) and other provincial and institutional ethics committees involved in the study. Signed informed consent was obtained from the parents or legal guardians of the children for participation in this study.

### RESULTS

A total of 817 IPD cases in children <5 years of age were screened at enhanced sites and 486 age-eligible cases were enrolled in the study from March 2010 through November 2012. Children with incomplete vaccination or HIV information (n = 24), those who refused consent (n = 2), as well as those who had received PCV-13 (n = 99) were excluded from the analysis. A total of 361 (74%) cases (124 HIV-infected and 237 HIV-uninfected) were included in the final risk factor analysis. A total of 2037 eligible age-matched children were identified as potential controls. As with cases, controls lacking vaccination information (n = 75) and those who refused consent (n = 10), were discharged from hospital before enrolment (n = 17) or had received PCV-13 (n = 613) were excluded from the analysis. In total, 1322 (65%) age-matched controls (394 HIV-infected and 928 HIVuninfected) were included in the final risk factor analysis. Among HIV-uninfected children, the rates of malnutrition were high in both cases (80/234, 34.2%) and controls (258/839, 30.8%), as these were mainly hospitalized children. The most common diagnoses in our control group were acute gastroenteritis and malnutrition. The proportion of controls enrolled from the outpatient department was 3.7% (34/928) for HIV-uninfected children and 50.2% (198/394) for HIV-infected children.

# Factors Associated With IPD in HIV-uninfected Children

### **All-serotype IPD**

On univariate analysis, HIV-uninfected cases differed from controls for many factors evaluated, including black race, some markers of poverty and intense exposure (Table 1). On multivariable analysis, siblings <5 years old, underlying medical conditions, preceding upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs), day-care attendance and HIV exposure were all associated with increased odds of all-serotype IPD compared with controls. Belonging to a household with a car or having received 2 or more doses of PCV-7 resulted in decreased odds for all-serotype disease (Table 1). When we restricted our analysis to the ward control group, the results did not change (data not shown).

### VT and NVT IPD

The analyses in HIV-uninfected children included 64 cases of VT IPD and 128 of NVT IPD. For VT IPD, on univariate analysis only, black race, previous admission in the last 12 months and cotrimoxazole prophylaxis use were more likely in cases than controls (data not shown). On multivariable analysis, lacking a flushable toilet and HIV exposure were associated with increased odds of having VT IPD, while male sex and receiving 2 or more doses of PCV-7 resulted in decreased odds in cases compared with controls (Table 2).

On univariate analysis, when stratified by vaccination status, vaccinated cases with VT IPD were more likely to have a wood fire in the home, malnutrition and previous admission than controls, while no additional variables were identified in unvaccinated cases (data not shown). On multivariable analysis, HIV exposure was associated with VT IPD [odds ratio (OR) 3.82] in vaccinated cases, while among unvaccinated cases having an underlying condition (OR 10.11) or HIV exposure (OR 8.80) was associated with VT IPD (Table 3).

# **TABLE 1.** Univariate and Multivariable Analysis of Risk Factors for All-serotype IPD Among HIV-uninfected Children, South Africa, 2010–2012

			HIV-uninfected Univariate Analysis*		HIV-uninfec Multivariable Ar	ted alysis†
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value	OR (95% CI)	P Value
Demographics						
Black race	214/237 (90.3)	771/926 (83.3)	2.07 (1.22-3.50)	0.007		
Primary caregiver education le	evel					
No secondary schooling	39/231 (16.9)	127/926 (13.7)	Ref.	0.03		
Some secondary schooling	133/231 (57.6)	503/926 (54.3)	0.84 (0.54-1.30)			
Completed secondary	59/231 (25.5)	296/926 (32.0)	$0.57\ (0.35-0.93)$			
Socioconomic charactoristics						
Number of siblings <5 years of	aaot					
	106/230 (46.1)	546/926 (59.0)	Rof	0.001	Rof	0.007
>1	124/230 (53.9)	380/926 (41.0)	1.65(1.22-2.24)	0.001	1.69(1.16-2.46)	0.001
Wood fire in home	20/234 (8 6)	48/928 (5.2)	2.60(1.22-2.21)	0.02	1.00 (1.10 2.10)	
Underlying health conditions	20/201 (0.0)	10/020 (0.2)	2.00 (1.20 0.00)	0.02		
Underlying conditions	44/237 (18.6)	197/998 (13.7)	1 35 (0 91_2 00)	0.14	1 99 (1 99_3 99)	0.005
excluding malnutrition	11/201 (10.0)	121/020 (10.1)	1.00 (0.01-2.00)	0.14	1.00 (1.22-0.22)	0.000
Child had UBTI (in	110/233 (47.2)	340/928 (36 6)	1.82(1.30-2.54)	0.001	1 79 (1 19-2 69)	0.005
reference period¶)	110/200 (11.2)	010/020 (00.0)	1.02 (1.00 2.01)	0.001	1.10 (1.10 2.00)	0.000
Received antibiotic	41/234 (17.5)	121/922 (13.1)	1.68(1.11-2.55)	0.01		
treatment in reference	11/201 (11.0)	121/022 (10.1)	1.00 (1.11 2.00)	0.01		
period						
Previous hospital	66/235 (28.1)	189/928 (20.4)	1.65(1.17 - 2.33)	0.005		
admission last 12 months						
Day-care attendance	49/233 (21.0)	143/927 (15.4)	1.53 (1.05-2.24)	0.03	1.58 (1.01-2.47)	0.04
(in reference period¶)						
HIV exposure	101/229 (44.1)	271/897 (30.2)	1.92 (1.40-2.63)	< 0.001	1.62 (1.10-2.37)	0.01
Household has a car	28/237 (11.8)	171/928 (18.4)	0.57 (0.36-0.90)	0.02	0.45 (0.25-0.83)	0.01
Vaccination						
Received ≥3 DTP doses	106/187 (56.7)	504/752 (67.0)	0.61 (0.41-0.90)	0.01		
for children ≥16 weeks∥						
Received ≥2 PCV doses	110/187 (58.8)	509/752 (67.7)	0.67 (0.46-0.97)	0.03	0.67 (0.46-0.99)	0.05
for children ≥16 weeks∥						

DTP indicates diphtheria-tetanus toxoids-pertussis.

\*Factors not significant on univariate analysis (>0.05) not shown (male sex, living in informal residence, building material of residence, flush toilet, crowding, smoke exposure, malnutrition, low birth weight, preterm birth, had ear infection in last 12 months, household member had URTI, breastfed in reference period, diagnosed with tuberculosis in 3 months prior to reference period, received ≥3 Hep B doses for children ≥16 weeks, received influenza vaccine within last year).

<sup>†</sup>Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

 $\text{Siblings: there were only 42 children in the >2 sibling group so this was combined with the <math>\geq 1$  group.

\$Underlying conditions included sickle cell disease, chronic kidney disease, cardiac disease, immunodeficiency conditions, chronic liver disease, asthma, neuromuscular diseases, connective tissue diseases, cancer, bone marrow or organ transplant, metabolic disease, chromosomal conditions, history of head injury/head surgery, hydrocephalus with ventriculoperitoneal shunt, burns requiring hospitalization, measles in the last month, any other chronic illness.

Reference period is the 1 month preceding the case pneumococcal specimen collection date.

 $||Only children \ge 16$  weeks included in the model.

# **TABLE 2.** Factors Significantly Associated with IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-uninfected Children: RiskFactors for VT IPD

	-		Multivariable Ana	lysis*
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value
Male sex	25/64 (39.1)	143/255 (56.1)	0.30 (0.13-0.69)	0.005
No flush toilet in residence	28/63 (44.4)	90/255 (35.3)	3.33 (1.29-8.57)	0.01
HIV exposure	32/62 (51.6)	78/249 (31.3)	3.05(1.30-7.14)	0.01
Received ${\geq}2$ doses of PCV ( ${\geq}16$ weeks of age)†	17/48 (35.4)	123/194 (63.4)	$0.16\ (0.07-0.40)$	< 0.001

\*Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

†Only children ≥16 weeks included in model.

**TABLE 3.** Factors Significantly Associated with IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-uninfected Children: Risk Factors for VT IPD Stratified by Vaccination Status\*

	Unvac	Unvaccinated (Number of Cases = 14)			Vaccinated (Number of Cases = 17)		
	OR	95% CI	P Value	OR	95% CI	P Value	
Underlying conditions† (excluding	10.11	1.20-85.33	0.03	1.13	0.27-4.67	0.87	
HIV exposure	8.80	1.23-62.94	0.03	3.82	1.21 - 12.04	0.02	

 $\ast Includes \ contrast \ statement \ for \ vaccination \ status.$ 

†Underlying conditions included sickle cell disease, chronic kidney disease, cardiac disease, immunodeficiency conditions, chronic liver disease, asthma, neuromuscular diseases, connective tissue diseases, cancer, bone marrow or organ transplant, metabolic disease, chromosomal conditions, history of head injury/head surgery, hydrocephalus with ventriculoperitoneal shunt, burns requiring hospitalization, measles in the last month, any other chronic illness.

Results of the analysis of factors associated with NVT IPD were similar to those from the analysis of all-serotype IPD (Table 4). On univariate analysis only, factors that differed between HIV-uninfected cases and controls included being admitted in the last year, having received antibiotics or having a car in the household. As with all-serotype disease, on multivariable analysis, having siblings <5 years old, preceding URTI and HIV exposure were 2 times more common among cases with NVT IPD than among controls. In addition, having a wood fire in the home was also associated with NVT disease (Table 4).

### Penicillin Nonsusceptible All-serotype IPD

On univariate analysis only, having a preceding URTI, or having received PCV-7 or antibiotics, was associated with penicillin-non-susceptible IPD in HIV-uninfected cases. On multivariable analysis, factors associated with penicillin nonsusceptible all-serotype IPD in HIV-uninfected cases were black race, previous hospital admission in the last year, HIV exposure and day-care attendance in the reference period (Table 5).

# Factors Associated With IPD in HIV-infected Children

### All-serotype IPD

Factors associated with IPD in HIV-infected cases differed from those factors that were identified as significant in HIV-uninfected cases (Table 6). On univariate analysis only, HIV-infected cases differed from controls for a number of factors, including having received antibiotics, HIV stage, CD4 count and attending HIV clinic. On multivariate analysis, being diagnosed with tuberculosis in the last 3 months, preceding URTI and the presence of malnutrition increased the odds of all-serotype disease in cases compared with controls. Using antiretroviral treatment (ART) decreased the odds of all-serotype IPD (Table 6). When we restricted our analysis to either ward or clinic control groups, the results did not change (data not shown). We also evaluated HIV stage and CD4 count as potential effect modifiers, but no statistically significant interactions were identified.

### VT IPD and NVT IPD

The analysis included 46 cases of VT IPD and 49 of NVT IPD in HIV-infected children. For VT IPD, on univariate analysis only, caregiver education, previous admission in the last 12 months, URTI and antibiotic use were more likely in cases than controls (data not shown). On multivariable analysis, the factors associated with VT IPD in HIV-infected cases were similar to those for allserotype IPD, namely having malnutrition, being diagnosed with tuberculosis in the 3 months prior to the reference period and use of ART in the reference period (Table 7).

When stratified by vaccination status, on univariate analysis, vaccinated cases with VT IPD were more likely to be malnourished, have been previously admitted, have an underlying condition and have a mother who was educated, compared with controls. On multivariable analysis only preceding URTI and use of ART were associated with HIV-infected vaccinated cases with VT IPD (n = 27) (Table 8). No risk factors were identified in the HIV-infected unvaccinated group (n = 6) on univariate or multivariable analysis, likely as a result of low numbers.

Similar factors were also associated with enhanced or reduced odds of NVT IPD in HIV-infected cases as compared with all-serotype IPD (Table 9). Having malnutrition was only significant on univariate analysis.

### Penicillin Nonsusceptible, All-serotype IPD

The factors associated with IPD caused by penicillin nonsusceptible strains were the same as those identified for IPD caused by all serotypes, with similar ORs (Table 10). Use of ART was associated with lower odds of IPD with a penicillin nonsusceptible isolate [OR 0.08 (95% CI: 0.02–0.40)]. Previous antibiotic use, day-care attendance and HIV stage were not significantly associated with penicillin nonsusceptible IPD in cases on multivariable modeling (Table 10).

### DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that, in the era of programs to prevent HIV transmission to newborns and ART, HIV still plays

# **TABLE 4.** Factors Significantly Associated with IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-uninfected Children: RiskFactors for NVT IPD

	<i>a</i>		Multivariable Analysis*		
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value	
Number of siblings <5 years of age <sup>†</sup>					
0	56/126 (44.4)	302/488 (61.9)	Ref.	0.002	
≥1	70/126 (55.6)	186/488 (38.1)	2.01 (1.29-3.15)		
Wood fire in home	9/127 (7.1)	16/488 (3.3)	4.99 (1.31-18.96)	0.02	
Had URTI (in reference period‡)	55/127 (43.3)	153/488 (31.4)	1.81 (1.10-2.96)	0.02	
HIV exposure	55/124 (44.4)	141/470 (30.0)	$1.96\ (1.25 - 3.07)$	0.003	

\*Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

 $\pm$ Siblings: There were only 26 children in the >2 sibling group so this was combined with the  $\geq$ 1 group.

 $\ddagger$ Reference period is the 1 month preceding the pneumococcal specimen collection date.

# **TABLE 5.** Factors Significantly Associated with IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-uninfected Children: Risk Factors for Penicillin-resistant, All-serotype IPD

	<i>a</i>		Multivariable anal	ysis*
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value
Black race	92/100 (92.0)	326/402 (81.1)	3.04 (1.16-8.00)	0.02
Previous hospital admission in last 12 months	28/98 (28.6)	78/402 (19.4)	2.11 (1.14-3.88)	0.02
Day-care attendance	24/98 (24.5)	54/402 (13.4)	1.91 (1.00-3.66)	0.05
HIV exposure	44/93 (47.3)	111/388 (28.6)	2.14(1.27 - 3.62)	0.004

\*Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

# **TABLE 6.** Univariate and Multivariable Analysis of Risk Factors For All-serotype IPD Among HIV-infected Children, South Africa, 2010–2012

			HIV-infected Univariate Analysis*		HIV-infected Multivariable Analysis†	
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value	OR (95% CI)	P Value
Underlying health conditions						
Malnutrition <sup>‡</sup> (in reference period§)	79/120 (65.8)	124/325 (38.2)	3.23 (1.95-5.34)	< 0.001	2.68 (1.40-5.14)	0.003
Child had URTI (in reference period§)	72/120 (60.0)	130/385 (33.8)	3.35 (2.03-5.53)	< 0.001	3.49 (1.73-7.03)	< 0.001
Received antibiotic treatment in reference period§	26/120 (21.7)	44/394 (11.2)	2.08(1.15 - 3.76)	0.02		
Breast-fed (in reference period§)	40/122 (32.8)	56/393 (14.3)	3.35(1.91 - 5.86)	< 0.001		
Received cotrimoxazole prophylaxis in last 3 months	56/121 (46.3)	232/391 (59.3)	0.62 (0.39–0.98)	0.04		
Diagnosed with tuberculosis in 3 months prior to reference period§	22/122 (18.0)	45/382 (11.8)	1.90(1.03 - 3.51)	0.04	5.12(1.69 - 15.50)	0.004
ART use (in reference period§)	22/113 (19.5)	119/306 (38.9)	$0.34\ (0.19{-}0.65)$	0.001	$0.13\ (0.05-0.38)$	< 0.001
Stage 1	10/119 (8 4)	59/372 (15.9)	Ref	0.002		
Stage 2	6/119 (5.0)	20/372(5.4)	1.39(0.41 - 4.66)			
Stage 3	41/119 (34.5)	165/372 (44.4)	1.45(0.64 - 3.31)			
Stage 4	62/119 (52.1)	128/372 (34.4)	3.28 (1.44-7.43)			
Severe immunosuppression¶	68/86 (79.1)	201/329 (61.1)	2.28 (1.23-4.22)	0.008		
Regular attendance at HIV clinic	23/118 (19.5)	208/383 (54.3)	0.14 (0.07-0.27)	< 0.001		
Vaccination						
Received ≥3 DTP doses for children ≥16 weeks	67/109 (61.5)	264/347 (76.1)	0.50 (0.30–0.85)	0.01		

\*Factors not significant on univariate analysis (>0.05) not shown (male sex, black race, living in informal residence, building material of residence, flush toilet, crowding, caregiver education level, number of siblings, smoke exposure, wood fire in the home, underlying conditions, low birth weight, preterm birth, had ear infection in last 12 months, household member had URTI, previous hospital admission in last 12 months, day-care attendance in reference period, household had electricity, received  $\geq$ 3 Hep B doses for children  $\geq$ 16 weeks, received  $\geq$ 3 PCV doses for children  $\geq$ 16 weeks, received influenza vaccine within last year).

†Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

\$Malnutrition was classified as children with weight-for-age Z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or children with nutritional edema.

\$Reference period is the 1 month preceding the pneumococcal specimen collection date.
\$Presence of severe immunosuppression defined as CD4% of total lymphocytes <30% for children <12 months, <25% for children 12–35 months and <20% for children 36–59</p>

months of age.

Regular HIV clinic attendance defined as >2 visits in the last year.

### **TABLE 7.** Risk Factors for IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-infected Children: Risk Factors for VT IPD

	-		Multivariable Ana	alysis*
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P Value
Malnutrition† (in reference period‡)	34/45 (75.6)	58/131 (44.3)	4.86 (1.25–18.86)	0.02
Diagnosed with tuberculosis in 3 months prior to reference period‡	8/46 (17.4)	19/143 (13.3)	$38.10\ (2.68-541.76)$	0.007
ART use (in reference period‡)	8/41 (19.5)	41/106 (38.7)	$0.04\ (0.003-0.46)$	0.01

\*Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

 $\dagger$ Malnutrition classified as children with weight-for-age Z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or children with nutritional edema.  $\ddagger$ Reference period is the 1 month preceding the pneumococcal specimen collection date.

# **TABLE 8.** Risk Factors for IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-infected Children: Risk Factors for VT IPD Stratified by Vaccination Status\*

	Unvaccina	ted (Number of Cases =	Vaccinated (Number of Cases = 27)			
	OR	95% CI	P Value	OR	95% CI	P Value
Child had URTI (in reference period†) ART use (in reference period†)	9.60 <0.001	0.51–181.49 Not calculated	0.13 0.99	$5.94 \\ 0.14$	1.20-29.32 0.02-0.88	0.03 0.04

\*Includes contrast statement for vaccination status.

†Reference period is the 1 month preceding the pneumococcal specimen collection date.

### **TABLE 9.** Risk Factors for IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-infected Children: Risk Factors for NVT IPD

	Cases n/N (%)	Controls n/N (%)	Multivariable Analysis*		
Characteristics			OR (95% CI)	P Value	
Diagnosed with tuberculosis in 3 months prior to reference period <sup>†</sup>	10/49 (20.4)	13/156 (8.3)	5.00(1.44 - 17.43)	0.01	
Child had URTI (in reference period)†	27/49 (55.1)	50/161 (31.1)	2.86(1.24 - 6.57)	0.01	
HIV clinic attendance	8/48 (16.7)	72/159(45.3)	$0.13\ (0.04-0.39)$	< 0.001	

\*Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

†Reference period is the 1 month preceding the pneumococcal specimen collection date.

# **TABLE 10.** Risk Factors for IPD on Multivariable Analysis Among HIV-infected Children: Risk Factors for Penicillin resistant All-serotype IPD

		Controls n/N (%)	Multivariable Analysis*	
Characteristics	Cases n/N (%)		OR (95% CI)	P Value
Malnutrition† (in reference period‡)	49/69 (71.0)	82/205 (40.0)	2.79 (1.17-6.68)	0.02
Diagnosed with tuberculosis in 3 months prior to reference period‡	13/72 (18.1)	30/235 (12.8)	6.46 (1.30-32.0)	0.02
Child had URTI (in reference period‡)	45/72 (62.5)	86/232 (37.1)	4.32 (1.50-12.46)	0.007
ART use (in reference period <sup>‡</sup> )	12/65 (18.5)	74/178 (41.6)	0.08 (0.02-0.40)	0.002

\*Only factors significant on multivariable analysis shown in table.

†Malnutrition classified as children with weight-for-age Z score <-2 (World Health Organization child growth standards 2009) and/or children with nutritional edema. ‡Reference period is the 1 month preceding the pneumococcal specimen collection date.

an important role in the risk of pneumococcal disease. Among HIV-uninfected children, HIV exposure was associated with an increased risk of IPD for all endpoints, and in HIV-infected children, risk factors for IPD were related to conditions suggesting more severe HIV disease, such as malnutrition<sup>16</sup> and recent tuberculosis diagnosis.<sup>17</sup> ART treatment, which is critical for maintaining the health of HIV-infected children, decreased the odds of IPD, likely by improving the immune system and therefore reducing the risk of opportunistic infections.<sup>18</sup> Unfortunately, due to the small numbers of HIV-infected children in our study, we could not show a difference in this group by degree of immunosuppression.<sup>12</sup>

Although the numbers of HIV-exposed children who are infected annually continue to drop due to improvements in prevention of mother to child transmission programs, more can still be done for HIV-infected and HEU children. HIV-infected children need to be identified as soon as possible, before they become ill, and be started on ART according to the current treatment guide-line.<sup>19</sup> HIV exposure has not been previously described as a risk factor for IPD. One US study did not find a difference in IPD risk between HEU children (n = 128) and an HIV-uninfected-unexposed (n = 71) control group, but the sample size was small.<sup>20</sup> Neonates born to HIV-infected mothers have lower levels of pneumococcal

antibodies.<sup>21</sup> Compared with HIV-unexposed children, HEU children have an increased risk of severe infections requiring hospitalization,<sup>6</sup> with higher odds of treatment failure and worse outcome.<sup>22</sup> The predisposition of HEU children to infections and their worse outcome is multifactorial, with factors including environmental conditions, feeding practices and an impaired innate immune system all playing a role.<sup>23</sup> This risk of invasive disease in HEU children may persist despite vaccination, possibly due to subtle differences in qualitative antibody responses to PCV.<sup>24</sup>

In this study, factors associated with all-serotype IPD in HIV-uninfected children were comparable with traditional risk factors described from other countries with low HIV prevalence. The presence of young siblings in the household has been associated with disease risk, likely because children commonly carry pneumococci due to a lack of serotype-specific protective antibodies, with the highest incidence of carriage observed during the first 2 years of life.25 Likewise, a strong association has been previously demonstrated between day-care attendance and pneumococcal infections due to crowding of young children with high levels of nasopharyngeal carriage.10 Underlying medical conditions are also well documented as risk factors for IPD.10 Vaccination with PCV26 and improved socioeconomic status<sup>27</sup> are associated with a reduced risk of pneumococcal disease. In our study, having a car, reflective of a higher socioeconomic status, was associated with decreased odds, while lacking a flush toilet, reflective of a lower socioeconomic status, was associated with a higher odds of disease.

In this study, females were at increased odds for VT IPD among HIV-uninfected children. This is in contrast to other studies in children <5 years, which have found males to be at an increased risk of disease.28 The reasons for this association in our data are unclear. There is some evidence to suggest that the ratio of male:female infection varies with serotype, but sex is unlikely to have a significant influence on the risk of IPD with a particular serotype.28 In HIV-uninfected children, we identified previous hospital admissions as a factor associated with penicillin nonsusceptible disease; hospital admissions are often associated with antibiotic therapy, which affects the carriage rates of antibiotic-resistant strains.<sup>10,29</sup> Having a wood fire in the home exposes children to particulate respiratory material, which increases the risk of acute respiratory tract infections.<sup>11</sup> HIV-uninfected children who were of black race, possibly with lower socioeconomic status, and who attended day care had higher rates of antibiotic-resistant disease. This was possibly due to overcrowding, which facilitates respiratory transmission of pneumococci and additional increased antibiotic exposure.<sup>29</sup> Malnourished HIV-infected children and those treated for tuberculosis are more likely to be admitted and exposed to antibiotic treatment, which increases their risk of antibioticresistant disease.

Recent URTIs were found to be a risk factor for IPD in both HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected children. While the information we collected on preceding URTIs was reported from parents rather than directly measured and therefore may be inaccurate, preceding upper respiratory tract viral infections have been demonstrated to increase susceptibility to bacterial illness. Reasons for an increase in susceptibility to pneumococcal pneumonia following influenza infection<sup>30</sup> include local respiratory epithelium changes enhancing pneumococcal invasion in colonized individuals,<sup>31</sup> a decrease in mucociliary clearance and increased inflammatory responses.<sup>32</sup>

Studies from the United States reported a change in the factors associated with IPD following the introduction of PCV, with reductions in excess risk among traditional risk groups such as black children<sup>9,33</sup> and day-care attendees.<sup>9</sup> In contrast, children with underlying conditions<sup>9,34</sup> still remained at risk for IPD despite the widespread availability of PCV and the targeting of high risk groups for receipt of vaccination. In our study among

HIV-uninfected unvaccinated children (n = 14), underlying conditions and HIV exposure were associated with VT disease, while among HIV-uninfected vaccinated children (n = 17), HIV exposure was a risk for VT disease.

The limitations of our study include the use of controls that were either hospitalized or presenting to hospital outpatient departments. This choice of control group was for logistical reasons as study staff members were based at hospital sites and not able to recruit directly from the cases' communities. If the observed prevalence of possible IPD risk factors were different in the control group than in the general population from which the cases came, then we may have missed some potential risk factors and overestimated others. The majority of HIV-uninfected controls were hospitalized and the most common diagnoses were acute gastroenteritis and malnutrition. This could have masked a possible role of malnutrition as a risk factor for IPD in HIV-uninfected children. HIV exposure is a risk factor for other causes of hospitalization<sup>23</sup> and we expected HIV exposure prevalence in our controls to be higher than in the general population. In fact, the HIV exposure prevalence among our control group (30.3%) was similar to the national reported percentage of infants exposed to HIV [32.2% (95% CI: 30.7-33.6%)] in 2011.<sup>4</sup> The advantage of using hospital controls is that their health-seeking behavior is likely similar to hospitalized IPD cases.

We conclude that healthcare workers should promote pneumococcal vaccination in high risk groups like HEU children at routine health visits and, if doses are missed, provide catch-up vaccination at outpatient visits or when hospitalized.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all the participants and their caregivers who kindly agreed to be included in this study. They acknowledge all the Group for Enteric, Respiratory and Meningeal disease Surveillance—South Africa surveillance officers for their hard work in enrolling participants into the study and obtaining vaccination histories, the IPD coordinators for assisting the surveillance officers and input, laboratory staff throughout the country for submitting isolates to the NICD, and staff at the NICD, CRDM laboratory for their efforts in processing and characterizing these isolates.

#### REFERENCES

- World Health Organization, UNICEF. Global immunization data. 2013. Available at: http://www.who.int/immunization—monitoring/Global— Immunization—Data—v2.pdf. Accessed August 8, 2013.
- Madhi SA, Petersen K, Madhi A, et al. Increased disease burden and antibiotic resistance of bacteria causing severe community-acquired lower respiratory tract infections in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected children. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2000;31:170–176.
- 3. Goga AE, Dinh TH, Jackson DJ, for the SAPMTCTE Study Group. Evaluation of the effectiveness of the National Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission (PMTCT) programme on infant HIV measured at six weeks postpartum in South Africa 2010. Available at: http://www.health. gov.za/docs/reports/2012/pmtcteffectiveness.pdf. Accessed September 9, 2013. South African Medical Research Council, National Department of Health of South Africa and PEPFAR/US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2012.
- National Department of Health Communiqué. Effectiveness of the National Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission (PMTCT) programme in South Africa: 2011 National SAPMTCT survey results. 2012. Available at: http://www.mrc.ac.za/healthsystems/SAPMTCTEExecSummary2012.pdf. Accessed September 9, 2013.
- Mussi-Pinhata MM, Motta F, Freimanis-Hance L, et al.; NISDI Perinatal Study Group. Lower respiratory tract infections among human immunodeficiency virus-exposed, uninfected infants. *Int J Infect Dis.* 2010;14(suppl 3):e176–e182.
- Slogrove A, Reikie B, Naidoo S, et al. HIV-exposed uninfected infants are at increased risk for severe infections in the first year of life. *J Trop Pediatr*. 2012;58:505–508.

- Mussi-Pinhata MM, Freimanis L, Yamamoto AY, et al.; National Institute of Child Health and Human Development International Site Development Initiative Perinatal Study Group. Infectious disease morbidity among young HIV-1-exposed but uninfected infants in Latin American and Caribbean countries. *Pediatrics*. 2007;119:e694–e704.
- Wang SA, Mantel CF, Gacic-Dobo M, et al. Progress in introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine—worldwide, 2000–2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013 April 26;62:308–311.
- Pilishvili T, Zell ER, Farley MM, et al. Risk factors for invasive pneumococcal disease in children in the era of conjugate vaccine use. *Pediatrics*. 2010;126:e9–e17.
- Levine OS, Farley M, Harrison LH, et al. Risk factors for invasive pneumococcal disease in children: a population-based case-control study in North America. *Pediatrics*. 1999;103:E28.
- O'Dempsey TJ, McArdle TF, Morris J, et al. A study of risk factors for pneumococcal disease among children in a rural area of west Africa. Int J Epidemiol. 1996;25:885–893.
- Cohen C, von Mollendorf C, de Gouveia L, et al. Effectiveness of sevenvalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV-7) against invasive pneumococcal disease in HIV-infected and -uninfected children in South Africa: a matched case-control study. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2014;58:3293–3305.
- World Health Organization. WHO child growth standards and the identification of severe malnutrition in infants and children. 2009. Available at: http:// www.who.int/nutrition/publications/severemalnutrition/9789241598163\_ eng.pdf. Accessed August 9, 2013. World Health Organisation, United Nations Children's Fund.
- Ruoff KL, Whiley RA, Beighton D. Streptococcus. In: Murray PR, Baron EJ, Jorgensen JH, et al., eds. *Manual of Clinical Microbiology*. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 2006:405–421.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Twentieth Informational Supplement. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute; 2010. Report No.: CLSI document M100-S20.
- World Health Organization. WHO case definitions of HIV for surveillance and revised clinical staging and immunological classification of HIV-related disease in adults and children. 2007. Available at: http://www.who.int/hiv/ pub/guidelines/HIVstaging150307.pdf. Accessed July 11, 2013.
- Moore DP, Klugman KP, Madhi SA. Role of Streptococcus pneumoniae in hospitalization for acute community-acquired pneumonia associated with culture-confirmed Mycobacterium tuberculosis in children: a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine probe study. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2010;29: 1099–1104.
- Dworkin MS, Ward JW, Hanson DL, et al.; Adult and Adolescent Spectrum of HIV Disease Project. Pneumococcal disease among human immunodeficiency virus-infected persons: incidence, risk factors, and impact of vaccination. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2001;32:794–800.
- World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations

for a public health approach. 2013. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bits tream/10665/85321/1/9789241505727 eng.pdf. Accessed July 11, 2013.

- Farley JJ, King JC Jr, Nair P, et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease among infected and uninfected children of mothers with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Pediatr.* 1994;124:853–858.
- de Moraes-Pinto MI, Almeida AC, Kenj G, et al. Placental transfer and maternally acquired neonatal IgG immunity in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Infect Dis.* 1996;173:1077–1084.
- McNally LM, Jeena PM, Gajee K, et al. Effect of age, polymicrobial disease, and maternal HIV status on treatment response and cause of severe pneumonia in South African children: a prospective descriptive study. *Lancet*. 2007;369:1440–1451.
- Filteau S. The HIV-exposed, uninfected African child. Trop Med Int Health. 2009;14:276–287.
- Madhi SA, Adrian P, Cotton MF, et al.; Comprehensive International Program of Research on AIDS 4 Study Team. Effect of HIV infection status and anti-retroviral treatment on quantitative and qualitative antibody responses to pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in infants. *J Infect Dis.* 2010;202:355–361.
- Abdullahi O, Karani A, Tigoi CC, et al. The prevalence and risk factors for pneumococcal colonization of the nasopharynx among children in Kilifi District, Kenya. *PLoS One*. 2012;7:e30787.
- Whitney CG, Pilishvili T, Farley MM, et al. Effectiveness of seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease: a matched case-control study. *Lancet*. 2006;368:1495–1502.
- Melegaro A, Gay NJ, Medley GF. Estimating the transmission parameters of pneumococcal carriage in households. *Epidemiol Infect*. 2004;132:433–441.
- Scott JA, Hall AJ, Dagan R, et al. Serogroup-specific epidemiology of Streptococcus pneumoniae: associations with age, sex, and geography in 7,000 episodes of invasive disease. Clin Infect Dis. 1996;22:973–981.
- 29. Klugman KP. Risk factors for antibiotic resistance in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *S Afr Med J*. 2007;97(11 pt 3):1129–1132.
- Madhi SA, Klugman KP; Vaccine Trialist Group. A role for *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in virus-associated pneumonia. *Nat Med.* 2004;10:811–813.
- Kuster SP, Tuite AR, Kwong JC, et al.; Toronto Invasive Bacterial Diseases Network Investigators. Evaluation of coseasonality of influenza and invasive pneumococcal disease: results from prospective surveillance. *PLoS Med.* 2011;8:e1001042.
- McCullers JA. Insights into the interaction between influenza virus and pneumococcus. *Clin Microbiol Rev*. 2006;19:571–582.
- Talbot TR, Poehling KA, Hartert TV, et al. Elimination of racial differences in invasive pneumococcal disease in young children after introduction of the conjugate pneumococcal vaccine. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2004;23:726–731.
- Hsu K, Pelton S, Karumuri S, et al.; Massachusetts Department of Public Health Epidemiologists. Population-based surveillance for childhood invasive pneumococcal disease in the era of conjugate vaccine. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2005;24:17–23.

### **APPENDIX D: RESPONSES TO EXAMINERS' COMMENTS:**

Responses and changes in blue text

### **EXAMINER'S REPORT 1:**

The main concerns with the PhD thesis are mainly in the following areas:

1) Justification for the study outcomes was weak in a number of places:

I have indicated below suggested areas where the justification for the studies needs to be strengthened:

a) The importance of identifying Serotype 1 outbreaks is not clear in the thesis. Section added to justification on page 21:

There is conflicting data regarding whether PCV13 will result in a reduction in serotype 1 disease and in view of its epidemic nature ongoing surveillance is important. Section added to page 34 and 35:

The PCV13 vaccine has been found to induce antibodies against the serotype 1 capsule in children; however in two clinical trials from The Gambia and South Africa using PCV9, protection could not be demonstrated against serotype 1 clinical disease, although case numbers were small (Madhi2007,Saaka2008). In addition these two trials, which used three infant vaccine doses only, showed that serotype 1 vaccine failures occurred after 12 months of age (Klugman 2011). It was suggested that a booster dose may be necessary for protection against this serotype. As mentioned, the serotype 1 capsular polysaccharide is particularly resistant to opsonisation and it is uncertain whether protein-conjugate vaccination will be as effective against serotype 1 disease as against other serotypes.

In the United Kingdom PCV13 was introduced in April 2010 in a 2+1 schedule. Annual serotype specific incidence rates showed a significant reduction in serotype 1 rates between 2008-2010 and 2013-2014 in all age groups (Waight 2015). An indirect cohort study, including data up to 3.5 years after PCV13 introduction, showed protection against serotype 1 with a vaccine effectiveness of 84% (95% CI 54-95) (Andrews2014).

In South Africa a case control study demonstrated a high vaccine effectiveness point estimate against serotype 1 (89% [95% CI -82-100]) although the results were not statistically significant (Cohen 2016, submitted).

As ST1 is an outbreak serotype with fluctuating annual cases it is important for surveillance programmes to monitor for increasing case numbers. The main aim of monitoring for outbreaks would be to determine if there are any modifiable risk factors or public health

changes which could be made to stop the spread of the outbreak. In addition it is important to determine if new serotype 1 clones are emerging as these may have different characteristics in terms of antibiotic resistance.

Following the introduction of PCV13 it is assumed that serotype 1 case numbers will decrease although previous studies showed differing results. Our study only included data on ST1 up to 2 years post-PCV13 introduction. It is important to continue to monitor trends in outbreak prone serotypes included in PCV13 to document whether there is indeed a sustained reduction in these serotypes.

b) The reason for identifying risk factors for pneumococcal disease.

Added to justification on page 21:

The identification of risk groups guides policy makers with regards to allocation of resources and clinical management by alerting clinicians to who may present with pneumococcal disease and who to treat empirically.

Section added to page 41:

We only had breastfeeding data for <40% of all cases and could therefore not make definite conclusions regarding its role as a risk factor in our population. In other studies, however, breastfeeding has been shown to be protective against IPD and mortality and should be advocated for to improve child health. HI infants who were malnourished were more likely to die from IPD. Improving the nutritional status of HI infants and ensuring they receive appropriate ART is a key part of management.

c) The importance of understanding scale of serotype replacement (Page 18) - not clear what the implications are.

Page 18: With the expanded use of PCV globally it is important to estimate the scale of serotype replacement to determine the net decline in disease and the overall benefit of vaccination. The magnitude of the increase in non-vaccine serotypes varies between different settings and is depended on host and *S.pneumoniae* population level characteristics. Page 20: There is a possibility that serotype replacement could substantially reduce the impact and benefits of vaccines. Replacement serotypes could be associated with antibiotic resistance. The amount of replacement thus far, especially with PCV13 use (which covers serotype 19A) is small in comparison to the overall reduction in disease. However there is a need for broader valency vaccines, universal vaccines and adequate surveillance (Feikin 2013).

2

d) Justification section: needs to be strengthened to explain why it is necessary to describe the changes in serotypes or the risk factors for IPDInformation added on page 21 as highlighted above in 1a and 1b.

2) Interpretation of findings and recommendations from the work. There is generally a lack of further interpretation of findings and synthesis to determine issues arising from the work that would require in changes in clinical management, recommendations for guidelines or recommendations for further research and development in the field. I have indicated below suggested areas where the justification for synthesis of findings and further interpretation would be required:

a) Page 34 & 36, includes detail of risk factors identified in other studies- this should have been covered in the literature review- also it is more important to do the comparison rather than state the risk factors.

Results from other studies, "A number of factors have been proposed to contribute to the poor health and nutrition among HEU children: lack of parental care, infant feeding practices, immune abnormalities, exposure to other infections and antiretroviral drugs (Filteau 2009)" were moved from page 36 to the introduction (page 9).

The comparison of risk factors with our study has been highlighted on page 38: "In our study these risk factors included, day care attendance which may increase IPD risk due to crowding which aids in transmission of pneumococci and higher pneumococcal loads, mixing of children with different pneumococci and possible cessation of breastfeeding (Levine 1999); living with siblings less than 5 years of age due to high rates of pneumococcal carriage (Abdullahi 2012), underlying medical conditions (Levine 1999), poor socioeconomic conditions which are often associated with crowding and different odds in different race groups and by sex.

 b) In the conclusion one can indicate what kinds of interventions are recommended based on the risk factor analysis - mention socio-economic factors as you did in the abstract Page 41: Details regarding breastfeeding and malnutrition as risk factors are highlighted in the responses to question 1b.

Page 42: Sentence added:

In HU children, traditional risk factors such as poor socio-economic conditions and intense exposure to infection need to be addressed to reduce the burden of disease in these children.

c) What are the other conclusions- should there be a change in the vaccine, what kind of surveillance should be continued, what other questions arise from the work. Page 42: Laboratory-based IPD surveillance should continue unchanged to allow for measurement against the baseline. In addition documentation of nasopharyngeal carriage at defined points in time may assist with prediction of which serotypes will become most prominent in the post-PCV13 period. Although vaccine-serotypes continue to decrease globally following PCV13 introduction, some increases in non-vaccine serotypes have been observed. There is a limit on the number of serotypes that can be conjugated in one vaccine and replacement non-PCV13 serotypes vary across different countries. New universal protein-based vaccines are therefore in development.

3) Scientific writing: a number of issues regarding the presentation of the studies especially in the integrative narrative were encountered, and these as well as recommendations are summarised below:

a) The use of abbreviations without expansion prior to their use. A glossary of abbreviations was not provided and is recommended. e.g. VT-IPD and NPNM on page 2.

A list of abbreviations has been added on page ix

All abbreviations were described in full the first time they were used.

b) Use of abbreviations should be consistent- in the pages 12 and 13- you refer to VE interchangeably as being vaccine efficacy and vaccine effectiveness
 This has been corrected. VE now refers to vaccine efficacy and vaccine effectiveness has been written out in full.

c) The flow of the integrated narrative was at times difficult to follow.

e.g Page 1 -1st paragraph under "Burden of pneumococcal disease"- it seems it would be better to describe the problem of pneumococcal disease, as well as the reason for determining burden prior to describing all the methods for determining burden of disease.

The paragraph has been rearranged. The description of methods has been moved to the end of the section.

e.g. Page 6- paragraph on the serotype 1 capsule. It is not clear why this is mentioned and what the significance of the capsule is.

Details regarding the importance of the serotype 1 capsule have been added on page 6:

The serotype 1 capsule has been shown to be more resistant to opsonisation and complement deposition than other serotypes, except for serotype 5; as such it is thought that the serotype 1 capsule may function in a different way to other serotypes resulting in a difference in virulence. There were also differences in pneumolysin in some serotype 1 isolates, which also impacts colonisation and virulence. The zwitterionic polysaccharide capsule has been found to be related to abscess formation in animal models and thus cause empyema.

e.g. Page 7- the literature on risk factors is not clear and easy to follow. It should be clearly stated whether findings are of HIV-infected or HIV-uninfected children, in the pre- or post PCV-7 vaccine era.

Additions have been made to the risk factor section on page 7 to try and clarify which groups and periods the risk factors are relevant to:

Local studies showed a significant higher risk of IPD in HIV-infected children (41-fold) with "paediatric" pneumococcal serotypes, than –uninfected children (Madhi 2000). HIV-infected children in this study had high rates of malnutrition and underlying tuberculosis. HIVuninfected children had underlying infections, like chronic liver and renal disease. Other studies from the US also showed that a higher risk of pneumococcal disease with HIV was in the pre-ART era. In contrast in HIV-uninfected children with IPD in South Africa had underlying infections, like chronic liver and renal disease in the pre-vaccine era. Also in the pre-vaccine era a case-control study in children <5 years of age in The Gambia showed....

e.g. Page 34 -limitations for interpreting surveillance data- seems to be relevant to all the studies and should be maybe in the discussion section rather than directly linked to one study. A general discussion of the limitations of surveillance data has been added on page 28: "Surveillance data was used as the baseline for most of our studies. There are inherent limitations in the use of surveillance data. Our laboratory-based surveillance programme underestimates the full burden of pneumococcal disease as it only includes patients who present to healthcare facilities and have samples taken; we aimed to address this in our burden model (paper I). There is often missing data associated with the use of surveillance programmes; we assumed that data were missing at random and imputed values for serotype for trend analyses. Interventions other than vaccination, for example PMTCT and ART,

5

impact IPD disease trends. It is often difficult to tease out the proportional contribution of all these strategies on disease reduction using surveillance data."

Results and discussion were combined for each study. Even though surveillance data limitations were applicable to all the studies, specific points were abstracted from each study to highlight their specific issues. For the burden paper (paper 1) the focus was on the issues related to burden calculations, for the risk factor paper (paper 4) issues related to case control studies were discussed, while for the serotype 1 paper (paper 2) considerations related to interpretation of cluster results were covered. Issues related to surveillance results were therefore explored with regards to HIV-exposed children who were discussed in the HIV-exposure (paper 3) and risk factor paper (paper 4).

c) Inconsistency in how data are presented that hinders the flow: e.g. when describing in pneumococcal vaccines on page 4, it is not clear when the vaccine was introduced in South Africa.

The section "Pneumococcal Serotypes and Vaccines" on page 4 aimed to give a general overview of vaccines and serotypes globally. The first introduction date of PCV into South Africa is discussed on page 3 "South Africa was the first African country to introduced PCV into its public National Immunisation Programme in April 2009..."

The reference to serotype 1 in South Africa on page 4 ("Serotype 1 was found to be an important cause of disease among older children and among HU children in the pre-PCV era in South Africa") has been moved to the section discussing serotype 1 on page 6 to avoid confusion.

d) On page 26, all results should be described first and then discussion. At the end of the page, results are then represented- rather keep all results in the first paragraph and then discuss.

The main results of the thesis are presented in the four papers. The combined resultdiscussion section in the integrating narrative aimed to synthesise the main results by comparing them to other data. Our results are thus related to other publications throughout this section.

4) References to common terminology in the field without explanation of what this is: e.g."meningitis belt" on page 5

Explanation has been added for meningitis belt on page 5:

The African meningitis belt is a region of sub-Saharan Africa, extending from Senegal to Ethiopia that is characterised by hyperendemic seasonal peaks of acute bacterial meningitis and sporadic epidemics.

5) Other issues identified (optional to address):

a) In the abstract, the conclusion is not aligned to what is shown in the results of the abstract and some of the aspects mentioned are not even included in the discussion of the thesis. The abstract outlines the most important findings from the four manuscripts included in the thesis. Additions have been made to the result section to ensure that all points raised in the conclusion have been discussed in the abstract:

In the pre-vaccine era (2005-2008) in South Africa, roughly 196,100 (148,000-251,000) cases of severe pneumococcal disease were estimated annually in children aged <5 years, an incidence of 3799/100,000; the rate was reduced by 67% in 2013, likely due to PCV and other interventions. In addition 8600 (7000-10220) pneumococcal-related annual deaths were estimated pre-vaccine and 3600 in 2013, a rate difference of 99/100,000 child-years. Over an 11-year period two clusters (2003-2004 and 2008-2012) of serotype 1 infection were detected in all age groups with reductions in incidence noted in 2013.

b) The importance of serotype 1 outbreaks is not clear in the thesis. The literature and data are adequately described but the reader is not informed on why it is important to know about outbreak serotypes.

Details regarding the importance of serotype 1 and outbreaks have been added to page 34-35 as discussed in section 1a.

c) Study design- good descriptions were given in the papers about the actual surveillance system. How many sites involved, what information is recorded, who generally is included etc. these have important implications for the interpretation of your results so should be included in page 22 under study design.

Additional details were added on page 25:

Cases of IPD were considered as hospitalized individuals with *S. pneumoniae* cultured from normally sterile site specimens. The GERMS-SA programme includes over 200 microbiological laboratories ("non-enhanced" sites) which submit isolates and basic demographic information (age, gender, date of specimen collection, and body fluid source of

isolate). Trained surveillance officers at 24 sentinel hospitals ("enhanced" sites) located in all nine provinces collect additional data including HIV status, discharge diagnosis and outcome.

d) You mention the use of bootstrapping. Some more information about when it is usually used and why it is considered more accurate could be helpful (page 29).
Additional details have been added regarding bootstrapping on pages 23 and 29:
Page 23: Every resample has the same number of observations as the original sample, so the bootstrap method models the impact of the actual sample size (Fan & Wang, 1996).
Bootstrapping allows measures of accuracy to be assigned to sample estimates, verifies replicability of results and allows inferences to be made regarding key parameters.
Page 29: To account for variability and uncertainty around our estimates we used bootstrapping, a robust statistical method, to calculate confidence intervals.
Bootstrapping assumes that each sample is identically and independently distributed. It draws many more sub-samples than other methods and provides less biased and more consistent results than the Jackknife method for example (Deng 2013).

e) Additional analyses: Paper 1 - Figures 2a and 2b on Tornado analysis- needs further explanation of what a Tornado analysis is and what it is showing.

Details regarding the use of Tornado diagrams have been added on page 24: Tornado diagrams were used to depict the sensitivity of the case and death estimates to changes in selected variables. These diagrams show the effect on the base rate by varying each input variable one at a time, while keeping all the other input variables at their initial base value. High and low values may be chosen for each input. The results are displayed as a bar graph with the variation for each variable from the base rate.

### **EXAMINER'S REPORT 3:**

### 1) Methods

a) Page 23, last paragraph: change sentence to "SatScanTM is able to detect spatial, temporal or spatio-temporal disease clusters and determine ... "

### Change has been made

b) Page 24, second full paragraph: " ... to account for this we adjusted positively by the percent reduction from the pre-vaccine period". It is not clear why this was necessary for

detecting clusters of "cases" (i.e. serotype 1 disease) or how this was implemented practically.

It was necessary to adjust controls to obtain a stable baseline by essentially removing the impact of PCV7 on serotypes in this group; this allowed for true increases in cases to be identified and not just relative case changes.

Last sentence correct verb to "ensured". Sentence replaced by above.

### 2) Paper 1

a) Page 6, first paragraph: shouldn't this be "overestimation of vaccine efficacy for nonbacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia" as VE is 0.45 for non-bacteremic compared to 0.85 for bacteremic pneumonia?

To estimate the number of cases of non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia, we extrapolated data from PCV probe studies in South Africa by using the PCV9 vaccine attributable reduction (VAR) ratio of clinical pneumonia to bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia (11:1). An additional adjustment was made for the presumed underestimation of vaccine efficacy (VE) for non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia in this study. This assumption was based on a study which showed a higher pneumococcal detection rate using urine antigen testing in non-bacteraemic pneumonia in the elderly. The adjustment value (1.89) was based on the ratio of the original and inflated VE from the different studies.

b) Page 6, second paragraph and page 7, second full paragraph: I assume the CRF for nonbacteremic hospital admissions refers to admission for any disease syndrome, not just pneumonia. Would you expect this to lead to over- or underestimates of the non-bacteremic pneumonia CFR?

A sentence has been added to the limitations section on page 13:

For example, using a CFR for all hospitalised cases may have overestimated the CFR for non-bacteraemic pneumonia cases and the ratio of BPP to NBP may change by serotype distribution which we did not account for in our model.

c) Page 9, last paragraph: add in NPNM.

Information regarding NPNM rates have been added:

...and 22 per 100,000 py for non-pneumonia non-meningitis pneumococcal disease (rate difference of 73 per 100,000, 76% reduction).

d) Page 13, second full paragraph: need to rephrase as the reductions in IPD were due to HAART as well as PCV.

A sentence highlighting the fact that we did not take other interventions into account when exploring costs was added on page 13: "We did not account for the impact and costs of PMTCT and ART in these calculations."

e) Page 13, last paragraph: can you explain which assumptions may be inaccurate e.g. if the ratio of BPP to NBP changes by serotype distribution or HIV status.

Details were added on page 13 regarding which assumptions may be inaccurate: For example, using a CFR for all hospitalised cases may have overestimated the CFR for non-bacteraemic pneumonia cases and the ratio of BPP to NBP may change by serotype distribution which we did not account for in our model.

 f) Page 14, first paragraph: shouldn't this be "decrease in the known vaccine efficacy" since VE vs. VT NBP is 0.45 compared to 0.85 for VT BPP? See comment above re: page 6.
 Perhaps I have misunderstood your point

Page 14, first paragraph: "This study reported a higher efficacy ... " is unclear and needs to be rephrased.

Page 14, last paragraph: add in "in conjunction with HAART and other interventions" to emphasize importance of ART.

To address the above 3 points, changes were made to the first paragraph:

We tried to account for this underestimate by including an adjustment for the increase in the known vaccine efficacy, based on more recent data, against non-bacteraemic pneumonia since these trials were conducted. Supporting evidence for this additional adjustment was seen in a recent PCV vaccine efficacy study in the elderly which used a serotype-specific urinary antigen detection assay to detect vaccine-type *S. pneumoniae*. It is possible that this adjustment may have overinflated our numbers as it is not clear if the magnitude of the difference in VE for non-bacteraemic and bacteraemic pneumonia is the same for children as observed in the adult study.

g) Page 14: last paragraph: numbers of cases and deaths averted are "per year" and not "over a 5-year period" The total number of cases and deaths reported were the difference between 2008 and 2013, thus over a 5-year period. A sentence to this effect was added on page 5: "Cases and deaths averted were calculated as the difference between these two periods, i.e. over 5 years."

h) Table 1a: "Adjustment factor for systematic blood culturing from South African clinical trial": are you assuming here that "true" BPP rates did not vary between 1998 and 2008? A sentence was included in the limitations section on page 13 ("In addition some estimates (e.g. vaccine probe study data) were only available for the pre-vaccine period and were assumed to be relevant to the post-PCV period") to indicate that we used the clinical trial measurements for both periods which was not necessarily applicable.

"Adjustment for specimen-taking practices": couldn't these differences in blood culture rates reflect true differences in incidence?

A sentence has been added to the limitations section to reflect that there may be a true difference (page 13): "It is possible that some of the difference in incidence rates were true differences."

### Paper 2

I realize this paper is already published so my comments cannot be addressed in the manuscript, but am sharing a few thoughts nevertheless.

Page 262, incidence estimations: There is likely to be a correlation between missing serotypes and antimicrobial resistance; could your assumption of randomness bias your results? Missing serotypes may be isolates that were not submitted by certain laboratories or nonviable isolates due to transport issues and time delays in reaching NICD. These missing isolates may on occasion be non-random, for example from certain sites during certain periods such as outbreaks with an increased number of cases.

There may even be an intrinsic feature of the organism that certain strains are more likely to autolyse than others; it has been reported that the pneumococcal capsule provides a degree of resistance to autolysis and this capacity varies between capsular serotypes (Kadioglu2008). It may be possible therefore that the difference was not completely random.

It would be preferable to compare the period with clusters to the period without clusters rather than to the overall study period.

A comparison is made between the cluster period (2003-2008) and non-cluster period (2005-2007) in the manuscript on page 264 ("Serotype 1 incidence did not differ significantly for 2003–2008 compared with 2005–2007, when there were no clusters") in figures 2a and 2b.

Page 263, first paragraph: does the second model compare deaths (cases) to surviving patients (controls)?

The second model includes only serotype 1 cases and compares surviving to non-surviving cases.

Page 263, spatio-temporal analysis: why not look only at non-vaccine types as your control, to avoid the need to adjust for PCV use?

Replacement was observed in non-vaccine type disease which would have required adjustment. A decision was therefore made to use all other serotypes as controls.

### Paper 3

Page 1347, incidence, second paragraph: is the assumption that HIV infection and exposure has similar prevalence in non-enhanced sites to that in enhanced sites reasonable? Don't the prevalence of HIV infection and risk of HIV transmission vary across sites? There is likely some variation across sites, but as we had enhanced sites in each province it was hoped that this would account for some of the variation.

Supplemental materials, page 5: can you specify the policy for cotrimoxazole prophylaxis in HEU and HIV-infected children?

For all HEU infants start cotrimoxazole from 4-6 weeks of age and stop when PCR negative  $\geq$ 6 weeks after full weaning and infant is clinically HIV negative. If infant is on formula only cotrimoxazole can stop when PCR is negative.

For HIV-infected infants, cotrimoxazole starts at 4-6 weeks, till child is >12 months. Cessation of cotrimoxazole then happens when immune reconstitution on ART occurs.